

Supersymmetric Dark Matter candidates in light of constraints from collider and astroparticle observables

Jonathan da Silva

▶ To cite this version:

Jonathan da Silva. Supersymmetric Dark Matter candidates in light of constraints from collider and astroparticle observables. High Energy Physics - Phenomenology [hep-ph]. Université Grenoble Alpes, 2013. English. NNT: 2013GRENY033. tel-00912650v1

HAL Id: tel-00912650 https://theses.hal.science/tel-00912650v1

Submitted on 2 Dec 2013 (v1), last revised 19 Jan 2017 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

UNIVERSITÉ DE GRENOBLE

THÈSE

Pour obtenir le grade de

DOCTEUR DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE GRENOBLE Spécialité : **Physique Théorique**

Arrêté ministériel : 7 août 2006

Présentée par

Jonathan DA SILVA

Thèse dirigée par Geneviève BÉLANGER

préparée au sein du Laboratoire d'Annecy-le-Vieux de Physique Théorique (LAPTh) et de l'École Doctorale de Physique de Grenoble

Supersymmetric Dark Matter candidates in light of constraints from collider and astroparticle observables

Thèse soutenue publiquement le **3 juillet 2013**, devant le jury composé de :

Dr. Rohini GODBOLE Professeur, CHEP Bangalore, Inde, Présidente Dr. Farvah Nazila MAHMOUDI Maître de Conférences, LPC Clermont, Rapporteur Dr. Ulrich ELLWANGER Professeur, LPT Orsay, Rapporteur Dr. Céline BŒHM Chargé de recherche, Durham University, Royaume-Uni, Examinatrice Dr. Anupam MAZUMDAR Professeur, Lancaster University, Royaume-Uni, Examinateur Dr. Geneviève BÉLANGER Directeur de Recherche, LAPTh, Directeur de thèse



A meus avós.

Contents

A	ckno	wledge	ments - Remerciements			vii
\mathbf{Li}	List of Figures xi					xi
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Table	3		2	xvii
Li	st of	Abbre	eviations			xix
Li	st of	Public	cations		x	xiii
In	trod	uction				1
Ι	\mathbf{St}	atus d	of particle physics and cosmology and $ $	beyond	ł	5
1	Fro	m the	infinitely small : the Standard Model of particle p	ohysics	••••	7
	1.1	Buildi	ng of the model : gauge sector			8
	1.2	Matte	sector			10
		1.2.1	Leptons			10
		1.2.2	Quarks			12
	1.3	The H	iggs mechanism			13
	1.4	Full st	andard picture			16
	1.5	Succes	ses of the SM			18
	1.6	SM iss	ues			19
	1.0	161	Theoretical problems		••	19
		1.6.1	Experimental discrepancies		••	20
		1.6.3	Cosmological connexion			22
2	[Fo the	infinitely large : the Lambda Cold Dark Matter r	nodel		23
	2.1	Theor	etical framework			24
		2.1.1	Cosmological principle and its consequences			24
		2.1.2	Cosmological parameters			26
	2.2	Cosmo	logical observations			27
		2.2.1	Methods			27
		2.2.2	Success of the Λ CDM model			27

	2.3	Dark Matter	29
		2.3.1 DM evidences	30
		2.3.2 Equilibrium	31
		2.3.3 Freeze-out	34
		2.3.4 Precise calculation	34
	2.4	Cosmic inflation	35
		2.4.1 Cosmological puzzles	35
		2.4.2 Inflationary Universe	36
		2.4.3 Cosmological perturbations and constraints	37
	2.5	Thermal history of the Universe in the Λ CDM model	38
	2.6	ACDM drawbacks	39
	2.7	Some solutions to the Λ CDM and SM issues	40
3	Sup	persymmetry	43
	3.1	SUSY responses to SM problems	44
	3.2	Elements on the theoretical construction of exact SUSY	45
		3.2.1 Super-Poincaré algebra	46
		3.2.2 Chiral supermultiplet	47
		3.2.3 Gauge supermultiplet	49
	3.3	SUSY breaking	49
	3.4	The Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model	51
		3.4.1 Lagrangian at low energy	52
		3.4.2 Higgs sector	53
		3.4.3 Sfermion sector	54
		3.4.4 Gaugino and higgsino sector	55
		3.4.4.1 Gluinos and charginos	55
		3.4.4.2 Neutralinos	55
	3.5	Constraints on SUSY	56
		3.5.1 Cosmological and astroparticle constraints	57
		3.5.1.1 DM Direct Detection	57
		3.5.1.2 DM Indirect Detection	59
		3.5.2 Collider constraints	60
		3.5.2.1 Bounds on supersymmetric particles	60
		3.5.2.2 Low energy observables	61
11	. 1	eutralino Dark Matter in the (N)MSSM	53

4	Uni	fication	n with non-universal Higgs masses and the supersymmetric	;
	infla	aton		65
	4.1	Introd	uction	66
	4.2	Gravit	y-mediation of SUSY breaking	66
		4.2.1	The NUHM2 model	67
		4.2.2	Benchmark points with neutralino DM in the NUHM2	67

		4.2.3	A broader scan of the parameter space	. 70
			4.2.3.1 A Markov Chain Monte Carlo inspired algorithm	. 70
			4.2.3.2 Characteristics of the scan	. 72
	4.0	G	4.2.3.3 Results	. 73
	4.3	Supers	ymmetric inflaton	. 78
		4.3.1	Inflaton candidates : flat directions of squarks and sleptons	. 79
		4.3.2	Gaussian fluctuations and tensor to scalar ratio	. 82
		4.3.3	Renormalization Group Equations	. 83
		4.3.4	Indirect detection of the inflaton at LHC	. 84
			4.3.4.1 Inflaton mass for benchmark points	. 85
			4.3.4.2 LHC predictions and Inflaton mass	85
	4.4	Conclu	sions	. 87
5	The	pheno	omenological MSSM confronting Indirect Detection of Dar	k
	Mat	tter		89
	5.1	Introdu	uction	. 90
	5.2	Anti-p	roton and γ -ray bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^-$. 91
		5.2.1	Generic bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^-$ from \bar{p}	91
		5.2.2	Generic bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^-$ from gamma-rays	95
			5.2.2.1 Continuum \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	95
			5.2.2.2 Internal bremsstrahlung and final state radiation \ldots	95
			5.2.2.3 $\operatorname{Line}(s) \ldots \ldots$	96
	5.3	Chargi	no-neutralino mass degeneracy	96
		5.3.1	Neutralino pair annihilations into W^+W^-	96
		5.3.2	Exploring the supersymmetric parameter space	. 97
	5.4	Results	5	. 100
		5.4.1	Bounds on the NLSP-LSP mass splitting	100
		5.4.2	Final state radiation in the pMSSM	105
		5.4.3	130 GeV line	107
		5.4.4	The case of no DM regeneration	107
	5.5	Conclu	sions	108
6	Dire	ect SUS	SY searches at LHC and a singlet extension of the MSSM	111
	6.1	Going	beyond the minimal supersymmetric scenario	112
		6.1.1	The μ -problem	. 112
		6.1.2	MSSM limitations	112
		6.1.3	The Next-to-MSSM	113
	6.2	Previo	us scans on the NMSSM parameter space	115
	6.3	Squark	and gluinos searches at the LHC	. 115
		6.3.1	Relevant NMSSM region in light of ATLAS iets + E_{T} searches	116
		6.3.2	Light squark masses	116
	6.4	Higgs 1	boson signal strength with light LSP	119
	6.5	The ca	se of heavy LSP	122
	6.6	Conclu	sions	123
	2.2			

Π	ΙU	${ m U}(1)$ extensions of the MSSM	125
7	The 7.1 7.2 7.3	UMSSM Another solution to the μ -problemAn E_6 inspired modelDescription of the UMSSM7.3.1Gauge bosons7.3.2Higgs sector7.3.3Sfermions	127 . 128 . 128 . 129 . 131 . 133 . 136
	7.4	7.3.4NeutralinosConstraints on the UMSSM7.4.1Collider constraints on the Z' 7.4.2Other constraints on Z' physics	. 137 . 137 . 137 . 139
8	The	e Right-Handed sneutrino as thermal Dark Matter in the UMSSI	M141
	8.1	Introduction	. 142
	8.2	Constraints imposed	. 144
	8.3	Relic abundance of sneutrinos	. 145
	8.4	Direct Detection	. 147
	8.5	Results	. 149
		8.5.1 The case of the $U(1)_{*}$ model	. 149
		8.5.1.1 A case study with $M_{Z_2} = 1.6 \text{ TeV} \dots \dots \dots \dots$. 149
		8.5.1.2 Exploration of $U(1)_{4}$ parameter space	. 152
		8.5.2 The case of the $U(1)_{\pi}$ model	. 154
		8.5.2.1 A case study with $M_{Z} = 1.6$ TeV	155
		8.5.2.2 Exploration of $U(1)_{r}$ parameter space	156
		8.5.3 A global scan of the parameter space $\dots \dots \dots$. 158
	8.6	Conclusions	. 160
9	The	e Higgs sector and low energy observables in the UMSSM	163
	9.1	The Higgs sector in the UMSSM	. 164
		9.1.1 Radiative corrections through an effective potential	. 164
		9.1.2 Higgs bosons signal strengths in the UMSSM	. 166
	9.2	Flavour constraints on the UMSSM	. 169
		9.2.1 $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau})$. 169
		9.2.2 $\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$. 171
		9.2.3 ΔM_s and ΔM_d	. 173
		9.2.4 $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$. 175
		9.2.5 $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \mu^+ \mu^-)$. 178
	9.3	The anomalous magnetic moment of the muon in the UMSSM	. 179
		9.3.1 Standard prediction	. 179
		9.3.2 New contributions	. 181
	9.4	Scanning the $U(1)_{\eta}$ parameters	. 184
	9.5	Numerical results	. 185

9.6	Discussion	187
Conclu	ision	189
Appen	dices	193
А	Cross section sneutrinos - nucleons : gauge bosons contribution	195
В	Radiative corrections in the Higgs sector à la Coleman-Weinberg	197
\mathbf{C}	Gauge invariance : Goldstones and ghosts	199
	C.1 Gauge fixing : Goldstone of Z and Z'	199
	C.2 Fadeev-Popov ghosts	199
	C.2.1 Ghosts in the MSSM	200
	C.2.2 Ghosts in the UMSSM	203
Bibliog	graphy	207

Acknowledgements - Remerciements

Caution, high level of mixing French-English in the following pages !! For a safe reading, Google Translate may be your friend... or not !

Avant de vous laisser seul devant le reste de ce manuscrit de thèse à conjecturer sur le domaine de validité de l'équation 7.18 ou sur l'intrigant graphique 8.13a, voici les deux pages que vous devez absolument lire (sous peine de courroux très grand, oui très grand, attention j'aurais prévenu) (à la limite laissez tomber le reste... non mais quand même ce graphique 8.13a...).

Je tiens à remercier en premier lieu ma directrice de thèse Geneviève. De mon stage de Master à ma soutenance de thèse de doctorat, j'ai pu grandement bénificier de ses connaissances, de ses précieux conseils, de sa patience et de sa disponibilité dans les différents aspects qui constituent ces trois années d'initiation à la recherche en physique des particules. Cette expérience enrichissante me servira quelles que soient mes activités à venir.

I am very thankful to Rohini Godbole for being the president of my thesis jury, to my referees Nazila Mahmoudi and Ulrich Ellwanger and to Céline Bœhm, Anupam Mazumdar and Geneviève for being in my jury. Thanks for your valuable comments, suggestions and your careful reading of my PhD thesis.

Je remercie bien entendu l'ensemble des membres du LAPTh, laboratoire dans lequel j'ai effectué la plus grande partie de ma thèse. La chaleureuse ambiance qui règne dans ce laboratoire et son emplacement en font un excellent cadre pour la recherche scientifique. Je remercie son directeur Fawzi pour sa disponibilité et ses réponses à mes questions, l'équipe administrative, composée durant ces trois années de Dominique, Nathalie, Véronique et Virginie, pour son aide précieuse dans le quotidien d'un chercheur, et Mathieu pour son expertise en matière d'informatique. Je remercie également le CNRS et l'Université de Grenoble pour leur soutien dans cette étape de la recherche.

Je souhaite particulièrement remercier Céline de m'avoir permis d'effectuer un séjour de six mois à Durham où les projets se sont multipliés et conclus très positivement. Je remercie d'ailleurs la région Rhône-Alpes pour le financement de ce séjour à travers sa bourse CMIRA 2011 EXPLO'RA DOC. I would like to warmly thank the Institute for Particle Physics Phenomenology of the University of Durham for having received me. Special thanks to Linda, Trudy and Mike for their help on logistics and computing. I also would like to thank my other collaborators during these three years : Sasha Pukhov who was a very precious help for understanding the CalcHEP and micrOMEGAs codes and for coding/debugging related topics, Daniel Albornoz Vásquez, Peter Richardson, Chris Wymant (merci pour ton aide concernant Herwig++ !), Marco Cirelli, Anupam Mazumdar and Ernestas Pukartas (thank you for your updated plots !). I thank Andrei Semenov for his help on using the LanHEP code.

I thank the 2011 International School on Astro-Particle Physics, the 2012 MCnet-LPCC Summer School and the Cargèse International School 2012 for the great quality of lectures I attended. J'en profite également pour remercier les personnes qui, par leurs enseignements, ont été importantes durant mes études à l'Université Montpellier 2 : Jérôme Léon, David Polarski, Gilbert Moultaka et Cyril Hugonie.

Je tiens à remercier ma tutrice de monitorat Isabelle pour ses conseils tout au long de ces trois années d'enseignement à l'IUT d'Annecy. Je remercie Françoise avec qui j'ai pu débuter et apprivoiser mon activité de moniteur. Enseigner en collaboration avec d'autres doctorants contractuels enseignants a aussi été une expérience enrichissante. Je tiens donc à remercier Laurent B., Florian et Timothée.

Je félicite Guillaume DLR d'avoir survécu à mes blagues pendant près d'un an et demi (mais comment a-t-il fait ??). J'étais un peu plus sage avec Laurent G. (l'écriture de cette thèse a-t-elle eu une quelconque influence ??). Je remercie l'ensemble de cette promotion 2010, en incluant les lappins : Andrey, Chi Linh, Sadek, le duo Guilhem -Laurent B., grands organisateurs de soirées qui marqueront l'histoire du LAPP et du LAPTh pour les decennies à venir, au moins (et comme par hasard j'y étais pas !) et Maud. Je remercie Béranger et Jérémie pour les discussions passionantes durant diverses écoles d'été ou conférences. I thank Ilan, Alix, Jonathan, Daniel and the other PhD Students I met at Durham for the warm atmosphere. Pour finir ce paragraphe (parce que, au lieu d'oublier une ou deux personnes, mieux vaut en oublier plein !), je remercie Nicolas, mon successeur Vincent (l'informatique, c'est son dada) et tous les autres pour le cadeau offert lors de ma soutenance.

Mes derniers remerciements vont à ma famille proche : mes parents à qui je dois tout, mon frère Nuno qui par ces nuits étoilées au-dessus de *Coutada* a mis sournoisement dans la tête de son frère la passion pour l'activité qu'il pratique désormais, ma belle-sœur Carla et leur petit Mateo dont les vidéos m'ont égayé de nombreuses soirées. Voilà.

Ah oui j'allais oublier, je remercie aussi le Centre Hospitalier de la Région d'Annecy pour ces installations m'ayant permis de démarrer à toute vitesse l'écriture de cette thèse (quatre jours productifs tout de même !). Par la même occasion je remercie mon pancréas de me faire vivre depuis maintenant plus de six ans des expériences... originales.

List of Figures

1.1	Higgs potential for two cases with the same $ \mu^2 $ and λ but with $\mu^2 > 0$ for the one represented by the red curve and $\mu^2 < 0$ for the other depicted	
1.2	by the green curve, <i>mexican hat</i> shaped	$14\\17$
2.1	Temperature fluctuations of the CMB (a) and its temperature angular power spectrum compared to a simple Λ CDM model (b) obtained by the Planck collaboration.	28
2.2	Comparison of some H_0 measurements at 1σ obtained by different collab- orations.	28
2.3	Rotation curve of the galaxy NGC 6503, plotting its main contributions.	30
2.4	Matter distribution in X-rays (colours) and using the gravitational lensing	
	(contours) of the Bullet cluster	31
2.5	Constraints on inflationary models in the plane (tensor-to-scalar ratio, scalar spectral index).	38
3.1	Two-loop renormalization group evolution of α_i^{-1} in the SM (dashed lines) and the MSSM (solid lines).	45
3.2	Results on the SI WIMP-nucleon cross section versus the WIMP mass from various experiments compared to some supersymmetric predictions	50
? ?	(grey regions)	58
ე.ე	the MSSM	61
3.4	Summary of ATLAS searches for SUSY at Moriond 2013	62
4.1	$(m_0, m_{1/2})$ plane for the NUHM2 model : Panel (a) is for $A_0 = -2m_0$, $m_{A^0} = 1$ TeV. Panel (b) is for $A_0 = 0$ TeV and $m_{A^0} = 4$ TeV. Both panels	
	share $\tan \beta = 10$ and $\mu = 1$ TeV	68
4.2	Representation of the overall MCMC procedure used in this work	72
4.3	Plot of the allowed parameter space in the $(m_0, m_{1/2})$ (a), $(A_0, \tan \beta)$ (b) and (μ, m_{A^0}) (c) planes.	75
4.4	Mass of the LSP vs. the mass of the NLSP, depending on the nature of	
	the NLSP	76
4.5	SM Higgs boson mass in the $(A_0, \tan \beta)$ plane	76

4.6	Neutralino composition. Panel (a) shows the higgsino content vs . the neu-	
	tralino mass while panel (b) shows the bino fraction	77
4.7	Neutralino relic density vs. the mass of the lightest Higgs boson	77
4.8	Characteristics of the scan with low relic densities allowed. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	78
4.9	A schematic drawing of inflationary potential for either $\widetilde{u}dd$ or $LL\widetilde{e}$ as	
	shown in eq. 4.9 .	80
4.10	(ϕ_0, m_{ϕ}) plane in which inflation is in agreement with the cosmological	
	observations of the temperature anisotropy of the CMB fluctuations	82
4.11	(ϕ_0, m_ϕ) plane for $LL\tilde{e}$ (a) and $\tilde{u}dd$ (b) flat direction inflatons respectively,	
	where $\tan \beta = 10$, $A_0 = -2m_0$ and $\mu = m_{A^0} = 1$ TeV. \ldots	84
4.12	The lightest stop mass $m_{\tilde{t}_1}$ versus the inflaton masses for $LL\tilde{e}$ (a) and	
	$\widetilde{u}dd$ (b), see eq. 4.10.	86
4.13	The correlation between stau mass $m_{\tilde{\tau}_1}$ and stop mass $m_{\tilde{t}_1}$. The colour	
	coding corresponds to the inflaton masses for $\widetilde{L}\widetilde{L}\widetilde{e}$ (a) and $\widetilde{u}\widetilde{d}\widetilde{d}$ (b)	86
4.14	The branching ratios of $B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ and $b \to s\gamma$ are shown with the	
	colour coding corresponding to the likelihood. The shaded region shows	
	points within $b \to s\gamma$ experimental and theoretical error bars	87
4.15	The expected and observed limits from Xenon-based experiments and	
	the allowed NUHM2 parameter space in the plan neutralino SI cross sec-	
	tion $vs.$ neutralino mass	88
۲ 1	Anti monton construinte en DM consibilation inte M/+M/- nom estimale for	
0.1	Anti-proton constraints on DM annihilation into W^+W^- , respectively for the (MIN' (a) (MED' (b) and (MAN' (c) propagation parameters	02
ธา	Examples of the fluxes of artisprotons (astrophysical background and DM	95
0.2	Examples of the fluxes of anti-protons (astrophysical background and DM-	
	sample points (Λ) to (E) as defined in figure 5.1	04
52	Sample points A to E as defined in figure 5.1	94
0.0	$\sim Z$ for this analysis	97
5 /	Plot of the neutralino pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a	51
0.4	function of the chargino-neutralino mass splitting. The colour coding	
	indicates the LSP composition	100
55	Plots of the neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $\gamma\gamma$ (panel (a))	100
0.0	and into γZ (panel (b)) as a function of the chargino-neutralino mass	
	splitting.	101
5.6	The neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $\gamma\gamma$ as a function of the	
	total annihilation cross section, considering three types of colour code	103
5.7	SI DM-nucleon cross section as a function of the DM mass together with	
	the XENON 2012 limit.	104
5.8	Annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the neutralino	
	DM mass. The chargino NLSP-neutralino LSP mass splitting is shown as	
	colour code	105
5.9	Photon and anti-proton distributions as a function of the energy fraction	
	$x = E/m_{\chi_1^0}$ for two pMSSM cases	106

5.10	The neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $\gamma\gamma$ as a function of the LSP mass	106
5.11	Plot of the rescaled neutralino pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the chargino-neutralino mass splitting in the scan where no DM regeneration is assumed. Same colour code as in figure 5.4	107
	no Divi regeneration is assumed. Same colour code as in figure 3.4	101
6.1	LSP mass vs. the mass of the lightest CP-even (CP-odd) Higgs boson, in panel (a) (panel (b)) for the light LSP scenario.	115
6.2	Representation of the points in the plane $(m_{\text{squark}}, m_{\text{gluino}})$ (panel (a)) and in the plane (\geq three-jets, \geq two-jets) (panel (b)). In panel (a) the three excluded points are plotted in red. The colour coding in panel (b)	117
63	The squark mass as the most consistive signal region for scenarios with	11(
0.5	bino-like LSP. The grey zone corresponds to the excluded region and the two excluded points are plotted in red	117
6.4	Points in the plane $(m_{\text{squark}}, m_{\text{gluino}})$ where the colour coding is the same as in figure 6.2b.	118
6.5	The case of singlino-like LSP : panel (a) shows the branching ratios and masses of supersymmetric particles and Higgs bosons in the case of a non-excluded point. Panel (b) represents the squark mass <i>vs.</i> the best consistive signal region for these scenarios with singlino like LSP	110
66	Branching ratios and masses of supersymmetric particles and Higgs bosons	119
0.0	in the case of the excluded point with singlino-like LSP	119
6.7	Plots in the plane (m_{h_2}, m_{h_1}) (panel (a)) and (m_{a_1}, m_{h_1}) (panel (b)) where the colour coding indicates scenarios excluded or not by SUSY or Higgs	190
6.8	$R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ as a function of the mass of h_2 (panel (a)) and as a function of new BSM decays. Same colour code as in figure 6.7	120
6.9	R_{aax} as a function of the mass of h_1 (panel (a)) and of h_2 (panel (b)) in	
	the arbitrary neutralino LSP model	122
7.1	$U(1)'$ charges of some fields of the UMSSM as a function of θ_{E_6}	131
7.2	Limits on the mass of the Z' boson obtained by the CMS and ATLAS collaborations in 2013	138
8.1	Main annihilation processes for RH sneutrinos	146
8.2	Main scattering processes of the RH sneutrino	147
8.3	Ωh^2 as a function of the LSP mass for $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV. Panel (a) has $\mu = 1$ TeV, $(A_{\lambda} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (1.5, -10^{-3}), (0.1, -10^{-3}), (2., 10^{-4})$ whereas panel (b) corresponds to $\mu = 1.5$ TeV, $(A_{\lambda} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (1.4, -10^{-3}), (1.4, $	150
Q /	$(1.4, -10^{-4})$ and $\mu = 0.7$ TeV, $(A_{\lambda} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (0.6, -10^{-3})$	150
0.4	$v_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}$ as a function of the LST mass for the same parameters as figure 8.5. The XENON100 exclusion curve is also displayed	151

8.5	The allowed scenarios in the M_{Z_2} vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane (panel (a)) and in the μ vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane (panel (b)). Points excluded by the ΔM_{ds} constraint are	
	displayed in red	153
8.6	(a) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R Xe}^{SI}$ as a function of the LSP mass for the allowed scenarios in the $U(1)_{\psi}$ model. (b) Allowed scenarios in the $\tan \beta - \alpha_Z$ plane. Points excluded by ΔM_s are displayed in red.	154
8.7	Ωh^2 as a function of the LSP mass for (a) $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV, $\mu = 1.5$ TeV, $A_{\lambda} = 0.5$ TeV, $\alpha_Z = 10^{-3}$ and $M_{Z_2} = 1.6, 2.5$ TeV, $\mu = 1.8$ TeV, $A_{\lambda} = 1.8$ TeV, $\alpha_Z = 10^{-4}$. (b) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI}$ as a function of the LSP mass for the same choice of parameters.	155
8.8	The allowed $U(1)_{\eta}$ scenarios in the (a) M_{Z_2} vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane and (b) μ vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane. Points excluded by the $\Delta M_{d,s}$ constraints are plotted in red, those excluded by XENON100 are represented in green and those excluded by both constraints are shown in orange	157
8.9	(a) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R Xe}^{SI}$ as a function of the LSP mass for the allowed scenarios in the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model. (b) Allowed scenarios in the $\tan \beta - \alpha_Z$ plane, same colour	107
8.10	code as figure 8.8. $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R Xe}^{SI}$ as a function of θ_{E_6} for $(M_{Z_2} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (1.7, 10^{-3}), (1.7, -10^{-4}), (3.10^{-4}), \mu = M_{Z_2}/2 + 0.5 \text{ TeV}, A_\lambda = 1 \text{ TeV} \text{ and } m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} = M_{Z_2}/2, \dots$	157 158
8.11	(a) Allowed scenarios in the M_{Z_2} vs. θ_{E_6} plane, the models above the XENON100 bound are in green. (b) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI}$ as a function of $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$. In blue	150
0 10	$\theta_{E_6} < 0$ and in red $\theta_{E_6} > 0$	159
8.13	plane after applying all constraints. Same colour code as in figure 8.11 (a) Allowed scenarios in the $\tan \beta - \alpha_Z$ plane, (b) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z plane, (b) branching ratio of the Z plane and (c) branching ratio of the Z plane at Z	160
	as a function of M_{Z_2} . Same colour code as in figure 8.11	161
9.1	Triangle one-loop contributions to the $\gamma\gamma$ and γZ_1 reduced couplings (a, b, c) and to the gg reduced couplings (d, e)	167
9.2	W boson (plain) and charged Higgs (dashed) contribution to $\mathscr{B}(B^+ \to \tau^+ \mu)$	170
9.3	Main SM (a, b) and UMSSM (c) contributions to $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$. The	110
9.4	dot denote a flavour changing coupling	172
0.1	ΔM_d	175
9.5	Some contributions to the K_c and K_{t+BSM} terms for the $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ calculation. The dot and the cross in the lower right diagram denote respectively a flavour changing coupling and an helicity flip	176
9.6	Examples of SM contributions to a_{μ} : the one-loop (a) and a third order (b) QED contributions, hadronic part with the LO (c), an NLO (d) and light-by-light scattering (e) and finally the main leading (f, g) and a two- loop (h) EW corrections.	180
	• X /	

9.7	Examples of one-loop SUSY contributions to a_{μ} : chargino/sneutrino (a),	
	neutralino/smuon (b) and a diagram involving Higgs bosons (c) 18	52
9.8	UMSSM scenarios in the plane $(\tan\beta, \alpha_Z)$. In panel (a) the allowed sce-	
	narios are represented in green, scenarios excluded by ΔM_s (and ΔM_d)	
	in red (black) and the points excluded by HiggsBounds-4.0.0 in blue.	
	Panel (b) shows the mass of the new gauge boson as indicated by the	
	colour code	36
9.9	(a) Signal strength $\mu_{h_1 \to \gamma \gamma}^{\text{ggF}}$ as a function of m_{h_1} , with the same colour code	
	as in figure 9.8a. (b) $\Delta \rho$ vs. M_{Z_2} with the absolute value of the mixing	
	angle α_Z indicated by the colour code	37
9.10	DM observables as functions of the DM mass. Panel (a) shows the relic	
	density either for an $\tilde{\nu}_R$ (blue) or an χ_1^0 (green) LSP. Panel (b) represents	
	the relic density either for an \widetilde{B} (violet) or an \widetilde{H} (yellow) LSP. Panel (c)	
	compares the rescaled DD rate for an $\tilde{\nu}_R$ (blue) or an χ_1^0 (green) LSP	
	compared to results or forecasts from Xenon-based experiments 18	38

List of Tables

$1.1 \\ 1.2$	Summary of the characteristics of the SM particles	18 21
2.1	Value for some cosmological parameters combining Planck data with WMAP polarization data (WP), high- ℓ CMB (highL) and BAO data	29
$3.1 \\ 3.2$	MSSM supermultiplets and their gauge properties	51 59
$4.1 \\ 4.2$	Constraints imposed in the MCMC for the NUHM2 model	74 74
$5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.3$	Propagation parameters for anti-protons in the galactic halo Range chosen for the pMSSM free parameters and nuisance parameters. Constraints imposed in the MCMC for the pMSSM	92 98 99
7.1 7.2	UMSSM supermultiplets and their gauge properties. The $U(1)'$ charges are given in table 7.2	130 130
8.1	Range of the free parameters in the $U(1)'$ models	153
9.1 9.2	SM parameters entering in the $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm}\nu_{\tau})$ calculation and their uncertainty if non-negligible	170
	$\mu^+\mu^-$) and their uncertainty if non-negligible. See table 9.1 for other relevant parameters.	173
9.3	Important input parameters in the ΔM_s and ΔM_d calculation and their uncertainty if non-negligible. See table 9.1 or table 9.2 for other relevant parameters.	175
9.4	Some values for the calculation of $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ and the associated uncertainties if they are non-negligible. See table 9.1, table 9.2 or table 9.3	
9.5	for other relevant parameters. $\dots \dots \dots$	177 185

List of Abbreviations

 $\Lambda \mathbf{CDM}$: Lambda Cold Dark Matter

AMSB : Anomaly-Mediated Supersymmetry Breaking

BAO : Baryon Acoustic Oscillations

BBN : Big Bang Nucleosynthesis

 ${\bf BNL}: {\bf Brookhaven}$ National Laboratory

 ${\bf BRST}: {\rm Becchi-Rouet}\text{-}{\rm Stora}\text{-}{\rm Tyutin}$

 ${\bf BSM}: {\rm Beyond}$ the Standard Model

 $\mathbf{CDM}:\mathbf{Cold}\ \mathbf{Dark}\ \mathbf{Matter}$

CKM : Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa

CMB : Cosmic Microwave Background

 $\mathbf{CMSSM}: \mathbf{Constrained} \ \mathbf{MSSM}$

 $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{D}$: Direct Detection

 $\mathbf{DE}: \mathrm{Dark}\ \mathrm{Energy}$

 $\mathbf{DM}: \mathbf{Dark}$ Matter

 \mathbf{dSph} : dwarf Spheroidal

 $\mathbf{EW}: \mathrm{Electro-Weak}$

EWSB : Electro-Weak Symmetry Breaking

FCNC : Flavour-Changing Neutral Current

 $\mathbf{FL}: \mathrm{Friedmann-Lemaître}$

GIM : Glashow-Iliopoulos-Maiani

GMSB : Gauge-Mediated Supersymmetry Breaking

GR : General Relativity

 $\ensuremath{\mathbf{GUT}}$: Grand Unified Theories

HDM : Hot Dark Matter **ID** : Indirect Detection **KK** : Kaluza-Klein **LBL** : Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory LH : Left-Handed **LHC** : Large Hadron Collider LO : Leading Order **LSP** : Lightest Supersymmetric Particle **LSS** : Large Scale Structures MACHO : MAssive Compact Halo Object MCMC : Markov Chain Monte Carlo \mathbf{MFV} : Minimal Flavour Violation **MOND** : MOdified Newtonian Dynamics **MSSM** : Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model **mSUGRA** : minimal SUperGRAvity **MW** : Milky Way NLO : Next-to-LO **NLSP** : Next-to-LSP **NMSSM** : Next-to-MSSM **NP** : New Physics **NUHM** : Non-Universal Higgs Masses **PMNS** : Pontecorvo-Maki-Nakagawa-Sakata **pMSSM** : phenomenological MSSM **PQ** : Peccei-Quinn **QCD** : Quantum ChromoDynamics **QED** : Quantum ElectroDynamics **RGE** : Renormalization Group Equation **RH** : Right-Handed

RHSN : RH sneutrino

 ${\bf RW}: {\bf Robertson-Walker}$

- \mathbf{SD} : Spin-Dependent
- ${\bf SDSS}:$ Sloan Digital Sky Survey

 ${\bf SI}: {\bf Spin-Independent}$

 ${\bf SLAC}: {\bf Stanford}$ Linear Accelerator Center

 $\mathbf{SM}: \mathbf{Standard} \ \mathbf{Model}$

SNIa : Type Ia supernovæ

 \mathbf{SR} : Special Relativity

SSB : Soft SUSY Breaking

 $\mathbf{SUSY}: \mathrm{Supersymmetry}$

 ${\bf TeVeS}$: Tensor-Vector-Scalar gravity

UED : Universal Extra Dimensions

 $\mathbf{VEV}:$ Vacuum Expectation Value

 $\mathbf{WDM}: \mathrm{Warm}\ \mathrm{Dark}\ \mathrm{Matter}$

WIMP : Weakly Interacting Massive Particle

List of Publications

Here are listed the papers written in the context of this PhD thesis.

Published articles

- G. Bélanger, J. Da Silva and A. Pukhov. *The Right-handed sneutrino as thermal dark matter in U(1) extensions of the MSSM*. JCAP **1112** (2011) 014. [arXiv:1110.2414].
- D. A. Vasquez, G. Bélanger, C. Bœhm, J. Da Silva, P. Richardson and C. Wymant. *The 125 GeV Higgs in the NMSSM in light of LHC results and astrophysics constraints.* Phys. Rev. D86 (2012) 035023. [arXiv:1203.3446].
- G. Bélanger, C. Bœhm, M. Cirelli, J. Da Silva and A. Pukhov. *PAMELA and FERMI-LAT limits on the neutralino-chargino mass degeneracy*. JCAP **1211** (2012) 028. [arXiv:1208.5009].
- C. Bœhm, J. Da Silva, A. Mazumdar and E. Pukartas. Probing the Supersymmetric Inflaton and Dark Matter link via the CMB, LHC and XENON1T experiments. Phys. Rev. D87 (2013) 023529. [arXiv:1205.2815].

Workshop contribution

• G. Brooijmans, B. Gripaios, F. Moortgat, J. Santiago, P. Skands, et al. Les Houches 2011: Physics at TeV Colliders New Physics Working Group Report. [arXiv:1203.1488].

Introduction

English version

With the discovery of a particle whose characteristics match well those of the Standard Model Higgs boson and with the precise results of cosmological experiments, the standard models of particle physics and cosmology are now clearly successful. Nevertheless some observations are not completely understood in these theoretical fameworks. One of the most well-known is the Dark Matter problem. The fact that the particle content of the Standard Model of particle physics only explain a fraction of the matter content of the standard cosmological model is an important issue to solve. There are also some theoretical issues in the foundations of these models. The fine-tuning problem in the Higgs sector of the Standard Model of particle physics that can be related to the fact that no symmetry protects the mass of the Higgs boson in this model gives also motivations to look for New Physics. A lot of new models were built to respond to the issues of these two standard models and one of the most well-known which is considered in this thesis is Supersymmetry. Defining such a symmetry between two type of particles. the fermions and the bosons, gives a response to the fine-tuning problem and introduce new particles within which we can find a Dark Matter candidate. A nice feature of Supersymmetry is that several methods can be used to test its predictions : they span a large array of experiments and energies. Several of them will be considered to constrain the supersymmetric models analysed in this thesis.

This thesis has the following structure :

- In part I we will present a review of the content, the successes and the issues of the Standard Model of particle physics (chapter 1) and the cosmological standard model (chapter 2). We will then introduce Supersymmetry, its simplest version and the experimental constraints that will be considered in this thesis (chapter 3).
- In part II we will present studies of supersymmetric models considering the lightest neutralino as a Dark Matter candidate. In chapter 4 we will analyse the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model within which cosmic inflation candidates can be found. In chapter 5 constraints from Indirect Detection of Dark Matter will be used on this model. To close this part we will analyse in chapter 6 collider constraints

on coloured supersymmetric particles within a singlet extension of the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model.

• In part III the study of U(1) extensions of the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model will be developed. In chapter 7 we will introduce such extensions and their characteristics. Chapter 8 will be devoted to the study of a scalar Dark Matter candidate in this model, the Right-Handed sneutrino. Finally more constraints will be considered especially coming from low energy observables and we will take into account recent results on the Higgs boson study (chapter 9).

Version française

Avec la découverte d'une particule dont les caractéristiques correspondent de mieux en mieux à celles du boson de Higgs du Modèle Standard et avec les résultats d'une précision inégalée des expériences en cosmologie, les modèles standards de la physique des particules et de la cosmologie ont désormais clairement un grand succès. Cependant certaines observations ne sont pas clairement expliquées dans ces cadres théoriques. L'un des plus célèbres est le problème de la Matière Noire. Le fait que les constituants du Modèle Standard de la physique des particules expliquent seulement une fraction du contenu en matière de modèle standard cosmologique est un point important à résoudre. Il y a en outre des soucis théoriques dans la construction de ces modèles. Le problème de réglage fin dans le secteur de Higgs du Modèle Standard de la physique des particules qui peut être relié au fait qu'aucune symétrie ne protège la masse du boson de Higgs dans ce modèle donne aussi des motivations dans la recherche de Nouvelles Physiques. Un grand nombre de modèles ont été développés afin de répondre aux problèmes de ces deux modèles standards et l'un des plus connus qui est étudié tout au long de cette thèse est la Supersymétrie. Définir une telle symétrie entre deux sortes de particules, les fermions et les bosons, donne une solution au problème de réglage fin et introduit de nouvelles particules au sein desquelles nous pouvons trouver un candidat à la Matière Noire. Une caractéristique intéressante de la Supersymétrie est que de nombreuses méthodes peuvent être employées afin de tester ses prédictions : ces outils couvrent une large gamme d'expériences et d'énergies. Plusieurs d'entre eux seront utilisés pour contraindre les modèles supersymétriques étudiés dans cette thèse.

Cette thèse possède la structure suivante :

• Dans la partie I nous présenterons le contenu, les succès et les problèmes du Modèle Standard de la physique des particules (chapitre 1) et du modèle standard cosmologique (chapitre 2). Nous introduirons alors la Supersymétrie, sa version la plus simple et les contraintes expérimentales qui seront considérées dans cette thèse (chapitre 3).

- Dans la partie II nous présenterons différentes études de modèles supersymétriques en considérant le neutralino le plus léger comme candidat à la Matière Noire. Dans le chapitre 4 nous analyserons le Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal au sein duquel des candidats à l'inflation cosmique peuvent être étudiés. Dans le chapitre 5 des contraintes provenant de la Détection Indirecte de Matière Noire seront utilisées dans ce modèle. Pour clore cette partie nous analyserons dans le chapitre 6 des contraintes en collisionneur sur des particules supersymétriques colorées dans le cadre d'une extension singulet du Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal.
- Dans la partie III l'étude d'extensions U(1) du Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal sera développée. Nous introduirons dans le chapitre 7 ce genre d'extensions et leurs caractéristiques. Le chapitre 8 sera consacré à l'étude d'un candidat scalaire à la Matière Noire dans ce modèle, le sneutrino droit. Pour finir davantage de contraintes seront considérées, tout particulièrement ceux provenant d'observables de basses énergies et nous prendrons en compte les récents résultats dans l'étude du boson de Higgs (chapitre 9).

Τ

Status of particle physics and cosmology ... and beyond

1

From the infinitely small : the Standard Model of particle physics ...

Contents

	-		
1.1	Buil	lding of the model : gauge sector	8
1.2	Mat	tter sector	10
	1.2.1	Leptons	10
	1.2.2	Quarks	12
1.3	The	e Higgs mechanism	13
1.4	Full	l standard picture	16
1.5	Succ	cesses of the SM	18
1.6	\mathbf{SM}	issues	19
	1.6.1	Theoretical problems	19
	1.6.2	Experimental discrepancies	20
	1.6.3	Cosmological connexion	22
1.1 Building of the model : gauge sector

From the discovery of the nuclear structure of the atoms by Rutherford in the early 20th century [1] to the final hunting of the Higgs boson in 2012 at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) with the ATLAS and the CMS collaborations [2, 3], progress in particle physics were so strong that just a few theoretical models are still relevant to explain the behaviour of elementary particles. In this context the Standard Model of particle physics (SM) is the current most reliable description of the main fundamental interactions between the elementary particles¹ : the electromagnetic, the weak and the strong nuclear interactions. Symmetry considerations were essential to build this theory. Starting from the interactions between the known matter particles, namely quarks and leptons, the gauge theory developed by Yang and Mills [4] tells us that these particles interact through the exchange of spin 1 particles, the vector gauge bosons. The full Lagrangian of the theory, which contains the masses and interactions between the particles, is invariant under a non-abelian gauge symmetry that reads $SU(3)_c \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$; it introduces 12 gauge bosons. The strong interaction is described by the Quantum ChromoDynamics (QCD) theory whose gauge symmetry is the exact $SU(3)_c$ where the subscript c denote the colour charge. This interaction is mediated by eight massless vector gauge bosons, the gluons, whose first strong evidence of their existence was obtained by the observation of the *three-jets* events at the PETRA accelerator [5]. The remaining part $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ corresponds to the unification of the *ElectroMagnetic* (EM) interaction, based on the Quantum ElectroDynamics (QED) theory, and the weak interaction into the same framework introduced by Glashow, the *Electro-Weak* (EW) model [6]. This gauge symmetry predicts, in addition to the massless EM propagator called photon, new massive vector gauge bosons, the W^{\pm} and Z bosons discovered by the UA1 collaboration at the CERN SPS collider [7, 8].

The self-interaction of gauge bosons and the kinetic terms are encoded in the Yang-Mills expression :

$$\mathscr{L}_{YM} = -\frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{3} F^{i}_{\mu\nu} F^{i\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.1)$$

where

$$F^{i}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}F^{i}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}F^{i}_{\mu} + g_{i}c_{ijk}F^{j}_{\mu}F^{k}_{\nu}.$$
 (1.2)

 μ and ν are Lorentz indices, the metric being that of *Special Relativity* (SR), the Minkowski one $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, -1)$. The general covariant derivative for the $SU(3)_c \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ symmetry reads

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + i \sum_{i=1}^{3} k_i g_i F_{\mu}^i T_i.$$
 (1.3)

We use the following definitions for each symmetry :

 $^{^{1}}$ Gravitation can be safely neglected at this scale and even at the largest energies obtained both at colliders and in cosmic rays although there is no successful description of quantum gravity.

- i = 1 stands for the $U(1)_Y$ symmetry whose coupling constant is $g_1 = g_Y$. There is one gauge field associated $F^1_{\mu} = B_{\mu}$ and one generator $T_1 = Y/2$ with the hypercharge Y. The $U(1)_Y$ structure constant c_{ijk} is equal to zero. Thus there is no self-interaction of the field B_{μ} : this corresponds to an abelian gauge group. $k_1 = 1$ which means that all matter particles of the SM couple through $U(1)_Y$.
- i = 2 stands for the $SU(2)_L$ symmetry whose coupling constant is g_2 . There are three gauge fields $F^2_{\mu} = \{W^a_{\mu}, a = 1, 2, 3\}$ and three associated generators, $T_2 \in \{I_a = \sigma^a/2, a = 1, 2, 3\}$ with σ^a the Pauli matrices and I_a the isospin. The $SU(2)_L$ structure constants $c_{ijk} = \epsilon_{ijk}$, with $i, j, k \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, are the antisymmetric Levy-Civita symbols in three dimensions. Finally $k_2 = 0$ and 1 respectively for the covariant derivative acting on a singlet and a doublet of $SU(2)_L$.
- i = 3 stands for the $SU(3)_c$ symmetry whose coupling constant is $g_3 = g_s$. There are eight gauge fields $F^3_{\mu} = \{G^a_{\mu}, a = 1, ..., 8\}$ and eight associated generators $T_3 \in \{\lambda^a/2, a = 1, ..., 8\}$. The $SU(3)_c$ structure constants $c_{ijk} = f_{ijk}$, with $i, j, k \in \{1, ..., 8\}$, are antisymmetric. To finish we have $k_3 = 0, 1$ and -1 respectively for a singlet, a triplet and an antitriplet of $SU(3)_c$.

In the framework of EW unification, the electrical charge \mathcal{Q} of a particle, characterized by its hypercharge Y and I_3 which is the third component of the $SU(2)_L$ isospin, is given by the Gell-Mann Nishijima formula

$$\mathcal{Q} = I_3 + \frac{Y}{2}.\tag{1.4}$$

The main issue of this model is to explain how some of these gauge bosons become massive and how to avoid the explicit breaking of the EW symmetry. One simple way to give mass to the particles of the SM is to break the $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ symmetry introducing a doublet of scalar fields that has non-zero vacua as we will show in section 1.3. When we decide to choose one vaccum the symmetry is spontaneously broken to the QED symmetry $U(1)_{em}$ and the particles of the SM get a mass in an elegant mathematical way. This mechanism, developed in the 60's [9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14], is the *Brout-Englert-Higgs*² boson which seems to correspond to the boson discovered by the LHC experiments in 2012. The Higgs mechanism was successfully incorporated into the EW theory by Weinberg and Salam [15, 16] and the predictiveness of the theory was finally established by 't Hooft who demonstrated that the SM theory of the EW interaction is renormalizable [17]. For a more complete overview of the SM theory see [18, 19, 20]. In the following section we look at the matter sector of the SM.

 $^{^{2}}$ In the rest of this thesis we will simplify this naming by using the much more used designations *Higgs mechanism* and *Higgs boson*.

1.2 Matter sector

The matter sector of the SM consists of 24 spin 1/2 particles called fermions and their corresponding antiparticles³. This sector is divided into two parts, depending on the sensitivity of this particles to the strong interaction : the leptons and the quarks. These fermions are described by the fundamental representation of the group of space-time transformations, the Lorentz group, and the object we use to define these fields are the four complex components Dirac spinor. This framework allows to put in one mathematical object the fermion, the corresponding antifermion and their two helicities⁴. One useful decomposition of the fermions is linked to the chiral symmetry. A Dirac spinor ψ can be rewritten as a combination of its left and right chiralities ψ_L and ψ_R :

$$\psi = P_L \psi_L + P_R \psi_R, \tag{1.5}$$

where the projectors are defined using the Dirac matrix γ_5

$$P_L = \frac{1 - \gamma_5}{2}, \ P_R = \frac{1 + \gamma_5}{2}.$$
 (1.6)

Using this decomposition we can define the fermion masses analysing the mixing of chiralities as we will see in section 1.3. The weak interaction only acts on the left part ψ_L of the Dirac spinor and on the right one of the conjugate spinor : it breaks parity symmetry⁵ P and also both charge conjugation⁶ C and P symmetry. When we classify the fermions with respect to the weak interaction, we then define doublets of chirality left and singlet of chirality right as detailed in sections 1.2.1 and 1.2.2.

1.2.1 Leptons

Leptons are singlets of $SU(3)_c$; they do not interact through strong interaction. There are six leptons divided in three families or flavours in the SM. In this sector a family corresponds to a doublet of a charged (with an opposite electric charge with respect to that of the proton) and a neutral lepton with respect to the EM interaction. The most known charged lepton is the electron e^- which is the lightest (its mass⁷ $m_e \sim 511$ keV) and is stable, namely its lifetime is bigger than the age of the Universe. The others charged leptons are the muon μ^- dicovered in 1936 by Anderson and Neddermeyer [21] and the tau τ^- detected in 1975 by Perl and collaborators from the Stanford Linear

 $^{^{3}}$ Same mass and spin but the other quantum numbers are opposite such as the electric and colour charges.

⁴Projection of the spin onto the direction of momentum of the particle considered.

⁵Transformation between left and right chirality. The breaking of P is the reason why the symmetry group of the weak interaction is called $SU(2)_L$.

⁶Transformation between a particle and its antiparticle.

⁷We use the useful convention $\hbar = c = 1$ which allows us to write most of our high energy physics observables in units of eV^n with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. 1 eV is the energy gained (or lost) by an electron which is moving on a lengh of 1 meter across an electric potential difference of 1 Volt; a typical ballpark is the mass of a nucleon ~ 1 GeV = 10⁹ eV.

Accelerator Center (SLAC) and the Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory (LBL) [22]. The neutral states called neutrinos were found interacting only by weak interaction with the other particles [23, 24, 25]. It results that the three neutrino flavours ν_e , ν_{μ} and ν_{τ} are mostly Left-Handed (LH) and almost massless. We insist on the *almost* statement since neutrino oscillations were observed in many different ways (flux of solar neutrino, atmospheric neutrino, neutrinos produced in particle accelerators or nuclear reactors). This shows that these particles have non-zero masses and gives hints on the existence of a Right-Handed (RH) component (see part III for examples of such extensions in the neutrino sector). Neutrino oscillation describes the possibility to detect a neutrino with a flavour $i \in \{e, \mu, \tau\}$ knowing that it was created with a flavour $j \neq i$ using the unitary transformation relating the flavor ν_i and mass ν_{α} eigenstates

$$\nu_{i} = \sum_{\alpha=1,2,3} U_{i\alpha} \nu_{\alpha}, \ i \in \{e, \mu, \tau\}$$
(1.7)

through the Pontecorvo-Maki-Nakagawa-Sakata (PMNS) unitary matrix [26, 27, 28]

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} c_{12}c_{13} & s_{12}c_{13} & s_{13}e^{-i\delta} \\ -s_{12}c_{23} - c_{12}s_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & c_{12}c_{23} - s_{12}s_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & s_{23}c_{13} \\ s_{12}s_{23} - c_{12}c_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & -c_{12}s_{23} - s_{12}c_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & c_{23}c_{13} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & e^{i\alpha_{21}/2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & e^{i\alpha_{31}/2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(1.8)$$

where $c_{ij} = \cos \theta_{ij}$, $s_{ij} = \sin \theta_{ij}$ (θ_{ij} being mixing angles), δ is the Dirac CP violation phase and α_{21} and α_{31} are two Majorana CP violation phases. These two last parameters are only relevant if neutrinos are Majorana fermions⁸ which would be the case if neutrinoless double beta decay (two neutrons decaying into two protons and two electrons) is observed. δ is currently unknown but the angles are now well determined [29] :

$$\sin^{2} \theta_{12} = 0.306^{+0.018}_{-0.015}$$

$$\sin^{2} \theta_{23} = 0.42^{+0.08}_{-0.03}$$

$$\sin^{2} 2\theta_{13} = 0.096 \pm 0.013.$$

(1.9)

The recent observation of non-zero θ_{13} angle by the Daya Bay reactor neutrino experiment [30] turned to be a powerful constraint on neutrino models. If the masses of the neutrinos are sufficiently large, one of the interesting way to determine them is through the study of the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) (see chapter 2). Depending on the cosmological scenario considered and on the combination of observations used, the upper limit on the combined mass of the three neutrinos was determined by the Planck collaboration to be down to 0.23 eV at the 2σ level [31].

The leptons and antileptons can now be represented in terms of doublets and singlets of LH and RH fields :

$$L = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \nu_e \\ e \end{pmatrix}_L, \begin{pmatrix} \nu_\mu \\ \mu \end{pmatrix}_L, \begin{pmatrix} \nu_\tau \\ \tau \end{pmatrix}_L \right\}, \ e = \left\{ e_R, \mu_R, \tau_R \right\}.$$
(1.10)

⁸The fermion is identical to its antifermion.

1.2.2 Quarks

The quarks are triplets of $SU(3)_c$ and interact through the three interactions of the SM. As for leptons we have six quarks but each of them exists in three colours, the quantum number linked to the $SU(3)_c$ symmetry. The SM contains three families of quark doublets. In each doublet we have an up-type quark with a fractionary electric charge of 2/3 in unit of the proton charge and a down-type⁹ quark with a charge -1/3. The quarks are always¹⁰ detected in bound states because of the confinement property of the strong interaction. The bound states they form are the hadrons. These composite particles are colourless and have an integer electric charge. They are classified into two categories : the baryons like the nucleons, composed of three quarks, and the mesons composed of a quark and an antiquark.

The original quark model composed of the three lightest ones has been proposed independently by Gell-Mann [32] and Zweig [33, 34] in 1964. The existence of these quarks, the up, down and strange quarks (u, d and s) was proved in 1968 when evidence of the proton substructures was obtained using deep inelastic scattering at SLAC [35, 36]. To evade the issue of the theoretically possible existence of Flavour-Changing Neutral Current (FCNC) processes, still unobserved, Glashow, Iliopoulos and Maiani introduced in 1970 a fourth quark, the charm quark [37]. The mechanism they developed that allows a flavour mixing through charged current is called the Glashow-Iliopoulos-Maiani (GIM) mechanism. The first hadron containing charm quarks, the J/ψ meson, was discovered in 1974 by a SLAC team [38] and a team from Brookhaven National Laboratory (BNL) [39]. This model was parameterized by only one parameter, the Cabibbo angle θ_c [40]. The discovery of CP violation due to weak interaction in the quark sector [41] led to the need to define a quark sector made of three families that mix through charged current since this framework naturally introduce a CP violation phase. This work was done by Kobayashi and Maskawa in 1973 [42] and the footprint of the bottom quark, the heaviest down-type quark, was obtained four years later by the E288 experiment at Fermilab [43]. The top quark was much more difficult to detect because of its large mass and its disability to hadronise. It was finally discovered also at Fermilab by the CDF and DØ collaborations in 1995 | 44, 45 |.

The quark flavours can mix to form mass eigenstates (denoted by a prime ') through charged current. The flavour mixing in the quark sector is parameterized by three angles and one CP phase as in the Dirac neutrino sector; we use a 3×3 unitary matrix to represent this mixing, the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix (CKM) :

$$\begin{pmatrix} d'\\s'\\b' \end{pmatrix} = V_{\rm CKM} \begin{pmatrix} d\\s\\b \end{pmatrix}, \quad V_{\rm CKM} = \begin{pmatrix} V_{ud} & V_{us} & V_{ub}\\V_{cd} & V_{cs} & V_{cb}\\V_{td} & V_{ts} & V_{tb} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.11)

Using global fits, the CKM elements are now precisely determined in the framework of

⁹These names stem from those of the first quark family.

¹⁰With the exception of the top quark which is not able to hadronise because its lifetime is too short; however its decay product hadronises.

the SM and their magnitudes are [29]:

$$V_{\rm CKM} = \begin{pmatrix} 0.97427 \pm 0.00015 & 0.22534 \pm 0.00065 & 0.00351 \substack{+0.00015\\-0.00014}\\ 0.22520 \pm 0.00065 & 0.97344 \pm 0.00016 & 0.0412 \substack{+0.0011\\-0.0005}\\ 0.00867 \substack{+0.00029\\-0.00031} & 0.0404 \substack{+0.0011\\-0.0005} & 0.999146 \substack{+0.00021\\-0.000046} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.12)

The experimental observations based on charged current and CP violation like for example in the *B*-mesons sector can be crucial to determine the viability of theories aiming to go Beyond the Standard Model (BSM) as we will observe in parts II and III. As for leptons, we classify the quarks and antiquarks in doublets and singlets of $SU(2)_L$:

$$Q = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} u \\ d \end{pmatrix}_{L}, \begin{pmatrix} c \\ s \end{pmatrix}_{L}, \begin{pmatrix} t \\ b \end{pmatrix}_{L} \right\}, \ u = \{u_{R}, c_{R}, t_{R}\}, \ d = \{d_{R}, s_{R}, b_{R}\}.$$
(1.13)

1.3 The Higgs mechanism

Now let us look how to generate the mass of the particles we described in the SM. To do this an $SU(2)_L$ doublet of complex scalars with an hypercharge Y = 1 is introduced :

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} \phi^+\\ \phi^0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{1.14}$$

The requirement of $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ invariance yields the following Lagrangian for the field H :

$$\mathscr{L}_{H} = (D_{\mu}H)^{\dagger}(D_{\mu}H) - V(H).$$
(1.15)

H is an $SU(3)_c$ singlet; it implies that it has no tree level interaction with the gluon fields G^a_{μ} which in consequence are massless. The gauge invariant potential chosen for the field H reads

$$V(H) = \mu^2 H^{\dagger} H + \lambda (H^{\dagger} H)^2.$$
 (1.16)

We then rewrite the Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_H :

$$\mathscr{L}_{H} = \left| \left\{ \partial_{\mu} + \frac{i}{2} \left(g_{Y} Y B_{\mu} + g_{2} \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sigma^{a} W_{\mu}^{a} \right) \right\} H \right|^{2} - \mu^{2} H^{\dagger} H - \lambda (H^{\dagger} H)^{2}.$$
(1.17)

To get a physical minimum for the potential implies that the parameter λ has to be positive. Then the averaged expected value of the field H in the vacuum, also called Vacuum Expectation Value (VEV), is obtained by calculating the minimum of the potential V(H):

$$\frac{\partial V(H)}{\partial |H|} = 0 = (2\mu^2 + 4\lambda |H|^2)|H|, \qquad (1.18)$$

which leads to the VEV

$$\langle 0|H|0\rangle = H_0 = \sqrt{\frac{-\mu^2}{2\lambda}} \equiv \pm \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
(1.19)

We are thus left with two types of potential as depicted in figure 1.1:

- Either $\mu \ge 0$; we get a trivial minimum $\langle 0|H|0\rangle = 0$,
- or $\mu < 0$; two minima are obtained : $\langle 0|H|0\rangle = \pm \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}$.

The latter is the most interesting : by choosing one specific minimum $+\frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}$, the $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ symmetry is spontaneously broken. Using the relation 1.4 we can check that this procedure does not break the EM symmetry : $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ breaks into the exact $U(1)_{em}$ symmetry :

$$\mathcal{Q}H_0 = 0. \tag{1.20}$$



Figure 1.1: Higgs potential for two cases with the same $|\mu^2|$ and λ but with $\mu^2 > 0$ for the one represented by the red curve and $\mu^2 < 0$ for the other depicted by the green curve, *mexican hat* shaped.

Expanding the field H around the chosen vacuum we have

$$H_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_0^+ \\ \phi_0^0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} G^+ \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v+h^0+iG^0) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.21)

A gauge transformation, the unitary gauge, allows us to get rid of the non-physical degrees of freedom G^{\pm} and G^{0} , the Goldstone bosons. The new expression

$$H_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ v+h^0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.22)

is now used to determine how the interaction between H_0 and the gauge fields gives their mass. First note that the only physical state remaining in the Higgs sector gets a mass :

$$m_{h^0}^2 = -2\mu^2 = 2\lambda v^2. \tag{1.23}$$

From the expression of \mathscr{L}_{H} we analyse the term

$$\left|\frac{i}{2}\left(g_{Y}YB_{\mu}+g_{2}\sum_{a=1}^{3}\sigma^{a}W_{\mu}^{a}\right)H_{0}\right|^{2} = \frac{1}{8}\left|\begin{pmatrix}g_{2}W_{\mu}^{3}+g_{Y}YB_{\mu}&g_{2}(W_{\mu}^{1}-iW_{\mu}^{2})\\g_{2}(W_{\mu}^{1}+iW_{\mu}^{2})&-g_{2}W_{\mu}^{3}+g_{Y}YB_{\mu}\end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix}0\\v+h^{0}\end{pmatrix}\right|^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{8}g_{2}^{2}(v+h^{0})^{2}\left[W_{\mu}^{1}W^{1\mu}+W_{\mu}^{2}W^{2\mu}\right]$$
$$+ \frac{1}{8}(v+h^{0})^{2}(g_{Y}B_{\mu}-g_{2}W_{\mu}^{3})(g_{Y}B^{\mu}-g_{2}W^{3\mu}).$$
(1.24)

Let us look more precisely at the mass terms. Using

$$W^{\pm}_{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (W^{1}_{\mu} \mp i W^{2}_{\mu}), \qquad (1.25)$$

we find the mass term corresponding to the W bosons :

$$M_W^2 W_\mu^+ W^{-\mu}$$
 with $M_W = \frac{1}{2} g_2 v.$ (1.26)

The remaining mass term reads

$$\frac{1}{8}v^2 \begin{pmatrix} W^3_{\mu} & B_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} g_2^2 & -g_2 g_Y \\ -g_2 g_Y & g_Y^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} W^{3\mu} \\ B^{\mu} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.27)

The diagonalisation of this mass matrix gives two new physical states, the massless photon A_{μ} and the Z boson described by the field Z_{μ} . Their corresponding mass terms are

$$\frac{1}{2}(M_Z^2 Z_\mu^2 + M_A^2 A_\mu^2) \tag{1.28}$$

with

$$A_{\mu} = \frac{g_Y W_{\mu}^3 + g_2 B_{\mu}}{\sqrt{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}}, \quad M_A = 0,$$

$$Z_{\mu} = \frac{g_2 W_{\mu}^3 - g_Y B_{\mu}}{\sqrt{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}}, \quad M_Z = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g_Y^2 + g_2^2} v.$$
(1.29)

 g_Y and g_2 can be reexpressed in terms of the $U(1)_{em}$ coupling constant e and a mixing angle called the Weinberg angle θ_W to get a simpler relation between the physical states (A_{μ}, Z_{μ}) and the gauge eigenstates (W^3_{μ}, B_{μ}) :

$$g_Y = \frac{e}{\cos \theta_W}, \quad g_2 = \frac{e}{\sin \theta_W} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} A_\mu = \sin \theta_W W_\mu^3 + \cos \theta_W B_\mu \\ Z_\mu = \cos \theta_W W_\mu^3 - \sin \theta_W B_\mu \end{cases}$$
(1.30)

The mixing between the W^3_{μ} and B_{μ} fields explains the different masses for the Z and W bosons :

$$\frac{M_W}{M_Z} = \cos \theta_W. \tag{1.31}$$

Interactions involving the exchange of Z and W bosons are respectively put into neutral and charged current interactions. The relative strength between these two types of interaction is encoded in the ρ parameter defined as

$$\rho = \frac{M_W^2}{M_Z^2 \cos^2 \theta_W} = 1.$$
 (1.32)

Note that this is the tree level definition of ρ ; higher order corrections could lead to small deviation of ρ from the unity which would be a way to probe New Physics (NP). More generally the experimental study of the EW sector imply strong constraints on BSM models especially those characterized by an extension of the gauge sector as we will see in part III.

In the matter sector the mass terms are generated through the mixing of the fermion chiralities represented by the Yukawa terms¹¹. Recalling the singlets and doublets of $SU(2)_L$ defined in section 1.2, the Yukawa Lagrangian reads :

$$\mathscr{L}_{Y} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} y_{u}^{i} \bar{Q}_{i} \bar{H} V_{ij} u_{j} + y_{d}^{i} \bar{Q}_{i} H d_{i} + y_{e}^{i} \bar{L}_{i} H e_{i} + \text{h.c}^{12}, \quad \bar{H} = i\sigma^{2} H^{*}$$
(1.33)

where *i* and *j* stand for the fermion families, V_{ij} are the CKM matrix elements and the *y*'s are the Yukawa couplings. The EW spontaneous breaking allows to derive the expression of the mass of the fermions. Using the eq. 1.22 and neglecting the effect of the CKM elements, the mass of a fermion *f* of the *i*th family reads

$$m_{f_i} = \frac{y_f^i v}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (1.34)

1.4 Full standard picture

The last part of the SM Lagrangian is the one that contains the interactions between the matter and gauge sectors :

$$\mathscr{L}_{MG} = \bar{\Psi} \not\!\!\!\! D\Psi, \quad \not\!\!\!\! D = \gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu}, \quad \Psi \in \{Q, \bar{u}, \bar{d}, L, \bar{e}\}.$$
(1.35)

¹¹Neutrinos are not considered here; the mechanism to generate their masses is not yet well established because we observe only one neutrino chirality.

¹²Hermitian coujugate of the expression. Note that most of the time the flavour and colour indices will be omitted.

The full SM Lagrangian then reads

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}_{SM} &= \mathscr{L}_{YM} + \mathscr{L}_{H} + \mathscr{L}_{Y} + \mathscr{L}_{MG} \\ &= -\frac{1}{4} \left(B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} W^{i}_{\mu\nu} W^{i\mu\nu} + \sum_{i=1}^{8} G^{i}_{\mu\nu} G^{i\mu\nu} \right) \\ &+ (D_{\mu} H)^{\dagger} (D_{\mu} H) - \mu^{2} H^{\dagger} H - \lambda (H^{\dagger} H)^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} y^{u}_{i} \bar{Q}_{i} \bar{H} V_{ij} u_{j} + y^{d}_{i} \bar{Q}_{i} H d_{i} + y^{e}_{i} \bar{L}_{i} H e_{i} + \text{h.c} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{3} \bar{Q}_{i} \not{D} Q_{i} + \bar{u}_{i} \not{D} u_{i} + \bar{d}_{i} \not{D} d_{i} + \bar{L}_{i} \not{D} L_{i} + \bar{e}_{i} \not{D} e_{i}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.36)

It follows that the SM contains 19 parameters : 9 Yukawa couplings, 3 CKM angles and a CP phase, 3 coupling constants, the μ and the λ parameters from the Higgs potential and the QCD vacuum angle $\theta_{\rm QCD}$ linked to the strong CP problem that we will tackle in section 1.6. By considering massive neutrinos we must also add new terms : neutrino masses and PMNS elements.

The SM interactions are depicted in figure 1.2 and table 1.1 summarizes the main characteristics of the SM particles. In this table the mass of the Higgs boson is the weighted mean of the mass measurement derived by the ATLAS collaboration with integrated luminosities of about 4.8 fb⁻¹ at a center-of-mass energy of proton-proton collision at the LHC of $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV and 20.7 fb⁻¹ at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV ($m_{h^0} = 125.5 \pm 0.2^{+0.5}_{-0.6}$ GeV, [46]) and the measurement done by the CMS collaboration with integrated luminosities up to 5.1 fb⁻¹ at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV and up to 19.6 fb⁻¹ at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV ($m_{h^0} = 125.7 \pm 0.3 \pm 0.3$ GeV, [47]).



Figure 1.2: Tree-level interactions between the SM particles. Lines represent interactions with gluons (plain black), γ (dashed), Z and W (dotted) and Higgs boson (green).

Name		Mass	Q	$\mathbf{SU(3)_c}, \mathbf{SU(2)_L}, \mathbf{U(1)_Y}$		
Fermions						
	u	$2.3^{+0.7}_{-0.5} { m MeV}$				
Up-type quarks	c	$1.67\pm0.07~{\rm GeV}$	2/3	$({f 3},{f 2},{1\over 3})_{ m LH};(ar{f 3},{f 1},{ extstyle -}{4\over 3})_{ m RH}$		
	t	$173.5 \pm 0.6 \pm 0.8 ~{\rm GeV}$				
	d	$4.8^{+0.7}_{-0.3} { m MeV}$				
Down-type quarks	s	$95 \pm 5 \text{ GeV}$ $-1/$		$({f 3},{f 2},{1\over 3})_{ m LH};(ar{f 3},{f 1},{2\over 3})_{ m RH}$		
	b	$4.78\pm0.06~{\rm GeV}$				
	e^-	$5.10998928 \ {\rm keV}$				
Charged leptons	μ^-	$105.6583715 { m MeV}$	-1	$(1,2,-1)_{\mathrm{LH}};(1,1,2)_{\mathrm{RH}}$		
	$ au^-$	$1776.82\pm0.16~{\rm MeV}$				
	ν_e					
Neutrinos	$ u_{\mu}$	$\sum m_{\nu} < 0.23 \text{ eV} [31]$	0	$(1, 2, -1)_{LH}$		
	$ u_{ au}$					
		Vector bosons				
Gluons	G^{a}	-	0	(8 , 1 ,0)		
W bosons	W^{\pm}	$80.385 \pm 0.015 {\rm GeV}$	± 1	$W^i \in (1, 3, 0)$		
Z boson	Z	$91.1876 \pm 0.0021 \; {\rm GeV}$	0	$B \in (1, 1, 0)$		
Photon	γ	$<1\times10^{-18}~{\rm eV}$	0			
Scalar boson						
Higgs boson	h^0	$125.63^{+0.33}_{-0.35} \text{ GeV} [46, 47]$	0	(1, 2, 1)		

Table 1.1: Summary of the characteristics of the SM particles. If there is no citation, the mass comes from [29]. The uncertainties are neglected if there are too small. Note that here the c and b masses are combinations of pole mass determinations and the mass of the top quark comes from an average of top mass measurements, all this done in [29].

1.5 Successes of the SM

Since the discovery of a boson whose properties (spin [48, 47], parity [47], couplings to other particles [49, 47]) match more or less those of the only scalar boson of the SM, the Higgs boson, all the particles predicted by the SM are now experimentally studied and the results reveal an excellent agreement between the predictions and the measurements. The observation of the massive gauge bosons and the success of the EW precision tests are especially an impressive achievement of the theory with $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ symmetry breaking [50].

Rare decays of mesons are an interesting way to test the viability of the SM since they

are characterized by a suppression of the SM contributions. For instance the branching ratios $\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+\mu^-)$ and $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s\gamma)$ are known as important observables to probe NP. However, their recent measurements show that they stand close to their SM expectation.

1.6 SM issues

Despite the strong evidences of the viability of the SM, several problems remain unsolved.

1.6.1 Theoretical problems

One of the main argument that might indicate that the SM is not the fundamental theory of particle physics is that it does not include gravitation. Moreover there is no reliable theory of quantum gravity, namely the quantisation of the gravitational field is an open topic. Such a theory would have to be reliable when quantum gravity becomes non-negligible which is the case at the Planck scale defined by the Planck mass M_{Pl}

$$M_{Pl} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c}{G_N}} = 1.220 \ 93(7) \times 10^{19} \ \text{GeV},$$
 (1.37)

with the Newtonian gravitational constant $G_N = 6.673 \ 8(8) \times 10^{-11} \ \text{m}^2 \ \text{kg}^{-1} \ \text{s}^{-2}$.

Another issue concerning the unification of the fundamental interactions is linked to the unification at higher scale of the three SM interactions into one single interaction. These theories are called Grand Unified Theories (GUT). The running of the three SM coupling constants with the energy scale of the process studied has long been observed. This motivates the idea of unifying the coupling constants of the SM at a given energy scale. However, the theoretical computation of this running shows that these coupling constants do not converge to a common value at an energy scale $M_{\rm GUT} \sim 10^{16}$ GeV. Nevertheless, as we will see later, NP effects can restore the unification.

Another non-explained issue in the SM arises through the θ_{QCD} parameter. In the SM, there is no reason why the strong interaction could not also break the CP symmetry. It implies that the SM should include another CP violation term that looks like

$$\mathscr{L}_{SU(3)_c}^{CP} \propto \theta_{\rm QCD} \sum_{a=1}^8 G^a_{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} G^a_{\rho\sigma}$$
(1.38)

where $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ are the Levy-Civita symbols in four dimensions. Experimental constraints on the value of $\theta_{\rm QCD}$ coming from neutron electric dipole moment studies lead to an upper bound of $|\theta_{\rm QCD}| < 10^{-11}$ [51], thus raising a fine-tuning issue that BSM considerations could solve.

Another more severe fine-tuning problem appearing in the SM is related to the hierarchy problem. When we consider quantum corrections to the SM Higgs mass through a fermionic one-loop contribution, it yields a divergent integral. To solve this issue we introduce a cut-off Λ corresponding to the limit of validity of the theory. We are then left with a correction

$$\delta m_{h^0}^2 = \frac{y_f^2}{16\pi^2} \left(-2\Lambda^2 + 6m_f^2 \ln \frac{\Lambda}{m_f} + \dots \right).$$
(1.39)

The problem here is the choice of the scale at which particle physics cannot be described only by the SM. The higher scales we know are the GUT scale and the Planck scale which implies that corrections to the Higgs boson mass are extremely large. It follows that the compensation between the bare mass and these corrections has to be really precise to get a Higgs boson mass around 125 GeV. This fine-tuning issue could be avoided in BSM models where for instance Λ corresponds to a lower scale or new contributions cancel the SM corrections.

As we saw in section 1.2.1 the neutrino sector is not well understood. The fact that these fermions are massive even if we found only one kind of neutrino chirality tells us either that the mass generation in the SM is not completely understood or that we must add at least one new field to try to solve this issue. Furthermore the Dirac or Majorana nature of the neutrinos is not established.

Finally the SM gives us no fundamental explanation for the origin of some other features like the number of families, the hierarchy between the fermion masses as can be seen in table 1.1, the separation between quarks and leptons or simply the number of parameters.

1.6.2 Experimental discrepancies

Some aspects of the Higgs sector could lead to discrepancies with the SM expectations. As an example the signal strength corresponding to the decay of the Higgs boson into two photons could be such an interesting observable. Table 1.2 shows the observed signal strength $\mu_{\gamma\gamma}$ for different production modes and for fixed m_{h^0} values. They were obtained by the authors in [52] from the Moriond 2013 results released by the ATLAS and CMS collaborations. As can be seen slight deviations from unity are currently observed (SM expectation : $\mu_{\gamma\gamma}^{\rm SM} \equiv 1$). If these discrepancies are confirmed it would allow to probe NP.

The motion of a charged lepton in an external EM field gives one of the most precisely measured experimentally and calculated theoretically quantities in particle physics, the lepton anomalous magnetic moment. In QED the interaction of a photon field $A_{\nu}(x)$, x being the position in space-time, with a Dirac field, here the lepton $\psi_{\ell}(x)$ is given by the Lagrangian density of interaction

$$\mathscr{L}_{\rm int}^{\rm QED}(x) = e j_{em}^{\nu}(x) A_{\nu}(x), \quad j_{em}^{\nu}(x) = -\bar{\psi}_{\ell}(x) \gamma^{\nu} \psi_{\ell}(x), \tag{1.40}$$

where $j_{\rm em}^{\nu}(x)$ is the EM current and γ^{ν} are the Dirac matrices.

The intrinsic angular momentum or spin \vec{S} of the lepton is responsible for the intrinsic magnetic dipole moment $\vec{\mu}$ which is, with the usual convention $\hbar = c = 1$:

$$\vec{\mu} = g_\ell \frac{e}{2m_\ell} \vec{S}. \tag{1.41}$$

Channel	Signal strength $\mu_{\gamma\gamma}$	$m_{h^0}~({ m GeV})$	Production mode					
			\mathbf{ggF}	VBF	WH	\mathbf{ZH}	$\mathbf{tt}\mathbf{H}$	
ATLAS 4.8 fb ⁻¹ at 7 TeV + 20.7 fb ⁻¹ at 8 TeV [53, 46]								
$\mu_{\gamma\gamma}^{\rm ggF+ttH}$	1.60 ± 0.41	125.5	100%	_	_	_	_	
$\mu_{\gamma\gamma}^{ m VBF+VH}$	1.94 ± 0.82	125.5	_	60%	26%	14%	—	
CMS 5.1 fb ⁻¹ at 7 TeV + 19.6 fb ⁻¹ at 8 TeV [54]								
$\mu_{\gamma\gamma}^{\rm ggF+ttH}$	0.49 ± 0.39	125	100%	_		—	_	
$\mu_{\gamma\gamma}^{\rm VBF+VH}$	1.65 ± 0.87	125		60%	26%	14%	_	

Table 1.2: Signal strength $\mu_{\gamma\gamma}$ at a given m_{h^0} for different Higgs boson production modes at the LHC : gluon-gluon fusion (ggF), vector boson fusion (VBF), associated production with an EW gauge boson V = W, Z (*Higgs Strahlung*, VH) and associated production with a $t\bar{t}$ pair (ttH). Adapted from [52].

The Dirac theory predicts a g-factor for the leptons of $g_{\ell} = 2$ [55, 56]. The anomalous contribution to the magnetic moment of the lepton, defined as

$$a_{\ell} = \frac{1}{2}(g_{\ell} - 2), \qquad (1.42)$$

is given by a form factor defined by the matrix element $\langle \ell^-(p') | j_{\rm em}^{\nu}(0) | \ell^-(p) \rangle$ where $|\ell^-(p)\rangle$ is a lepton state of momentum p. The leading QED contribution to a_{ℓ} was obtained at the end of the 1940's [57] and reads

$$a_{\ell}^{\text{QED(1 loop)}} = \frac{\alpha_{em}}{2\pi}.$$
(1.43)

with α_{em} the fine-structure constant. Higher order contributions and the experimental value are now determined with an impressive accuracy. Nevertheless the SM contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment do not fit well the measured value. The current discrepancy between the experimental measurement [58] and the theoretical calculation of this observable shows a deviation of about 3σ :

$$\delta a_{\mu} = a_{\mu}^{\exp} - a_{\mu}^{SM} = (249 \pm 86) \times 10^{-11}.$$
 (1.44)

Finally, the BaBar collaboration reported last year [59] a combined 3.4σ deviation of the measured ratios involving B and D mesons to their SM prediction,

$$\mathscr{R}(D^{(*)}) = \frac{\mathscr{B}(B \to D^{(*)}\tau^- \bar{\nu}_\tau)}{\mathscr{B}(\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell)}, \quad l = \{e, \mu\}$$
(1.45)

These decay modes may give important clues on BSM physics.

1.6.3 Cosmological connexion

Perhaps the most important open issue in the SM is that it does not provide a Dark Matter (DM) candidate. This specific kind of matter is required for the viability of the cosmological standard model called Lambda Cold Dark Matter (Λ CDM). Since it is thought that the Cold Dark Matter (CDM) is made of heavy, stable and neutral particles, the SM could naively include such a candidate with the neutrinos. Nevertheless, as we will analyse in chapter 2, the calculated total density of neutrinos in the Universe does not match the DM density.

The Λ CDM model tells us that a period of the early Universe was characterized by an important annihilation of baryons and antibaryons into photons. A slight baryon excess implied that the SM matter component of the Universe is mainly composed of baryons. The baryon asymmetry in the Universe is not explained in the SM : this observation cannot be described only by SM CP violation processes.

2

... To the infinitely large : the Lambda Cold Dark Matter model

Contents

2.1	The	oretical framework	24
	2.1.1	Cosmological principle and its consequences	24
	2.1.2	Cosmological parameters	26
2.2	Cosi	nological observations	27
	2.2.1	Methods	27
	2.2.2	Success of the Λ CDM model $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	27
2.3	Darl	k Matter	29
	2.3.1	DM evidences	30
	2.3.2	Equilibrium	31
	2.3.3	Freeze-out	34
	2.3.4	Precise calculation	34
2.4	Cosi	nic inflation	35
	2.4.1	Cosmological puzzles	35
	2.4.2	Inflationary Universe	36
	2.4.3	Cosmological perturbations and constraints $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	37
2.5	The	rmal history of the Universe in the ΛCDM model \ldots	38
2.6	ΛСΙ	OM drawbacks	39
2.7	\mathbf{Som}	e solutions to the Λ CDM and SM issues	40

2.1 Theoretical framework

As the study of the smallest-scale structures, the study of the largest-scale structures of the Universe has developed greatly in the 20th century. The construction of the standard cosmological picture was done in the context of the Einstein's *General Relativity* (GR), the current most reliable theory of gravitation [60]. As in SR, the distance ds between two points in the spacetime depends on the spacetime metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the spacetime coordinates defined as x^{μ} where μ is a Lorentz index :

$$ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}.$$
 (2.1)

In GR, $g_{\mu\nu}$ is defined as a deformation of the Minkowski metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ parameterized by $h_{\mu\nu}$:

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\rho}) = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}(x^{\rho}).$$
(2.2)

2.1.1 Cosmological principle and its consequences

By considering the idea that on a sufficiently large scale, the properties of the Universe are the same for all *observers*, standard cosmology yields the *cosmological principle* : the Universe is homogeneous and isotropic. Using these symmetry considerations the spacetime distance of eq. 2.1 reads, using the spacetime signature (+, -, -, -), as

$$ds^{2} = dt^{2} - a^{2}(t) \left[\frac{dr^{2}}{1 - kr^{2}} + r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\phi^{2}) \right], \qquad (2.3)$$

where (r, θ, ϕ) are the spherical coordinates, the curvature parameter k is defined for three different cases, namely for an open (k = -1), flat (k = 0) and closed (k = +1)spacetime and a(t) is the scale factor of the Universe. This metric is called the Robertson-Walker (RW) metric. The function a(t) depends only on the time coordinate t and is then used to determine the evolution of the Universe. This function is calculated using the Einstein equation of GR which links the geometry of the Universe represented by the Einstein tensor $G_{\mu\nu}$ and the energy-momentum tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ describing its matter and energy content :

$$G_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} R g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G_N T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where $R_{\mu\nu}$ and R are respectively the Ricci tensor and the Ricci scalar which depend on the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. Assuming that the matter-energy content of the Universe behaves as a perfect homogenous and isotropic fluid with a total energy density ρ and a pressure p, the energy-momentum tensor is rewritten as

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (p+\rho)u_{\mu}u_{\nu} - pg_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.5)$$

with u = (1, 0, 0, 0) the velocity vector of the fluid. The eqs. 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5 gives the so-called Friedmann-Lemaître (FL) equations :

$$H^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^{2} = \frac{8\pi G_{N}}{3}\rho - \frac{k}{a^{2}},$$
(2.6)

$$\frac{\ddot{a}}{a} = -\frac{4\pi G_N}{3}(\rho + 3p), \tag{2.7}$$

where the dots correspond to time derivatives and H is called the Hubble parameter. The first equation gives the expansion rate of the Universe while the second one determines if the expansion is accelerated or decelerated, both at a given time t. Using eqs. 2.6 and 2.7 a third fundamental relation is obtained (it can also be found through energy-momentum conservation or simply through the first law of thermodynamics) :

$$\dot{\rho} = -3H(\rho + p). \tag{2.8}$$

Different types of fluid composed the Universe and they are characterized by their equation of state which connect p and ρ :

$$\omega = \frac{p}{\rho}.\tag{2.9}$$

Using the eq. 2.8, the evolution of the energy density with respect to the scale factor can be approximated, for a constant value of ω with respect to time, as

$$\rho \propto a^{-3(1+\omega)}.\tag{2.10}$$

Two well-known cases are then obtained :

- For a Universe composed of matter *i.e.* for non-relativistic particles, $p = p_m$ is negligible; $\omega = 0$. It follows that $\rho = \rho_m \propto a^{-3} \equiv V^{-1}$ where V describes the total volume. In other words the matter dilutes linearly as the total volume of the Universe expands.
- For relativistic particles with $p = p_r$ and $\rho = \rho_r$, which mainly corresponds to the radiation, $p_r = \rho_r c_s^2 = \frac{1}{3}\rho_r$, with c_s the speed of sound in this fluid. It implies that $\rho = \rho_r \propto a^{-4}$: radiation dilutes quicker than matter.

By looking at eq. 2.10 one peculiar case is found for w = -1: the energy density is constant with respect to the scale factor, it does not dilute. This case appears if a positive integration constant Λ , called the cosmological constant, is considered in the Einstein eq. 2.4 and is interpreted as a vacuum energy. Using eq. 2.7 it follows that the scale factor is an exponential function of time; the expansion of a Universe dominated by vacuum energy is accelerating. More generally the cosmological constant is a special case of fluids implying an acceleration of the expansion of the Universe called *Dark Energy* (DE). The parameter $\omega_{\rm DE}$ of the equation of state of DE is not necessarily constant.

2.1.2 Cosmological parameters

The eq. 2.6 is used to determine the critical density ρ_c *i.e.* the total density in a flat spacetime :

$$\rho_c = \frac{3H^2}{8\pi G_N}.\tag{2.11}$$

Using this definition it is more common to define for each species the density parameters

$$\Omega_i = \frac{\rho_i}{\rho_c},\tag{2.12}$$

where i stands for radiation (r), matter (m) and DE. Note that for the specific cases of the curvature and the cosmological constant the densities read

$$\Omega_k = -\frac{k}{a^2 H^2}, \quad \Omega_\Lambda = \frac{\Lambda}{3H^2}.$$
(2.13)

By rewriting eq. 2.6, it follows that

$$\Omega_r + \Omega_m + \Omega_{\rm DE} = \Omega_{\rm tot} = 1 - \Omega_k.$$
(2.14)

The determination of the density parameters (see section 2.2) allows to safely neglect the present values of the radiation and curvature densities. It follows from the eq. 2.7 that a current acceleration of the expansion of the Universe needs

$$\rho_{\rm DE,0}(1+3\,\omega_{\rm DE,0}) + \rho_{m,0} < 0, \tag{2.15}$$

where the subscript θ refers to the present value of the quantities considered. Using the density parameters and the fact that $\Omega_{m,0} + \Omega_{\text{DE},0} \sim 1$ the condition for a current acceleration of the expansion of the Universe reads

$$\omega_{\rm DE,0} \lesssim -\frac{1}{3\,\Omega_{\rm DE,0}},\tag{2.16}$$

which is satisfied for the cosmological constant. Instead of using the time variable when describing the evolution of the Universe, it is more convenient to handle an other variable directly linked to the scale factor of the RW metric, the cosmological redshift z

$$1 + z = \frac{a_0}{a}.$$
 (2.17)

It is then possible to link the cosmological parameters at different times by modifying again eq. 2.6. The Hubble parameter H_z at a redshift z reads

$$H_z^2 = H_0^2 \left[\Omega_{r,0} (1+z)^4 + \Omega_{m,0} (1+z)^3 + \Omega_{k,0} (1+z)^2 + \Omega_{\text{DE},0} f(z) \right]$$
(2.18)

where

$$f(z) = \exp\left(3\int_0^z \frac{1+\omega_{\rm DE}(z')}{1+z'}dz'\right).$$
 (2.19)

For more details on the construction of the physical cosmology we refer the reader for instance to the textbooks [61, 62, 63] and the reviews [64, 65].

2.2 Cosmological observations

2.2.1 Methods

Different types of observations are used to probe the evolution of the Universe. Since the work of Hubble [66] we know that the Universe is expanding. The remaining question about this expansion was whether it accelerates or not. The luminosity curve of type Ia supernovæ (SNIa) is well known and calibrated with precision since their physics are quite similar. SNIa are then used as *standard candles* to determine the characteristics of the expansion of the Universe. With this method the acceleration of the expansion of the Universe was determined by the Supernova Search Team [67] and the Supernova Cosmology Project [68] collaborations in 1998.

The study of Large Scale Structures (LSS) is also an important tool to probe cosmological features. The standard cosmological model predicts Baryon Acoustic Oscillations (BAO) in the matter power spectrum of LSS which thus could give informations about the early Universe. The first BAO signal was detected in 2005 by the Sloan Digital Sky Survey (SDSS) collaboration [69].

The best way to understand with accuracy the evolution of the Universe is through the study of the CMB radiation. It also contains the most solid arguments in support of the standard cosmological model. The CMB is the relic of the time when the Universe had sufficiently cooled down (around 4 000 K) to allow the photons to decouple from the most standard form of matter observed, the baryonic matter, and to fill the Universe even nowadays. Predicted with a black-body spectrum by Gamow and collaborators in the 1940s [70, 71] and with a low temperature around 5 K due to the expansion of the Universe [72], this radiation was finally detected by Penzias and Wilson in 1965 with an almost perfect black-body spectrum as forecast [73, 74]. Several alternative cosmological models were thus ruled out. Its temperature is now well measured at 2.72548 ± 0.00057 K [75].

2.2.2 Success of the Λ CDM model

Cosmological observations are now reaching a high-level of precision in the determination of the cosmological parameters. It results that very small anisotropies are detectable in the CMB : it is not a perfect homogeneous and isotropic radiation. The temperature anisotropies are studied through an $Y_{lm}(\theta, \phi)$ spherical harmonics expansion

$$\frac{\delta T}{T}(\theta,\phi) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m} Y_{\ell m}(\theta,\phi).$$
(2.20)

The power spectrum of the CMB is then defined as the sum of the multipole moment C_{ℓ} defined as

$$C_{\ell} = \frac{1}{2\ell + 1} |a_{\ell m}|^2.$$
(2.21)

The best measurements of these anisotropies came with the 2013 data release of the Planck space observatory [31] with the CMB map and the CMB power spectrum shown in figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Temperature fluctuations of the CMB (a) and its temperature angular power spectrum compared to a simple Λ CDM model (b) obtained by the Planck collaboration. The vertical scale of (b) is defined as $\mathcal{D}_{\ell}[\mu K^2] = \ell(\ell+1)C_{\ell}/2\pi$. Figures taken from [76].

To demonstrate how well the results were improved, figure 2.2 shows the evolution in time of the measurement of the Hubble constant H_0 using different techniques.



Figure 2.2: Comparison of some H_0 measurements at 1σ obtained by different collaborations. Figure obtained from [31].

Without going into the details of the CMB analysis figure 2.1b shows that the most reliable form of cosmological model is the Λ CDM model. The standard Big Bang scenario is fully described by only six parameters. We will talk about the three most relevant ones for the rest of this chapter, namely :

• The scalar spectral index n_s which enters in the definition of the primordial fluctuations (whose standard explanation is obtained in the context of cosmic inflation, see section 2.4) that give the CMB inhomogeneities;

and two parameters that characterized the matter content of the Universe :

- The physical baryon density $\Omega_{b,0}h^2$;
- The physical Cold Dark Matter (CDM) density $\Omega_{c,0}h^2$;

where h is the reduced Hubble constant defined using the relation $H_0 = 100 h \,\mathrm{km \, s^{-1} \, Mpc^{-1}}$ with 1 Mpc $\sim 3.1 \times 10^{22}$ m.

Table 2.1 summarizes the main results of the cosmological observations combining several data and will be discussed throughout this chapter. Note first that the radiation density is not included here since it is not significant today : $\Omega_{r,0}h^2 = 2.47 \times 10^{-5}$ [29]. The curvature of the Universe is, to a good approximation, zero and the Universe is mainly filled by DE which drives the acceleration of its expansion. Moreover, the DE equation of state looks like that of a cosmological constant. The main interesting result for us here is the fact that the matter content of the Universe corresponds mainly to a non-standard, yet unknown form of matter, the *Dark Matter* (DM) which interacts mainly gravitationally with the photons of the CMB. We will speak more about this component of the Universe in sections 2.3 and 2.6.

	Planck+WP+highL+BAO			
Parameter	Best fit	1σ uncertainty		
$\Omega_{_{b,0}}h^2$	0.022161	0.02214 ± 0.00024		
$\Omega_{_{c,0}}h^2$	0.11889	0.1187 ± 0.0017		
n_s	0.9611	0.9608 ± 0.0054		
$\Omega_{_{ m DE,0}}$	0.6914	0.692 ± 0.010		
$H_0 (\mathrm{kms^{-1}Mpc^{-1}})$	67.77	67.80 ± 0.77		
Age of the Universe (Gyr)	13.7965	13.798 ± 0.037		
	Best fit	2σ uncertainty		
$\Omega_{k,0}$	0.0009	$-0.0005 \substack{+ 0.0065 \\ - 0.0066}$		
$\omega_{ ext{de.0}}$	-1.109	$-1.13^{+0.23}_{-0.25}$		

Table 2.1: Value for some cosmological parameters combining Planck data with WMAP polarization data (WP), high- ℓ CMB (highL) and BAO data. Adapted from [31].

2.3 Dark Matter

The DM postulate was initiated by Oort in 1932 to account for the motion of the stars in the Milky Way (MW). One year later Zwicky observed, through the study of

the velocity distribution of galaxies in the Coma cluster, that luminous mass was not sufficient to explain the total mass responsible of the dynamic of the cluster [77]. He then also introduced DM, a specific type of matter that does not emit light, to explain this observation. By analysing the Virgo cluster, Smith reached the same conclusion in 1936 but the lack of astrophysical knowledge at this time prevented to emphasize these observations.

2.3.1 DM evidences

The first strong evidence came with the study of rotation curves of some spiral galaxies by Rubin and collaborators [78, 79, 80]. These measurements made at the galactical scale consist in calculating the rotational velocity v(r) at a distance r of the center of a given galaxy using spherical symmetry assumption and Newtonian dynamics :

$$v(r) = \sqrt{\frac{G_N M(r)}{r}},\tag{2.22}$$

where M(r) is the mass inside the sphere of radius r. Outside the luminous mass of the galaxy, M(r) is clearly expected to be constant, which leads to a velocity $v(r) \propto 1/\sqrt{r}$. However this does not correspond to the observations : the velocity distribution is approximately flat far away from the center of the galaxy, as shown in figure 2.3. This is well explained if a DM halo is considered around the galaxy.



Figure 2.3: Rotation curve of the galaxy NGC 6503, plotting its main contributions. Figure taken from [81].

Gravitational lensing gives the most powerful argument in favour of DM at the scale of galaxy clusters. Indeed their gravitational potential can *bend* the light of an object behind them, which gives informations about the total matter distribution in the clusters that can be compared to their gas/dust distribution. The study of the Bullet cluster 1E 0657-56 [82] shows the power of this method. This object is actually made of two smaller clusters that are colliding. Tracing the gas distribution and the distribution derived from lensing effects presents in figure 2.4 a clear separation between them. It shows exactly what we expect from the DM scenario : since DM interacts mainly through gravitation it is less slowed down than luminous matter during the collision inside the cluster.



Figure 2.4: Matter distribution in X-rays (colours) and using the gravitational lensing (contours) of the Bullet cluster. Figure obtained from [82].

Finally evidences of DM are also obtained at cosmological scales. All these arguments show that DM interacts essentially through gravitation with its environment. N-body simulations of LSS formations, the direct study of the LSS and the CMB as developed in section 2.2 tells us that the quantity of baryons in the Universe is not sufficiently high to explain our present Universe as presented in table 2.1: the possibility of the presence of MAssive Compact Halo Objects (MACHOs) made of baryonic matter in galaxy halos is then not sufficient to realize DM. The question that follows is the problem of the nature of its constituents. If we look at the relativistic or non-relativistic nature of the DM it turns out that relativistic particles that are candidates to Hot Dark Matter (HDM) fail to match N-body simulation predictions and LSS observations. However some scenarios can fulfill DM constraints. The most reliable scenario that is considered in the standard cosmological model and that will be considered throughout this thesis is CDM. More precisely we will mainly focus on DM made of one specie of weakly interacting, massive, neutral and stable¹ particles, the WIMPs. The exact nature of DM is a major problem of the Λ CDM model and we will develop this point later in section 2.6. Before that to understand the behaviour and to compute the abundance of this type of matter we must look at the interactions between CDM and SM particles in the early and hot Universe.

2.3.2 Equilibrium

First of all, to be able to describe the physical processes in the hot Universe that corresponded to a thermal bath with a temperature T, we must determine the thermal distribution of each particle in this bath. The distribution function for a particle χ in thermal equilibrium at a temperature $T_{\chi} = T$, with an energy E_{χ} and a chemical

¹At least on cosmological time scales, namely with a greater lifetime than the age of the Universe.

potential μ_{χ} reads

$$f_{\chi}(\vec{p}, \vec{x}, t) = \frac{1}{\exp\left(\frac{E_{\chi} - \mu_{\chi}}{T_{\chi}}\right) \pm 1}.$$
(2.23)

It is defined for the Fermi-Dirac (+) and the Bose-Einstein (-) statistics. Since we start from the cosmological principle and the RW metric we have $f_{\chi}(\vec{p}, \vec{x}, t) \equiv f_{\chi}(|\vec{p}|, t)$. Knowing that each particle χ has g_{χ} internal degrees of freedom it is now possible to define the evolution of the number density n_{χ} , the energy density ρ_{χ} and the pressure p_{χ} of particles χ :

$$n_{\chi}(t) = \frac{g_{\chi}}{(2\pi)^3} \int f_{\chi}(|\vec{p}|, t) d\vec{p},$$

$$\rho_{\chi}(t) = \frac{g_{\chi}}{(2\pi)^3} \int E_{\chi}(|\vec{p}|) f_{\chi}(|\vec{p}|, t) d\vec{p},$$

$$p_{\chi}(t) = \frac{g_{\chi}}{(2\pi)^3} \int \frac{|\vec{p}|^2}{3E_{\chi}(|\vec{p}|)} f_{\chi}(|\vec{p}|, t) d\vec{p}.$$

(2.24)

The evolution of these particles in the thermal bath is determined using the Boltzmann equation

$$\mathbf{L}[f_{\chi}] = \mathbf{C}[f_{\chi}], \tag{2.25}$$

where \mathbf{L} is the Liouville operator, that reflects the effects of the metric chosen, and \mathbf{C} is the collision operator, describing the interactions of χ with the thermal bath. In the case we are interested in *i.e.* a massive particle, it is worthwhile to look at the evolution of the number density in the non-relativistic regime. Using the RW metric the Liouville operator then reads

$$\mathbf{L}[f_{\chi}] = E_{\chi} \frac{\partial f_{\chi}}{\partial t} - H |\vec{p}|^2 \frac{\partial f_{\chi}}{\partial E_{\chi}}.$$
(2.26)

Integrating over momentum gives

$$\frac{g_{\chi}}{(2\pi)^3} \int \frac{\mathbf{L}[f_{\chi}]}{E_{\chi}} d\vec{p} = \dot{n}_{\chi} + 3Hn_{\chi} = \frac{1}{a^3} \frac{d}{dt} (n_{\chi} a^3).$$
(2.27)

Without collision we then find an expected dilution with the expansion with $n_{\chi} \propto a^{-3}$.

More assumptions are needed to compute the collision operator. First, dealing with a simple $i + j \rightarrow k + l$ process with $\chi = i$, we have

$$\frac{g_i}{(2\pi)^3} \int \frac{\mathbf{C}[f_i]}{E_i} d\vec{p} = -\int d\pi_i d\pi_j d\pi_k d\pi_l (2\pi)^4 \delta(\vec{p}_i + \vec{p}_j - \vec{p}_k - \vec{p}_l) \delta(E_i + E_j - E_k - E_l) \\\sum_{spins} \left[\left| \mathcal{M}_{i+j\to k+l} \right|^2 f_i f_j (1 \pm f_k) (1 \pm f_l) - (i+j \leftrightarrow k+l) \right]$$
(2.28)

with $d\pi = \frac{d\vec{p}}{(2\pi)^3 2E}$, $|\mathcal{M}_{i+j\to k+l}|$ the matrix element of the interaction with the sum describing the average over initial states spins and the addition of the final states spins and $(i+j\leftrightarrow k+l)$ corresponds to the addition of the same terms but with the exchange between (i, j) and (k, l). Then the following assumptions are considered :

- Statistical factors are neglected since the scattering takes place at an energy E ≫ T
 the Fermi-Dirac and the Bose-Einstein distributions are replaced by the Maxwell-Bolzmann distribution;
- CP invariance is assumed, which means that $|\mathcal{M}_{i+j\to k+l}| = |\mathcal{M}_{k+l\to i+j}| = |\mathcal{M}|$;
- Assuming that k and l are in kinetic and chemical equilibrium leads to $f_k f_l = f_k^{eq} f_l^{eq}$ where eq depicts the quantities at the equilibrium;
- Assuming that i and j stay in kinetic equilibrium even after chemical equilibrium is lost;
- In equilibrium we have $\frac{d}{dt}(n_i a^3) = 0$, which implies $f_i^{eq} f_j^{eq} = f_k^{eq} f_l^{eq}$.

Then, looking at the interaction of χ and its antiparticle $\bar{\chi}$ with particles form the thermal bath $X(\bar{X})$, and assuming $n_{\chi} = n_{\bar{\chi}}$, the integrated Boltzmann equation is rewritten as

$$\dot{n}_{\chi} + 3Hn_{\chi} = \langle \sigma_{\chi\bar{\chi}\leftrightarrow X\bar{\chi}}v \rangle (n_{\chi}^{eq\,2} - n_{\chi}^2), \qquad (2.29)$$

where the thermally averaged cross section times velocity $\langle \sigma_{ij\leftrightarrow kl}v \rangle$ is given by

$$\langle \sigma_{ij\leftrightarrow kl}v \rangle = \frac{1}{n_i^{eq} n_j^{eq}} \int d\pi_i d\pi_j d\pi_k d\pi_l (2\pi)^4 \delta(\vec{p}_i + \vec{p}_j - \vec{p}_k - \vec{p}_l) \delta(E_i + E_j - E_k - E_l) |\mathcal{M}|^2 e^{-\frac{E_i + E_j}{T}},$$
(2.30)

and the Maxwell-Boltzmann approximation shows that the number density of χ decreases with the temperature of the thermal bath :

$$n_{\chi}^{eq} = g_{\chi} \left(\frac{m_{\chi}T}{2\pi}\right)^{3/2} e^{-m_{\chi}/T}.$$
 (2.31)

To get rid of the Hubble parameter a new variable Y, the comobile density, is used :

$$Y = \frac{n_{\chi}}{s},\tag{2.32}$$

where s is the entropy density $s = h_{\text{eff}} \frac{2\pi^2 T^3}{45}$ and h_{eff} parameterizes the number of relativistic degrees of freedom in the Universe. Then entropy conservation in comoving volume gives $\dot{n}_{\chi} + 3Hn_{\chi} = s\dot{Y}$ which implies

$$\dot{Y} = -\langle \sigma_{\chi\bar{\chi}\leftrightarrow X\bar{X}}v \rangle s \left(Y^{eq\,2} - Y^2\right). \tag{2.33}$$

Introducing the variable $x = \frac{m_{\chi}}{T}$ the equation is rewritten as

$$\frac{dY}{dx} = \frac{1}{3H} \frac{ds}{dx} \langle \sigma_{\chi\bar{\chi}\leftrightarrow\chi\bar{\chi}}v \rangle \left(Y^{eq\,2} - Y^2\right). \tag{2.34}$$

2.3.3 Freeze-out

When the temperature becomes negligible comparing to the mass the particle χ , its comobile density decreases (X and \bar{X} cannot anymore annihilate into χ and $\bar{\chi} : \langle \sigma_{\chi\bar{\chi}\leftrightarrow X\bar{X}}v \rangle = \langle \sigma_{ann}v \rangle$) but at a given temperature its interaction rate with the thermal bath drops below the expansion rate of the Universe : χ is decoupled from the thermal bath, it is the *freeze-out* of χ . Its comobile density becomes approximately constant from the decoupling to today an after some assumptions like a constant averaged cross section the current χ yield reads

$$Y_0 \approx \sqrt{\frac{45G_N}{\pi g_*}} \frac{x_F}{m_{\chi}} \frac{1}{\langle \sigma_{ann} v \rangle},\tag{2.35}$$

where g_* is another parameterization of the number of degrees of freedom and the subscript F denotes quantities at the time of the χ freeze-out. The present density of the relic χ is therefore

$$\Omega_{\chi,0}h^2 = \frac{\rho_{\chi,0}h^2}{\rho_c} = \frac{m_{\chi}n_{\chi,0}h^2}{\rho_c} = \frac{m_{\chi}s_0Y_0h^2}{\rho_c}.$$
(2.36)

For a WIMP mass at the weak scale, namely for hundreds of GeV, $\langle \sigma_{ann} v \rangle \approx 10^{-26} \text{cm}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$. Using an approximation of the relic density :

$$\Omega_{\chi,0}h^2 = \frac{3 \times 10^{-27} \text{cm}^3 \text{s}^{-1}}{\langle \sigma_{ann} v \rangle},$$
(2.37)

it is clear that a WIMP could get the expected DM relic density shown in the table 2.1 : this is called the *WIMP miracle*.

2.3.4 Precise calculation

The calculation of $\langle \sigma_{ann} v \rangle$ could be approximated by an expansion in v, but this choice is not accurate in several cases :

- Annihilation of χ through an s-channel resonance in which the propagator ϕ is characterized by $2m_{\chi} \approx m_{\phi}$;
- Close to the threshold of the annihilation channel $\chi \bar{\chi} \to \phi \bar{\phi}$ with $m_{\chi} \approx m_{\phi}$;
- Coannihilation with another particle χ' which could improve the annihilation rate through processes like $\chi\chi' \to XX'$ or $\chi'\bar{\chi'} \leftrightarrow X\bar{X}$.

The detailed calculation of the relic density and the discussion of these cases can be found in [83, 84].

In the case of coannihilation, an important point in some of the analyses that we will develop in part II, let us consider N particles χ_i (i = 1, ..., N) with masses m_{χ_i} ordered like $m_{\chi_1} \leq m_{\chi_2} \leq \cdots \leq m_{\chi_{N-1}} \leq m_{\chi_N}$, where the lightest particle is assumed

stable, and with the internal degrees of freedom g_i . The thermal averaged cross section was defined by Edsjö and Gondolo [85] as

$$\langle \sigma_{ann} v \rangle = \frac{\int_0^\infty dp_{\text{eff}} p_{\text{eff}}^2 W_{\text{eff}} K_1\left(\frac{\sqrt{s}}{T}\right)}{m_{\chi_1}^4 T \left[\sum_i \frac{g_i}{g_1} \frac{m_{\chi_i}^2}{m_{\chi_1}^2} K_2\left(\frac{m_{\chi_i}}{T}\right)\right]^2}.$$
(2.38)

where K_i are the modified Bessel functions of the second kind and of order i, $p_{\text{eff}} = p_{11}$ and $s = 4(p_{\text{eff}}^2 + m_{\chi_1})$. The quantity W_{eff} is defined as

$$W_{\rm eff} = \sum_{ij} \frac{p_{ij}}{p_{11}} \frac{g_i g_j}{g_1^2} W_{ij}, \qquad (2.39)$$

where $W_{ij} = 4E_iE_j\sigma_{ij}v_{ij}$ and p_{ij} is the momentum of the particle χ_i (or χ_j) in the center-of-mass frame of the pair (χ_i, χ_j) . Note that

$$\sigma_{ij} = \sum_{X,\bar{X}} \sigma(\chi_i \chi_j \to X\bar{X}) \tag{2.40}$$

is the total annihilation rate for $\chi_i \chi_j$ annihilations into the particles X (X) and the relative particle velocity v_{ij} reads

$$v_{ij} = \frac{\sqrt{(\vec{p_i} \cdot \vec{p_j})^2 - m_{\chi_i}^2 m_{\chi_j}^2}}{E_i E_j}.$$
(2.41)

All these details and special cases are now taken into account in numerical codes like DarkSUSY [86], SuperIso Relic [87, 88] and micrOMEGAs [89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94]. The last one was used throughout this thesis and all results were based on it.

2.4 Cosmic inflation

The Λ CDM model faces several issues regarding the understanding of the physics of the very early Universe. Some of them can be solved introducing a phase of extremely rapid expansion of the Universe, the inflation area.

2.4.1 Cosmological puzzles

The small inhomogeneities observed in the CMB grew with time to give the current structures of the Universe. One would expect that they were even smaller before the CMB formation. The problem that arises here is linked to the notion of causal connexion. Two photons separated by a distance greater than their comoving horizon $d_H(t)$, defined as

$$d_H(t) = 2a(t) \int_{t_i}^t \frac{dt'}{a(t')},$$
(2.42)

where t_i corresponds to the time of the initial singularity in the Big Bang model, cannot exchange information. This quantity increases with time, which means that it was very small at the time of CMB formation. While all regions of the CMB seem to be causally linked, the size of the CMB horizon was determined to be only of the order of 1°. This causality problem is called the horizon problem.

The evolution of the curvature density in time reads

$$|\Omega_k(t)| = \left|\frac{k}{a(t)^2 H(t)^2}\right| \propto \dot{a}(t)^{-2}.$$
(2.43)

Since radiation dominated and matter dominated Universe evolve respectively like $t^{1/2}$ and $t^{2/3}$, it follows that the flatness of the Universe reduce with time. However the present curvature density was determined to be very small, as shown in table 2.1. Calculating $|\Omega_k(t)|$ in the very early Universe and especially at the Planck time $t_{Pl} \approx 5.391 \times 10^{-44}$ s gives an upper bound on $|\Omega_k(t_{Pl})|$ of the order of 10^{-60} . This fine-tuning issue of the curvature density is called the flatness problem.

The last puzzle we present here is the monopole problem. One important issue of GUT is that the breaking of the associated symmetry into the SM gauge symmetry could predict the formation of topological defects in the early Universe, the monopoles. These objects have non-standard features : a mass of the order of the GUT scale and a magnetic charge. We still not have detected such objects in the Universe and it is therefore expected that their number density is extremely low. The problem is that if no monopole annihilation occurs, the calculations show that one monopole is expected per nucleon which is clearly in disagreement with the observations.

2.4.2 Inflationary Universe

The standard solution of the issues raised in section 2.4.1 is the introduction of a simple scalar field, the inflaton ϕ with its potential $V(\phi)$, whose energy density and pressure are defined as

$$\rho_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + V(\phi), \quad p_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 - V(\phi), \quad (2.44)$$

that fills the very early Universe. The FL equations yield the useful expressions for the Hubble parameter :

$$H^{2} = \frac{8\pi G_{N}}{3} \left(\frac{1}{2} \dot{\phi}^{2} + V(\phi) \right), \qquad (2.45)$$
$$\dot{H} = -4\pi G_{N} \dot{\phi}^{2}.$$

Motivated by the condition of a strong acceleration of the expansion of the Universe, we must have

$$|\dot{H}| \ll H^2, \tag{2.46}$$

which leads to

$$\dot{\phi}^2 \ll V(\phi). \tag{2.47}$$

The necessary requirement to have a viable inflationary model is thus that $V(\phi)$ has to be large but almost flat to allow the slow-roll motion of the inflaton field, which implies

$$|\ddot{\phi}| \ll H |\dot{\phi}|. \tag{2.48}$$

These expressions are called the *slow roll* conditions. There are often rewritten in terms of the slow roll parameters

$$\epsilon_{\phi} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N} \left(\frac{V'(\phi)}{V(\phi)}\right)^2, \quad \eta_{\phi} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_N} \frac{V''(\phi)}{V(\phi)}, \quad (2.49)$$

where $V'(\phi) = \partial V(\phi)/\partial \phi$ and with the condition $\{\epsilon_{\phi}, \eta_{\phi}\} \ll 1$ during inflation. At the end of the inflation area *i.e.* when $\{\epsilon_{\phi}, \eta_{\phi}\} \to 1$, the inflaton field decays into relativistic particles and especially into photons : the temperature of the Universe increases until a maximum called the reheating temperature T_R .

The flatness problem is then easily solved : a positive acceleration gives an increasing scale factor which leads, using eq. 2.43, to an increase of the flatness of the Universe. As it was precised, the inflaton fills the entire Universe and then the exponential expansion takes place : the regions of the Universe that were causally related can therefore no longer be. Since the decay of the inflaton occurs identically in all regions of the Universe the horizon problem is solved. Finally note that with this rapid expansion, topological defects are diluted which erases the monopole problem. Note that the energy scale of the inflaton is of the order of the GUT scale.

2.4.3 Cosmological perturbations and constraints

We know that the CMB is not completely homogeneous and isotropic. The small perturbations measured give a lot of informations about the evolution of the Universe till today but it also brings us to the question of the origin of these small perturbations. Inflation models predict that the current structures of the Universe stem from initial quantum fluctuations created during the inflation area. By looking at simple scalar fluctuations², the spectrum of the perturbations is fully determined by only two parameters : its amplitude δ_H and the scalar spectral index n_s which defines the scale-dependence of the power spectrum. Inflation models have the specificity to predict slight deviations from the scale invariance case $n_s = 1$. The spectral index obtained by the Planck collaboration and shown in table 2.1 shows a more than 5σ deviation from the scale invariance which is a strong support to inflationary models as shown in figure 2.5. The expansion factor of the Universe during the inflation is defined by the number of *e*-folds from the time when the observationally relevant perturbations are generated (whose scale factor is a_i) to the end of inflation a_f and reads

$$N_* = \ln \frac{a_f}{a_i} = \int_{t_i}^{t_f} H dt.$$
 (2.50)

²Inflation scenarios also predict tensor fluctuations in the RW metric. Their amplitude is parameterized by the tensor-to-scalar ratio whose Planck+WP+highL+BAO combination gives an upper bound of 0.111 at 2σ .



Figure 2.5: Constraints on inflationary models in the plane (tensor-to-scalar ratio, scalar spectral index). Figure taken from [95].

Depending on the model of inflation chosen we have $N_* \sim 40 - 60$. For more informations on inflationary models see [96, 97].

2.5 Thermal history of the Universe in the ΛCDM model

As explained in section 1.6, our description of the early Universe can at most go back to the physics of the Planck epoch, namely when the gravitational interaction becomes non-negligible comparing to the other interactions. Starting from this point the Λ CDM model is characterized by the following steps :

- When the temperature of the Universe was around $T \simeq 10^{16}$ GeV, an yet unknown symmetry associated to a GUT breaks into the SM gauge symmetry. This period also corresponds to the end of the accelerated expansion of the Universe with the decay of the inflaton field into SM particles. Depending on the inflationary model chosen, this happens before or after GUT breaking.
- At $T \sim 10^2$ GeV, the EW symmetry breaking takes place : the SM gauge symmetry breaks into $SU(3)_c \otimes U(1)_Q$. The baryon asymmetry in the Universe is supposed to appear around this energy or even before. The mechanism that introduce this asymmetry, the baryogenesis, has to fulfill the following conditions given by Sakharov [98] : violation of the baryonic number, of C and of CP and the interactions must occur out of thermal equilibrium to ensure that the opposite reaction do not compensate those introducing the asymmetry.
- At $T \sim 10^1 10^3$ GeV, the most interesting CDM candidate, the WIMP, is decoupled from the thermal bath filling the Universe, it is the DM freeze-out.

- At $T \sim 0.3$ GeV, QCD phase transition, namely the confinement of quarks and gluons into hadrons, occurs : we move from a quark-gluon plasma to an hadron plasma. This phase is important in the DM relic density computation since it affects the calculation of the effective number of relativistic degrees of freedom at the freeze-out temperature as shown in [99]. However since the DM freeze-out temperature T_F is of the order of $m_{\chi}/20$ these effects are mainly relevant for light DM with $m_{\chi} \lesssim 7$ GeV which is mainly ignored in this thesis.
- At $T \sim 1$ MeV, neutrinos decouple from the thermal bath : the neutrino freeze-out occurs. When T falls below the mass of the electron, photons have not sufficient energy to annihilate into e^+e^- pairs. Baryogenesis provides enough excess of electrons to account for the current electron density observed.
- At $T \sim 100$ keV, photons energy becomes too small to prevent formation of light atoms : it is the standard Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN), which gives stringent constraints on the Λ CDM model, as the determination of the Helium abundance in the Universe, which strengthens the CMB argument of a low current baryon density [100].
- At $T \sim 1 \text{ eV}$, the Universe is now dominated by matter instead of radiation because of the faster radiation dilution mentioned in section 2.1. Large scale structures start to form.
- At $T \sim 0.4$ eV, the photon decoupling from the matter, which gives the CMB, happens.
- At $T \sim 10^{-3}$ eV, DE becomes the main component of the Universe.
- Finally the current Universe is at $T \simeq 2.72548$ K $\sim 2 \times 10^{-4}$ eV with approximately 68.3% of DE, 26.8% of DM and 4.9% of standard matter, mainly baryonic.

2.6 ACDM drawbacks

The main theoretical issue of the cosmological standard model is related to the cosmological constant. Cosmological observations implies an energy density related to the cosmological constant of the order of 10^{-29} g cm⁻³. Meanwhile, the total energy density coming from vacuum fluctuations is approximately 120 orders of magnitute higher when assuming a cut-off beyond which quantum field theory as to be modified, commonly the Planck scale [101]. This fundamental theoretical problem is still open [102].

As said in section 1.6 CP violation processes in the SM are not sufficient to account for the baryogenesis which then needs NP.

Some deeper motivations could be looked for in the case of the inflationary postulate, like the origin and the construction of the inflaton field which could be given in extension of the SM. See [97] for a review on inflationary scenarios.

Neutrinos could be viable DM candidates since we saw in chapter 1 that they interact weakly with the other SM particles. Nevertheless the neutrino relic density is given by

$$\Omega_{\nu}h^{2} = \sum_{i=e,\mu,\tau} \frac{m_{\nu_{i}}}{93 \,\mathrm{eV}},\tag{2.51}$$

which, using limits on neutrino masses like the ones obtained with the Planck satellite [31], exclude neutrinos as the main component of DM. Moreover, since neutrinos are relativistic particles, they only could form HDM which is disfavoured as explained in section 2.3. Thus no SM particles fit the DM hypothesis.

One other issue facing the CDM idea is that it predicts more small scale structures, like dwarf galaxies, than observed [103]. Alternatives could be considered like an intermediate situation between HDM and CDM : Warm Dark Matter (WDM) [104, 105]. Other conflicts between some Λ CDM predictions and astrophysical measurements are noted [106].

 Λ CDM is not the only model able to give right predictions. For instance the MOdified Newtonian Dynamics (MOND) theory proposed by Milgrom in 1983 [107] is able to predict the right rotation curves of the galaxies, but it has several drawbacks. The most notable one is that, even within its relativistic extension called Tensor-Vector-Scalar gravity (TeVeS), this model is not able to reproduce the correct CMB power spectrum and in particular the third acoustic peak of the CMB [108].

2.7 Some solutions to the ΛCDM and SM issues

Several proposals offer the possibility to solve drawbacks of the two standard models presented in chapters 1 and 2. The main BSM theory studied in the literature as well as the main topic of this thesis, *Supersymmetry* (SUSY), which is able to address these questions, will be developed in chapter 3.

To solve the hierarchy problem of the Higgs boson mass, some models propose that the fundamental Planck scale could be much lower than expected, and especially at the TeV scale. This is done introducing extra spatial dimensions whose volume enters in the calculation of the Planck scale [109, 110]. This type of model implies new particles, Kaluza-Klein (KK) excitations of SM particles, among which DM candidates can be found. As an example, in the Universal Extra Dimensions (UED) model [111] the introduction of a new parity, called KK parity, makes the lightest KK particle stable. Thus, if it weakly interacts with SM particles, it is able to fit the DM constraints [112, 113]. Moreover these models give motivation for the number of families [114].

The strong CP problem linked to the θ_{QCD} fine-tuning can be solved introducing a global U(1) symmetry, the Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry [115, 116]. This symmetry preserves CP invariance raising the QCD parameter as a dynamic field. The $U(1)_{\text{PQ}}$ symmetry breaking predicts the existence of a light pseudoscalar³ boson, the axion [117, 118]. Astrophysical constraints give an upper bound on its mass of approximately

³A scalar that changes sign under P.

16 meV [119, 29]. It is supposed that axions interact very weakly with SM particles, which implies that they can be viable non-thermal CDM candidates even though they must be very light.

Several solutions involve new neutrino fields and especially in GUT as we will see in part III. Adding massive RH Majorana neutrinos gives a means to explain the LH neutrino masses through the *seesaw mechanism* [120]. This could imply a leptonic asymmetry which possibly gives baryogenesis [121]. As another example, sterile neutrinos at the keV scale are also interesting WDM candidates [122, 104, 105]. A more complete list of DM candidates can be found in [123].

Supersymmetry

Contents

3.1	SUSY responses to SM problems			
3.2	Elen	ments on the theoretical construction of exact \mathbf{SUSY}		
	3.2.1	Super-Poincaré algebra	6	
	3.2.2	Chiral supermultiplet	7	
	3.2.3	Gauge supermultiplet	9	
3.3	\mathbf{SUS}	SY breaking	9	
3.4	The	e Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model 51	1	
	3.4.1	Lagrangian at low energy	2	
	3.4.2	Higgs sector	3	
	3.4.3	Sfermion sector		
	3.4.4	Gaugino and higgsino sector	5	
		3.4.4.1 Gluinos and charginos	5	
		$3.4.4.2 \text{Neutralinos} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	5	
3.5	Con	\mathbf{S} straints on SUSY $\dots \dots \dots$	6	
	3.5.1	Cosmological and astroparticle constraints	7	
		3.5.1.1 DM Direct Detection	7	
		3.5.1.2 DM Indirect Detection	9	
	3.5.2	Collider constraints	0	
		3.5.2.1 Bounds on supersymmetric particles	0	
		3.5.2.2 Low energy observables $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	1	
3.1 SUSY responses to SM problems

Before looking at its theoretical construction, we briefly summarize the three main points that motivate the phenomenological study of SUSY.

The main theoretical problem that SUSY is able to solve is the hierarchy problem. First of all it is important to note that every particle gets quantum corrections to its mass. For instance the self-energy of particles like the photon or the electron could give important corrections to their mass which are known to be very small, especially for the massless photon. The crucial point here is that these masses are protected by symmetries. QED symmetry is exact and if the amplitude of the QED process, here the photon self-energy, is defined as $\mathcal{M} = \epsilon_{\mu}(k)\mathcal{M}^{\mu}(k)$ where $\epsilon_{\mu}(k)$ is the polarization vector of the photon and k the momentum then the $U(1)_{em}$ conservation gives the Ward identity

$$k_{\mu}\mathcal{M}^{\mu}(k) = 0, \qquad (3.1)$$

so that all QED corrections to the photon mass vanish. In the case of the electron it is the chiral symmetry that stabilizes the mass of this fermion. However since the electron is not massless chiral symmetry is not exact. Fortunately the correction remains negligible : it is logarithmic and proportional to the measured electron mass. In the case of the Higgs boson of the SM there is no symmetry that protects its mass as shown in chapter 1. SUSY, a symmetry that links fermions and bosons, can play such a role. New scalars added by SUSY give new loop corrections to the Higgs boson mass. If λ_s parameterizes the coupling of a scalar with a mass m_s to the Higgs boson the new contribution to the Higgs boson mass reads

$$\delta m_{h^0}^2 = \frac{\lambda_s}{16\pi^2} \left(\Lambda^2 - 2m_s^2 \ln \frac{\Lambda}{m_s} + \dots \right). \tag{3.2}$$

Bringing together this correction and the SM one in eq. 1.39, assuming that each SM fermion is associated with two supersymmetric complex scalars, and that $y_f^2 = \lambda_s$ it follows that the quadratic divergences cancel each other. The remaining correction is logarithmic and proportional to the mass difference between the SM fermions and the new scalars. Providing that SUSY is exact (equal mass of fermion and scalar partners) or at least that the mass degeneracy between these fermions and scalars particles is below the TeV scale the EW scale is stabilized.

Another argument in favour of SUSY is the unification of coupling constants at the GUT scale. The evolution of the coupling constants with the energy scale is given by Renormalization Group Equations (RGEs). At one-loop they are defined as

$$\frac{dg_i}{dt} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} b_i g_i^3, \quad i \in \{1, 2, 3\},\tag{3.3}$$

where $t = \ln(Q/Q_0)$, Q being the energy scale considered and Q_0 the GUT scale. $g_1 = \sqrt{5/3}g_Y$ and the other coupling constants are given in section 1.1. Depending on the content of the model, *e.g.* number of generations, number of Higgs doublets or number of scalars, the b_i coefficients can be drastically modified. As we will see in section 3.2.2

the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model (MSSM) studied in this thesis needs two Higgs doublets. Moreover, as mentioned above, SUSY contains more particles than the SM. As a result the coefficients b_i differ :

SM :
$$(b_1, b_2, b_3) = (41/10, -19/6, -7),$$

MSSM : $(b_1, b_2, b_3) = (33/5, 1, -3).$ (3.4)



Figure 3.1: Two-loop renormalization group evolution of α_i^{-1} in the SM (dashed lines) and the MSSM (solid lines). Figure obtained from [124].

Defining $\alpha_i = g_i^2/4\pi$, figure 3.1 compares the evolution of coupling constants in the SM and the MSSM and shows the possibility of unifying the three interactions in the context of SUSY.

SUSY is also able to link particle physics and cosmology through the possibility of getting supersymmetric DM candidates. We will note in section 3.4 that an exact discrete \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry of SUSY, called *R*-parity, gives a stable Lightest Supersymmetric Particle (LSP) which could, if it weakly interacts with the other particles, be a WIMP. For a review on supersymmetric DM candidates see [125]. Note that SUSY could also gives inflaton candidates, as we will show in chapter 4.

There are also *æsthetic* motivations for SUSY as in the search of extensions of the Poincaré algebra which is presented in next section. If SUSY is formulated as a local symmetry a spin 2 particle corresponding to the graviton, the hypothetical particle that mediates gravity, is introduced. Then the supersymmetric models of gravity called supergravity have the elegant feature to link the SM fundamental interactions with gravity [126].

3.2 Elements on the theoretical construction of exact SUSY

The Poincaré group contains all the symmetries of SR: in addition to space-time transformations that characterized the Lorentz group *i.e.* the rotations and the boosts encoded in the generator $M_{\mu\nu}$, it includes the translations represented by the generator P_{μ} . The Poincaré algebra, which is a Lie algebra, is defined by the following commutation relations :

$$[P_{\mu}, P_{\nu}] = 0, [M_{\mu\nu}, P_{\rho}] = i(\eta_{\nu\rho}P_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\rho}P_{\nu}), [M_{\mu\nu}, M_{\rho\sigma}] = i(\eta_{\mu\sigma}M_{\nu\rho} - \eta_{\mu\rho}M_{\nu\sigma} + \eta_{\nu\rho}M_{\mu\sigma} - \eta_{\nu\sigma}M_{\mu\rho}).$$
(3.5)

In 1967, Coleman and Mandula [127] demonstrated a *no-go theorem* : there is no nontrivial extension of the Poincaré algebra by an usual Lie algebra, namely defined only by commutation relations. The search of possible extensions leads to the need to include a more general algebra that also contains anticommutation relations. A graded Lie algebra called super-Poincaré algebra was then shown by Haag, Lopuszanski and Sohnius to be the most general extension of the Poincaré algebra [128].

3.2.1 Super-Poincaré algebra

This superalgebra is characterized by fermionic generators. An interesting implication is the definition of a supersymmetric transformation : these operators transfrom a fermion into a boson and vice versa. Its most simple version that we consider in this thesis contains only $\mathcal{N} = 1$ pair of fermionic generators \mathcal{Q}

$$\mathscr{Q} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} Q_{\alpha} \\ \bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \{\alpha, \dot{\alpha}\} \in \{1, 2\}, \tag{3.6}$$

where Q_{α} and $\bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ correspond to two-component spinors, the Weyl spinors. This version is the most phenomenologically interesting one since it is the only case which allows to define properly chiral fermions. Actually the supermultiplets¹ of the supersymmetric versions with $\mathcal{N} > 1$ can contain both left and right chiralities with the same gauge transformations, which is clearly not observed experimentally especially in the case of the weak interaction. In addition to the commutation relations of the Poincaré algebra, this superalgebra adds the following commutation and anticommutation relations :

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, \bar{Q}^{\beta}\} = 2(\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}P_{\mu}, \qquad (3.7)$$

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, Q_{\beta}\} = \{\bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{Q}^{\dot{\beta}}\} = 0, \qquad (3.8)$$

$$[P_{\mu}, Q_{\alpha}] = [P_{\mu}, \bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}}] = 0, \qquad (3.9)$$

$$[M_{\mu\nu}, Q_{\alpha}] = i(\sigma_{\mu\nu})^{\beta}_{\alpha}Q_{\beta}, \qquad (3.10)$$

$$[M_{\mu\nu}, \bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}}] = i(\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu})^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}} \bar{Q}^{\dot{\beta}}, \qquad (3.11)$$

$$[Q_{\alpha}, R] = Q_{\alpha}, \tag{3.12}$$

$$[\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, R] = -\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}.\tag{3.13}$$

¹Irreductible representations of the superalgebra.

The σ matrices are obtained using the relations :

$$(\sigma^{\mu\nu})^{\beta}_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{4} \left[(\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}} (\bar{\sigma}^{\nu})^{\dot{\gamma}\beta} - (\sigma^{\nu})_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}} (\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\dot{\gamma}\beta} \right],$$

$$(\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu})^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}} = \frac{1}{4} \left[(\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\alpha\dot{\gamma}} (\sigma^{\nu})_{\dot{\gamma}\beta} - (\bar{\sigma}^{\nu})^{\alpha\dot{\gamma}} (\sigma^{\mu})_{\dot{\gamma}\beta} \right],$$

$$(\sigma^{\mu})_{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = (\mathbb{I}_{2}, \sigma^{i})_{\dot{\alpha}\alpha},$$

$$(\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} (\sigma^{\mu})_{\beta\dot{\beta}} = (\mathbb{I}_{2}, -\sigma^{i})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha},$$

(3.14)

where \mathbb{I}_2 is the 2 × 2 identity matrix, the $\sigma^i, i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ are the Pauli matrices and the antisymmetric tensors ϵ are

$$\epsilon^{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.15)

Here R is the generator of a global U(1) symmetry of SUSY called R-symmetry. Without going into the details it could be considered as a kind of generalization of the chiral symmetry. The Nelson-Seiberg theorem [129] shows that its presence is a necessary condition for SUSY breaking. This R-symmetry could also be an explanation of the R-parity. SUSY breaking and R-parity will be developed respectively in sections 3.3 and 3.4.

If we look at eq. 3.9 it results that fermionic generators commute with the mass operator $P^2 = P_{\mu}P^{\mu}$. Therefore in each supermultiplet we find particles with the same mass. As mentioned before they also have same gauge transformations which implies same electric and colour charges. However eqs. 3.10 and 3.11 imply that the supermultiplets are made of particles with different spin. Another interesting characteristic of these supermultiplets is that they are constituted by an equal number of fermionic and bosonic degrees of freedom. It is then tempting to put in a same multiplet bosons and fermions of the SM which have the same electric charge, like a set with the photon and a neutrino and another with the W boson and the electron [130]. Of course this needs a SUSY breaking mechanism to explain the mass difference between particles of a same multiplet. Nevertheless the problem of assigning coloured particles in supersymmetric multiplets remains. This led Fayet to define in each supermultiplet a SM particle characterized either by a bosonic or a fermionic statistic and its associated *superpartner* with the other statistic [131, 132]. $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY is described by two types of supermultiplets : chiral and gauge supermultiplets. A nice way to define them is going to the superspace and the *superfield* formalisms. Here we decide not to present these concepts and we refer the reader to the textbooks [133, 134, 135, 136] and the reviews [137, 138, 139]. The supersymmetric Lagrangian will now be introduced. For details on the demonstration of the relations that will be presented, see [124].

3.2.2 Chiral supermultiplet

The fermions and the scalar of SM are defined using the simplest supermultiplet of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY called chiral supermultiplet. It consists of one LH Weyl spinor² ψ and one complex scalar field ϕ . If the spinor refers to a SM fermion, ϕ is called a *scalar fermion* or more succinctly a *sfermion* whereas the supersymmetric partner of the Higgs boson is an *higgsino*. The simplest model constructed with this supermultiplet containing massless and non-interacting particles is the Wess-Zumino model [140]. Its Lagrangian reads

$$\mathscr{L}_{WZ} = -\partial^{\mu}\phi^{*}\partial_{\mu}\phi + i\bar{\psi}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi + F^{*}F, \qquad (3.16)$$

where F is a complex scalar *auxiliary* field without kinetic term necessary for \mathscr{L}_{WZ} to be invariant under SUSY even if the equation of motion $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi = 0$ is not satisfied, namely for off-shell particles. The corresponding SUSY transformations are parameterized by an infinitesimal and anticommuting Weyl fermion object ϵ . Here we confine ourselves to global SUSY; it results that ϵ does not depend on spacetime coordinates *i.e.* $\partial_{\mu}\epsilon = 0$. The transformations for each fields are given by the following relations :

$$\delta\phi = \epsilon\psi, \qquad \delta\phi^* = \bar{\epsilon}\psi, \delta\psi = -i\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\epsilon}\partial_{\mu}\phi + \epsilon F, \quad \delta\bar{\psi} = i\epsilon\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi^* + \bar{\epsilon}F^*, \qquad (3.17)$$
$$\delta F = -i\bar{\epsilon}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi, \qquad \delta F = i\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\epsilon.$$

If several chiral supermultiplets defined by the set $\Psi_i = (\phi_i, \psi_i, F_i)$ are considered, interactions between them must be analysed. The most general Lagrangian terms for the interactions between these supermultiplets which is renormalisable and invariant under SUSY transformation has the following form:

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{int}} = -\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{W}^{ij} \psi_i \psi_j + \mathcal{W}^i F_i + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.18)

Here \mathcal{W}_i and \mathcal{W}_{ij} are derivatives with respect to the scalar fields ϕ_i or ϕ_j of an important function in SUSY, the *superpotential* \mathcal{W} :

$$\mathcal{W} = L^{i}\phi_{i} + \frac{1}{2}M^{ij}\phi_{i}\phi_{j} + \frac{1}{6}y^{ijk}\phi_{i}\phi_{j}\phi_{k},$$

$$\mathcal{W}^{i} = \frac{\partial\mathcal{W}}{\partial\phi_{i}}, \quad \mathcal{W}^{ij} = \frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{W}}{\partial\phi_{i}\partial\phi_{j}}.$$

(3.19)

 M^{ij} represents the symmetric mass matrix for the Weyl fermions while y^{ijk} is the Yukawa coupling between a scalar ϕ_k and two Weyl fermions ψ_i and ψ_j . L^i is only allowed if there is a gauge singlet ϕ_i in the SUSY model considered, which is not the case in the MSSM. A crucial point to emphasize is that for the sake of \mathscr{L}_{int} invariance under SUSY transformations, \mathcal{W} must be holomorphic and then does not depend on the complex conjugates ϕ_i^* . It follows that the Yukawa term $y_i^u \bar{Q}_i \bar{H} V_{ij} u_j$ that appears in the SM

²For simplicity we now omit Weyl indices.

Lagrangian in eq. 1.33 cannot exist in SUSY. To address this issue two Higgs doublets are introduced in the MSSM : one gives mass to up-type quarks and the other gives mass to down-type quarks and charged leptons. When adding \mathscr{L}_{WZ} and \mathscr{L}_{int} the auxiliary fields are eliminated using their equations of motion that lead to

$$F_i = -\mathcal{W}_i^*, \quad F^i = -\mathcal{W}^i. \tag{3.20}$$

The chiral Lagrangian can now be written as

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{chiral}} = \sum_{\Psi_i} -\partial^{\mu} \phi^{*i} \partial_{\mu} \psi_i + i \bar{\psi}^i \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi_i - \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{W}^{ij} \psi_i \psi_j + \mathcal{W}^*_{ij} \bar{\psi}^i \bar{\psi}^j \right) - \mathcal{W}^i \mathcal{W}^*_i.$$
(3.21)

3.2.3 Gauge supermultiplet

Gauge fields of the SM are defined in gauge supermultiplets. They contain a massless gauge boson field F^a_{μ} , a Weyl spinor λ^a called *gaugino* and a real bosonic auxiliary field D^a which is introduced for the same argument as the field F in the chiral supermultiplet. The superscript a depends on the gauge symmetry considered and we then refer to the definitions given in section 1.1 for the objects used here. The gauge and SUSY invariant Lagrangian for gauge supermultiplets reads

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{gauge}} = \sum_{\mathcal{G}} -\frac{1}{4} F^a_{\mu\nu} F^{a\mu\nu} + i\bar{\lambda}^a \bar{\sigma}^\mu \nabla_\mu \lambda^a + \frac{1}{2} D^a D^a, \qquad (3.22)$$

where we sum over the gauge symmetries *i.e.* $\mathcal{G} \in \{SU(3)_c, SU(2)_L, U(1)_Y\}$ and the covariant derivative acting on gauginos has the following form :

$$\nabla_{\mu}\lambda^{a} = \partial_{\mu}\lambda^{a} + gc_{abc}F^{b}_{\mu}\lambda^{c}.$$
(3.23)

The final step in the construction of the supersymmetric Lagrangian is the introduction of couplings between the two types of supermultiplet considered. For the sake of renormalizability, only three interaction terms that look like $(\phi^*T^a\psi)\lambda^a$, $\bar{\lambda}^a(\bar{\psi}T^a\phi)$ and $(\phi^*T^a\phi)D^a$, where T^a are the generators of the gauge symmetry considered, are possible. Finally the complete Lagrangian is written as

$$\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}_{\text{chiral}} + \mathscr{L}_{\text{gauge}} - \sum_{\mathcal{G}, \Psi_i} \sqrt{2}g(\phi^{*i}T^a\psi_i)\lambda^a + g\bar{\lambda}^a(\bar{\psi}^iT^a\phi_i) - g(\phi^{*i}T^a\phi_i)D^a.$$
(3.24)

Combining the expressions that include D^a shows that this auxiliary field depends only on scalar fields :

$$D^a = -g(\phi^{*i}T^a\phi_i). \tag{3.25}$$

Since F_i is also a function of scalar fields, the scalar potential of SUSY is

$$V(\phi, \phi^*) = \sum_{\mathcal{G}, \phi_i} F^{*i} F_i + \frac{1}{2} D^a D^a = \sum_{\mathcal{G}, \phi_i} \mathcal{W}^i \mathcal{W}^*_i + \frac{1}{2} g^2 (\phi^{*i} T^a \phi_i)^2.$$
(3.26)

3.3 SUSY breaking

Exact SUSY predicts that SM particles have the same mass as their superpartners, which is experimentally excluded; for example no selectron is observed around 511 keV. Thus if SUSY is realized it must be broken to give heavier masses to the superpartners. Spontaneous SUSY breaking can occur if at least one of the auxiliary fields F_i and D^a acquires a VEV. There are two mechanisms : the Fayet-Iliopoulos mechanism which deals with the D term [141] and the O'Raifeartaigh mechanism which concerns the F term [142]. However these mechanisms do not give a sufficiently high supersymmetric mass spectrum. Therefore the main scheme studied to explain these mass differences is as follows : SUSY may be broken in a *hidden sector* which couples very weakly to the *visible sector i.e.* usually the MSSM. Three scenarios of mediation of the breaking from the hidden to the visible sector are mainly studied in the literature :

• The gravity-mediated scenario, where the mediation is depicted by gravitational interactions between the two sectors [143, 144, 145, 146]. The VEV $\langle F \rangle$ of the SUSY breaking in the hidden sector is connected to the superpartners mass terms by

$$m \sim \langle F \rangle / M_{Pl}.$$
 (3.27)

Therefore to get mass terms in the GeV-TeV range SUSY breaking must happen at $\sqrt{\langle F \rangle} \sim 10^{10} - 10^{11}$ GeV. We will analyse in chapter 4 a version of gravitymediated model, the Non-Universal Higgs Mass model (NUHM);

- The Gauge-Mediated Supersymmetry Breaking (GMSB) scenario, where the mediation occurs through gauge interactions. An intermediate scale that looks like a messenger scale interacts with the hidden and visible sectors and gives the mass terms of the superpartners through loop diagrams involving messenger particles [147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152]. To obtain experimentally relevant mass terms and assuming the messenger scale is of the order of the SUSY breaking scale then $\sqrt{\langle F \rangle} \sim 10^4$ GeV. A major problem of this scenario in the context of this thesis is that its minimal version does not lead to a possible WIMP DM;
- The Anomaly-Mediated Supersymmetry Breaking (AMSB) scenario [153, 154] also based on gravity mediation has in its minimal version a non-negligible drawback
 : sleptons get negative squared masses. An example of possible solution is a combination of AMSB with GMSB [155, 156].

These scenarios refer to a *top-down approach* : we look at high-scale motivations like GUT unification and through RGEs we determine the low energies supersymmetric parameters. Universality assumptions at GUT scale allow to shrink the supersymmetric parameter space down to a few free parameters, typically less than ten. The other approach is called *bottom-up approach* : starting from the SM and the low energies supersymmetric parameters we derive theoretical implications at GUT scale. This approach is characterized by many more free parameters since we use explicit SUSY breaking

terms at low energy. These terms will be detailed in the next section. Several public codes are available to compute the supersymmetric spectra using RGEs : SuSpect [157], ISAJET [158], SPheno [159] and SOFTSUSY [160]. The latter is used in chapters 4 and 5.

An interesting consequence of these scenarios is that the Electro-Weak Symmetry Breaking (EWSB) is realized in a more natural way than in the SM. We saw in chapter 1 that this symmetry breaking is realized in the SM introducing a negative mass squared term, which has no real explanation. In SUSY the Higgs masses squared for the two Higgs doublets are positive at the GUT scale but their evolution to low scales especially with (s)top contribution to the RGEs lead one of them to be negative which then implies EWSB : it is the *radiative EWSB*. Nevertheless the issue of symmetry breaking is postponed to the higher scale where an unknown SUSY breaking mechanism takes place.

3.4 The Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model

The MSSM is the supersymmetric extension that contains the minimum number of fields. As mentioned above the chiral supermultiplet contains a LH Weyl spinor; it implies that sfermions are associated either to LH or RH fermions. We then denote sfermions by the subscripts L and R even though they do not carry chirality. As we saw two Higgs doublets are present in this minimal version : H_u which gives mass to up-type quarks and H_d which concerns down-type quarks and charged leptons. Using the notations given in chapter 1 the content of the MSSM is represented in table 3.1. For an overview of this model see [161].

3.4.1 Lagrangian at low energy

The parameterization of SUSY breaking at low energies is written in terms of explicit breaking terms called *soft terms*. This name stems from some important requirements :

- No quadratic divergences must be reintroduced to remain the EW scale stable;
- Gauge invariance has to be preserved;
- The theory must stay renormalisable *i.e.* the new parameters in the Lagrangian must have positive mass dimension;
- Baryon number \mathcal{B} and lepton number \mathcal{L} must be conserved.

It results that the Soft SUSY Breaking (SSB) Lagrangian reads

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{soft}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{a=1}^{8} M_3 \widetilde{G}^a \widetilde{G}_a + \sum_{i=1}^{3} M_2 \widetilde{W}^i \widetilde{W}_i + M_1 \widetilde{B} \widetilde{B} + \text{h.c.} \right) - \left(\widetilde{u}_R^* \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{u}} \widetilde{Q} H_u - \widetilde{d}_R^* \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{d}} \widetilde{Q} H_d - \widetilde{e}_R^* \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{e}} \widetilde{L} H_d + \text{h.c.} \right) - \widetilde{Q}^{\dagger} \mathbf{m}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}}^2 \widetilde{Q} - \widetilde{L}^{\dagger} \mathbf{m}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{L}}}^2 \widetilde{L} - \widetilde{u}_R^* \mathbf{m}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}_R}^2 \widetilde{u}_R - \widetilde{d}_R^* \mathbf{m}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{d}}_R}^2 \widetilde{d}_R - \widetilde{e}_R^* \mathbf{m}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_R}^2 \widetilde{e}_R - m_{H_u}^2 H_u^{\dagger} H_u - m_{H_d}^2 H_d^{\dagger} H_d - (b H_u H_d + \text{h.c.}),$$

$$(3.28)$$

Chiral supermultiplets						
Name		spin 0	$spin \ 1/2$	$\mathbf{SU(3)_c}, \mathbf{SU(2)_L}, \mathbf{U(1)_Y}$		
squarks, quarks	\widetilde{Q},Q	$(\tilde{u}_L \ \tilde{d}_L)$	$(u_L \ d_L)$	$({f 3},{f 2},{1\over 3})$		
(3 families)	\bar{u}	$ ilde{u}_R^*$	\bar{u}_R	$(ar{3},1,-rac{4}{3})$		
	\bar{d}	$ ilde{d}_R^*$	$ar{d}_R$	$(ar{3},1,rac{2}{3})$		
sleptons, leptons	\widetilde{L}, L	$(ilde{ u}_L ilde{e}_L)$	$(u_L e_L)$	(1, 2, -1)		
(3 families)	\bar{e}	\widetilde{e}_R^*	\bar{e}_R	$(ar{f 1},{f 1},2)$		
Higgs, higgsinos	H_u	$(H_u^+ \ H_u^0)$	$(\widetilde{H}_u^+ \ \widetilde{H}_u^0)$	(1, 2, 1)		
	H_d	$(H^0_d \ H^d)$	$(\widetilde{H}^0_d\ \widetilde{H}^d)$	(1, 2, -1)		
Gauge supermultiplets						
Name		spin 1/2	spin 1	$\mathbf{SU(3)_c}, \mathbf{SU(2)_L}, \mathbf{U(1)_Y}$		
gluinos, gluons		\widetilde{G}^a	G^{a}	(8 , 1 ,0)		
winos, W 's		$\widetilde{W}^{\pm} \ \widetilde{W}^3$	$W^{\pm} W^3$	(1, 3, 0)		
bino, B		\widetilde{B}	В	(1, 1, 0)		

 Table 3.1: MSSM supermultiplets and their gauge properties.

where M_1, M_2 and M_3 are respectively bino, wino and gluino mass terms. The sfermion fields appearing in $\mathscr{L}_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{soft}}$ and defined in table 3.1 are vectors in the family space. The bold terms in the second and the third line of eq. 3.28 are respectively trilinear coupling and soft sfermion mass term matrices. This introduce a lot of new parameters. However several phenomenological constraints allow to reduce this free parameter space. Physics of the K mesons as well as experimental limits on the measurements of electric dipole moments force us to assume universality for the first and second generation of squark soft terms and Minimal Flavour Violation (MFV). Generalizing these assumptions to all sfermions and to the trilinear couplings we finally consider the previously defined matrices as diagonal in the family space. This phenomenological MSSM (pMSSM) will be studied in chapter 5. Last line of eq. 3.28 contains new terms that will enter in the Higgs potential.

The MSSM superpotential is given by

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{MSSM}} = \tilde{u}_R^* \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{u}} \widetilde{Q} H_u - \tilde{d}_R^* \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{d}} \widetilde{Q} H_d - \tilde{e}_R^* \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{e}} \widetilde{L} H_d + \mu H_u H_d, \qquad (3.29)$$

where μ is a supersymmetric mass term in the Higgs sector and the Yukawa matrices $\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{f}}$, which are in one-to-one correspondence with the trilinear couplings, are diagonal. As postulated before the conservation of baryon and lepton number is maintained. Actually there are terms which could be added in the MSSM superpotential that fulfill all the

conditions for SUSY except \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{L} conservations. Nevertheless they lead to features non-observed experimentally such as a fast proton decay, for instance with the decay in positron and neutral pion $p \to e^+\pi^0$. It is here that *R*-parity is introduced [162]:

$$P_R = (-1)^{3(\mathcal{B}-\mathcal{L})+2S},\tag{3.30}$$

where S is the spin of the particle considered. It results that $P_R = +1$ for particles from the SM and $P_R = -1$ for their superpartners. The *R*-parity conservation prevents baryon and lepton number violation but it has other important consequences :

- The LSP is stable. Moreover if it has no electric and colour charge, in other words if it interacts weakly with the other particles it could be a viable WIMP DM;
- The LSP can only be produced in pairs at colliders;
- Each superpartners, except the LSP, can only decay into an odd number of other supersymmetric particles. Thus we usually expect only one LSP at the end of the decay chain.

As we have seen in the gauge sector of the SM presented in chapter 1, mixing effects can differentiate gauge and mass eigenstates. It is also the case in SUSY.

3.4.2 Higgs sector

Since we have two doublets of complex fields, the Higgs sector contains eight scalar degrees of freedom. The scalar potential of the two Higgs doublets $H_2 \equiv H_u = (H_u^+, H_u^0)$ and $H_1 \equiv H_d = (H_d^0, H_d^-)$ is a sum of F, D and SSB terms and reads

$$\begin{aligned} V_{\text{MSSM}} &= V_{\text{MSSM}}^F + V_{\text{MSSM}}^D + V_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{soft}} \\ &= (|\mu|^2 + m_{H_u}^2)(|H_u^0|^2 + |H_u^+|^2) + (|\mu|^2 + m_{H_d}^2)(|H_d^0|^2 + |H_d^-|^2) \\ &+ [b(H_u^+ H_d^- - H_u^0 H_d^0) + \text{h.c.}] \\ &+ \frac{1}{8}(g_2^2 + g_Y^2)(|H_u^0|^2 + |H_u^+|^2 - |H_d^0|^2 - |H_d^-|^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2}g_2^2|H_u^+ H_d^{0*} + H_u^0 H_d^{-*}|^2, \end{aligned}$$
(3.31)

where the terms proportional to the coupling constants come from D terms, those proportional to $|\mu|^2$ stem from F terms and the others from SSB terms. The EWSB leads to one VEV for each neutral component of the Higgs doublets

$$\langle H_u^0 \rangle = \frac{v \sin \beta}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad \langle H_d^0 \rangle = \frac{v \cos \beta}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad (3.32)$$

with v the SM VEV and

$$v\sin\beta \equiv v_u \equiv v_2, \qquad v\cos\beta \equiv v_d \equiv v_1.$$
 (3.33)

The ratio of the VEVs then reads

$$\tan \beta = \frac{v_u}{v_d}.\tag{3.34}$$

With the EWSB, three of the degrees of freedom (G^0, G^{\pm}) become the longitudinal modes of the W and Z bosons. We are then left with five physical Higgs scalars : two of them are neutral and CP-even $(h^0 \text{ and } H^0)$, one is neutral and CP-odd (A^0) and there are two charged Higgs bosons H^{\pm} . The relations between the gauge and mass eigenstates are parameterized by two mixing angles α and β and read

$$\sqrt{2} \begin{pmatrix} H_u^0 \\ H_d^0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} v_u \\ v_d \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \cos \alpha & \sin \alpha \\ -\sin \alpha & \cos \alpha \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h^0 \\ H^0 \end{pmatrix} + i \begin{pmatrix} \sin \beta & \cos \beta \\ -\cos \beta & \sin \beta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} G^0 \\ A^0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.35)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} H_u^+ \\ H_d^{-*} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sin\beta & \cos\beta \\ -\cos\beta & \sin\beta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} G^+ \\ H^+ \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.36)

The minimization condition of the potential derived from $\frac{\partial V_{\text{MSSM}}}{\partial H_u^0} = \frac{\partial V_{\text{MSSM}}}{\partial H_d^0} = 0$ gives the tree-level masses in the Higgs sector :

$$m_{A^{0}}^{2} = \frac{2b}{\sin 2\beta} = 2|\mu|^{2} + m_{H_{u}}^{2} + m_{H_{d}}^{2},$$

$$m_{h^{0},H^{0}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left(m_{A^{0}}^{2} + M_{Z}^{2} \mp \sqrt{(m_{A^{0}}^{2} - M_{Z}^{2})^{2} + 4M_{Z}^{2}m_{A^{0}}^{2}\sin^{2}(2\beta)} \right),$$

$$m_{H^{\pm}}^{2} = m_{A^{0}}^{2} + M_{W}^{2},$$

(3.37)

where by convention h^0 is lighter than H^0 . Note that the tree-level value of the mixing angle α is determined by :

$$\frac{\sin 2\alpha}{\sin 2\beta} = -\frac{m_{H^0}^2 + m_{h^0}^2}{m_{H^0}^2 - m_{h^0}^2}, \quad \frac{\tan 2\alpha}{\tan 2\beta} = \frac{m_{A^0}^2 + M_Z^2}{m_{A^0}^2 - M_Z^2}.$$
(3.38)

Since these relations give a stringent upper bound on the lightest Higgs mass which is widely excluded by experimental searches $(m_{h^0} < M_Z | \cos 2\beta |)$, radiative corrections are crucial for the validity of the model. These corrections, mainly coming from top (s)quark loops, are taken into account in codes like **SOFTSUSY** that we will use in part II.

3.4.3 Sfermion sector

Mixing also occurs between the supersymmetric partners of the LH and RH components of a fermion f. The mass matrix for a sfermion Y of the *i*th family whose soft mass terms are $m_{X_i}^2$ for the LH part and $m_{x_i}^2$ for the RH one is usually defined as³

$$\mathbf{M_{Y_i}^2} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{X_i}^2 + m_f^2 + M_Z^2 c_{2\beta} \left(I_f^3 - \mathcal{Q}_f s_W^2 \right) & m_f \left(A_f - \mu(t_\beta)^{-2I_f^3} \right) \\ m_f \left(A_f - \mu(t_\beta)^{-2I_f^3} \right) & m_{X_i}^2 + m_f^2 + M_Z^2 c_{2\beta} \left(I_f^3 - \mathcal{Q}_f s_W^2 \right) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.39)

³Note that from now on we will sometimes use the simplications $\cos \beta = c_{\beta}$, $\sin \beta = s_{\beta}$, $\tan \beta = t_{\beta}$, $\cos \theta_W = c_W$, $\sin \theta_W = s_W$, $\tan \theta_W = t_W$ and the notations given in eq. 3.33.

where I_f^3 is the third component of the $SU(2)_L$ isospin of f, \mathcal{Q}_f its electric charge and m_f its mass. This mass matrix is then only relevant when we consider superpartners of heavy SM fermions. It results that the soft mass terms and the trilinear couplings A_f are here determined only for i = 3 with $Y_3 \in \{\tilde{t}_{L,R}, \tilde{b}_{L,R}, \tilde{\tau}_{L,R}\}, X_3 \in \{\tilde{Q}_3, \tilde{L}_3\}$ and $x_3 \in \{\tilde{u}_3, \tilde{d}_3, \tilde{e}_3\}$. After diagonalisation, the physical states $\tilde{t}_1, \tilde{t}_2, \tilde{b}_1, \tilde{b}_2, \tilde{\tau}_1, \tilde{\tau}_2$ are ordered in mass, *i.e.* $m_{\tilde{f}_1} < m_{\tilde{f}_2}$ with $\tilde{f} \in \{\tilde{t}, \tilde{b}, \tilde{\tau}\}$. For the other sfermions their mass simply reads

$$m_{Y_i}^2 = m_{X_i}^2 + M_Z^2 c_{2\beta} (I_f^3 - \mathcal{Q}_f s_W^2), \qquad (3.40)$$

with $i \in \{1, 2\}, Y_1 \in \{\tilde{u}_L, \tilde{u}_R, \tilde{d}_L, \tilde{d}_R, \tilde{e}_L, \tilde{e}_R\}, Y_2 \in \{\tilde{c}_L, \tilde{c}_R, \tilde{s}_L, \tilde{s}_R, \tilde{\mu}_L, \tilde{\mu}_R\}$ and $X_2 = X_1 \in \{\tilde{Q}_1, \tilde{L}_1, \tilde{u}_1, \tilde{d}_1, \tilde{e}_1\}$. For the sneutrinos $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$: $Y = (\tilde{\nu}_{eL}, \tilde{\nu}_{\mu L}, \tilde{\nu}_{\tau L})$ and $X = (\tilde{L}_1, \tilde{L}_2, \tilde{L}_3)$.

3.4.4 Gaugino and higgsino sector

The sector of the supersymmetric partners of gauge bosons and Higgs fields is divided into three parts : first the supersymmetric partners of the gluons, second the charged gauginos and higgsinos and finally the most interesting SUSY particles in the context of this thesis, the neutral gauginos and higgsinos that form the neutralino sector.

3.4.4.1 Gluinos and charginos

The eight supersymmetric partners of the gluons, the gluinos \tilde{g} , are Majorana fermions with a mass term simply equal to $|M_3|$.

The two charged winos (\tilde{W}^{\pm}) as well as the two charged higgsinos $(\tilde{H}_{u}^{+} \text{ et } \tilde{H}_{d}^{-})$ mix to form two charged Dirac fermions called *charginos* χ_{i}^{\pm} ($i \in \{1, 2\}$), where $m_{\chi_{1}^{\pm}} < m_{\chi_{2}^{\pm}}$. The mass matrix in the gauge-eigenstate basis $(\widetilde{W}^{+}, \widetilde{H}_{u}^{+}, \widetilde{W}^{-}, \widetilde{H}_{d}^{-})$ is

$$\mathbf{M}_{\chi^{\pm}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{X}^T \\ \mathbf{X} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.41)$$

with

$$\mathbf{X} = \begin{pmatrix} M_2 & \sqrt{2}M_W \sin\beta \\ \sqrt{2}M_W \cos\beta & \mu \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.42)

The relation between mass and gauge eigenstates is given by two unitary 2×2 matrices $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{v}}$ and $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{u}}$ with

$$\begin{pmatrix} \chi_1^+ \\ \chi_2^+ \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{v}} \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{W}^+ \\ \widetilde{H}_u^+ \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1^- \\ \chi_2^- \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{u}} \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{W}^- \\ \widetilde{H}_d^- \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.43)

3.4.4.2 Neutralinos

Finally the mixing of the four neutral gauge eigenstates $(\widetilde{B}, \widetilde{W}^3, \widetilde{H}_u^0, \widetilde{H}_d^0)$ gives rise to four Majorana mass eigenstates called *neutralinos* χ_i^0 ($i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$) with $m_{\chi_1^0} < m_{\chi_2^0} < m_$

 $m_{\chi_3^0} < m_{\chi_4^0}$. It is a crucial sector of this thesis since these particles are neutral, massive and they weakly interact with the rest of the MSSM sector. The lightest one is the most commonly WIMP DM candidate studied in the literature and this candidate will be considered in the work presented in part II. In the basis $\psi^0 = (\widetilde{B}, \widetilde{W}^3, \widetilde{H}_d^0, \widetilde{H}_u^0)$ the neutralino Lagrangian involving mass terms has the following form :

$$\mathscr{L}_{\chi^0} = -\frac{1}{2} (\psi^0)^T \mathbf{M}_{\chi^0} \psi^0 + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.44)$$

with the neutralino mass matrix given by

$$\mathbf{M}_{\chi^{0}} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1} & 0 & -M_{Z}c_{\beta}s_{W} & M_{Z}s_{\beta}s_{W} \\ 0 & M_{2} & M_{Z}c_{\beta}c_{W} & -M_{Z}s_{\beta}c_{W} \\ -M_{Z}c_{\beta}s_{W} & M_{Z}c_{\beta}c_{W} & 0 & -\mu \\ M_{Z}s_{\beta}s_{W} & -M_{Z}s_{\beta}c_{W} & -\mu & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.45)

This matrix is diagonalised by a 4×4 unitary matrix \mathbf{Z}_n which links mass and gauge eigenstates :

$$\chi_i^0 = Z_{nij} \psi_j^0, \quad i, j \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}.$$
 (3.46)

Thence several scenarios are considered for the LSP neutralino when we want to match its computed relic density using the micrOMEGAs code with the measured DM relic density. For large values of the μ term and assuming universality of the gaugino mass terms at the GUT scale the lightest neutralino χ_1^0 is mostly bino, *i.e.* the bino fraction $Z_{n11}^2 \sim 1$. This state interacts too weakly with the SM particles; its total annihilation cross section calculated in the early Universe is too small and this candidate mostly overclose the Universe. For some scenarios this problem is avoided. For instance when $m_{\chi_1^0} \approx m_{A^0}/2$ the DM annihilation into $b\bar{b}$ or $\tau^+\tau^-$ is enhanced through an *s*-channel pseudo-scalar Higgs boson exchange : this corresponds to the *funnel regions*.

For small μ comparing to the gaugino masses, the LSP is mostly higgsino, *i.e.* $Z_{n13}^2 + Z_{n14}^2 \sim 1$. Non-negligible mass degeneracy with χ_2^0 and the lightest chargino leads to an enhancement of the DM annihilation into gauge bosons through *t*-channel χ_2^0/χ_1^{\pm} exchange. This could imply the opposite problem in comparison to bino LSP : the predicted χ_1^0 relic density is too low to satisfy the cosmological constraints. Taking larger $\mu/m_{\chi_1^0}$ values solve this issue as we will show in chapter 4.

Loosing the universality assumption as in chapter 5 gives the opportunity to study wino LSP ($Z_{n12}^2 \sim 1$). This candidate can be strongly constrained by DM observables since it is charged under $SU(2)_L$: its annihilation rate into SM particles both in the early Universe and presently can be too large.

3.5 Constraints on SUSY

One of the nice features of SUSY is that it offers possible signatures in different types of experiments. Thus the model can be explored and constrained by very different types of observations. These observational data are separated into two main categories : astroparticle and cosmological constraints on supersymmetric DM candidates and constraints on SUSY coming from collider experiments.

3.5.1 Cosmological and astroparticle constraints

The current amount of DM in the Universe gives the most stringent constraint on supersymmetric WIMP DM candidates. Assuming a thermal production and the freeze-out mechanism, section 2.3 gives the method to compute the supersymmetric WIMP DM relic density which is compared to the precise measurement of the DM relic density. The recent result, given in table 2.1, obtained combining Planck data with WMAP polarization data, high- ℓ CMB and BAO data reads

$$\Omega_{\rm WIMP} h^2 = 0.1187 \pm 0.0017. \tag{3.47}$$

In the case of SUSY this calculation becomes tricky and can involve a large number of processes when coannihilations give the dominant contribution to the WIMP relic density. Numerical computations appear to be essential hence the use of codes like the micrOMEGAs code. This point will be particularly elaborated in chapters 4 and 5 where coannihilation processes involving a slightly heavier supersymmetric particle, the chargino, have consequences on DM observables. Note that the particle which is the second lightest superpartner is called the Next-to-LSP (NLSP). In this thesis DM relic density lower bound is sometimes relaxed⁴. Either we assume that the WIMP considered does not account for the total DM density, in this case it will also impact the calculation of DM detection observables developed below. Another possibility for models with low DM relic density is to regenerate the correct DM density through more sophisticated mechanisms, for example the freeze-in mechanism [163, 164, 165].

To probe the DM candidate the most powerful method is simply to detect it. Two main strategies are then used.

3.5.1.1 DM Direct Detection

It is usually assumed that the WIMP halo inside which the MW stands has a local density⁵ ca. 0.3-0.4 GeV cm⁻³ and local circular and galactic escape velocities of a few hundreds km s⁻¹. This implies that many of these WIMPs should pass through the Earth and then weakly interact with our planet. The idea that follows is simply to detect WIMP scattering on nuclei through the measurement of the recoil energy of this normal matter. This DM Direct Detection (DD) proposal was initiated in 1984 by Goodman and Witten [169] and from there a lot of underground⁶ detectors were built to find this DM footprint.

⁴Which is not the case for the upper bound since the DM candidate chosen should not overclose the Universe.

⁵A recent estimate assuming either an Einasto [166] or a Navarro-Frenk-White [167] DM density profile leads to a local density of 0.39 ± 0.03 GeV cm⁻³ [168, 29].

⁶Which is mandatory because of background issues and the low number of events expected.

The simple elastic scattering on a nucleus leads to recoil energies of the order of dozens of keV, which is detectable by current experiments. The cross section of the process is expressed in terms of Spin-Dependent (SD) and Spin-Independent (SI) scattering. The SD interaction comes from the coupling of the WIMP to the spin content of a nucleon and the total SD cross section on a nucleus depends only on its unpaired nucleons. Meanwhile the SI scattering results from a scalar coupling between the WIMP and a nucleon; the SI cross section on a nucleus increases with the total number of nucleons A inside this nucleus. As a result SD scattering is competitive with SI scattering only for light nuclei. The best constraints are then expected in the case of SI WIMP-nucleon scattering. Moreover SD scattering is clearly irrelevant for scalar WIMPs which will be considered in chapter 8.

Figure 3.2 shows the current best exclusion limits for SI scattering that come from the XENON100 experiment [170]. For instance it is able to probe cross sections down to 2×10^{-45} cm² = 2×10^{-9} pb for a WIMP mass of 55 GeV and thus constrains quite significantly the predictions from SUSY. This figure also shows that some collaborations like DAMA [171], CoGeNT [172], CRESST [173] or recently CDMS [174] have detected anomalous features that could be interpreted as signals of DM. However these results are in tension with the stringent bounds put by the XENON100 and the XENON10 [175] collaborations. In the different studies considered in this thesis we have decided to only take into account the negative search from XENON100.



Figure 3.2: Results on the SI WIMP-nucleon cross section versus the WIMP mass from various experiments compared to some supersymmetric predictions (grey regions). Figure taken from [170].

These limits on the WIMP-nucleon cross section are obtained assuming that the interactions WIMP-proton and WIMP-neutron are the same. Since it is not necessary the case, the normalized cross-section on a point-like nucleus N with a mass m_N with

Z protons and A - Z neutrons is considered. It reads

$$\sigma_{\chi N}^{\rm SI} = \frac{4\mu_{\chi N}^2}{\pi} \frac{(Zf_p + (A - Z)f_n)^2}{A^2}$$
(3.48)

with $\mu_{\chi N} = \frac{m_{\chi} m_N}{m_{\chi} + m_N}$. To determine the nucleon amplitudes f_p and f_n , respectively for the protons and the neutrons, the WIMP-parton⁷ scattering must be computed. The calculation of the DD cross section is done using the micrOMEGAs code. For a scalar interaction resulting for instance from Higgs boson exchange the WIMP-nucleon process depends on the quark content of the nucleon. This is determined by ratios of light quark masses m_u/m_d and m_s/m_d and by two parameters extracted from lattice QCD calculations : the light-quark sigma term $\sigma_{\pi N} = (m_u + m_d) \langle N | \bar{u}u + \bar{d}d | N \rangle$ and the strange quark content of the nucleon $\sigma_s = m_s \langle N | \bar{s}s | N \rangle$. These quantities have a nonnegligible uncertainty which then impacts the calculation of the cross section. The main values used in this thesis are summarized in table 3.2. Note that a compilation of recent lattice results leads to different mean values for $\sigma_{\pi N}$ and σ_s and especially to lower uncertainties, namely $\sigma_{\pi N} = 34 \pm 2$ MeV and $\sigma_s = 42 \pm 5$ MeV [94].

Parameter	Value
m_u/m_d	$0.553 \pm 0.043 \ [176]$
m_s/m_d	$18.9 \pm 0.8 \; [176]$
$\sigma_{\pi N}$	$44 \pm 5 \text{ MeV} [177]$
σ_s	$21 \pm 7 \text{ MeV} [177]$

Table 3.2: Parameters determining the quark content of the nucleon in the calculationof WIMP-nucleon processes.

3.5.1.2 DM Indirect Detection

As explained in section 2.3.3, WIMP annihilation into SM particles is expected to be a rare event today. However in some regions of the space the rate of DM annihilation could be sufficiently large to give anomalous features in cosmic rays searches such as gamma-rays, neutrinos, positrons and anti-protons. This is the principle of the Indirect Detection (ID) of DM that was proposed a few decades ago [178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 184, 185, 186]. Furthermore N-body simulations show that the DM distribution in the Universe seems to be inhomogeneous, thus leading to enhancement of DM annihilation.

This interesting method to probe DM has however a significant drawback : it requires a detailed knowledge of the astrophysical sources. To claim the discovery of an anomalous feature the choice has to be made between two methods : remove the

⁷Quarks and gluons.

known or modelled background in order to show a signal that could come from DM or see a clear feature difficult to mimic by considering only astrophysical sources. Possible anomalies discovered that could give hints on DM include the positron excess observed by the PAMELA[187, 188], FERMI-LAT [189] and recently AMS [190] collaborations or the two possible γ -ray lines at 111 and 129 GeV seen in FERMI-LAT data [191, 192, 193, 194, 195, 196, 197]. Nevertheless the origin of these anomalies is not yet clearly established. There are also a lot of astrophysical data that fit well with the modelling of astrophysical background sources in the usual WIMP mass range, which is able to constrain DM models. Chapter 5 will be devoted to \bar{p} and γ -ray constraints on a neutralino DM which mainly annihilates into W bosons.

Note that another detection method to look for DM, which is currently in development, could be promising. Summarizing quickly this method, called directional detection, it is based on the motion of the Solar System in the MW which imply that the motion of the Earth relatively to the galactic halo could gives hints on DM [198].

3.5.2 Collider constraints

High energy colliders as the LHC could also give hints on supersymmetric DM, although it is not in their scope to give informations on whether this particle is stable at a cosmological scale or not. Nevertheless important constraints can be applied to SUSY since no superpartners have been discovered yet.

3.5.2.1 Bounds on supersymmetric particles

The LEP collider puts stringent lower bounds on the mass of several charged sparticles. For example it constrains the χ_1^{\pm} mass to be above ~ 103 GeV, except for small mass degeneracies with the LSP. Direct accelerator lower bounds on sparticles from the LEP collider for the chargino, the sneutrino and the RH charged slepton masses are implemented in the **micrOMEGAs** code. Since the start of the LHC the limits on coloured sparticles are much improved and some searches are able to exclude supersymmetric particles with a mass beyond 1 TeV. Nevertheless these bounds have to be taken with care since there are derived under several assumptions. The first one, justified within the context of this thesis is the conservation of *R*-parity. As we saw in section 3.4 this implies that a cascade decay of a SUSY particle leading to SM particles and the LSP, which appears as missing energy in the detectors⁸, is one of the main method used to probe SUSY (see figure 3.3).

Actually experimentalists have obtained bounds on SUSY using many more assumptions. This implies that some bounds are not so stringent for the analysis developed in this thesis, especially when scenarios going beyond the MSSM are studied. Many limits were derived in specific MSSM scenarios GUT motivated, in most cases within the simplest gravity-mediated SUSY breaking scenario, the minimal SUperGRAvity/Constrained MSSM (mSUGRA/CMSSM). As an example figure 3.4 sum-

⁸As with neutrinos.



Figure 3.3: Example of a cascade decay as a result of the *R*-parity conservation in the MSSM : a squark \tilde{q} decays into the second lightest neutralino χ_2^0 and a quark which will decay or hadronise. Then χ_2^0 decays to a charged lepton plus a RH slepton which finally decays into another lepton and the LSP, here the lightest neutralino χ_1^0 .

marizes ATLAS bounds on supersymmetric particle masses shown during the *Rencontres* de Moriond conference in 2013 where, depending on the analysis done, stronger assumptions are considered like an equal mass for gluinos and first and second generation of squarks. Other analyses have been done within simplified models with specific decay chains studied [199]. For most of the studies presented in this thesis these limits are avoided assuming that squarks and sleptons are at the TeV scale, except for third generation squarks which are more weakly constrained. Nonetheless it is possible to check the validity of these experimental limits on non-minimal supersymmetric models. Chapter 6 will be devoted to this type of study within a typical non-minimal model, the Next-to-MSSM (NMSSM).

Note that the knowledge of SM particle masses have also consequences on the studies. For example the top quark mass influences the SUSY spectra in GUT scale models as well as provides large corrections to the SM-like Higgs boson mass.

3.5.2.2 Low energy observables

SUSY can also be detected in the measurement of rare processes or in the precise determination of some EW quantities. *B*-physics observables are used throughout this thesis. We will be mainly interested in the observables $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm}\nu_{\tau})$, $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-)$, ΔM_s , ΔM_d and $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$. All these branching ratios and mass differences get supersymmetric contributions that can be large. As an example, the $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-)$ in the MSSM which for large tan β values grows like tan⁶ β . This allows to exclude some regions of the supersymmetric parameter space since no major discrepancies are obtained between the experimental measurements and the SM expected values. Other low energy observables such as the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon δa_{μ} were considered. In part II we use the micrOMEGAs functions that calculate these observables. Part III is dedicated to a supersymmetric model with an extended gauge symmetry, the UMSSM. Since *B*-physics observables and δa_{μ} were adapted to this model for this thesis they will be detailed there.



Т Supersymmetry

62

 \mathcal{C}



Neutralino Dark Matter in the (N)MSSM

4

Unification with non-universal Higgs masses and the supersymmetric inflaton

Contents

4.1 I	ntroduction	36		
4.2 Gravity-mediation of SUSY breaking				
4.2	The NUHM2 model			
4.2	Benchmark points with neutralino DM in the NUHM2 67			
4.2	A broader scan of the parameter space			
	4.2.3.1 A Markov Chain Monte Carlo inspired algorithm . 7	70		
	4.2.3.2 Characteristics of the scan	72		
	4.2.3.3 Results	73		
4.3 S	4.3 Supersymmetric inflaton			
4.3	3.1 Inflaton candidates : flat directions of squarks and sleptons $.$ 7	79		
4.3	Gaussian fluctuations and tensor to scalar ratio			
4.3	Renormalization Group Equations			
4.3	3.4 Indirect detection of the inflaton at LHC	84		
	4.3.4.1 Inflaton mass for benchmark points 8	85		
	4.3.4.2 LHC predictions and Inflaton mass	85		
4.4 Conclusions				

This chapter is mainly based on the article [201] with some figures added/updated and the scanning method carefully described.

4.1 Introduction

The primordial inflation dilutes all matter except the quantum fluctuations which we see in the CMB radiation. The last phases of inflation are commonly embedded within a BSM sector where the inflaton can directly excite quarks and leptons. This is why we consider in this chapter a supersymmetric model, the NUHM2 : within its scalar potential containing F and D terms two D-flat directions, $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ and $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$, are viable inflaton candidates. By looking at constraints on the neutralino DM candidate, collider constaints such as B-physics observables as well as cosmological constraints on the inflaton candidates, indications on the inflaton mass can be obtained.

4.2 Gravity-mediation of SUSY breaking

As explained in section 3.3, one of the method to mediate SUSY breaking is through gravity. The most popular gravity-mediated SUSY breaking model is the mSUGRA/CMSSM. The *minimal* qualifier in the mSUGRA name stems from the fact that universal scalar masses at GUT scale is assumed. Only five free parameters are needed to study its phenomenological consequences at low scale :

- m_0 , the common scalar mass at GUT scale;
- $m_{1/2}$, the common gaugino mass at GUT scale;
- A_0 , the common trilinear coupling at GUT scale;
- $\tan \beta$, the ratio of the two Higgs doublets VEV;
- $sign(\mu)$, the sign of the superpotential Higgs mass term.

However this universality in the scalar sector has some disadvantages when considering moderate values for the common parameters¹. The LSP neutralino is for instance mainly bino in this model. This implies that finding regions of the parameter space where the neutralino relic density matches or is below the measured DM density is difficult. For instance DM constraints are usually fulfilled in narrow regions, the funnel regions. In addition it has been shown that these universality assumptions make it difficult, especially for low tan β values, to get the SM Higgs boson mass around 125 GeV [204, 205, 206].

These universality conditions can be relaxed by removing the degeneracy between Higgs boson and sfermion masses at GUT scale, thus solving the previous issues. This

¹High values for common parameters can respect physical constraints as shown in [202, 203], although these scenarios may not be accessible at the LHC scale.

type of models, the NUHM models [207, 208], are divided into two categories : NUHM1 and NUHM2. In the NUHM1, inspired by GUT models where the two Higgs doublets appear in the same multiplet, degeneracy is maintained in the Higgs sector : $m_0^2 \neq m_{H_u}^2 = m_{H_d}^2$. Thereby a new free parameter, defined at GUT scale, is added : $sign(m_{H_{u,d}}^2) \sqrt{|m_{H_{u,d}}^2|}$.

4.2.1 The NUHM2 model

In the NUHM2, the model we will study here, Higgs scalar masses at GUT scale are not equal; it is assumed that the Higgs doublets appear in different multiplets at GUT scale. Hence two free parameters are added to those of mSUGRA/CMSSM, $m_{H_u}^2$ and $m_{H_d}^2$. Following the EWSB conditions the following relations are obtained (see [207]):

$$m_{H_d}^2 (1 + \tan^2 \beta) = m_{A^0}^2 \tan^2 \beta - \mu^2 (\tan^2 \beta + 1 - \Delta_{\mu}^{(H_u)}) - (c_{H_d} + c_{H_u} + 2c_{\mu}) \tan^2 \beta - \Delta_A \tan^2 \beta - \frac{1}{2} M_Z^2 (1 - \tan^2 \beta) - \Delta_{\mu}^{(H_d)} \quad \text{and}$$
(4.1)

$$m_{H_u}^2(1 + \tan^2 \beta) = m_{A^0}^2 - \mu^2(\tan^2 \beta + 1 + \Delta_{\mu}^{(H_u)}) - (c_{H_d} + c_{H_u} + 2c_{\mu}) - \Delta_A + \frac{1}{2}M_Z^2(1 - \tan^2 \beta) + \Delta_{\mu}^{(H_d)},$$
(4.2)

where the Δ and c terms are respectively loop and radiative corrections. These relations link the Higgs GUT scale parameters to the μ term and the pseudoscalar mass m_{A^0} which are taken as new free parameters. Therefore the set of free parameters of NUHM2 is :

$$m_0, m_{1/2}, A_0, \tan \beta, \mu \text{ and } m_{A^0}.$$

To find the regions of NUHM2 which are compatible with colliders and DM constraints two methods, both relying on the micrOMEGAs code and the SOFTSUSY spectrum calculator, are used. In a first step benchmark points which satisfy all these requirements will be identified. Then, the model will be studied by performing a Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) analysis of the NUHM2 parameter space.

4.2.2 Benchmark points with neutralino DM in the NUHM2

For the method consisting on identifying benchmark points the following requirements are imposed :

- The LSP must be the neutralino;
- The relic density of the neutralino must be compatible with the measured DM abundance from the WMAP 7-year + BAO + H_0 mean value [209] :

$$0.1088 < \Omega_{DM} h^2 < 0.1158; \tag{4.3}$$

- The LEP2 bound on the mass of the lightest chargino must be satisfied *i.e.* $m_{\chi_1^{\pm}} > 103.5 \text{ GeV} [210];$
- The mass of the lightest Higgs boson must be around $m_{h^0} = 125$ GeV.

Scans are done in the ranges $0 \le m_0 \le 3000$ GeV and $0 \le m_{1/2} \le 5000$ GeV and choosing specific values of μ , tan β and m_{A^0} . The mass of the top quark is set at $m_t = 173.2$ GeV [211] and the limits on the following branching ratios $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-) < 4.5 \times 10^{-9}$ [212] and $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma) = (3.55 \pm 0.26) \times 10^{-4}$ [213] are used.

None of the scenarios found can explain the measured value of the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon δa_{μ} ; the additional contributions in this model are indeed too small [204]. We assume in the rest of the study that as long as the contribution of a given scenario is not greater than the measured value, the configuration is valid.

The same observation and assumption are made when we consider the branching ratio $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm}\nu_{\tau})$, using the average $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm}\nu_{\tau}) = (1.67 \pm 0.39) \times 10^{-4}$ [213].



Figure 4.1: $(m_0, m_{1/2})$ plane for the NUHM2 model : Panel (a) is for $A_0 = -2m_0$, $m_{A^0} = 1$ TeV. Panel (b) is for $A_0 = 0$ TeV and $m_{A^0} = 4$ TeV. Both panels share $\tan \beta = 10$ and $\mu = 1$ TeV. WMAP allowed regions are drawn in red while black lines show the interesting Higgs boson mass regions. Green regions are characterized by stau LSP. LEP2 bounds on the chargino mass is not satisfied in blue regions and non physical configurations are found in grey regions.

We show two examples of scan in figure 4.1. Regions where the LSP is not a neutralino but a stau are coloured in green and regions excluded by LEP2 limits on the chargino mass are represented in blue. Grey regions correspond to non physical configurations (in particular the stop is tachyonic in most of these regions). In panel (a) of this figure the regions of the parameter space where the neutralino relic density is in agreement with the WMAP observations is represented by a red strip while panel (b) present a wider WMAP allowed region.

Since we are looking for points which satisfy both the Higgs boson mass and DM constraints, benchmark scenarios are defined as the points which lie at the intersection between the red area representing the interesting DM relic density and the black line corresponding to a Higgs boson mass of $m_{h^0} = 125$ GeV.

In panel (a) of figure 4.1 configurations intersecting WMAP allowed and $m_{h^0} \approx 125$ GeV lines are found for $m_0 > 1.5$ TeV and $m_{1/2} > 1$ TeV. In this part of the plot allowed by relic density constraint, the LSP is mostly bino since μ is fixed at 1 TeV. To explain the observed abundance, given that binos interact too weakly with SM particles and then usually overclose the Universe, the neutralino mass must be such that annihilation via a CP-odd Higgs s-channel exchange is enhanced. This leads to the relation $m_{\chi^0_1} \approx m_{A^0}/2$ and thus implies that the neutralino mass is about $m_{\chi_1^0} \approx 500$ GeV for $m_{A^0} = 1$ TeV. The allowed region is actually referred to as the funnel region. The mass of a bino LSP is roughly equal to M_1 , which is related at the EW scale to $m_{1/2}$ via $M_1 \approx 0.42 m_{1/2}$. Thus $m_{\chi_1^0} \approx M_1 \approx 500$ GeV corresponds to $m_{1/2} \approx 1.1$ TeV. Between the two red strips, the relic density falls below the observed DM abundance because the annihilation process becomes resonant and reduces too much the relic density. Four benchmark points are identified for $m_{h^0} = 125$ GeV. They are given by $m_0 = 1897$, 2668, 1847, 2897 GeV with $m_{1/2} \approx 1.1$ TeV and correspond respectively to the benchmark points 'a', 'b', 'c' and 'd'. These points match well the *B*-physics constraints; furthermore they are close to the SM expectations : $\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{a,b,c,d} \approx 3.1 \times 10^{-9} \text{ and } \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)_{a,b,c,d} \approx 3.25 \times 10^{-4}.$ Note that the choice of the Higgs boson mass for defining our benchmark points is crucial. Indeed this plot shows that increasing m_{h^0} by just 500 MeV takes away half the resonance region to the interesting configurations. It gives only two benchmark points with $m_0 > 2$ TeV and $m_{1/2} \approx 1.1$ TeV.

In panel (b) of figure 4.1 the situation is completely different. Since $m_{A^0} = 4$ TeV, no funnel region is expected until large $m_{1/2}$ values, typically around 4 TeV. Moreover since $\mu = 1$ TeV it is expected in this scenario to have a mainly higgsino-like lightest neutralino of a mass slightly higher than 1 TeV for sufficiently large $m_{1/2}$. It implies that there is a large degeneracy between the two lightest neutralinos and the lightest chargino. Thus if the neutralino is the LSP the t-channel chargino/neutralino exchange process and the neutralino-neutralino and neutralino-chargino coannihilation mechanisms contribute significantly to the LSP relic density. The consequence is that, within the explored range of m_0 , any scalar masses at the GUT scale is compatible with $m_h = 125.0 \pm 0.5$ GeV and the observed DM abundance, which leads to many more benchmark points than in the previous scenario. As a result it is clear that a broader scan of the parameter space is expected to give mainly higgsino LSP for the interesting configurations.

4.2.3 A broader scan of the parameter space

In the previous subsection we have identified a set of parameters for which the Higgs mass coincided with $m_{h^0} \approx 125$ GeV, and simultaneously lead to a DM relic density compatible with WMAP observations. We now want to check whether predictions associated with these benchmark points are generic or not.

4.2.3.1 A Markov Chain Monte Carlo inspired algorithm

The multidimensional parameter space of the model $\{m_0, m_{1/2}, A_0, \tan \beta, \mu, m_{A^0}\}$ is explored by performing a random walk corresponding to a Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) analysis. This exploration based on the micrOMEGAs code follows the procedure of a Metropolis-Hastings algorithm [214] and is described by the following steps :

- 1. Let us start with a point $M(m_0, m_{1/2}, A_0, \tan \beta, \mu, m_{A^0})$ in a given location of a chain whose free parameters are selected inside a defined range $[x_{\min}, x_{\max}]$ (randomly if it is the first point of the chain, otherwise see next steps) where x_{\min} (x_{\max}) is the lower (upper) bound of the range for a given free parameter x. We assume flat priors for all free parameters considered;
- 2. The SUSY spectrum is then computed using SOFTSUSY. If it corresponds to a non physical configuration (tachyonic sfermion, Landau pole below the GUT scale,...), the point (and the corresponding chain) is rejected and we go back to step 1. If this point is not the first one of the chain considered it was slightly shifted from the previous point. Then it might go beyond one of the intervals for the free parameters defined at step 1. If it is the case we assign a warning signal to this point and we move to step 4;
- 3. After this we check if the point M is characterized by a neutralino LSP and is allowed by LEP limits on sparticle masses. If it does not fulfill one of these conditions we assign a warning signal to this point;
- 4. Before discussing about the likelihood calculations and if a warning signal has been imposed on the point either in step 2 or step 3, we check that at most ten consecutive warning signals have been obtained in this chain. If it is the case we move directly to step 7 with the assignment N = M where N will be the point considered. Another signal that will be introduced at the step 6, the *stuck* signal, is defined for the points that do not correspond to the highest total likelihood function of the chain. This signal allows to not stay closed in a region of the parameter space which was sufficiently analysed. We then check whether no more than one hundred consecutive *stuck* signals were obtained in this chain. If it is the case we continue this step. Then we compute the total likelihood function \mathcal{L}_{tot}^{M} which is equal to the product of the likelihood functions associated with each observable that we will define in section 4.2.3.2. We continue to step 5 if it satisfies the quite conservative criterion $\mathcal{L}_{tot}^{M} > 10^{-100}$. Otherwise if the point fails to fulfill

one of the three tests presented above we reject the chain and we go back to step 1.

- 5. We now look at the main part of the algorithm. If M is the first point of the chain we automatically keep the point that we note N = M and we move to step 7. Otherwise we compare M to the previous point kept in this chain that we will call m. To do this we define a new parameter p which is taken randomly in the range $[1, 1 - \ln \mathcal{L}_{tot}^m]$ and we compare \mathcal{L}_{tot}^M to \mathcal{L}_{tot}^m/p . If $\mathcal{L}_{tot}^M > \mathcal{L}_{tot}^m/p$, M and all its characteristics like the SUSY spectrum or its associated values for each observable considered are kept and N = M. If not we keep the previous point, which means that N = m, and we move to step 7;
- 6. The last important step for the accepted point M is to verify if it gives the highest total likelihood function of the chain. If it is not the case we assign a *stuck* signal to this point (which is automatically assigned at the point m when $\mathcal{L}_{tot}^M \leq \mathcal{L}_{tot}^m/p$);
- 7. We now generate, starting from N, a new point M'. Its corresponding free parameters x' are shifted from those of N as $x' = x + \delta_x$ where δ_x is randomly selected inside the range $\left[-1\% \frac{(x_{\max} - x_{\min})}{2}, 1\% \frac{(x_{\max} - x_{\min})}{2}\right]$. Finally we close the loop procedure returning to step 2 and doing the same tests for the point M'.

This algorithm is also described in figure 4.2. We could think to use a more stringent criterion than $\mathcal{L}_{tot}^M > 10^{-100}$. Nevertheless we observed that the code converge quite quickly to interesting configurations, *i.e.* $\mathcal{L}_{tot}^M > 10^{-1}$, thanks to the range chosen for the parameter p, $[1, 1 - \ln \mathcal{L}_{tot}^m]$. Actually we also tested $p \in [1, 10]$ but the result was less interesting : regions which are fine-tuned were left unexplored. The reason why the first method is more efficient in the exploration of fine-tuned regions is that for high \mathcal{L}_{tot}^m it is almost mandatory to have $\mathcal{L}_{tot}^M \gtrsim \mathcal{L}_{tot}^m$. Thus it is possible to fully explore fine-tuned regions, avoiding the previous problem.

Note that this algorithm does not completely exclude regions where the LSP is not the neutralino and where some sparticle masses are below LEP bounds using the warning signals. The reason is that we do not want to get rid of the possibility that the corresponding point is near a region where LSP-NLSP coannihilation mechanism contribute to the relic density of DM or that the chargino mass is for instance close to LEP limits.

Since we were not interested in characterising how statistically relevant the points that we found are but wanted instead to determine the full range of configurations that are possible, we do not consider the number of occurrence of a given scenario. The drawback of such a method is that we cannot determine how likely a region of the parameter space is with respect to other regions. The advantage as explained above is that very small (fine-tuned) configurations are kept in the analysis. We imposed between 10^6 and 10^7 loops which led to more than 10^5 interesting configurations for each scan.



Figure 4.2: Representation of the overall MCMC procedure used in this work. Green paths represent the ideal paths while orange paths represent warning or *stuck* signal paths. Red paths represent the rejection of a chain.

4.2.3.2 Characteristics of the scan

Now let us look at the physics part of this algorithm, the computation of the likelihood functions associated with each observable. We want to identify regions of the parameter space which lead to a SM Higgs boson mass within the range that was not excluded by the LHC experiments in early 2012, *i.e.* [115.5, 127] GeV [215, 216], and a neutralino relic density within the WMAP measurements, namely $\Omega_{\chi_1^0}h^2 \in [0.1088, 0.1158]$. Note that we also considered a scan where the neutralino is only one of the components of DM, asking $\Omega_{\chi_1^0}h^2 \in [0.01123, 0.1123]$. We will make a quick comment on this point at the end of section 4.2.3.3. Following the lines described in [217], we use three kind of likelihood functions :

• For the Higgs boson mass and the DM relic density, we define the corresponding likelihood as a function \mathcal{L}_1 which decays exponentially at the edges of the $[x_{min}, x_{max}]$ range, according to

$$\mathcal{L}_{1}(x, x_{min}, x_{max}, \sigma) = e^{-\frac{(x - x_{min})^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}} \text{ if } x < x_{min},$$

= $e^{-\frac{(x - x_{max})^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}} \text{ if } x > x_{max},$
= 1 for $x \in [x_{min}, x_{max}],$ (4.4)

with a tolerance σ and x is the observable which corresponds in that case to either the Higgs boson mass or the LSP relic density;

- For all the other observables, we will use two types of likelihood :
 - For an observable with a preferred value μ and an error σ , we use a Gaussian distribution \mathcal{L}_2 :

$$\mathcal{L}_2(x,\mu,\sigma) = e^{-\frac{(x-\mu)^2}{2\sigma^2}}.$$
(4.5)

Note that the σ of the $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ observable is calculated adding quadratically theoretical and experimental errors;

- For an observable with a lower or upper bound (set experimentally), we will take the function \mathcal{L}_3 with a positive or negative variance σ :

$$\mathcal{L}_{3}(x,\mu,\sigma) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}}}.$$
(4.6)

Here we do not implement limits on sparticle masses from the LHC since squark masses that we consider are mostly above present limits. The known constraints that we impose are summarized in table 4.1 and the range that we consider for the different free parameters of the NUHM2 model is given in table 4.2. Note that we also took into account some EW observables although they were found to not constrain scenarios obtained since they mainly apply for light LSP (below *ca.* 50 GeV). They are the invisible decay width of the Z boson and the cross section $\sigma_{e^+e^- \to \chi_1^0 \chi_{2,3}^0} \times \mathscr{B}(\chi_{2,3}^0 \to Z \chi_1^0)$. Note also that the $\Delta \rho$ parameter, which determines the deviation of the ρ parameter from unity (recall eq. 1.32), did not constrain the parameter space considered.

4.2.3.3 Results

Panel (a) of figure 4.3 shows that most of the scenarios found by the MCMC involve TeV scale values of m_0 and $m_{1/2}$, but no real feature emerges from the plot. Panel (b) illustrates one of the main advantages of the NUHM2 model over the mSUGRA/CMSSM model : low values of tan β down to *ca.* 2 can give configurations with $m_{h^0} \gtrsim 115$ GeV. Note however that $m_{h^0} \simeq 125$ GeV cannot be reached for such low tan β values. Finally panel (c) shows that the μ term must be around the TeV scale to have viable scenarios. We will see later the main reason of this observation.

Constraint	Value/Range	Tolerance σ	Likelihood
$m_{h^0} \; (\text{GeV}) \; [215, 216]$	[115.5, 127]	1	\mathcal{L}_1
$\Omega_{\chi_1^0}h^2$ [209]	[0.1088, 0.1158]	0.0035	\mathcal{L}_1
Relaxing constraint on $\Omega_{\chi_1^0} h^2$	[0.01123, 0.1123]	0.0035	\mathcal{L}_1
$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma) \times 10^4$	3.55	$\exp: 0.24, 0.09$	\mathcal{L}_2
[213, 218]		th: 0.23	
$\delta a_{\mu} \times 10^{10} \ [219]$	28.7	-8	\mathcal{L}_3
$\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-) \times 10^9 \ [212]$	4.5	-0.045	\mathcal{L}_3
Δho	0.002	-0.0001	\mathcal{L}_3
$R_{B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau}} \left(\frac{\text{NUHM2}}{\text{SM}} \right) [220]$	2.219	-0.5	\mathcal{L}_3
$Z \to \chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \; (\text{MeV})$	1.7	-0.3	\mathcal{L}_3
$\sigma_{e^+e^- \to \chi^0_1 \chi^0_{2,3}}$	1	-0.01	\mathcal{L}_3
$\times \mathscr{B}(\chi^0_{2,3} \to Z\chi^0_1) \text{ (pb) [221]}$			

74 4 - Unification with non-universal Higgs masses and the supersymmetric inflaton

Table 4.1: Constraints imposed in the MCMC, from [210] unless noted otherwise.

_

_

Parameter	Range
m_0	[0, 4] TeV
$m_{1/2}$	[0, 4] TeV
A_0	$[-6,6]~{\rm TeV}$
aneta	[2, 60]
μ	[0, 3] TeV
m_{A^0}	[0, 4] TeV

Table 4.2: Range chosen for the free parameters in the NUHM2 model.

As illustrated in figure 4.4, there is a very strong correlation between the mass of the LSP and that of the NLSP, suggesting that the neutralino relic density either relies on the coannihilation mechanism or a *t*-channel exchange of the NLSP (or both). The NLSP is found to be mostly a chargino and sometimes a neutralino or a stau. The A^0 -pole resonance corresponding to the benchmark points 'a', 'b', 'c', 'd' requires however a certain amount of fine-tuning (precisely because it requires $m_{\chi_1^0} \simeq m_{A^0}/2$) and is not the most represented configuration found by the MCMC.

The predominance of scenarios in which charginos are mass degenerated with neu-



Figure 4.3: Plot of the allowed parameter space in the $(m_0, m_{1/2})$ (a), $(A_0, \tan \beta)$ (b) and (μ, m_{A^0}) (c) planes. We use the total likelihood of the points as colour code. The darkest points have the highest likelihood. However they may not be statistically significant.

tralinos² can be understood by inspecting figure 4.5. For the configurations with $A_0 = -2m_0$, the Higgs boson mass m_{h^0} tends to exceed the upper experimental bound unless one decreases the value of tan β .

For such configurations, sfermion masses are generally too large for the sfermionneutralino coannihilation channels to reduce the relic density significantly and both the neutralino and chargino have a significant higgsino fraction as represented in panel (a) of figure 4.6. As a result, the possible channels to reduce the neutralino relic density either involve CP-odd Higgs portal annihilations or neutralino-chargino mass degeneracies.

The exchange of a pseudoscalar Higgs is actually significant when $m_{\chi_1^0} \sim m_{A^0}/2$ (as found for the benchmark points 'a','b','c','d') but neutralino-chargino coannihilation or

²Note that we did not compute the amount of EW fine-tuning in our NUHM2 scenarios. It was shown, for instance in [222] that some NUHM2 benchmark points wherein $A_0 = 0$ TeV give non-negligible EW fine-tuning.



Figure 4.4: Mass of the LSP *vs.* the mass of the NLSP, depending on the nature of the NLSP. Only points with large total likelihood were considered.



Figure 4.5: SM Higgs boson mass in the $(A_0, \tan \beta)$ plane. Light Higgs boson can be found whatever the value of the trilinear coupling A_0 , provided that $\tan \beta$ is small.

chargino t-channel exchange are dominant when the higgsino fraction is very large. In fact, among the configurations with a non-negligible higgsino fraction, the larger the bino fraction, the more favoured the A^0 -pole since small neutralino couplings to the Higgs can be compensated by having $m_{\chi_1^0}$ closer to $m_{A^0}/2$. The distribution of points depending on their bino fraction is represented in the panel (b) of figure 4.6. Clearly scenarios with bino-like neutralinos are under represented, illustrating how fine-tuned they are. This was expected after looking at the benchmark scenarios in section 4.2.2.

Note that the panel (a) of figure 4.6 illustrates also the point that heavy neutralinos with a mass $m_{\chi_1^0} \ge 0.6$ TeV tend to have a large higgsino fraction, thus suggesting even more dominant coannihilations with charginos (or annihilations through chargino exchange) when the neutralino becomes fairly heavy. Interestingly though, for most of these scenarios, the value of the μ parameter varies between 500 GeV and 1.5 TeV but the values which correspond to the highest likelihood are about $m_{\chi_1^0} \simeq \mu \simeq 1$ TeV, which is indeed consistent with a dominant higgsino fraction.

We can now investigate the distribution of points which satisfy constraints on the Higgs boson mass and the DM relic density, figure 4.7. Points with high likelihood



Figure 4.6: Neutralino composition. Panel (a) shows the higgsino content *vs.* the neutralino mass while panel (b) shows the bino fraction. The colour coding corresponds to the likelihood of these points.

are *smoothly* distributed within the observed relic density and Higgs boson mass range. However there is a higher concentration of points corresponding to Higgs boson masses above 122 GeV, indicating that a Higgs boson mass of the NUHM2 model which is around the expected SM Higgs boson mass is in principle a better match to the particle physics constraints in such scenarios.



Figure 4.7: Neutralino relic density *vs.* the mass of the lightest Higgs boson. Same colour code as in figure 4.6.

Relaxing the constraint on the DM relic density and allowing neutralinos to constitute only a fraction of the total DM density does not change the above features. The main effect in fact is to allow lower values of μ , since a lighter higgsino LSP is characterized by a higher annihilation cross section and then by a lower relic density. As expected the degeneracy between the LSP and the NLSP, mainly chargino, is still present and larger values of the Higgs boson mass still give a higher likelihood. Figure 4.8 summarizes the characteristics of this scan with relaxing constraint on $\Omega_{\chi_1^0}h^2$.



Figure 4.8: Characteristics of the scan with low relic densities allowed. Panels (a, b) show the (μ, m_{A^0}) plane with either the total likelihood of the points or the corresponding LSP relic density as colour code. Panel (c) shows the higgsino fraction and panel (d) present the neutralino relic density vs. the mass of the lightest Higgs boson where the colour coding corresponds to the likelihood of the points.

We now look at the study of inflaton candidates in the framework of this supersymmetric model.

4.3 Supersymmetric inflaton

The primordial inflation must explain the seed perturbations for the CMB radiation, and after the end of inflation the coherent oscillations of the inflaton must excite SM quarks and leptons at temperatures sufficiently high to realize baryons and DM in the current Universe [223, 224]. In this respect, it is vital that the last phase of primordial inflation must end in a vacuum of BSM physics which can solely excite the relevant degrees of freedom required for the success of BBN, see [225] for a review.

Inflation needs a potential which remains sufficiently flat along which the slow-roll inflation can take place in order to generate the observed temperature anisotropy in the CMB. Low scale SUSY not only provides a DM candidate and a testable framework for BSM physics, but also guarantees the flatness of such flat directions at a perturbative and a non-perturbative level (for a review see [226]).

The flat directions of the MSSM provide nearly 300 gauge-invariant F-and D-flat directions [227, 228], which are all charged under the SM gauge group. Out of these flat directions, there are particularly 2 D-flat directions, $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ and $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$, which carry SM charges and can be ideal inflaton candidates [229, 230, 231]. Here \tilde{u} and \tilde{d} correspond to the right handed squarks, \tilde{L} corresponds to the left handed sleptons, and \tilde{e} corresponds to the right handed charged sleptons. Both the inflaton candidates provide an *inflection point* in their respective potentials where inflation can be driven for sufficiently large e-foldings of inflation to explain the current Universe and explain the seed perturbations for the temperature anisotropy in the CMB.

The inflaton in this case only decays into the MSSM degrees of freedom which thermalize the Universe with a temperature $T_R \sim 10^8$ GeV [232]. This temperature is sufficient to excite the degrees of freedom which are needed for the LSP to get a relic density that matches observations. It is then natural to ask whether there exists any parameter space, where both successful inflation and thermal DM abundance can be explained simultaneously [233, 234].

Since in our case the inflaton candidates are gauge invariant, by using the RGEs at one loop level one can evaluate the mass of the inflaton m_{ϕ} from the scale of inflation to the scale of LHC. This eventually will enable us to relate the inflaton mass with the DM parameter space and the lightest CP-even Higgs boson mass.

4.3.1 Inflaton candidates : flat directions of squarks and sleptons

In references [229, 230, 233, 234] it was shown that the two *D*-flat directions $\tilde{u}dd$ and $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ can be the ideal inflaton candidates, because both flat directions are lifted (they are approximately flat) by higher order superpotential terms of the following form³ which would provide non-vanishing *A*-term in the potential even at large VEVs ⁴:

$$W \supset \frac{\lambda}{6} \frac{\Phi^6}{m_{Pl}^3},\tag{4.7}$$

³Note that to simplify a number of following equations we use the reduced Planck mass $m_{Pl} = M_{Pl}/\sqrt{8\pi}$.

⁴Note that the *R*-parity is still conserved, both the superpotential terms **udd** and **LLe** do not appear at the renormalizable level, they are instead lifted by non-renormalizable operators. Further note that both the operators vanish in the vacuum which is shown at $\phi = 0$ in figure 4.9.


Figure 4.9: A schematic drawing of inflationary potential for either $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ or $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ as shown in eq. 4.9. Inflation happens near the *inflection point* point as shown by $\phi_{\text{inflation}} = \phi_0$. Inflation ends at the point of *enhanced gauge symmetry*, where the entire (MS)SM gauge symmetry is recovered. The physical mass and couplings at high scale ϕ_0 and ϕ_{LHC} are related via RGEs described by eqs. 4.18 and 4.19.

where $\lambda \sim \mathcal{O}(1)^{5}$. The scalar component of the Φ superfield, denoted by ϕ , is given by⁶

$$\phi = \frac{\widetilde{u} + \widetilde{d} + \widetilde{d}}{\sqrt{3}}, \quad \phi = \frac{\widetilde{L} + \widetilde{L} + \widetilde{e}}{\sqrt{3}}, \tag{4.8}$$

for the $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ and $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ flat directions respectively. After minimizing the potential along the angular direction θ ($\Phi = \phi e^{i\theta}$), we can determine the real part of ϕ by rotating it to the corresponding angles θ_{\min} . The scalar potential is then found to be [229, 230]

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m_{\phi}^2 \phi^2 - A \frac{\lambda \phi^6}{6 m_{Pl}^3} + \lambda^2 \frac{\phi^{10}}{m_{Pl}^6}, \qquad (4.9)$$

where m_{ϕ} and A are the soft breaking mass and the A-term respectively (A is a positive quantity since its phase is absorbed by a redefinition of θ during the process). The masses for \widetilde{LLe} and \widetilde{udd} are given by:

$$m_{\phi_{\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}}}^{2} = \frac{m_{\tilde{L}}^{2} + m_{\tilde{L}}^{2} + m_{\tilde{e}}^{2}}{3},$$

$$m_{\phi_{\tilde{u}\tilde{u}\tilde{d}\tilde{d}}}^{2} = \frac{m_{\tilde{u}}^{2} + m_{\tilde{d}}^{2} + m_{\tilde{d}}^{2}}{3}.$$
(4.10)

⁵ The exact value of λ is irrelevant for the CMB analysis, as it does not modify the CMB predictions. However it is possible to extract its value by integrating out the heavy degrees of freedom. If the origin of these operators arise from either SU(5) or SO(10), then the typical value is of order $\lambda \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$ for SO(10) and $\lambda \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ for SU(5), as shown in [233].

⁶The representations for the flat directions are given by: $\tilde{u}_i^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\phi$, $\tilde{d}_j^{\beta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\phi$, $\tilde{d}_k^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\phi$. Here $1 \leq \alpha, \beta, \gamma \leq 3$ are colour indices, and $1 \leq i, j, k \leq 3$ denote the quark families. The flatness constraints require that $\alpha \neq \beta \neq \gamma$ and $j \neq k$.

In the case of sleptons we have $\tilde{L}_i = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \phi \end{pmatrix}$, $\tilde{L}_j = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $\tilde{e}_k = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \phi$, where $1 \le i, j, k \le 3$ denote the lepton families. The flatness constraints require that $i \ne j \ne k$. Note that the cosmological perturbations do not care which combination arises, as gravity couples universally.

These masses are now VEV dependent, *i.e.* $m^2(\phi)$. The inflationary perturbations will be able to constrain the inflaton mass only at the scale of inflation, *i.e.* ϕ_0 , while LHC will be able to constrain the masses at the LHC scale. However both the physical quantities are related to each other via RGEs as we will discuss below. For

$$\frac{A^2}{40m_{\phi}^2} \equiv 1 - 4\alpha^2, \tag{4.11}$$

where $\alpha^2 \ll 1^{7}$, there exists a point of inflection (ϕ_0) in $V(\phi)$, where

$$\phi_{0}^{4} = \frac{m_{\phi}m_{Pl}^{3}}{\lambda\sqrt{10}} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{2}),$$

$$V''(\phi_{0}) = 0,$$

$$V(\phi_{0}) = \frac{4}{15}m_{\phi}^{2}\phi_{0}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{2}),$$

$$V'(\phi_{0}) = 4\alpha^{2}m_{\phi}^{2}\phi_{0} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{4}),$$

$$V'''(\phi_{0}) = 32\frac{m_{\phi}^{2}}{\phi_{0}} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{2}).$$
(4.12)

From now on we only keep the leading order terms in all expressions. Note that inflation occurs within an interval⁸

$$|\phi - \phi_0| \sim \frac{\phi_0^3}{60m_{Pl}^2},\tag{4.13}$$

in the vicinity of the point of inflection, within which the slow roll parameters ϵ_{ϕ} and η_{ϕ} given in eq. 2.49 are smaller than 1. The Hubble expansion rate during inflation is given by

$$H_{\rm inf} \simeq \frac{2}{\sqrt{45}} \frac{m_\phi \phi_0}{m_{Pl}}.\tag{4.14}$$

In order to obtain the flat potential, it is crucial that the $A(\phi_0)$ -term ought to be close to $m_{\phi}(\phi_0)$ in the above potential eq. 4.9. This can be obtained within two particular scenarios : *Gravity Mediation* [146] and *Split SUSY*, where the scale of SUSY is high and sfermions are very heavy [238].

Keeping low scale and high scale SUSY breaking scenarios in mind here we will consider a large range of (m_{ϕ}, ϕ_0) to match the cosmological observations.



Figure 4.10: (ϕ_0, m_{ϕ}) plane in which inflation is in agreement with the cosmological observations of the temperature anisotropy of the CMB fluctuations. The blue regions show the inflaton energy scale and inflaton mass which are compatible with the central value of the amplitude of the seed perturbations and the allowed range of spectral tilt. For panel (a) we have $\delta_H = 1.91 \times 10^{-5}$ and $0.934 \leq n_s \leq 0.988$ at 2σ [209]. The panel (b), taken from [239], use post-Planck results : $\delta_H = 1.87 \times 10^{-5}$ and $n_s = 0.9603 \pm 0.0073$ at 1σ . Note that we restricted ourselves to inflaton VEVs ϕ_0 below the GUT scale.

4.3.2 Gaussian fluctuations and tensor to scalar ratio

The above potential eq. 4.9 has been studied extensively in [230, 240, 241]. The amplitude of density perturbations δ_H and the scalar spectral index n_s are given respectively by :

$$\delta_H = \frac{8}{\sqrt{5\pi}} \frac{m_{\phi} m_{Pl}}{\phi_0^2} \frac{1}{\Delta^2} \sin^2 \left[\mathcal{N}_{\text{COBE}} \sqrt{\Delta^2} \right], \qquad (4.15)$$

and

$$n_s = 1 - 4\sqrt{\Delta^2} \cot\left[\mathcal{N}_{\text{COBE}}\sqrt{\Delta^2}\right], \qquad (4.16)$$

where

$$\Delta^2 \equiv 900 \alpha^2 \mathcal{N}_{\text{COBE}}^{-2} \left(\frac{m_{Pl}}{\phi_0}\right)^4.$$
(4.17)

⁷The value of α during inflation could be small, *i.e.* $\alpha \sim 10^{-10}$, but it runs dynamically from the GUT scale where $A^2 = 40m_{\phi}^2$ to the required value at scale of inflation via RGEs. For a detailed discussion see [234].

⁸For a low scale inflation, setting the initial condition is always challenging. However in the case of a MSSM or string theory landscape where there are many false vacua at high and high scales, then it is conceivable that earlier phases of inflation could have occurred in those false vacua. This large vacuum energy could lift the flat direction condensate either via quantum fluctuations [235], however see also the challenges posed by the quantum fluctuations [236], or via classical initial condition which happens at the level of background without any problem, see [237].

In the above, $\mathcal{N}_{\text{COBE}}$ is the number of e-foldings between the time when the observationally relevant perturbations are generated till the end of inflation and follows : $\mathcal{N}_{\text{COBE}} \simeq 66.9 + (1/4) \ln(V(\phi_0)/m_{Pl}^4) \sim 50$. Since the perturbations are due to a single field, one does not expect large non-gaussianity from this model $(f_{NL} \leq 1, \text{ see } [242])$.

Panel (a) of figure 4.10 shows the exploration of a wide range of the inflaton mass, m_{ϕ} , where inflation can explain the observed temperature anisotropy in the CMB with the right amplitude, $\delta_H = 1.91 \times 10^{-5}$, and the tilt in the power spectrum, $0.934 \leq n_s \leq 0.988$ [209]. This figure represents the inflation energy scale versus the mass of the inflaton. The configurations which fit the observed values of δ_H and n_s are shown in blue. The main effect of last release of the results from the Planck collaboration [95] is a narrowing of this blue region because of the much more precise measurement of n_s as can be shown in panel (b) of figure 4.10, taken from [239]⁹. Although we have restricted ourselves to VEV values below the GUT scale, the model does provide negligible running in the tilt which is well within the observed limit.

Here we have allowed for a wide range of m_{ϕ} and ϕ_0 values because ultimately we want to show that inflation can happen within low-scale SUSY scenarios from high-scale SUSY breaking soft masses as in the split-SUSY scenario [238].

Here we mostly consider scenarios where the scale of inflation is low enough that one would not expect any observed tensor perturbations in any future CMB experiments. To obtain large observable tensor to scalar ratio r one would have to embed these inflaton candidates within $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity. This would modify the potential with a large vacuum energy density besides providing supergravity corrections to mass and A-term [243, 244]. One could then obtain $r \sim 0.05$ for both inflaton flat directions: \widetilde{udd} and $\widetilde{L}\widetilde{L}\widetilde{e}$ as shown in [244] which then could be probed by the Planck experiment [95].

4.3.3 Renormalization Group Equations

Since the inflaton carries SM charges and they are fully embedded within the MSSM, it is possible to probe various regions of the parameter space for inflation. The CMB fluctuations probe the inflaton potential at the inflationary scale. At low energies the inflaton properties can be probed by the LHC from the masses of the squarks and sleptons.

The inflaton mass and the non-renormalizable A term in the inflationary potential are both scale dependent quantities, and they can be tracked down to lower energies by using the RGEs. In [230, 233, 234], it was shown that the RGEs at one loop level for the relevant flat direction are, for $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$:

$$\hat{\mu}\frac{dm_{\phi}^2}{d\hat{\mu}} = -\frac{1}{6\pi^2}(4M_3^2g_3^2 + \frac{2}{5}M_1^2g_1^2),$$

$$\hat{\mu}\frac{dA}{d\hat{\mu}} = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2}(\frac{16}{3}M_3g_3^2 + \frac{8}{5}M_1g_1^2).$$
(4.18)

⁹Note that the scales on this plot are not the same than in the previous one. Nevertheless this representation looks always the same at any scale if we use fixed cosmological constraints.

where $\hat{\mu} = \hat{\mu}_0 = \phi_0$ is the VEV at which inflation occurs. We have for $\widetilde{L}\widetilde{L}\widetilde{e}$:

$$\hat{\mu}\frac{dm_{\phi}^2}{d\hat{\mu}} = -\frac{1}{6\pi^2}(\frac{3}{2}M_2^2g_2^2 + \frac{9}{10}M_1^2g_1^2),$$

$$\hat{\mu}\frac{dA}{d\hat{\mu}} = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2}(\frac{3}{2}M_2g_2^2 + \frac{9}{5}M_1g_1^2).$$
(4.19)

 M_1 , M_2 and M_3 are equal to $m_{1/2}$ at the unification scale. To solve these equations, one needs to take into account the running of the gaugino masses and coupling constants as given in [146]. So every point in the $(m_0, m_{1/2})$ plane can now be mapped onto the (ϕ_0, m_{ϕ}) plane.

4.3.4 Indirect detection of the inflaton at LHC



Figure 4.11: (ϕ_0, m_{ϕ}) plane for \widetilde{LLe} (a) and \widetilde{udd} (b) flat direction inflatons respectively, where $\tan \beta = 10$, $A_0 = -2m_0$ and $\mu = m_{A^0} = 1$ TeV. The green region is the region where m_{h^0} can go up to 125.5 GeV while the blue region corresponds to $m_{h^0} \leq 125$ GeV. In the same way the yellow region is characterized by $m_{h^0} \leq 124.5$ GeV. Black, red and violet lines correspond respectively to $m_{h^0} = 124.5, 125, 125.5$ GeV and simultaneously a DM abundance in the range $0.1088 < \Omega_{\chi^0} h^2 < 0.1158$.

In the previous section we have verified the validity of our benchmark points and could measure how fine-tuned they are with respect to other configurations. In particular, we have seen that scenarios with large scalar masses m_0 require small values of $\tan \beta$ in order not to exceed the upper limit on the Higgs boson mass and lead to scenarios in which the neutralino has generally a non-negligible higgsino fraction.

We can now determine the inflation energy scale and mass of the inflaton for these benchmark points. We will follow a similar approach as in [234] in order to estimate the inflaton mass which is compatible with the temperature anisotropy of the CMB data.

4.3.4.1 Inflaton mass for benchmark points

In figure 4.11 the regions of figure 4.1a are mapped onto the (ϕ_0, m_{ϕ}) plane. Panel (a) is for the \widetilde{LLe} case and panel (b) is for the \widetilde{udd} case. The red lines show regions where both the right DM abundance and a Higgs boson mass of 125 GeV are obtained, which corresponds to the four benchmark points 'a', 'b', 'c' and 'd'. The grey shaded region shows where the NUHM2 inflation can explain the CMB observations from WMAP. From these figures we see that in the case of a $m_{h^0} = 125$ GeV Higgs boson mass, inflation should happen around $\phi_0 \approx (4.8 - 6.8) \times 10^{14}$ GeV for the 'a' and 'c' benchmark points, yielding $m_{\phi_{\overline{LL}\overline{c}}} \approx 1.9$ TeV and $m_{\phi_{\overline{u}\overline{d}\overline{d}}} \approx 2.2$ TeV. Another two possibilities correspond to the benchmark points 'b' and 'd'. For 'b' point we have inflation happening in a range of $\phi_0 \approx (5.7 - 8) \times 10^{14}$ GeV with $m_{\phi_{\overline{LL}\overline{c}}} \approx 2.7$ TeV and $m_{\phi_{\overline{u}\overline{d}\overline{d}}} \approx 2.9$ TeV and $m_{\phi_{\overline{u}\overline{d}\overline{d}}} \approx 2.9$ TeV and $m_{\phi_{\overline{u}\overline{d}\overline{d}}} \approx 3.1$ TeV. From the cosmological point of view, the heavier Higgs boson is, the more of the parameter space for inflation which become compatible with the CMB observations we have. In general for the $\widetilde{u}\overline{d}$ inflaton, we have a larger running than in the \widetilde{LLe} case, essentially because of the running of g_3 . However, it is hard to appreciate this running visibly by comparing panel (a) and (b) of figure 4.11, because of the large range of m_{ϕ} we have plotted.

4.3.4.2 LHC predictions and Inflaton mass

Our previous scans of the NUHM2 parameter space have selected neutralinos with a high higgsino fraction when the neutralino mass falls within the 0.6 and 1.2 TeV range. It is now interesting to check the prediction for the stop mass depending on the inflaton mass at TeV scale, see figure 4.12. We find that in both inflation scenarios, the inflaton mass is above 500 GeV and is associated with a very massive stop. For the $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ combination, the lightest stop mass is constrained to be within $m_{\phi} > m_{\tilde{t}_1} > m_{\phi}/3$. Scenarios with the lightest stops (namely $m_{\tilde{t}_1} \leq 2$ TeV) may offer a chance to probe the NUHM2 parameter space and thus a mean to determine the inflaton mass.

Such predictions can also depend on other parameters, such as the stau mass, see figure 4.13. The prediction differs depending on whether the inflaton correspond to the $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ or $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ inflation mechanism. For the $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ case shown in the panel (a) of figure 4.13, one finds that scenarios with *light* inflaton (*i.e.* with a mass lower than 2 TeV) correspond to staus lighter than 2 TeV and stops lighter than 2-3 TeV. More generally there is a relation between the inflaton and the stau masses, whatever the value of the stop mass. This correlation between the stau and the $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ inflaton mass can be



Figure 4.12: The lightest stop mass $m_{\tilde{t}_1}$ versus the inflaton masses for $LL\tilde{e}$ (a) and $\tilde{u}\tilde{d}\tilde{d}$ (b), see eq. 4.10. Same colour code as in figure 4.6.

understood because the inflaton is of leptonic origin. Similarly, for the $\tilde{u}dd$ case plotted in the panel (b) of figure 4.13, the inflaton mass is related to the stop mass but there is no constraint on the stau. Although such a feature can be easily understood given the nature of the inflaton, using LHC observables and searches for sparticles could provide a way to distinguish between the $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ and $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ scenarios. In addition, we find that staus in both scenarios can be lighter than 1 TeV, thus offering another possible window for probing this model at LHC. Discovering a relatively light stau at LHC together with a specific stop mass would constrain the parameters of the model and thus provide a determination of the inflaton mass.



Figure 4.13: The correlation between stau mass $m_{\tilde{\tau}_1}$ and stop mass $m_{\tilde{t}_1}$. The colour coding corresponds to the inflaton masses for $\widetilde{L}\widetilde{L}\widetilde{e}$ (a) and $\widetilde{u}\widetilde{dd}$ (b).

Specific observables such as $\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$ and $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ are also interesting to consider. In particular, in figure 4.14, one can see that most of the scenarios which fall within the observed range of the $b \to s\gamma$ decay rate lead to a relatively large $B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ branching ratio, basically within 3×10^{-9} and 4.5×10^{-9} . Some scenarios are nevertheless excluded (*i.e.* with a contribution larger than 4.5×10^{-9}) and the latest LHCb results [245] exclude now the predictions $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-) < 2 \times 10^{-9}$. This provides additional scope for detecting such scenarios at LHC since most scenarios are within the sensitivity of the LHCb experiment.



Figure 4.14: The branching ratios of $B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ and $b \to s\gamma$ are shown with the colour coding corresponding to the likelihood. The shaded region shows points within $b \to s\gamma$ experimental and theoretical error bars.

Finally, for completeness, we display the expected SI elastic scattering cross section associated with these scenarios in a Xenon-based experiment. We superimpose on this plot the limits obtained by the XENON100 experiment in 2011 [246] as well as the improvements obtained in 2012 [170] which are extremely robust regarding the relative scintillation efficiency L_{eff} at this mass scale¹⁰ [249]. We also represent the predicted limit for the XENON1T experiment.

As one can see, most of the scenarios presented in this chapter regarding NUHM2 are well below the limit set by the 2011 data of the XENON100 experiment. Nevertheless the 2012 data already probe the allowed parameter space quite significantly, especially for LSP masses below 800 GeV. The projected sensitivity for XENON1T indicates that it may be possible to probe the whole NUHM2 parameters in the future if not already ruled out by the LHC.

4.4 Conclusions

In this study we have identified the regions of the NUHM2 parameter space which are compatible with the observed DM abundance (assuming that the neutralino is the DM candidate), the Higgs boson mass constraints from LHC, and the constraints set on the inflationary potential to match the CMB constraints.

We have considered two inflaton candidates ($\tilde{u}dd$ and $LL\tilde{e}$) for which the *high* scale of inflation ϕ_0 is intimately tied up to the low scale physics at the LHC scale via the RGEs,

¹⁰Even though it may be affected by astrophysical uncertainties, see [247, 248] and uncertainties on quark coefficients of the nucleon that were taken as the default values in micrOMEGAs.



Figure 4.15: The expected and observed limits from Xenon-based experiments and the allowed NUHM2 parameter space in the plan neutralino SI cross section vs. neutralino mass.

and which are compatible with the amplitude of the perturbations, $\delta_H = 1.91 \times 10^{-5}$ and the 2σ tilt in the power spectrum $0.934 \le n_s \le 0.988$.

We used two methods. One consists in finding benchmark points and the other one in performing a more complete scan of the parameter space by using a MCMC code. Our main conclusion is that for most configurations the neutralino DM is mainly higgsino-like and nearly degenerate with an NLSP chargino. The $\tilde{u}d\tilde{d}$ inflaton appears to be *fairly light* but still heavier than 1 TeV while the $\tilde{L}\tilde{L}\tilde{e}$ inflaton can be as light as 500 GeV. In both cases however it is possible to find configurations in which both the staus and the stops are potentially within the reach of the LHC, thus indicating that sparticle searches at LHC could actually provide a mean to constrain the inflaton mass for some subset of the NUHM2 parameter space. These NUHM2 scenarios will have to be confronted to new measurements of the branching ratios $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-)$ and $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s\gamma)$. Finally LHC constraints or potential hints could be enhanced by the results of the forthcoming DM Direct Detection experiments such as the XENON1T experiment.

As can be seen from figure 4.11, hints of a TeV scale inflaton together with the precise measurement of the Higgs boson mass would actually narrow down the scale of inflation. Combined with the Planck satellite precise measurements, one should actually be able to pinpoint both the scale of inflation ϕ_0 and the corresponding mass m_{ϕ} at the scale of inflation, thus providing a window on extremely high energy physics which also complements the current observations from the CMB radiation.

5

The phenomenological MSSM confronting Indirect Detection of Dark Matter

Contents

5.1	Intro	oduction	90
5.2	\mathbf{Anti}	-proton and γ -ray bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^- \cdots$	91
	5.2.1	Generic bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^-$ from \bar{p}	91
	5.2.2	Generic bounds on $\sigma_{{\rm DM}~{\rm DM}} \rightarrow {}_{W^+W^-}$ from gamma-rays $~$	95
		5.2.2.1 Continuum \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	95
		5.2.2.2 Internal bremsstrahlung and final state radiation	95
		5.2.2.3 $\operatorname{Line}(s)$	96
5.3	Cha	rgino-neutralino mass degeneracy	96
	5.3.1	Neutralino pair annihilations into W^+W^-	96
	5.3.2	Exploring the supersymmetric parameter space \ldots \ldots \ldots	97
5.4	Resi	alts	100
	5.4.1	Bounds on the NLSP-LSP mass splitting	100
	5.4.2	Final state radiation in the pMSSM \ldots	105
	5.4.3	130 GeV line \ldots	107
	5.4.4	The case of no DM regeneration	107
5.5	Con	$\operatorname{clusions}$	108

This chapter is mostly based on the article [250] with slight modifications on the MCMC study and additional details.

5.1 Introduction

As described in section 3.5.1.2, despite some drawbacks the ID of DM can be used as a powerful tool to probe DM scenarios. This is what we will analyse in this chapter. For instance, the FERMI-LAT collaboration has been able to set stringent limits on the DM pair annihilation cross section into SM particles using the diffuse γ -ray emission in dwarf Spheroidal (dSph) galaxies [251] and also in the Milky Way [252, 253]. It has ruled out DM candidates with a total annihilation cross section of $\langle \sigma v \rangle = 3 \times 10^{-26} \text{ cm}^3/\text{s}$ if $m_{\text{DM}} \leq 30 \text{ GeV}$. This constituted a remarkable milestone as such a value corresponds to the one suggested by the thermal freeze-out scenario, which is generally considered as a strong argument in favour of WIMPs.

These limits nevertheless weaken at higher DM masses, therefore allowing for heavier DM candidates with a larger pair annihilation cross section. For example, for $m_{\rm DM} = 100$ GeV the limit relaxes to $\langle \sigma v \rangle \lesssim 10^{-25}$ cm³/s while for $m_{\rm DM} = 500$ GeV, it reads $\langle \sigma v \rangle \lesssim 3 \times 10^{-25}$ cm³/s, which is one order of magnitude higher than the *thermal* cross section.

Discovering such a configuration with large values of the pair annihilation cross section would invalidate the thermal freeze-out model and either point towards the existence of non-thermal processes in the early Universe or potentially call for mechanisms such as freeze-in and regeneration. Explaining the observed DM relic density may remain nevertheless challenging. For example, in [165], it was shown that candidates with a total annihilation cross section exceeding $\langle \sigma v \rangle = 10^{-24}$ cm³/s (corresponding to a thermal relic density smaller than 3%) would be ruled out by the FERMI-LAT experiment if they were regenerated at 100%.

The measurement of the galactic \bar{p} flux presented by the PAMELA collaboration [254, 255] is an interesting tool to probe DM. While extensive work was done to explain the electron/positron excesses in terms of DM annihilations (or decays), the implications of the absence of anomalies in the \bar{p} spectrum has remained relatively unexploited. Indeed only a relatively small number of works [256, 257, 258, 259, 260, 261, 262] have dealt with it and shown that large DM annihilation cross sections can be constrained by the PAMELA data.

In this chapter we will see a more systematic analysis of these general anti-proton constraints on the DM annihilation cross section, including paying attention to the uncertainties associated with DM and astrophysical predictions, which will demonstrate that these measurements can actually constrain the properties of specific DM scenarios. To illustrate this, we will work within a *simplified* version of the pMSSM [263] in which all sfermion masses are set to 2 TeV, except for the stop and sbottom masses. The soft masses for the stop are allowed to be much lighter to obtain a Higgs boson mass around 125 GeV. In this scenario the only particles with masses below the TeV threshold are therefore the neutralino, chargino, the supersymmetric Higgs bosons and the lightest stop and sbottom. Such a configuration with a large mass splitting between gauginos and sfermions may actually seem unusual from a supersymmetric point of view (albeit close to split SUSY [264]) but it is supported by the unfruitful searches for squarks and gluinos at LHC.

We will investigate scenarios where the neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $W^+ W^-$ gauge bosons is enhanced (due in particular to the chargino exchange diagram). Such a large annihilation cross section gives both a significant anti-proton and diffuse gamma ray flux, together with a gamma ray line, and is therefore potentially constrained by the PAMELA and FERMI-LAT data. In the pMSSM, where non-universality for the gaugino masses can be assumed, such an enhancement is realized when the LSP neutralino is mass degenerated with the chargino, *i.e.* when the neutralino has a significant wino component. Assuming total regeneration of the neutralino DM, the combination of both FERMI-LAT and PAMELA data is therefore expected to constrain the wino fraction of the LSP. Note that constraints on the neutralino composition are also expected to be obtained in presence of a lower sfermion mass spectrum. However the effect of the chargino-neutralino mass degeneracy on γ -ray and \bar{p} production would be much harder to characterize. Hence our choice in favour of a heavy sfermion mass spectrum.

5.2 Anti-proton and γ -ray bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^-$

In this section we discuss how anti-proton and gamma ray data impose generic constraints on the DM pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the DM mass.

5.2.1 Generic bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^-$ from \bar{p}

 W^{\pm} production in space leads to abundant anti-proton production as the W^{\pm} 's decay products hadronise. The flux of anti-protons thus produced by DM annihilations into a pair of W^{\pm} gauge bosons in the MW and collected at Earth is therefore determined by the DM pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- , the DM mass and the DM halo profile. It also depends on the anti-proton propagation parameters which are being considered. Here it is assumed that the DM halo profile is described by an Einasto profile (other choices make a small difference) and the standard three sets of propagation parameters ('MIN', 'MED', 'MAX'), summarized in table 5.1, are considered. The anti-protons fluxes used are given in [265].

In order to constrain the annihilation cross section, the PAMELA data [255] above an anti-proton energy of 10 GeV (to avoid the uncertainty related to solar modulation) will be considered. Both the predicted energy spectrum and the flux depend on the DM mass that is being assumed. For each value $m_{\rm DM}$, the sum of the astrophysical background flux and predicted anti-protons flux originating from DM will be compared with the PAMELA data. Given the uncertainties on the astrophysical background, we will see two different procedures to derive meaningful limits :

	Antiproton parameters			
Model	δ	$\mathcal{K}_0 \; [\mathrm{kpc}^2/\mathrm{Myr}]$	$V_{\rm conv}~[{\rm km/s}]$	$L \; [\mathrm{kpc}]$
MIN	0.85	0.0016	13.5	1
MED	0.70	0.0112	12	4
MAX	0.46	0.0765	5	15

Table 5.1: Propagation parameters for anti-protons in the galactic halo (from [266, 267]). δ and \mathcal{K}_0 are the index and the normalization of the diffusion coefficient, V_{conv} is the velocity of the convective wind and L is the thickness of the diffusive cylinder.

- One can be regarded as aggressive since it assumes a fixed background. For obtaining the corresponding limits (referred to as *fixed background* in the following). The standard flux of astrophysical (secondary) anti-protons from [268] is considered and the DM anti-protons flux is added. The result is then compared with the PAMELA data and a 95% C.L. limit is derived by imposing that the global χ^2 of the background + DM flux does not exceed by more than 4 units the χ^2 of the background only hypothesis.
- The other one is more conservative given that it considers an adjusted background within the uncertainties. For obtaining conservative limits (hereafter referred to as marginalized background), the standard form of the background spectrum predicted is again considered except that now the normalisation of the background spectrum A and the spectral index p are allowed to vary within 40% and ± 0.1 respectively (for each value of the DM mass and pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^-). The standard description of the background spectrum is multiplied by a factor $A (T/T_0)^p$, where T is the anti-proton kinetic energy, $T_0 = 30$ GeV is a pivot energy with 0.6 < A < 1.4 and -0.1 . This point allow to include the uncertainty predicted in [268]. Then the DM contribution is added and the pair of parameters <math>A and p which minimizes the global χ^2 with the PAMELA data for a point in the plane ($\langle \sigma_{ann}v \rangle, m_{\rm DM}$) is determined. The 95% C.L. limit is then imposed by requiring that the marginalized global χ^2 does not exceed 4 units with respect to the null hypothesis (which has been marginalized consistently).

The latter procedure allows to increase the gap between the expected \bar{p} background and the actual PAMELA data which in consequence leaves more space for a possible DM injection of anti-protons and leads to weaker limits on the DM pair annihilation cross section.

The derived constraints are displayed in figure 5.1 for the 'MIN', 'MED' and 'MAX' set of parameters. As expected, the *conservative* limits are slightly less constraining than the *aggressive* ones. The choice of propagation parameters has also a big impact on the type of constraints that can be set : in terms of cross sections, the difference between the 'MIN' and 'MAX' limits exceeds a factor 10.



Figure 5.1: Anti-proton constraints on DM annihilation into W^+W^- , respectively for the 'MIN' (a), 'MED' (b) and 'MAX' (c) propagation parameters. The constraints obtained by the FERMI-LAT collaboration from satellite dwarf galaxies are superimposed. Five benchmark points are also displayed.

To understand more precisely how these constraints work, 5 benchmark points are defined (hereafter referred to as 'A', 'B', 'C', 'D', 'E'), corresponding to different DM masses, cross sections, propagation parameters and constraint procedures. The corresponding fluxes are plotted in figure 5.2. As can be seen, benchmark points 'A' to 'D' correspond to *borderline* scenarios where the total \bar{p} flux (i.e. the sum of the expected flux from DM and astrophysical background) is not significantly exceeding the data. Point 'E', on the other hand, displays how *badly* the data is violated inside the excluded region.

The first apparent feature from figure 5.2 is that one can actually exclude a small excess in anti-protons produced by relatively light DM particles because the PAMELA data set have very small error bars at energies below 100 GeV, hence the strength of the constraints. It is then instructive to compare case 'A' and 'B' : these two scenarios refer to the same DM mass and constraint procedure; they also predict a very similar flux, as can be seen in panel (a) and (b) of figure 5.2, but have a different annihilation cross section. The latter is much larger for 'A' than for 'B'. This is because the propagation scheme was assumed to be 'MIN' for the former and 'MED' for the latter. With the 'MIN' propagation set, the yield of anti-protons is about one order of magnitude smaller than with 'MED' (since the galactic diffusion zone is much smaller in the former case) and therefore the constraint on the annihilation cross section is about one order of magnitude looser than for the 'MED' case. On the other hand the constraint obtained for 'MAX' (which is not shown here) is stronger than for 'MED'.

The comparison between points 'B' and 'C' shows the impact of the constraint procedures. Although both 'B' and 'C' have the same DM mass and propagation scheme, we find that the value of the annihilation cross section that is allowed for 'C' is larger





Figure 5.2: Examples of the fluxes of anti-protons (astrophysical background and DM-produced) compared with the data from the PAMELA experiment for the sample points 'A' to 'E' as defined in figure 5.1. In each panel the assumed parameters (DM mass, annihilation cross section and propagation scheme) are reported.

than for 'B'. The reason is that 'C' corresponds to the scenario in which the limit is obtained by using the *marginalized background* procedure so there is more room for DM while 'B' corresponds to a *fixed background* scenario so the associated constraints are stronger.

Finally, the comparison between 'C' and 'D' enables one to understand why the marginalized background constraints are rather independent of the DM mass, despite the fact that the error bars in the PAMELA data become larger at larger energies. For a large DM mass (case 'D') the \bar{p} flux is shifted towards larger energies and rather negligible at ~ 10 GeV with respect to the astrophysical background; there is thus little room to reduce the background (which alone has to fit the data at low energy) and consequently there is little room left for a DM contribution at large energies. As a result, the bound

remains stringent.

We will then use in the study of the pMSSM the derived limit from the *marginalized background* procedure obtained using the 'MED' set of anti-protons propagation parameters.

5.2.2 Generic bounds on $\sigma_{\text{DM DM}} \rightarrow W^+W^-$ from gamma-rays

In DM scenarios, the W^{\pm} production is associated with gamma-ray emission through (i) the decay and hadronisation of the decay products of the W^{\pm} bosons, (ii) the radiation of a photon from the internal and/or final states associated with DM DM $\rightarrow W^+W^-$ (iii) DM annihilations into $\gamma\gamma$ and γZ (which can be seen as a higher order process based on DM DM $\rightarrow W^+W^-$). The first case leads to a *continuum* spectrum of γ -rays; the second leads to *sharp features* in the γ -ray continuum spectrum and the third to γ -ray *lines*. The resulting fluxes from these processes have to be compared with the gammaray flux measurements from the MW or from other nearby galaxies. Therefore we now look at the current γ -ray constraints derived in the literature (mainly from FERMI-LAT analyses), paying particular attention to that derived from the W^+W^- channel since this is the main focus of our analysis.

5.2.2.1 Continuum

The FERMI-LAT collaboration has recently published two different analyses of the continuum diffuse gamma-ray emission from the Milky Way halo [252, 253]. Since no clear DM signal has been found, these have been used to set upper limits on the DM pair annihilation cross-section into various channels as $b\bar{b}, gg, W^+W^-, e^+e^-, \mu^+\mu^-$ and $\tau^+\tau^-$. However the most stringent limits on the DM annihilation cross section have actually been obtained from another FERMI-LAT analysis based on the diffuse γ -ray emission from dSph galaxies. These DM dominated objects indeed represent a good target for DM searches. In the present analysis we will use the results from [251]. Figure 5.1 shows the comparison between the dSph galaxies limits and the PAMELA anti-proton bounds that were derived in section 5.2.1. Depending on the propagation scheme that has been chosen for the anti-protons, the dSph galaxies γ -ray bounds is somewhat more stringent or looser than the constraints from the anti-proton data. For example, for the 'MED' case and marginalized background, \bar{p} limits become more constraining than γ -ray bounds when $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 290$ GeV. However they are stronger than the γ -ray limits whatever the value of $m_{\rm DM}$ (assuming $m_{\rm DM} > 100$ GeV) for the fixed background procedure. Since nevertheless the \bar{p} and γ -ray limits are basically of the same order of magnitude, we will include both constraints in our study.

5.2.2.2 Internal bremsstrahlung and final state radiation

Gamma rays produced directly as radiation from an internal line or a final state are in general suppressed by the fine structure constant α_{em} . However, for a *t*-channel diagram, the associated cross section can be enhanced when the intermediate particle is almost mass degenerated with the DM. Typically the enhancement factor is about $m_{\rm DM}^2/(M_I^2 - m_{\rm DM}^2)$ where M_I is the mass of the intermediate particle (*i.e.* a chargino for neutralino pair annihilation into a W^{\pm} pair). These processes are model dependent and cannot be constrained generically but they will be included in our γ -ray estimates when we investigate the neutralino pair annihilations into W^+W^- in the pMSSM. Section 5.4.2 will be dedicated to the study of their impact on the pMSSM scenarios considered.

5.2.2.3 Line(s)

Annihilations directly into $\gamma\gamma$ or γZ occur at one-loop level (since DM particles do not couple directly to photons) and are therefore generically suppressed. However they lead to a distinctive signature, namely a mono-energetic gamma-ray line at an energy $E = m_{\rm DM}$ or $E = m_{\rm DM} \left(1 - M_Z^2/(4m_{\rm DM}^2)\right)$ which can be looked for. Since the purpose of this study is to set constraints on the DM properties we will disregard the possible evidences for two gamma-ray lines at 129 and 111 GeV. We only consider the constraints which were reported by the FERMI-LAT collaboration on line searches in the MW [253]. Since the status of these searches is not definite, we made the choice to not include these constraints to perform the scans over the pMSSM parameter space. However we do check that the scenarios which survive the \bar{p} and γ -ray constraints are not killed by these line searches.

5.3 Chargino-neutralino mass degeneracy

Now that we have obtained the maximal value of the DM pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- that is observationally allowed as a function of the DM mass, we can focus on the pMSSM and investigate the impact of this generic limit on the neutralino DM parameter space.

5.3.1 Neutralino pair annihilations into W^+W^-

In a scenario where all the sfermions are very heavy, the dominant neutralino annihilation channels are expected to be mostly into gauge bosons, more specifically into $W^+W^$ pairs. All loop-induced W^{\pm} production diagrams which involve sfermions are expected to be suppressed. Hence the processes which are expected to lead to a significant $W^+W^$ production in the pMSSM only involve charginos and Z boson. The corresponding diagrams are displayed in figure 5.3. Since they correspond to s- and t-channel diagrams, we typically expect resonant or enhanced annihilations when $m_{\chi_1^0} \sim M_Z/2$ or $m_{\chi_1^0} \sim m_{\chi_1^{\pm}}$ (*i.e.* when the neutralino and chargino are mass degenerated). These ultimately enhance the neutralino pair annihilations into $\gamma\gamma$ [269, 270] and γZ [270, 271] through in particular the box diagram displayed in figure 5.3c.

The questions that we want to address in the next subsections are : i) which part of the SUSY parameter space is excluded by the \bar{p} limits and do these limits exclude



Figure 5.3: Dominant neutralino pair annihilation diagrams into W^+W^- , $\gamma \gamma$ and γZ for this analysis, with $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$.

more allowed configurations than the γ -rays bounds ? ii) which values of the neutralinochargino mass degeneracy are actually constrained by astrophysical data ?

5.3.2 Exploring the supersymmetric parameter space

To answer this, we explore the pMSSM parameter space using the same approach based on MCMC as in chapter 4.

Our free parameters and their corresponding range are summarized in table 5.2. These include the soft mass terms associated with the squarks of the third generation (*i.e.* here $m_{\tilde{Q}_3}$ and $m_{\tilde{u}_3}$) and the trilinear coupling A_t . To obtain sfermion masses at the TeV scale, we set all the soft masses to 2 TeV. In addition, we set the other trilinear couplings to 0 TeV and the CP-odd Higgs boson mass to 2 TeV. In this framework, the bino mass M_1 does not exceed 500 GeV; our choice for the other parameters indeed ensures that the neutralinos and charginos are light and the mass splitting between the neutralinos and charginos remains relatively small.

On top of these free parameters, we had to include some nuisance parameters over which we will marginalize [272]. These are related in particular to the quark content of the nucleons (since they have a non-negligible impact on the computation of the DMnucleon scattering cross section as explained in section 3.5.1.1 with the corresponding values in table 3.2) and the top quark mass [211] (since it has an impact on the Higgs sector). All of them are allowed to vary in the range $[N_{\text{exp}} - 3\sigma_{\text{err}}, N_{\text{exp}} + 3\sigma_{\text{err}}]$, with N_{exp} (σ_{err}) the corresponding value (error) as shown in table 5.2. The same scanning method is used for both nuisance and free parameters; the multidimensional parameter space of

Free parameter	Range	Nuisance parameter	Range
M_1	[10, 500] GeV	m_u/m_d	[0.424, 0.682]
M_2	[100, 1000] GeV	m_s/m_d	[16.5, 21.3]
μ	[-2000, 2000] GeV	$\sigma_{\pi N}$	$[29,59] { m MeV}$
aneta	[2, 75]	σ_s	[0,42] MeV
$m_{ ilde{Q}_3}, m_{ ilde{u}_3}$	$[100, 3000] {\rm GeV}$	m_t	[170.5, 175.9] GeV
A_t	[-8000, 8000] GeV		

Table 5.2: Range chosen for the pMSSM free parameters and nuisance parameters.

the model is then

$$\{M_1, M_2, \mu, \tan\beta, m_{\tilde{Q}_3}, m_{\tilde{u}_3}, A_t, m_u/m_d, m_s/m_d, \sigma_{\pi N}, \sigma_s, m_t\}$$

A slight difference with respect to the free parameters is that we will define a likelihood function for the nuisance parameters since we want to vary their values strictly around their bounds at 1σ .

We also require that the lightest Higgs boson mass only varies within the range allowed by the ATLAS and CMS experiments in july 2012 [3, 2] plus a small theoretical error of 1 GeV, namely $m_{h^0} = 125.9 \pm 2.0$ GeV. Nevertheless note that the theoretical uncertainty on the calculation of the lighter scalar Higgs boson in the MSSM can reach 5 GeV as shown in [273]. By precaution, we checked that the scenarios which seemed allowed were compatible with the HiggsBounds-3.8.0 code [274, 275] (even though the most recent LHC results on the Higgs boson [3, 2] are not included in this version). Note that we did not add any requirement about the Higgs boson signal strength to perform the scans.

The neutralino relic density $\Omega_{\chi_1^0}h^2$ is allowed to vary in [1% WMAP7, WMAP7] with $\Omega_{\text{WMAP7}}h^2 = 0.1123 \pm 0.0035$, using WMAP 7-year + BAO + H_0 and the **RECFAST 1.4.2** code [209]. We do not consider smaller values of the relic density as these correspond to DM scenarios with very large values of the annihilation cross section and ultimately overproduce gamma-rays in the galaxy (*i.e.* are excluded) if their relic density is entirely regenerated, see [165].

We did not implement LHC limits on sfermion masses because our requirement of a sfermion spectrum at the TeV scale should ensure that they are satisfied. However updates on direct searches for relatively light stop and sbottom would be useful to implement to further constrain the parameter space.

For each scenario (corresponding to a point in the pMSSM parameter space), we then calculate the total likelihood function as in chapter 4. The likelihood functions associated with each observable and nuisance parameter are defined as follows :

- To m_{h^0} , $\Omega_{\chi_1^0} h^2$ and all nuisance parameters, we associate the likelihood function \mathcal{L}_1 defined in eq. 4.4. The tolerance σ concerning the nuisance parameters is equal to $\sigma_{\rm err}/10$ to prevent too large deviation especially for the strange quark content of the nucleon σ_s which has a large uncertainty.
- As in chapter 4, we use the Gaussian likelihood function \mathcal{L}_2 defined in eq. 4.5 for the $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ observable. This observable is important as it receives a potentially large contribution from chargino/stop loops when either one of these particles is light. This contribution can be compensated by the charged Higgs/top diagram but the latter is however suppressed when the charged Higgs mass is at the TeV scale.
- We also include the likelihood function \mathcal{L}_3 defined in eq. 4.6 for the 2012 XENON100 limits [170] to ensure that the scans do not select too large values of the DM-nucleon scattering cross section. In fact we also associate \mathcal{L}_3 to regions of the parameter space where $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \to W^+ W^-}$ is greater than 10^{-27} cm³/s to render the scan more efficient. As in chapter 4 we note that some experimental measurements are very discrepant with the SM expectations as the example of δa_{μ} . These observables receive additional contributions from particles in the pMSSM but they are too small to explain the observations. Therefore we associate \mathcal{L}_3 to them so that the likelihood is equal to unity if the predictions are much below the measured value.

The set of constraints that we use is summarized in table 5.3.

5.4 Results

We now look at the results of the scans regarding the ID constraints.

5.4.1 Bounds on the NLSP-LSP mass splitting

The first result of the scan is shown in figure 5.4. The neutralino pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the mass degeneracy between the neutralino LSP and the chargino NLSP and in terms of the neutralino composition is displayed.

This figure indicates the neutralino composition which maximises the W^{\pm} production. As can be seen scenarios where $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \to W^+ W^-}$ is the largest and the neutralinochargino mass splitting is the smallest correspond to neutralinos with a very large wino fraction. Large values of both $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \to W^+ W^-}$ and the $\chi_1^0 - \chi_1^{\pm}$ mass splitting correspond to wino-dominated neutralinos but with a non negligible higgsino component. For these two types of wino-dominated configurations the neutralino and chargino mass degeneracy is small enough to make the *t*-channel (chargino) exchange diagram very large. As the wino fraction decreases, the mass splitting becomes larger and the *t*-channel chargino exchange diagram contribution decreases. However it remains large till the higgsino fraction which ensures large values of the $\chi_1^0 - \chi_1^{\pm} - W^{\mp}$ coupling remain significant (*i.e.* dominate over the bino fraction).

Constraint	Value/Range	Tolerance	Likelihood
$m_{h^0} \; (\text{GeV}) \; [3, 2]$	[123.9, 127.9]	0.1	\mathcal{L}_1
$\Omega_{\chi_1^0} h^2 \ [209]$	[0.001123, 0.1123]	0.0035	\mathcal{L}_1
$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma) \times 10^4$	3.55	$\exp: 0.24, 0.09$	\mathcal{L}_2
[213, 218]		th: 0.23	
$\sigma_{\chi_1^0 Xe}^{SI} (pb)$	$(\sigma_N, m_{\rm DM})$ plane	$-\sigma_N(m_{\rm DM})/100$	\mathcal{L}_3
	from [170]		
$\sigma v_{\chi^0_1 \chi^0_1 \to W^+ W^-}$	1	0.01	\mathcal{L}_3
$(10^{-27} \text{ cm}^3/\text{s})$			
$\delta a_{\mu} \times 10^{10} \ [219]$	28.70	-0.287	\mathcal{L}_3
$\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-) \times 10^9 \ [212]$	4.5	-0.045	\mathcal{L}_3
$\Delta \rho$	0.002	-0.0001	\mathcal{L}_3
$R_{B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau}} \left(\frac{\text{pMSSM}}{\text{SM}}\right) \ [220]$	2.219	-2.219×10^{-2}	\mathcal{L}_3
$Z \to \chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \; (\text{MeV})$	1.7	-0.3	\mathcal{L}_3
$\sigma_{e^+e^- ightarrow \chi^0_1\chi^0_{2,3}}$	1	-0.01	\mathcal{L}_3
$\times \mathscr{B}(\chi^0_{2,3} \to Z\chi^0_1) \text{ (pb) [221]}$			

100 5 - The phenomenological MSSM confronting Indirect Detection of Dark Matter

Table 5.3: Constraints imposed in the MCMC, from [210] unless noted otherwise.

In figure 5.5 we show the pair annihilation cross section into γZ (panel (a)) and $\gamma \gamma$ (panel (b)) as a function of the neutralino-chargino mass degeneracy $\Delta m = m_{\chi_1^{\pm}} - m_{\chi_1^{0}}$. Panel (a) shows which values of the neutralino pair annihilation cross section into γZ are excluded by astrophysical data as a function of the neutralino-chargino mass splitting. A similar plot is shown for $\gamma \gamma$ but the colour code now illustrates the relation between the different values of this cross section and the neutralino thermal relic density. As one can see the shape of the scenario distribution for $\gamma \gamma$ and γZ is essentially the same in the ($\sigma v, \Delta m$) plane. However the γZ cross section is approximately 10 times larger than that for $\gamma \gamma$ for every scenario. Hence combining these two figures actually gives an information about the relic density of the scenarios which are excluded by astrophysical data.

In the γZ plot the points excluded by the FERMI-LAT dSph continuum γ -ray data are displayed in yellow. Those correspond, by construction, to scenarios where there is a very large W^{\pm} production (and thus a large contribution to the continuum γ -ray spectrum). The regions which are excluded by the PAMELA data are shown in red. The black points correspond to scenarios excluded by both the PAMELA and the FERMI-LAT data while those in green represent the points allowed by these two types of constraints.



Figure 5.4: Plot of the neutralino pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the chargino-neutralino mass splitting. The colour coding indicates the LSP composition : in blue it is a wino, in green an higgsino, in red a bino and in black we have a mixed LSP.



Figure 5.5: Plots of the neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $\gamma\gamma$ (panel (a)) and into γZ (panel (b)) as a function of the chargino-neutralino mass splitting. In panel (a) the colour coding shows the point in the pMSSM parameter space which are not excluded by ID constraints in green and those which are excluded by FERMI-LAT (yellow), PAMELA (red) or both (black). The freeze-out relic density is displayed in panel (b).

As one can see from the distribution of black points the largest values of the annihilation cross sections into γZ (and therefore W^+W^-) are excluded by both measurements. Since these scenarios correspond to a small (or relatively small) chargino-neutralino mass splitting and thus large values of the *t*-channel chargino exchange diagram, we can conclude that both PAMELA and FERMI-LAT data are relevant to constrain wino-dominated neutralinos. A small number of these configurations is however constrained by only one of the PAMELA or FERMI-LAT dataset but this does not affect the maximal value of the $\chi_1^0 - \chi_1^{\pm}$ mass splitting that can be excluded by using astrophysical considerations.

By inspecting where the neutralino pair annihilations into γZ , $\gamma \gamma$ and W^+W^- are significant in these plots, one also finds that higgsino-dominated scenarios are constrained by both PAMELA and FERMI-LAT data because diagram 5.3a still generates a large W^{\pm} production. In fact, for such an LSP, the annihilation cross section into ZZ also becomes non-negligible compared to that into W^+W^- . Since the expected γ -ray and \bar{p} spectra from W^{\pm} and Z production are very similar, we accounted for them both when we made the comparison with the PAMELA and FERMI-LAT data. Finally the green points which pass all the constraints have a non-negligible bino component. This reduces the chargino exchange diagram contribution and thus enables to decrease the W^{\pm} (and therefore antiproton and γ -ray) production. For these bino-like configurations one expects the stop and sbottom exchange to be relevant, leading to quarks in the final state and possibly (in particular for $b\bar{b}$) an overproduction of gamma-rays. Note however that such process would become non-negligible especially near pseudo-scalar Higgs boson resonances for heavy neutralinos. Since we put m_{A^0} at 2 TeV these scenarios are not expected in this scan.

We then see that it is not easy in the pMSSM to always get a large branching ratio of the neutralino annihilation cross section into W^{\pm} . This characteristic is depicted in figure 5.6 where we show the neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $\gamma\gamma$ as a function of the total annihilation cross section. For panel (a) the colour code corresponds to the fraction of annihilation cross section into W^+W^- and panel (b) represents the neutralino composition. As explained above higgsino LSP gives a non-negligible LSP annihilation into Z bosons which then decreases the W^+W^- branching ratio. Note that some scenarios are characterized by really small annihilation cross section into W^{\pm} down to 10%. These cases correspond to an LSP which is mostly bino and with a non-negligible higgsino component. Panel (c) shows that the lower is the fraction of annihilation cross section into W^+W^- , the higher is the mass splitting Δm . Actually there are characterized by an increasing fraction of annihilation cross section into $t\bar{t}$ which becomes dominant for the largest Δm . However this region in the parameter space corresponds to low cross sections.

We give in figure 5.7 the forecasted SI elastic scattering cross section as a function of the neutralino mass for a Xenon-based experiment. Again in green are the points which are astrophysically allowed, in black the points which are excluded by both PAMELA and FERMI-LAT data and in red or yellow the points which are either excluded by the PAMELA or FERMI-LAT experiments respectively. Clearly one can see that the combination of both the PAMELA and FERMI-LAT astrophysical constraints surpass the latest exclusion limit set by the XENON100 experiment. In fact in general the astrophysical constraints discussed in this chapter even have a stronger exclusion power than the forecasted XENON1T limit, illustrating how important adding astrophysical



Figure 5.6: The neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $\gamma\gamma$ as a function of the total annihilation cross section. The colour code of panel (a) present the fraction of annihilation cross section into W^+W^- whereas panel (b) has the same colour code as in figure 5.4. Panel (c) shows the mass splitting Δm as colour code.

knowledge is in this specific scenario.

Even though many configurations are excluded by the PAMELA and FERMI-LAT data, we do find scenarios which are neither excluded by the XENON100 2012 limit nor by the astrophysical constraints discussed in this chapter. Hence the XENON100 experiment could still discover evidence for relatively light pMSSM neutralinos ($m_{\chi_1^0} < 500 \text{ GeV}$) if these particles indeed exist. We note nevertheless that in [276], a constraint as strong as the XENON100 2012 limit was obtained by using the XENON100 2011 data and a Bayesian analysis where the full information available in the (S_1, S_2) scintillation plane was exploited. It is therefore likely that the XENON100 experiment can improve



Figure 5.7: SI DM-nucleon cross section as a function of the DM mass together with the XENON 2012 limit. Same colour code as in figure 5.5a.

its present exclusion limit with the 2012 data and rule out some of the configurations shown here in green. Note that the scan gives mainly LSP mass above 100 GeV because of the requirement imposed $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \to W^+ W^-} > 10^{-27} \text{ cm}^3/\text{s}$. Moreover the three-body processes involving an off-shell W boson in the DM annihilation are not taken into account in the **micrOMEGAs** version used in this work¹. Then the diagram 5.3b does not contribute here to the neutralino pair annihilation.

Finally, in figure 5.8, we show the annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the neutralino mass and superimpose the PAMELA (for the 'MED' set of propagation parameters and *marginalized background*, *i.e.* the conservative limits) and FERMI-LAT limits (red and yellow lines respectively). The colour code indicates the different values of the neutralino-chargino mass splitting. As can be seen from this plot, the PAMELA and FERMI-LAT constraints are actually complementary. The FERMI-LAT limit excludes more configurations below 300 GeV than the PAMELA bound but it assumes that the observations are independent of the DM energy distribution in dSph galaxies, which can be debated [277, 278]. In contrast, the anti-proton limit excludes a bit more configurations than the gamma-rays above 300 GeV. This is reassuring since it is set by observations within the galaxy but the drawback is that it relies on a specific choice of propagation parameters and knowledge of astrophysical sources. In any case, the fact that both limits exclude similar configurations enables us to validate the exclusion region that we found.

Hence the main information that one can read from this plot, combined with that displayed in figures 5.4 and 5.5, is that :

• one can rule out neutralino-chargino mass splitting up to ~ 13 GeV if $m_{\chi_1^0} \lesssim 150$ GeV and the neutralino is at 80% a mixture of wino and higgsino;

¹Note that the latest micrOMEGAs version [94] allows to include three- and four-body final states involving one or two off-shell W or Z gauge bosons in the DM observable calculations.



Figure 5.8: Annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the neutralino DM mass. The chargino NLSP-neutralino LSP mass splitting is shown as colour code.

• one can exclude all scenarios in which the 80% wino LSP-chargino mass difference is smaller than 0.25 GeV for $m_{\chi_1^0} < 500$ GeV, thanks to both PAMELA and FERMI-LAT data.

5.4.2 Final state radiation in the pMSSM

We also analysed the impact of final state radiations on γ -ray constraints. Indeed, in principle, the regime of quasi-degeneracy is the one where it can be most important [279] and, since we decided to only use the constraints from [251], it is important to check that it is a good choice. We explicitly computed using the micrOMEGAs code the γ -ray spectrum including photon radiation for a number of cases from the MCMC scans² and we show two examples in figure 5.9. The blue plain (dark blue dashed) lines show the γ -ray spectrum with (without) photon radiation while as an example we plot the \bar{p} spectrum in red. For small DM masses as shown in panel (a) the modification to the γ -ray spectrum is generally too small to have an effect : the two blue curves are merged. On the other hand, for large DM masses as shown in panel (b), the inclusion of final state radiation starts being noticeable. However, it creates a peak at an energy fraction *ca.* 1 which falls beyond the range of energies on which FERMI dwarf bounds are based.

 $^{^{2}}$ Note obviously that we always considered photon radiation for the DM annihilation cross section calculations in the scans.



Figure 5.9: Photon and anti-proton distributions as a function of the energy fraction $x = E/m_{\chi_1^0}$. The blue plain (dark blue dashed) lines show the γ -ray spectrum with (without) photon radiation while the red lines show the \bar{p} spectrum. Panel (a) presents a pMSSM case with a light DM candidate ($m_{\chi_1^0} \approx 158 \text{ GeV}$) which is excluded by ID : $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \to W^+ W^-} \gg \sigma v_{\text{Fermi}}$ for this $m_{\chi_1^0}$. Panel (b) shows the spectrum obtained with a large DM mass ($m_{\chi_1^0} \approx 400 \text{ GeV}$) which is just above the ID limits considered here.

5.4.3 130 GeV line

As a side comment regarding the so-called $130 \ GeV \ line$: we do find scenarios where $\sigma v_{\chi^0_1 \chi^0_2 \to \gamma \gamma} \simeq 10^{-27} \text{ cm}^3/\text{s}$, which is the value of the cross section that is required to explain the feature in the spectrum. These configurations predict a neutralinochargino mass splitting greater than ~ 0.2 GeV. However none of the points corresponding to neutralinos with a mass of about 130 GeV are allowed by the PAMELA and the FERMI-LAT data as displayed in figure 5.10. Hence, our results suggest that one cannot explain the 130 GeV line in our simplified version of the pMSSM, which is in agreement with [280, 281]. Indeed, due to the anti-proton limit, scenarios with $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0\chi_1^0\to\gamma\gamma}\simeq 10^{-27} \text{ cm}^3/\text{s}$ rather correspond to neutralinos with a mass of about 450 GeV. In fact, for the same reason, all allowed points with $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0\chi_1^0\to\gamma\gamma} > 2 \times 10^{-28} \text{ cm}^3/\text{s}$ correspond to configurations where $m_{\chi_1^0} > 250$ GeV. Finally note that in the pMSSM the existence of 130 GeV neutralinos should give rise to a second γ -ray line at ~ 111 GeV (on top of that at 130 GeV), corresponding to the neutralino pair annihilation into γZ . Given our prediction for γZ and $\gamma \gamma$, the flux associated with this 111 GeV line should be about ten times larger than that corresponding to the 130 GeV line, which is in conflict with the observations.



Figure 5.10: The neutralino pair annihilation cross section into $\gamma\gamma$ as a function of the LSP mass. The colour coding shows the points in the pMSSM parameter space which are not excluded by ID constraints in green and those which are excluded by FERMI-LAT (yellow), PAMELA (red) or both (black).

5.4.4 The case of no DM regeneration



Figure 5.11: Plot of the rescaled neutralino pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- as a function of the chargino-neutralino mass splitting in the scan where no DM regeneration is assumed. Same colour code as in figure 5.4.

In this study we have assumed that the relic density was regenerated at 100 % for candidates with a total annihilation cross section much larger than the *thermal* one (*i.e.* with a suppressed freeze-out relic density). This way we could ensure a fair comparison between theoretical expectations and the limits set by the FERMI-LAT and XENON100 experiments. Looking at figure 5.5b one sees that invoking regeneration

is needed to obtain a DM relic density in agreement with the WMAP values for all scenarios with a chargino-neutralino mass splitting smaller than³ ~ 20 GeV. Assuming that all these candidates have the correct relic density, we could indeed exclude scenarios with a neutralino-chargino mass splitting up to ~ 10 GeV and values of $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \to \gamma Z}$ down to 10^{-28} cm³/s (see figure 5.5a), corresponding to $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \to W^+ W^-} > 10^{-25}$ cm³/s and $\Omega h^2 \ll 0.06$. However, relaxing the regeneration assumption would completely relax the exclusion regions and therefore the bound on the mass splitting. It is what is presented in figure 5.11. This plot comes from a scan where the neutralino LSP is allowed to constitute only a fraction of the total DM density. The rescaling parameter is defined as $\xi = \Omega_{\chi_1^0} / \Omega_{\text{WMAP,1}\sigma}$, where we take the lower 1σ bound from WMAP7, namely $\Omega_{\text{WMAP,1}\sigma}h^2 = 0.1088$. As shown the rescaled neutralino pair annihilation cross section into W^+W^- is far below the FERMI-LAT and PAMELA limits, between 10^{-27} cm³/s and 10^{-26} cm³/s : all points are safe from current ID constraints. However in this scenario the DM problem is not solved.

5.5 Conclusions

In this chapter we examined the constraints on the DMDM $\rightarrow W^+W^-$ annihilation cross section by using the PAMELA anti-proton data and we analysed the choice of propagation parameters and uncertainties on the astrophysical background. These results are independent of the so-called PAMELA positron excess and are obtained for two different (fixed vs marginalized) choices of the background spectrum.

We then compared these bounds with the most stringent gamma-ray limits which have been derived using the FERMI-LAT measurements of the gamma-ray continuum spectrum from dSph galaxies, for the same DM annihilation channel and DM mass range. We found that the anti-proton constraints appear to be very competitive with the gamma-ray bounds. More precisely, choosing the 'MED' propagation scheme, the \bar{p} constraints are slightly weaker than the γ -ray ones when $m_{\rm DM} \leq 300$ GeV and slightly stronger for $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 300$ GeV. On the other hand, the anti-proton constraints are stronger if we assume the 'MAX' set of propagation parameters and less powerful if we assume the 'MIN' set. We also recall that the gamma ray limits themselves may be subject to some uncertainties related to the modelling of the DM profile in dSph galaxies.

Finally we applied as fiducial limits the FERMI dwarf bounds and the \bar{p} constraints relative to 'MED' and the marginalized astrophysical background to the neutralino LSP in a simplified version of the pMSSM, where we set all the sfermion masses (apart from that of the third generation) to the TeV scale. We found that the fiducial PAMELA antiproton and FERMI-LAT gamma-ray limits rule out small but non negligible neutralinochargino mass splittings. In particular for $m_{\chi_1^0} \lesssim 150$ GeV, one can rule out mass splittings up to 13 GeV. Our results also suggest that pure wino or wino-like neutralinos

³For larger values of the mass splitting, no regeneration assumption is required but the annihilation cross sections into $\gamma\gamma$ and γZ are strongly suppressed. In particular $\sigma v_{\chi_1^0\chi_1^0\to\gamma\gamma}$ is much below 10^{-29} cm³/s.

are excluded if they are lighter than 450 GeV. Overall, this limit surpasses the bounds that can be set by using the XENON100 data and even in fact the projected XENON1T limit.

Note that the main difference of this MCMC study comparing to that of the paper [250] is that no significant $\chi_1^0 \chi_1^0 \rightarrow b\bar{b}$ annihilation cross section is found. The reason is that we decided here to put the CP-odd Higgs boson mass at 2 TeV which then exclude the possibility to have an enhancement of the $b\bar{b}$ final state due to the *s*-channel pseudo-scalar Higgs boson exchange. This has also the consequence to avoid some scenarios with a bino-wino LSP and a mass splitting around 20 GeV which could be probe by ID, hence the lower bound of 13 GeV found here.

Hence from this work, we conclude that present ID data already enable one to exclude regions of the parameter space where the neutralino-chargino mass splitting is small but non-negligible. Since these regions are difficult to probe directly at the LHC, these findings show that FERMI-LAT and PAMELA data constitute modern tools to explore the supersymmetric parameter space and even beat LHC (and also in fact DD) searches on their own territory even though, on the negative side, they assume a regeneration of the relic density for neutralinos with a very large annihilation cross section.

6

Direct SUSY searches at LHC and a singlet extension of the MSSM

Contents

6.1 G	bing beyond the minimal supersymmetric scenario \ldots . 112
6.1.	1 The μ -problem
6.1.	2 MSSM limitations
6.1.	3 The Next-to-MSSM 113
6.2 Pi	revious scans on the NMSSM parameter space \ldots 115
6.3 Sc	uarks and gluinos searches at the LHC \ldots \ldots \ldots 115
6.3.	1 Relevant NMSSM region in light of ATLAS jets + E_T searches 116
6.3.	2 Light squark masses $\ldots \ldots 116$
6.4 Hi	ggs boson signal strength with light LSP $\ldots \ldots \ldots 119$
6.5 TI	ne case of heavy LSP
6.6 Co	onclusions $\ldots \ldots 123$

6.1 Going beyond the minimal supersymmetric scenario

As shown in the previous chapters the MSSM can solve several problems encountered in particle physics and cosmology. Nevertheless this minimal version of SUSY has some drawbacks.

6.1.1 The μ -problem

As explained in chapter 3, two Higgs $SU(2)_L$ -doublets have to be defined in a supersymmetric extension of the SM. As we saw in eq. 3.29 the superpotential of the MSSM contains a mass term for H_u and H_d , the μ term. Since this parameter is SUSY preserving, *natural* values are $\mu = 0$ or very large, *e.g.* $\mu \sim M_{Pl}$. With the EWSB, the minimization condition of the MSSM potential allows to determine M_Z^2 and $\tan \beta$ from the MSSM Lagrangian parameters $|\mu|^2$, b, $m_{H_u}^2$ and $m_{H_d}^2$ with the relations :

$$\sin 2\beta = \frac{2b}{m_{H_u}^2 + m_{H_d}^2 + 2|\mu|^2},$$

$$M_Z^2 = \frac{|m_{H_d}^2 - m_{H_u}^2|}{\sqrt{1 - \sin^2 2\beta}} - m_{H_u}^2 - m_{H_d}^2 - 2|\mu|^2.$$
(6.1)

It follows that if we do not want to consider a fine-tuned cancellation to obtain the expected Z boson mass, the supersymmetric mass term squared ought to be at most within $(10 - 100) \times M_Z^2$. This is the case for the SUSY breaking parameters $b, m_{H_u}^2$ and $m_{H_d}^2$, but as said above it was not expected for the μ term. Moreover $\mu = 0$ is not compatible with the limits on the chargino mass and the mass matrix in eq. 3.41 which imply that $\mu \gtrsim 100$ GeV. The fact that the MSSM does not account for a μ term around the EW scale is called the μ -problem [282].

6.1.2 MSSM limitations

Besides this theoretical problem, some experimental results can be difficult to explain within the MSSM.

As we saw at the end of section 3.4.2 and in chapter 4, the simplest scenarios of the MSSM have difficulties to generate the expected mass for the SM-like Higgs boson because its tree-level value is too low. However it is still possible in the MSSM to get $m_{h^0} \sim 125$ GeV, but it requires appreciable fine-tuning [283].

Non-standard signal strength in some Higgs decay channels are difficult to explain in the MSSM. As an example, the ATLAS colaboration reported in early 2012 an excess at 2.8σ in the $h^0 \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$ decay channel, consistent with a Higgs boson mass $m_{h^0} = 126$ GeV [284]. This signal was larger than expected from a SM Higgs boson (with a signal strength¹ $\sigma/\sigma_{\rm SM} = 2 \pm 0.8$). An excess in the $\gamma\gamma$ channel was also reported by the CMS

¹However as noted in table 1.2 this excess is now less pronounced.

experiment [285] but at a slightly lower mass $m_{h^0} = 124$ GeV. Assuming that the Higgs boson is produced by gluon fusion, we can define the signal strength by the ratio

$$R_{ggXX} = \frac{\sigma(gg \to h^0)_{\rm BSM} \mathscr{B}(h^0 \to XX)_{\rm BSM}}{\sigma(gg \to h^0)_{\rm SM} \mathscr{B}(h^0 \to XX)_{\rm SM}},\tag{6.2}$$

where here we are interested on $X = \gamma$. It is generally expected that, after applying other constraints on the MSSM, $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ is at most as large as unity [286, 287, 288] except in a corner of the parameter space where heavily mixed staus can lead to an increase in the $h^0 \to \gamma\gamma$ partial decay width [289].

As shown in chapters 4 and 5 the lightest neutralino can be a viable DM candidate in the MSSM. However if the signals in DD experiments presented in section 3.5.1.1, indicative of a light DM *i.e.* below *ca.* 15 GeV, are confirmed it will be difficult to explain them within the MSSM and we would need to go beyond the minimal model. Indeed such a neutralino is strongly constrained because it leads to too much DM.

6.1.3 The Next-to-MSSM

To solve the μ -problem, a simple method consists in generating an effective μ term in a similar way that the generation of quark and lepton masses. A Yukawa coupling λ of H_u and H_d to a new scalar field S is added, and the VEV of S,

$$\langle S \rangle = \frac{v_s}{\sqrt{2}},\tag{6.3}$$

which is induced by new soft SUSY breaking terms, is of the order of the EW scale. Given that the μ term of the MSSM carries no SM gauge symmetry quantum numbers, the new scalar field has to be a singlet of $SU(3)_c \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$. Since we are in SUSY, we define this new field in a new chiral supermultiplet **S**; then the complex scalar field S is complemented by a fermionic partner, the singlino \tilde{S} . The MSSM superpotential is thus modified as

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{MSSM}} \to \mathcal{W}_{\text{MSSM}}|_{\mu=0} + \lambda S H_u H_d,$$
(6.4)

and the effective μ term reads

$$\mu_{\rm eff} = \lambda \frac{v_s}{\sqrt{2}}.\tag{6.5}$$

However the introduction of the singlet supermultiplet has the drawback to add an additional U(1) (PQ) global symmetry which gives, as we saw in section 2.7, an axion. It results that experimental limits on axion searches allow rather small values of λ , namely $|\lambda| < 10^{-7}$. In order to get an effective μ term around the EW scale we then need to fine-tune $\langle S \rangle$. To solve this we introduce an additional parameter κ which breaks the PQ symmetry through a cubic self-coupling term $\frac{1}{3}\kappa S^3$: it is in this framework that the NMSSM is defined (see *e.g.* [290, 291] for reviews). In the literature, the NMSSM model which is mostly considered is the one which has the minimal number of new parameters to solve the μ -problem. Its superpotential is defined as

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{NMSSM}} = \mathcal{W}_{\text{MSSM}}|_{\mu=0} + \lambda S H_u H_d + \frac{1}{3} \kappa S^3.$$
(6.6)

The SSB Lagrangian of the NMSSM is

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{NMSSM}}^{\text{soft}} = \mathscr{L}_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{soft}}|_{b=0} - m_S^2|S|^2 - (\lambda A_\lambda S H_u H_d + \frac{1}{3}\kappa A_\kappa S^3 + \text{h.c.}), \qquad (6.7)$$

with two trilinear couplings added, A_{λ} and A_{κ} , and the singlet mass term m_s .

The addition of a complex scalar field leads to a different Higgs sector with respect to the MSSM. The NMSSM contains seven physical Higgs scalars : two charged Higgs bosons H^{\pm} as in the MSSM but three CP-even Higgs bosons $h_i, i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and two CPodd Higgs bosons $a_i, i \in \{1, 2\}$. Moreover the SM Higgs boson mass gets a pure NMSSM positive contribution which then improves the possibility to get a SM-like Higgs boson around 125 GeV. If h_1 is this one its tree-level mass squared upper bound reads

$$m_{h_1}^2 \lesssim M_Z^2 \cos^2 2\beta + \frac{\lambda^2}{2} v^2 \sin^2 2\beta.$$
 (6.8)

The new contribution is largest for large λ and small tan β . Note also that important doublet-singlet mixing can occurs in the Higgs sector. This leads to specific NMSSM features as we will see in sections 6.4 and 6.5.

Another point to highlight in the NMSSM is that a new field enters in the neutralino sector, the singlino \tilde{S} . Therefore the neutralino mass matrix defined in section 3.4.4.2 is modified here. In the basis $\psi^0 = (\tilde{B}, \tilde{W}^3, \tilde{H}_d^0, \tilde{H}_u^0, \tilde{S})$ the neutralino mass matrix is given by

$$\mathbf{M}_{\chi^{0}} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1} & 0 & -M_{Z}c_{\beta}s_{W} & M_{Z}s_{\beta}s_{W} & 0\\ 0 & M_{2} & M_{Z}c_{\beta}c_{W} & -M_{Z}s_{\beta}c_{W} & 0\\ -M_{Z}c_{\beta}s_{W} & M_{Z}c_{\beta}c_{W} & 0 & -\mu_{\text{eff}} & -\lambda\frac{v_{u}}{\sqrt{2}}\\ M_{Z}s_{\beta}s_{W} & -M_{Z}s_{\beta}c_{W} & -\mu_{\text{eff}} & 0 & -\lambda\frac{v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}}\\ 0 & 0 & -\lambda\frac{v_{u}}{\sqrt{2}} & -\lambda\frac{v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{2\kappa\mu_{\text{eff}}}{\lambda} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.9)

Its diagonalisation by a 5×5 unitary matrix \mathbf{Z}_n gives the neutralino mass eigenstates :

$$\chi_i^0 = Z_{nij} \psi_j^0, \quad i,j \in \{1,2,3,4,5\}.$$
 (6.10)

Because of its singlet nature the singlino can be very light, hence providing a potential light DM candidate. Nevertheless, scenarios with such a DM candidate are strongly constrained by Indirect Detection and Direct Detection of DM [217, 292, 293]. Keeping the scenarios that fulfill DM constraints, we could check whether pure NMSSM signatures with such a DM candidate can be probed at the LHC. This is what we will see in section 6.3.

The work that will be presented in the next sections constitutes a part of the article [294]. Section 6.3 contains additional material.

6.2 Previous scans on the NMSSM parameter space

In order to make sure that the scenarios that we consider are all relevant, the analysis that we will show is based on [217, 292] in which the NMSSM parameter space was explored

in light of particle physics and astroparticle physics constraints. In these studies, based on MCMC analyses, the LSP neutralino was required to be relatively light (*i.e.* with a mass below 15 GeV) motivated by hints of a signal in DD experiments [172, 173, 295]. It was also required that the LSP relic density does not exceed the WMAP5 observed value $\Omega_{\text{WMAP5}}h^2 = 0.1131 \pm 0.0034$ [296], but it can be much lower than this, hence calling for another type of particles to solve the DM problem. Limits from *B*-physics, δa_{μ} , as well as LEP and Tevatron limits on the Higgs boson and SUSY particles were also taken into account. LHC limits on the Higgs sector computed with NMSSMTools [297] were also included. Additional constraints such as DD limits from XENON100 [246], γ -rays from dSph galaxies probed by Fermi-LAT [298] and the radio emission in the MW and in galaxy clusters [299, 300] were superimposed on the parameter space selected by the MCMC.



Figure 6.1: LSP mass *vs.* the mass of the lightest CP-even (CP-odd) Higgs boson, in panel (a) (panel (b)) for the light LSP scenario.

Since neutralinos lighter than 15 GeV can either be binos or singlinos, the easiest way to ensure significant annihilations is through resonant exchange of a light scalar or pseudoscalar Higgs boson. Hence scenarios with light singlet-like a_1 or h_1 , namely $m_{h_1,a_1} < 30$ GeV, are preferred as shown in figure 6.1. However, when the neutralino mass is large enough, annihilation mechanisms through Z-exchange or light sleptons can also be efficient and a very light Higgs boson singlet is no longer important.

6.3 Squarks and gluinos searches at the LHC

To make sure that SUSY searches at the LHC does not exclude these interesting configurations, we decided to look at the LHC limits on sparticles. We took into account the exclusion limit coming from the ATLAS 1.04 fb^{-1} search for squarks and gluinos via jets and missing transverse momentum [301]. For each relevant SUSY point, namely in the range which is excluded by this search in simplified SUSY models with first and second
generation squarks lighter than ~ 0.6 TeV when the gluinos are much more heavy and gluinos lighter than ~ 0.5 TeV for heavy squarks, signal events were generated² using the Monte Carlo event generator Herwig++ 2.5.1 [303, 304]. Experimental cuts of each search channel were then applied using RIVET 1.5.2 [305]. Then, the ATLAS jets and missing E_T searches at 1.04 fb⁻¹ which are included [306] in the RIVET package are used to set constraints on the NMSSM scenarios considered. Of course current limits are much more stronger with coloured sparticles possibly excluded up to 1.5 TeV [307] and could probe a larger part of our interesting points.

6.3.1 Relevant NMSSM region in light of ATLAS jets + E_T searches

Analysing the mass of the squarks and gluinos of the interesting NMSSM configurations, we found one region of the parameter space where the ATLAS limits on coloured sparticles could be relevant : it is characterized by squarks in the range [0.3 - 1.1] TeV and gluino masses around 5.3 - 5.5 TeV.

Using the tools described above we can extract for each NMSSM point the final production cross section in the different signal regions of the jets + E_T searches in [301], namely the $\geq two$ -jets, $\geq three$ -jets, $\geq four$ -jets with $m_{\text{eff}}^3 > 0.5$ TeV, $\geq four$ -jets with $m_{\text{eff}} > 1$ TeV and the high mass (stringent requirements on the transverse momentum and m_{eff}) channels. We then compare the results to the excluded values at 2σ in each signal region given in [301].

6.3.2 Light squark masses

This region with light squarks is displayed in the panel (a) of figure 6.2. Panel (b) of figure 6.2 illustrates the most sensitive signal regions. The exclusion limits at 2σ are respectively 22 fb for the cross section in the $\geq two-jets$ channel and 25 fb for the cross section in the *three-jets* channel. We are able to exclude three points in this region. What is striking when we look at figure 6.2a is that these excluded points, plotted in red, are not those corresponding to the lightest squarks. To understand the reason of this unusual feature we must look at the characteristics of the LSP in these scenarios. We recall that the limit of $m_{\tilde{q}} \sim 0.6$ TeV is obtained in MSSM scenarios with large branching ratios of gluinos and squarks into jets and the neutralino LSP, mostly bino.

²Note that the matrix elements used by all event generators for the hard production of two SUSY particles are accurate only to leading order in perturbative QCD. It is therefore desirable to supplement the resulting signal cross-section with an NLO K-factor for the production process, obtained in a separate calculation. In the MSSM, Prospino [302] is commonly used; unfortunately for the NMSSM there is no automated calculation of NLO cross-sections publicly available. Exclusion calculated without the K-factor ($\mathcal{O}(1-3)$ in the MSSM) is therefore slightly conservative.

³As defined in [301], m_{eff} is the sum of the missing transverse energy and the magnitudes of the transverse momenta of the two, three or four highest transverse momentum jets used to define the signal region.



Figure 6.2: Representation of the points in the plane $(m_{\text{squark}}, m_{\text{gluino}})$ (panel (a)) and in the plane (\geq three-jets, \geq two-jets) (panel (b)). In panel (a) the three excluded points are plotted in red. The colour coding in panel (b) corresponds to the bino component of the LSP neutralino in each scenarios : red points have a bino-like LSP whereas blue points have a singlino-like LSP. The exclusion zone ($\sigma_{2i} > 22$ fb, $\sigma_{3i} > 25$ fb) is shaded.

Two of the excluded points can be easily understood. They correspond to the points only excluded by the $\geq two-jets$ channel limit as shown in figure 6.2b. Actually, their main characteristic is that the LSP is bino-like. Thus the usual $\tilde{q} \rightarrow q\chi_1^0$ decay takes place and the familiar jets + missing E_T exclusion is observed for $m_{\tilde{q}} \sim 0.6$ TeV.



Figure 6.3: The squark mass *vs.* the most sensitive signal region for scenarios with bino-like LSP. The grey zone corresponds to the excluded region and the two excluded points are plotted in red.

This is confirmed by figure 6.3 which only plots the bino-like cases of figure 6.2b : these two points are characterized by the lowest squark masses, then with the highest acceptance in the $\geq two-jets$ channel.



Figure 6.4: Points in the plane $(m_{\text{squark}}, m_{\text{gluino}})$ where the colour coding is the same as in figure 6.2b.

We may ask why points with squarks down to 0.3 TeV are allowed in figure 6.2a. The colour code in figure 6.4 gives the key to answer to that. In red we have points with a bino-like LSP and in blue a singlino-like LSP. We clearly see that all points with squarks below 0.6 TeV contain singlino-like LSP. When the LSP is purely singlino, the squarks and gluinos cannot decay to this LSP directly but must do via an intermediate particle, frequently the second-lightest neutralino as illustrated in figure 6.5a. As noted in [308] this reduces the acceptance into jets + missing E_T search channels, as the extra step reduces the missing E_T and may result in leptons⁴. Then these limits are not so efficient for singlino-like LSP as shown in figure 6.5b.

It is also interesting to note that the relative acceptance into different search channels can help to distinguish a bino-like LSP from a singlino-like LSP : the latter produces a higher average number of jets in the cascade as illustrated in figure 6.2b. The graph also shows the low level of exclusion of singlino-like LSP points for the reasons discussed above. The bulk of bino-like LSP points is not excluded simply because squarks are too heavy and out of reach.

However figure 6.5b presents also an interesting exception since one point with singlino-like LSP and squark masses above 0.5 TeV is excluded by this ATLAS limits. This point is described in figure 6.6. In this case we see that the lightest pseudoscalar Higgs boson is really light : $m_{a_1} \simeq 3$ GeV. Thus the bino-like χ_2^0 decays into the singlino-like LSP plus a_1 . This explain why this point is excluded : since this pseudoscalar Higgs boson has a mass below the $b\bar{b}$ and $\tau^+\tau^-$ pair thresholds it decays fully invisibly, then giving large missing E_T .

⁴SUSY searches with leptons would have in fact greater sensitivity but they do not compensate for the loss of sensitivity in the 0-lepton search [308].



Figure 6.5: The case of singlino-like LSP : panel (a) shows the branching ratios and masses of supersymmetric particles and Higgs bosons in the case of a non-excluded point with singlino-like LSP, where we restrict ourselves to sparticles and Higgs bosons below 0.5 TeV. The darker the dotted arrow the higher the corresponding branching ratio. Panel (b) represents the squark mass *vs.* the best sensitive signal region for scenarios with singlino-like LSP. The grey zone correspond to the excluded region and one excluded point is plotted in red.



Figure 6.6: Branching ratios and masses of supersymmetric particles and Higgs bosons in the case of the excluded point with singlino-like LSP. Here we restrict ourselves to sparticles and Higgs bosons below 0.7 TeV.

6.4 Higgs boson signal strength with light LSP

For a model to be compatible with the data, it is required that the SM-like Higgs boson be in the observed mass range (say [122-128] GeV) and the signal strength be consistent



Figure 6.7: Plots in the plane (m_{h_2}, m_{h_1}) (panel (a)) and (m_{a_1}, m_{h_1}) (panel (b)). Red points are ruled out either by HiggsBounds-3.6.1beta constraints or the ATLAS 1fb⁻¹ jets and missing E_T SUSY search. Green points have no Higgs boson with a mass in 122 - 128 GeV, blue points have a Higgs boson $(h_1 \text{ and/or } h_2)$ within this mass range, and black points have such a Higgs boson with $R_{qq\gamma\gamma} > 0.4$.

with the data. As a criteria for $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$, we choose a 2σ error bar around the central value determined by ATLAS [284], thus $0.4 < R_{gg\gamma\gamma} < 3.6$. This is also compatible with the CMS results and the SM expectations (where $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}^{\rm SM} \equiv 1$).

As illustrated in figure 6.1 and highlighted by figure 6.7a, h_1 is typically much below the EW scale, thus with a large singlet component, when h_2 is SM-like. When h_2 is much heavier than 125 GeV, h_1 is SM-like (reaching at most up to ~ 122 GeV) and the pseudoscalar a_1 is basically a light singlet, see figure 6.7b. It is nevertheless possible for both scalars to be heavily mixed and have a mass around 100-130 GeV (in this case a_1 has to be light). In figure 6.7 blue and black points show the scenarios with at least one of the scalars within the range preferred by ATLAS and CMS. As can be seen, this is generally h_2 since m_{h_1} barely exceeds 122 GeV. Note that this do not take into account theoretical uncertainties that can reach a few GeV's.

The predictions for $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ as a function of the h_2 mass are displayed in figure 6.8a. We only display the region where this channel is relevant, that is when $m_{h_2} < 150$ GeV. We clearly note that all the configurations that were selected by the MCMC have $R_{gg\gamma\gamma} < 1$. An explanation is that, although h_2 couplings are usually SM-like, large suppressions in $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ are possible because the width of the Higgs is enhanced by many new nonstandard decay channels [309]. In particular, h_2 can decay into two neutralinos, two



Figure 6.8: $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ as a function of the mass of h_2 (panel (a)) and as a function of new BSM decays. Same colour code as in figure 6.7.

light scalar Higgs bosons (h_1) or two light pseudoscalar Higgs bosons (a_1) which reduces significantly the branching ratio into two photons.

In figure 6.8a, all the points which do not satisfy either the HiggsBounds-3.6.1beta limits or the SUSY searches in jets plus missing E_T are coloured in red. As mentioned above very few of these points are excluded by SUSY searches. The points which fall within the Higgs boson observed mass range are highlighted in blue. Scenarios where the strength of the signal in $\gamma\gamma$ is also compatible with the 2σ range reported by ATLAS $(R_{gg\gamma\gamma} > 0.4)$ are represented by black squares.

The effect of these non-standard decays on the signal strength is shown in figure 6.8b. Clearly, too large branching ratios into non-standard modes such as $\chi_i^0 \chi_j^0$ $(i, j = 1, 2), h_1 h_1$ and $a_1 a_1$ would render the two-photon mode invisible or suppressed with respect to the SM prediction [309]. In fact, in order for the signal strength $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ to be compatible with $R_{gg\gamma\gamma} > 0.4$, the branching ratio $\mathscr{B}(h_2 \to \text{invisible})$ must be lower than $\sim 60\%$.

The existence of decay modes such as $h_2 \rightarrow h_1 h_1$ or $a_1 a_1$, with the singlet Higgs boson further decaying into SM particles remains nevertheless interesting because such modes give a distinctive signature which could be searched for at LHC and would constitute evidence for NP if they are found. Extraction of this signal from background via jet substructure techniques has been studied for $h \rightarrow 2a \rightarrow 4\tau$ in [310], $h \rightarrow 2a \rightarrow \tau^+ \tau^- \mu^+ \mu^-$ in [311], and $h \rightarrow 2a \rightarrow 4g$ (less relevant for SUSY due to $\tan \beta$ suppression) in [312, 313]. These decays with an intermediate scalar (h_1) instead of an intermediate pseudoscalar (a_1) give the same signal.

6.5 The case of heavy LSP

As a side comment note that the analyses were repeated for another MCMC scan in which there is no $m_{\chi_1^0} < 15$ GeV requirement. Event though this study encompass all LSP masses, a separate analysis with a prior on the neutralino mass was needed to ensure a complete coverage of the parameter space of the $m_{\chi_1^0} < 15$ GeV scenarios. Then as opposed to the previous case with a light neutralino the Higgs boson in the mass region preferred by the LHC is a SM-like h_1 . Indeed, without very light neutralinos, a very light singlet sector is not needed for resonant annihilations. Thus the associated values for $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ are naturally of order unity (see figure 6.9a). Nevertheless cases where $R_{gg\gamma\gamma} < 0.4$ are possible, when invisible decay modes (such as $h_1 \to \chi_1^0 \chi_1^0$ or $h_1 \to a_1 a_1$) are kinematically accessible.

 h_2 masses extend over a wide range (all the way to several TeV's) and include some points in the mass region preferred by the LHC. The values of $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ for h_2 are displayed in figure 6.9b for the range of masses where the two-photon search mode is relevant. In this region the signal strength reaches values as high as $R_{gg\gamma\gamma} = 2$. This enhancement with respect to the SM expectations is found when h_2 has some singlet component and a suppressed partial width to $b\bar{b}$ (h_1 , conversely, has an enhanced $b\bar{b}$ partial width and a reduced signal strength $R_{gq\gamma\gamma}$).

Note however that for most of these points with an enhanced $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ the neutralino would form only a fraction of the observed DM. If a lower limit on the relic density is used these points characterized by a non-negligible higgsino component are then excluded. Note however that $R_{gg\gamma\gamma} > 1$ and a strict lower bound on the DM relic density is still possible by looking thoroughly at regions with $\tan \beta \sim 2$ and $\lambda \sim 1$ [314].



Figure 6.9: $R_{gg\gamma\gamma}$ as a function of the mass of h_1 (panel (a)) and of h_2 (panel (b)) in the arbitrary neutralino LSP model. Same colour code as in figure 6.7 except red points are denoting only exclusion by HiggsBounds-3.6.1beta.

6.6 Conclusions

In this chapter we have investigated the Higgs signal strength and direct SUSY search in the context of the NMSSM. Many scenarios where found with either h_1 or h_2 had a mass in the range [122-128] GeV and a signal strength compatible with the SM. We also found scenarios where the signal strength in the two-photon mode was as large as the excess reported by ATLAS and CMS.

When insisting on a light neutralino, we found that the most promising configurations favour a SM-like h_2 rather than a h_1 SM-like Higgs boson and therefore predict the existence of a light Higgs boson dominantly singlet. The possibility of observing a second light Higgs boson provides a distinct signature of the NMSSM Higgs sector.

Furthermore we note that the traditional jets + missing E_T signature of squarks and gluinos search in the MSSM can be modified in the NMSSM when the LSP is a singlino. These sparticles decay into quarks and the second-lightest neutralino χ_2^0 bino-like which then decays into the singlino-like χ_2^0 and moslty leptons. As a result the missing E_T is reduced and the usual limits on squark and gluino masses are weakened for these scenarios.

Note nevertheless that the limits have greatly improved since the study we made. For instance assuming equal squark and gluino masses the ATLAS 5.8 fb⁻¹ search for squarks and gluinos via jets and missing transverse momentum at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV centerof-mass energy of proton-proton collision [307] can exclude such coloured sparticles up to 1.5 TeV (see figure 3.4) in the MSSM. As a prospect it could then be interesting to check if our favourite NMSSM points with singlino-like LSP still survive LHC constraints on squark and gluino masses which could give a possibility to derive, starting from mSUGRA/CMSSM limits, indirect bounds on these NMSSM scenarios.

U(1) extensions of the MSSM

7 The UMSSM

Contents

7.1 And	7.1 Another solution to the μ -problem $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		
7.2 An	E_6 inspired model		
7.3 Des	$ {\rm cription \ of \ the \ UMSSM} \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 129 $		
7.3.1	Gauge bosons		
7.3.2	Higgs sector		
7.3.3	Sfermions		
7.3.4	Neutralinos $\ldots \ldots 137$		
7.4 Con	straints on the UMSSM 137		
7.4.1	Collider constraints on the Z'		
7.4.2	Other constraints on Z' physics		

7.1 Another solution to the μ -problem

In chapter 6 we analysed some phenomenological consequences of an extension of the MSSM, the NMSSM. This model has in particular the nice feature to solve the μ -problem of the MSSM. However this approach has drawbacks that can be debated. Actually the superpotential of the NMSSM defined in eq. 6.6 is invariant under a discrete Z₃ symmetry. As shown in [315] the spontaneous breaking of a discrete symmetry at a phase transition of the early Universe can generate topological defects, more precisely two-dimensional objects called *domain walls*. Then as denoted in [316] the Z₃ symmetry breaking at the EW phase transition leads to cosmological domain walls. These objects can dominate the energy density of the early Universe : they therefore can be viewed as a source of DE [317, 318]. Nevertheless the equation of state of domain walls is predicted to be $\omega = -2/3$ which is excluded by CMB observations, especially recent Planck results with $\omega_{\rm DE} = -1.13^{+0.23}_{-0.25}$ at the 2σ level, see table 2.1. Several solutions have been proposed for the NMSSM [319, 320].

Another possibility to solve the μ -problem avoiding the domain walls problem is, when adding the chiral supermultiplet **S**, to promote the $U(1)_{PQ}$ global symmetry to a new U(1) Abelian gauge symmetry. Then the extra S^3 term of eq. 6.6 and the usual μ term of the MSSM superpotential in eq. 3.29 are forbidden by this new gauge symmetry. It follows that the VEV of the scalar singlet field S will break the new Abelian symmetry and its massless pseudoscalar component becomes the longitudinal mode of a new gauge boson which then gets a mass, the Z' vector boson [321]. It is this type of extensions of the MSSM that will be considered throughout the last part of this thesis.

7.2 An E_6 inspired model

Models with extended gauge symmetries are well motivated within the context of BSM models. They occur in GUT scale models [322, 323], extra-dimension motivations [324], superstring models [325, 326, 327, 328, 329], strong dynamics models [330], little Higgs models [331, 332, 333] or through the Stueckelberg [334] mechanism [335, 336, 337].

Looking at supersymmetric models, several Abelian extensions are considered in the literature. An example is the $U(1)_{\mathcal{B}-\mathcal{L}}$ scenario [338, 339], and specific supersymmetric $U(1)_{\mathcal{B}-\mathcal{L}}$ inflationary scenarios were studied in [340]. Note also that in supersymmetric models with extended U(1) symmetry a λSH_uH_d interaction allows for the strong first order phase transition that is needed for EW baryogenesis [341]. One of the most analysed U(1) extension originates from a string-inspired E_6 grand unified gauge group [342, 343, 344, 345, 346]. Since the rank of the E_6 group is 6 the breaking of the E_6 symmetry gives models based on rank-5 or rank-6 gauge groups. As a consequence these models in general lead to a low-energy gauge symmetry with one or two additional U(1) symmetries plus the SM gauge symmetry. E_6 contains $SO(10) \otimes U(1)_{\psi}$ while SO(10) can be decomposed into $SU(5) \otimes U(1)_{\chi}$. Using the Hosotani mechanism [347] and the fact that SU(5) contains the SM gauge symmetry E_6 can be broken directly into $SU(3)_c \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y \otimes U(1)_{\psi} \otimes U(1)_{\chi}$ which is of rank 6. We assume that at

low energy the gauge symmetry is¹

$$SU(3)_c \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y \otimes U(1)',$$

where U(1)' is a linear combination of $U(1)_{\psi}$ and $U(1)_{\chi}$. This combination is parameterized by an angle θ_{E_6} with $\theta_{E_6} \in [-\pi/2, \pi/2]$ and we have

$$U(1)' = \cos \theta_{E_6} U(1)_{\chi} + \sin \theta_{E_6} U(1)_{\psi}.$$
(7.1)

The U(1)' charge for each field of the model is then defined as

$$\mathcal{Q}' = \cos\theta_{E_6}\mathcal{Q}'_{\chi} + \sin\theta_{E_6}\mathcal{Q}'_{\psi},\tag{7.2}$$

where the charges \mathcal{Q}'_{χ} and \mathcal{Q}'_{ψ} are given in [343, 348] for all fields of the E_6 model.

The matter sector of the E_6 model contains, in addition to the supermultiplets containing the SM fermions, three families of RH neutrinos, three families of Higgs doublets (H_u, H_d) , three singlets, three families of extra colour $SU(3)_c$ (anti)triplets and finally an additional Higgs-like $SU(2)_L$ doublet and anti-doublet. The complete matter sector is needed for anomaly cancellations but for simplicity we will assume that these exotic fields, with the exception of the RH neutrinos (one of the supersymmetric partners will be considered as a possible DM candidate in chapter 8), one family of Higgs doublets and one Higgs singlet, are above a few TeV's. We will assume that they play no role in the phenomonology of the rest of the matter sector and neglect them in the following (noted as $\mathcal{O}(\text{TeVs})$ in the forthcoming equations). It is what we will call the UMSSM model.

7.3 Description of the UMSSM

Table 7.1 summarizes the supermultiplet and particle content of the UMSSM whereas table 7.2 gives the Q'_{χ} and the Q'_{ψ} charges for each matter field in the model as well as a combination often used in the literature corresponding to $U(1)_{\eta}$ with $\theta_{E_6} =$ $- \arctan \sqrt{5/3}$. In addition to the MSSM supermultiplets, the UMSSM model has a new vector supermutiplet, containing a new boson B' and the corresponding Majorana gaugino $\tilde{B'}$, and two types of chiral supermultiplets : the one with the singlet S and the singlino \tilde{S} as defined in the NMSSM and another which gives three RH neutrino $\sum_{i=e,\mu,\tau} \nu_{iR}$ and their supersymmetric partners the RH sneutrinos $\sum_{i=e,\mu,\tau} \tilde{\nu}_{iR}$. Note that, as depicted with the black curve in figure 7.1, the RH (s)neutrinos decouple completely of the rest of the UMSSM sector, *i.e.* $Q'_{\nu} = 0$ when $\theta_{E_6} = \arctan \sqrt{15}$. This choice of U(1)' charge is referred in the literature to as the $U(1)_N$ choice and is used in several phenomenological studies of E_6 inspired models [344, 349, 350, 351, 352]. This case will not be considered in next chapter which considers the RH sneutrino as thermal DM candidate. The superpotential is the same as in the MSSM with $\mu = 0$ but has an additional term involving the singlet :

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{UMSSM}} = \mathcal{W}_{\text{MSSM}}|_{\mu=0} + \lambda S H_u H_d + \tilde{\nu}_R^* \mathbf{y}_{\nu} L H_u + \mathcal{O}(\text{TeVs}), \tag{7.3}$$

¹For more details see [344].

Chiral supermultiplets					
Name	spin 0	spin $1/2$	$\mathbf{SU(3)_c}, \mathbf{SU(2)_L}, \mathbf{U(1)_Y}, \mathbf{U(1)'}$		
squarks, quarks	\widetilde{Q},Q	$(\tilde{u}_L \ \tilde{d}_L)$	$(u_L \ d_L)$	$(3,2,rac{1}{3},\mathcal{Q}_Q')$	
(3 families)	\bar{u}	$ ilde{u}_R^*$	\bar{u}_R	$(ar{3},1,-rac{4}{3},\mathcal{Q}_u')$	
	\bar{d}	$ ilde{d}_R^*$	$ar{d}_R$	$(ar{3},1,rac{2}{3},\mathcal{Q}_d')$	
sleptons, leptons	\widetilde{L}, L	$(ilde{ u}_L ilde{e}_L)$	$(u_L e_L)$	$(1,2,-1,\mathcal{Q}'_L)$	
(3 families)	$\bar{\nu}$	$ ilde{ u}_R^*$	$\bar{ u}_R$	$(ar{f 1},{f 1},0,{\cal Q}'_ u)$	
	\bar{e}	${ ilde e}_R^*$	\bar{e}_R	$(ar{1},1,2,\mathcal{Q}_e')$	
Higgs, higgsinos	H_u	$(H_u^+ \ H_u^0)$	$(\widetilde{H}_u^+ \ \widetilde{H}_u^0)$	$(1,2,1,\mathcal{Q}'_{H_u})$	
	H_d	$(H^0_d\ H^d)$	$(\widetilde{H}^0_d \ \widetilde{H}^d)$	$(1,2,-1,\mathcal{Q}'_{H_d})$	
	\mathbf{S}	S	\widetilde{S}	$({f 1},{f 1},0,{\cal Q}_S')$	
Gauge supermultiplets					
Name	spin $1/2$	spin 1	$\mathbf{SU(3)_c}, \mathbf{SU(2)_L}, \mathbf{U(1)_Y}, \mathbf{U(1)'}$		
gluinos, gluor	\widetilde{G}^a	G^{a}	(8 , 1 ,0,0)		
winos, W's	$\widetilde{W}^{\pm} \ \widetilde{W}^3$	$W^{\pm} W^3$	(1 , 3 ,0,0)		
bino, B	\widetilde{B}	В	(1 , 1 ,0,0)		
bino', B'		$\widetilde{B'}$	B'	(1 , 1 ,0,0)	

Table 7.1: UMSSM supermultiplets and their gauge properties. The U(1)' charges are given in table 7.2.

	\mathcal{Q}_Q'	\mathcal{Q}'_u	\mathcal{Q}_d'	\mathcal{Q}_L'	$\mathcal{Q}'_{ u}$	\mathcal{Q}'_e	\mathcal{Q}'_{H_u}	\mathcal{Q}'_{H_d}	\mathcal{Q}_S'
$\sqrt{40}Q'_{\chi}$	-1	-1	3	3	-5	-1	2	-2	0
$\sqrt{24}\mathcal{Q}'_{\psi}$	1	1	1	1	1	1	-2	-2	4
$2\sqrt{15}\mathcal{Q}'_{\eta}$	-2	-2	1	1	-5	-2	4	1	-5

Table 7.2: U(1)' charges for the matter content considered in the UMSSM.

where \mathbf{y}_{ν} is the Yukawa matrix associated to $\bar{\nu}$ which is diagonal in the family space and the VEV of S, $\langle S \rangle = \frac{v_s}{\sqrt{2}}$ breaks the U(1)' symmetry and induces a μ term

$$\mu = \lambda \frac{v_s}{\sqrt{2}}.\tag{7.4}$$

For $\theta_{E_6} = 0$, where $Q'_S = 0$, this symmetry cannot be broken by the singlet field. Note also that the invariance of the superpotential under U(1)' imposes a condition on the Higgs sector, namely $Q'_{H_u} + Q'_{H_d} + Q'_S = 0$. The SSB Lagrangian of the UMSSM is

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{UMSSM}}^{\text{soft}} = \mathscr{L}_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{soft}}|_{b=0} - \left(\frac{1}{2}M_1'\widetilde{B'}\widetilde{B'} + \tilde{\nu}_R^*\mathbf{a}_{\nu}\widetilde{L}H_u + \text{h.c.}\right) - \tilde{\nu}_R^*\mathbf{m}_{\tilde{\nu}_R}^2\tilde{\nu}_R - m_S^2|S|^2 - (\lambda A_\lambda SH_uH_d + \text{h.c.}) + \mathcal{O}(\text{TeVs}),$$

$$(7.5)$$

with the trilinear coupling A_{λ} , the $\widetilde{B'}$ mass term M'_1 , the singlet mass term m_S and the trilinear coupling and soft sneutrino mass term matrices \mathbf{a}_{ν} and $\mathbf{m}_{\tilde{\nu}_{\mathbf{R}}}^2$ which are also diagonal in the family space. We now describe how each sector of the model is modified with respect to the MSSM.



Figure 7.1: U(1)' charges of some fields of the UMSSM as a function of θ_{E_6} .

7.3.1 Gauge bosons

As we saw in table 7.1 the UMSSM contains a new Abelian gauge boson B'. Since the two Higgs doublets and the Higgs singlet are charged under U(1)' this new boson gets a mass through the breaking of the $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ and U(1)' symmetries. We start from the interaction between the Higgs sector and the gauge sector :

$$\mathscr{L}_{\rm UMSSM}^{\rm Higgs} = (D_{\mu}H_{u})^{\dagger}(D_{\mu}H_{u}) + (D_{\mu}H_{d})^{\dagger}(D_{\mu}H_{d}) + (D_{\mu}S)^{*}(D_{\mu}S) - V_{\rm UMSSM},$$
(7.6)

where V_{UMSSM} will be detailed in section 7.3.2 and the general covariant derivative for the SM gauge symmetry is defined in eq. 1.3. For the U(1)' symmetry we have

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + ig_1' \mathcal{Q}_X' B_{\mu}', \tag{7.7}$$

when this covariant derivative acts on a matter field X and we choose the normalization of the coupling constants such that $g'_1 = \sqrt{5/3}g_Y$ where g_Y and g'_1 are the coupling constants of $U(1)_Y$ and U(1)' respectively. Now if we look at the gauge boson mass terms after EWSB the corresponding expression in the context of the SM that is included in eq. 1.24 is rewritten in the context of the UMSSM for each VEV as

$$\sum_{i=u,d} \left| \frac{i}{2} \left(g_2 \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sigma^a W^a_{\mu} + \kappa_i g_Y B_{\mu} + 2g'_1 \mathcal{Q}'_{H_i} B'_{\mu} \right) \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \binom{v_i \delta^i_d}{v_i \delta^i_u} \right|^2 + \left| ig'_1 \mathcal{Q}'_S B'_{\mu} \frac{v_s}{\sqrt{2}} \right|^2, \quad (7.8)$$

where $\kappa_u = 1$ and $\kappa_d = -1$. As in the SM we recover the W boson mass term $M_W = \frac{1}{2}g_2 v$ with $v^2 = v_u^2 + v_d^2$. Nevertheless instead of a 2×2 matrix with leads to the definition of the photon and the Z boson as in the case of the SM and the (N)MSSM the remaining terms read

$$\sum_{i=u,d} \frac{1}{8} v_i^2 \left(W_{\mu}^3 \ B_{\mu} \ B'_{\mu} \right) \begin{pmatrix} g_2^2 & -g_2 g_Y & -2\kappa_i g_2 g'_1 \mathcal{Q}'_{H_i} \\ -g_2 g_Y & g_Y^2 & 2\kappa_i g_Y g'_1 \mathcal{Q}'_{H_i} \\ -2\kappa_i g_2 g'_1 \mathcal{Q}'_{H_i} \ 2\kappa_i g_Y g'_1 \mathcal{Q}'_{H_i} & 4g'_1^2 \mathcal{Q}'^2_{H_i} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} W^{3\mu} \\ B^{\mu} \\ B'^{\mu} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} g'_1^2 \mathcal{Q}'_S^2 v_s^2 B'_{\mu} B'^{\mu}.$$

$$(7.9)$$

In the upper left part of the 3×3 matrix we recognize the usual SM part which leads to the definition of the photon and the Z boson given in eqs. 1.28 and 1.29. The remaining terms are new :

$$\frac{1}{2}g_1'\sqrt{g_2^2 + g_Y^2} \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_d}'v_d^2 - \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}'v_u^2\right) Z_\mu B'^\mu + \frac{1}{2}g_1'^2 \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_u}'^2v_u^2 + \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}'^2v_d^2 + \mathcal{Q}_S'^2v_s^2\right) B_\mu' B'^\mu.$$
(7.10)

The second term gives the mass term to the new Abelian gauge boson B' = Z':

$$M_{Z'}^2 = g_1'^2 \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_u}'^2 v_u^2 + \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}'^2 v_d^2 + \mathcal{Q}_S'^2 v_s^2 \right),$$
(7.11)

and the mixing between the two massive Abelian gauge bosons is parameterized by the term Δ_Z^2 :

$$\Delta_Z^2 = \frac{1}{2} g_1' \sqrt{g_2^2 + g_Y^2} \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_d}' v_d^2 - \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}' v_u^2 \right).$$
(7.12)

Note that the two neutral massive gauge bosons Z and Z' can also mix both through kinetic mixing [353, 354, 349]. Here we simplify the situation by neglecting the kinetic mixing. The mass matrix of the Z and Z' boson reads

$$M_{ZZ'}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} M_Z^2 & \Delta_Z^2 \\ \Delta_Z^2 & M_{Z'}^2 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{7.13}$$

with M_Z given in eq. 1.29. The diagonalisation of the mass matrix leads to two mass eigenstates Z_1 and Z_2 :

$$Z_1 = \cos \alpha_Z Z + \sin \alpha_Z Z',$$

$$Z_2 = -\sin \alpha_Z Z + \cos \alpha_Z Z',$$
(7.14)

where the mixing angle α_Z is defined as

$$\sin 2\alpha_Z = \frac{2\Delta_Z^2}{M_{Z_1}^2 - M_{Z_2}^2},\tag{7.15}$$

and the masses of the physical fields are

$$M_{Z_1,Z_2}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(M_Z^2 + M_{Z'}^2 \mp \sqrt{\left(M_Z^2 + M_{Z'}^2\right)^2 + 4\Delta_Z^4} \right).$$
(7.16)

The mixing angle is constrained from precise measurements of Z properties to be of the order or smaller than 10^{-3} radians [355, 356], the new gauge boson Z_2 will therefore have approximately the same properties as the Z'. The input parameters are the physical masses, $M_{Z_1} = 91.1876$ GeV (see table 1.1), M_{Z_2} and the mixing angle α_Z . Then the mass of the Z and Z' states are computed using

$$M_{Z}^{2} = M_{Z_{1}}^{2} \cos^{2} \alpha_{Z} + M_{Z_{2}}^{2} \sin^{2} \alpha_{Z},$$

$$M_{Z'}^{2} = M_{Z_{1}}^{2} \sin^{2} \alpha_{Z} + M_{Z_{2}}^{2} \cos^{2} \alpha_{Z}.$$
(7.17)

From these together with the coupling constants, we extract both the value of $\tan \beta = v_u/v_d$ and the value of v_s . For the latter we use eqs 7.11 and 7.17. Using eqs. 7.12 and 7.15 the ratio of the VEVs of the two Higgs doublets is obtained with

$$\cos^2 \beta = \frac{1}{\mathcal{Q}'_{H_d} + \mathcal{Q}'_{H_u}} \left(\frac{\sin 2\alpha_Z (M_{Z_1}^2 - M_{Z_2}^2)}{v^2 g'_1 \sqrt{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}} + \mathcal{Q}'_{H_u} \right).$$
(7.18)

For each U(1)' model, the value of $\tan \beta$ can be strongly constrained as a consequence of the requirement $\cos^2 \beta > 0$. For example for the $U(1)_{\psi}$ case with $\sin \alpha_Z > 0$ and $M_{Z_2} > M_{Z_1}$, the value of $\tan \beta$ has to be below 1. This is because for this θ_{E_6} choice we have

$$\Delta_Z^2 = g_1' \sqrt{\frac{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}{24}} (\tan^2 \beta - 1) v_d^2 < 0.$$
(7.19)

One might think that small values of $\tan \beta$ are problematic for the Higgs boson mass, however as we will see below additional corrections to the light Higgs boson mass can bring it at an experimentally preferred value.

7.3.2 Higgs sector

The Higgs sector of the UMSSM consists of three CP-even Higgs bosons $h_i, i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, two charged Higgs bosons H^{\pm} and one CP-odd Higgs boson A^0 . As explained in the beginning of this chapter the reason for having only one CP-odd field is that the pseudoscalar part of S is absorbed by the new gauge boson Z'. The tree-level mass terms are obtained after minimization of the potential V_{UMSSM} that reads

$$V_{\rm UMSSM} = V_{\rm MSSM}|_{\mu,b=0} + V_{\rm UMSSM}^F + V_{\rm UMSSM}^D + V_{\rm UMSSM}^{\rm soft}$$
(7.20)

where

$$V_{\text{UMSSM}}^{F} = |\lambda H_{u} \cdot H_{d}|^{2} + |\lambda S|^{2} \left(|H_{d}|^{2} + |H_{u}|^{2} \right),$$

$$V_{\text{UMSSM}}^{D} = \frac{g_{1}^{\prime 2}}{2} \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime} |H_{d}|^{2} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime} |H_{u}|^{2} + \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime} |S|^{2} \right)^{2},$$

$$V_{\text{UMSSM}}^{\text{soft}} = m_{s}^{2} |S|^{2} + (\lambda A_{\lambda} S H_{u} \cdot H_{d} + h.c.).$$

(7.21)

where $H_u \cdot H_d$ is defined as $H_u \cdot H_d = \epsilon_{ij} H_u^i H_d^j$, with the sum over $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$ and V_{MSSM} is defined in eq. 3.31. We expand the Higgs fields as

$$H_{d}^{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(v_{d} + \phi_{d} + i\varphi_{d} \right), \qquad (7.22)$$

$$H_{u}^{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(v_{u} + \phi_{u} + i\varphi_{u} \right), \qquad (7.23)$$

$$S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(v_s + \sigma + i\xi \right), \tag{7.24}$$

while the charged Higgs sector is the same as that of the MSSM :

$$H_d^- = -\cos\beta G_{W^-} + \sin\beta H^-, \quad H_u^+ = \sin\beta G_{W^+} + \cos\beta H^+,$$
 (7.25)

with G_X the Goldstone boson associated to X.

Following [357], the minimization conditions of $V_{\rm UMSSM}$ are

$$(m_{H_d})^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}{4} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}^{\prime 2} g_1^{\prime 2} \right] v_d^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}{4} - \lambda^2 - \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}^{\prime 2} g_1^{\prime 2} \right] v_u^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left[\lambda^2 + \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime g_1^{\prime 2}} \right] v_s^2 + \frac{\lambda A_\lambda v_s v_u}{v_d \sqrt{2}}, (m_{H_u})^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}{4} - \lambda^2 - \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}^{\prime g_1^{\prime 2}} \right] v_d^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{g_Y^2 + g_2^2}{4} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}^{\prime 2} g_1^{\prime 2} \right] v_u^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left[\lambda^2 + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime g_1^{\prime 2}} \right] v_s^2 + \frac{\lambda A_\lambda v_s v_d}{v_u \sqrt{2}}, (m_S)^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \left[\lambda^2 + \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime g_1^{\prime 2}} \right] v_d^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left[\lambda^2 + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime g_1^{\prime 2}} \right] v_u^2 - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{Q}_S^{\prime 2} g_1^{\prime 2} v_s^2 + \frac{\lambda A_\lambda v_u v_d}{v_s \sqrt{2}}, (7.26)$$

and we can write the tree-level mass-squared matrices for the CP-even (\mathcal{M}^0_+) and the CP-odd (\mathcal{M}^0_-) Higgs bosons in the basis $\{H^0_d, H^0_u, S\}$ using the relations

$$\left(\mathcal{M}^{0}_{+}\right)_{ij} = \left.\frac{\partial^{2} V_{\text{UMSSM}}}{\partial \phi_{i} \partial \phi_{j}}\right|_{0}, \qquad \left(\mathcal{M}^{0}_{-}\right)_{ij} = \left.\frac{\partial^{2} V_{\text{UMSSM}}}{\partial \varphi_{i} \partial \varphi_{j}}\right|_{0}, \tag{7.27}$$

where $(\phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3) \equiv (\phi_d, \phi_u, \sigma)$ and $(\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \varphi_3) \equiv (\varphi_d, \varphi_u, \xi)$. For the neutral CP-even Higgs bosons the relations are

$$\left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0} \right)_{11} = \left[\frac{(g_{Y}^{2} + g_{2}^{2})^{2}}{4} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime 2} g_{1}^{\prime 2} \right] v_{d}^{2} + \frac{\lambda A_{\lambda} v_{s} v_{u}}{\sqrt{2} v_{d}}, \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0} \right)_{12} = - \left[\frac{(g_{Y}^{2} + g_{2}^{2})^{2}}{4} - \lambda^{2} - \mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime 2} g_{1}^{\prime 2} \right] v_{u} v_{d} - \frac{\lambda A_{\lambda} v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}}, \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0} \right)_{13} = \left[\lambda^{2} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime} g_{1}^{\prime 2} \right] v_{s} v_{d} - \frac{\lambda A_{\lambda} v_{u}}{\sqrt{2}}, \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0} \right)_{22} = \left[\frac{(g_{Y}^{2} + g_{2}^{2})^{2}}{4} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime 2} g_{1}^{\prime 2} \right] v_{u}^{2} + \frac{\lambda A_{\lambda} v_{s} v_{d}}{\sqrt{2} v_{u}}, \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0} \right)_{23} = \left[\lambda^{2} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime} \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime} g_{1}^{\prime 2} \right] v_{s} v_{u} - \frac{\lambda A_{\lambda} v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}}, \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0} \right)_{33} = \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime 2} g_{1}^{\prime 2} v_{s}^{2} + \frac{\lambda A_{\lambda} v_{u} v_{d}}{v_{s} \sqrt{2}}.$$
 (7.28)

For the CP-odd sector we have

$$\left(\mathcal{M}_{-}^{0}\right) = \frac{\lambda A_{\lambda}}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v_{s}v_{u}}{v_{d}} & v_{s} & v_{u} \\ v_{s} & \frac{v_{s}v_{d}}{v_{u}} & v_{d} \\ v_{u} & v_{d} & \frac{v_{u}v_{d}}{v_{s}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(7.29)

which leads to

$$(m_{A^0})^2 = \mu A_\lambda \left(\frac{v_d}{v_u} + \frac{v_u}{v_d} + \frac{v_u v_d}{v_s^2} \right).$$
(7.30)

The charged Higgs mass at tree-level reads

$$(m_{H^{\pm}})^2 = M_W^2 + \frac{\lambda A_\lambda \sqrt{2}}{\sin 2\beta} v_s - \frac{\lambda^2}{2} v^2.$$
 (7.31)

Then it is important to consider radiative corrections in the Higgs sector. To do that two method will be used. In chapter 8 we will just add radiative corrections in the unitary gauge through a Coleman-Weinberg potential [358]. In chapter 9 an effective Lagrangian approach following the method used in the NMSSM [359] will be considered. The CP-even squared mass matrix is diagonalised by a 3×3 unitary matrix $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{h}}$ which gives the mass eigenstates (ordered in mass) by $(h_1, h_2, h_3)^T = \mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{h}}^T (\phi_d, \phi_u, \sigma)^T$. As we saw there is only one pseudoscalar Higgs boson. The relation between the Goldstone of the Z and Z' bosons, A^0 and the basis of the Higgs fields is given by a 3×3 unitary matrix $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{A}}$: $(G_Z, G_{Z'}, A^0)^T = \mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{A}}^T (\varphi_d, \varphi_u, \xi)^T$.

Because of the constraints on the new boson that we will presented in section 7.4, we typically find a Higgs spectrum which consists on a SM-like CP-even Higgs boson, a heavy mostly doublet scalar which is almost degenerate with the pseudoscalar and the charged Higgs, and finally a predominantly singlet scalar. Note that the mass of the

pure singlet $m_S \approx g'_1 Q'_S v_s$ and is therefore close to that of M_{Z_2} when $v_s \gg v_u, v_d$. The hierarchy in the mass of the heavy doublet and the singlet depends on the parameters of the model. For large values of A_{λ} and λ (and therefore μ) the mass of the heavy Higgs doublet increases and can exceed that of the singlet. Furthermore the Higgs mixing increases, however the singlet component of the light state is usually not large. Although the lightest scalar Higgs boson is usually SM-like, it can be significantly heavier than in the MSSM. Indeed the upper bound on the Higgs boson mass receives two types of additional contributions as compared to the MSSM, one proportional to A_{λ} that is also found in the NMSSM and which enters in the SSB part of the potential in eq 7.21, and the other from the introduction of the new symmetry which implies new *D*-terms. The upper bound on the lightest Higgs boson mass is thus raised to $\mathcal{O}(170)$ GeV [357].

7.3.3 Sfermions

The important new feature in the sfermion sector is that the U(1)' symmetry induces some new *D*-term contributions to the sfermion masses which are added in the diagonal part of the sfermion matrix defined in eq. 3.39. These contributions read

$$\Delta_f = \frac{1}{2} g_1'^2 \mathcal{Q}_f' \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_d}' v_d^2 + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}' v_u^2 + \mathcal{Q}_S' v_s^2 \right),$$
(7.32)

where $f \in \{Q, u, d, L, e, \nu\}$.

The new *D*-term contribution can completely dominate the sfermion mass, especially for large values of v_s . Those are found in particular when $\theta_{E_6} \approx 0$. The *D*-term contribution can induce negative corrections to the mass, so that light sfermions can be found even when the soft masses are set to 2 TeV. For $\theta_{E_6} > 0$, $\Delta_{\nu} < \Delta_{Q,u,e} < \Delta_{L,d}$ so that a universal soft mass term for the sfermions at the weak scale naturally leads to a RH sneutrino as the lightest sfermion, which is useful if we want to consider it as the LSP. Furthermore the NLSP will be the RH slepton or the stop if a large mixing decreases the mass of the lightest \tilde{t} . On the other hand for $\theta_{E_6} < 0$, $\Delta_{\nu} > \Delta_{Q,u,e} > \Delta_{L,d}$ so the sneutrino cannot be the LSP with universal soft sfermion masses at the weak scale. However in general one expects non-universality in sfermion masses at the weak scale even if universality is imposed when the model is embedded in a GUT scale model. In particular the RH sleptons, whose RGEs are driven only by U(1) couplings have the smallest soft terms at the weak scale. Therefore as long as Δ_{ν} is not much larger than for other sfermions, it is still natural that the RH sneutrino be the lightest sfermion. Then in chapter 8 we analyse this sort of LSP as a thermal DM candidate.

7.3.4 Neutralinos

In the UMSSM the neutralino mass matrix in the basis $(\widetilde{B}, \widetilde{W}^3, \widetilde{H}_d, \widetilde{H}_u, \widetilde{S}, \widetilde{B'})$ reads

$$\mathbf{M}_{\chi^{0}} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1} & 0 & -M_{Z}c_{\beta}s_{W} & M_{Z}s_{\beta}s_{W} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & M_{2} & M_{Z}c_{\beta}c_{W} & -M_{Z}s_{\beta}c_{W} & 0 & 0\\ -M_{Z}c_{\beta}s_{W} & M_{Z}c_{\beta}c_{W} & 0 & -\mu & -\lambda\frac{v_{u}}{\sqrt{2}} & \mathcal{Q}'_{H_{d}}g'_{1}v_{d}\\ M_{Z}s_{\beta}s_{W} & -M_{Z}s_{\beta}c_{W} & -\mu & 0 & -\lambda\frac{v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}} & \mathcal{Q}'_{H_{u}}g'_{1}v_{u}\\ 0 & 0 & -\lambda\frac{v_{u}}{\sqrt{2}} & -\lambda\frac{v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & \mathcal{Q}'_{S}g'_{1}v_{s}\\ 0 & 0 & \mathcal{Q}'_{H_{d}}g'_{1}v_{d} & \mathcal{Q}'_{H_{u}}g'_{1}v_{u} & \mathcal{Q}'_{S}g'_{1}v_{s} & M'_{1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(7.33)$$

Diagonalisation by a 6×6 unitary matrix \mathbf{Z}_{n} leads to the neutralino mass eigenstates :

$$\chi_i^0 = Z_{nij} \psi_j^0, \qquad i, j \in \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}.$$
(7.34)

Several studies were done to analyse the neutralino sector in the UMSSM [360, 361]. As in the NMSSM \tilde{S} LSP was studied [362, 363, 364], and more generally the neutralino LSP as a viable DM candidated in the UMSSM was obtained [365, 366]. The chargino sector is identical to that of the (N)MSSM.

7.4 Constraints on the UMSSM

As in the case of the other supersymmetric models, the UMSSM is constrained using several observables : DM observables, Higgs boson mass bounds, constraints on sparticle masses as well as low energy observables. The first ones, focused here to the relic density and the Direct Detection of DM, will be used in the next two chapters while sparticle constraints will be divided into two categories : LEP constraints on sparticles will be always taken into account, whereas most LHC constraints will be avoided assuming that coloured sparticle masses are above current LHC limits on simplified models. For low energy observables, chapter 8 will only consider the ΔM_s and ΔM_d observables. In chapter 9, the effects of a more larger set of low energy observables in the context of the UMSSM, namely several *B*-physics observable, the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon and $\Delta \rho$ will be discussed. However the UMSSM scenario has also a specific feature that leads to important constraints. This feature, a new gauge symmetry, is reflected in a new gauge boson whose experimental and observational implications are now dicussed.

7.4.1 Collider constraints on the Z'

The main constraint that will be used in the next two chapters comes from the direct collider searches for a Z' resonance. The new Abelian gauge boson can be produced

directly in pp and $p\bar{p}$ collisions and is searched primarily using leptonic decay modes since they provide very clean signals without much background. The results from the LHC experiments are now pushing the mass of this particle well above the TeVs.



Figure 7.2: Limits on the Z' boson. Panel (a) presents the upper limit obtained by CMS on the ratio R_{σ} of cross section times branching ratio into lepton pairs for a new gauge boson as compared to the same quantity for the Z boson. Two cases are considered for the Z' : the sequential SM and the $U(1)_{\psi}$ model. Panel (b) shows the upper limit obtained by ATLAS on the cross section times branching ratio into lepton pairs for a new gauge boson : the sequential SM as well as the $U(1)_{\psi}$ and the $U(1)_{\chi}$ models. Plots obtained respectively from [367] and [368].

Figure 7.2 shows the current best limits obtained by the CMS and the ATLAS collaborations on specific U(1)' models. CMS limits were derived using 20.6 fb⁻¹ (19.6 fb⁻¹) of data in the $\mu^+\mu^-(e^+e^-)$ channels and ATLAS bounds were obtained using 20 fb⁻¹ of data in the $\ell^+\ell^- = \mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- channels, both at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV. If we focus on the $U(1)_{\psi}$ model, CMS is able to exclude² a Z' below 2.6 TeV at 2σ and ATLAS gives a 2σ lower bound of 2.38 TeV. This puts really stringent constraints on our model. Nevertheless these bounds were derived assuming the Z' decays only into SM particles. In our case, the Z_2 can also decay into supersymmetric particles, into RH neutrinos and into Higgs bosons, thus reducing the branching ratio into leptons. The limits on the Z_2 mass are therefore weakened [369, 370, 371]. To take this effect into account we determined the modified leptonic branching ratio for each point in our studies and have re-derived the corresponding limits. It is also possible to significantly weaken these limits by considering through kinetic mixing a leptophobic Z' [372, 373, 374].

²Here we denote Z' as the experimentally sought gauge boson; in our UMSSM model it corresponds to the Z_2 mass eigenstate.

7.4.2 Other constraints on Z' physics

There are other methods to constrain the Z' mass and the mixing with the Z boson. For instance from the modification of low energy neutral currents, experiments examining atomic parity violation due to Z' interaction between the nucleus and the electrons could be competitive with collider limits for some U(1)' models [375, 376].

EW precision measurements provide extremely relevant constraints in the context of the UMSSM. We saw in section 7.3.1 that the α_Z mixing angle between Z and Z' has to be very small. The mixing between these two bosons gives also contributions to the $\Delta \rho$ parameter which can be non-negligible [372].

BBN can provide the most stringent limits on the Z' mass when the RH neutrinos are charged under U(1)', as considered here. Actually such RH Dirac neutrinos can be produced by Z' interactions prior to BBN leading to a faster expansion rate of the Universe and to too much ⁴He. For example in [377] the lower bound on the Z' mass, in some scenarios and assuming a given effective number of neutrinos, can go up to 4 TeV. With the latest results of the Planck experiment these limits could be updated.

For more informations on Z' physics see [378].

8

The Right-Handed sneutrino as thermal Dark Matter in the UMSSM

Contents

8.1 In	$\operatorname{troduction}$
8.2 C	${ m onstraints\ imposed\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\$
8.3 R	elic abundance of sneutrinos $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 145$
8.4 D	$irect Detection \dots \dots$
8.5 R	$esults \ldots 149$
8.5.	1 The case of the $U(1)_{\psi}$ model
	8.5.1.1 A case study with $M_{Z_2} = 1.6 \text{ TeV} \dots 149$
	8.5.1.2 Exploration of $U(1)_{\psi}$ parameter space
8.5.	2 The case of the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	8.5.2.1 A case study with $M_{Z_2} = 1.6 \text{ TeV} \dots 155$
	8.5.2.2 Exploration of $U(1)_{\eta}$ parameter space
8.5.	3 A global scan of the parameter space
8.6 C	onclusions $\ldots \ldots 160$

This chapter is largely based on the article [379] with a few added details. Since this work was done two years ago a lot of new experimental data become available (Higgs boson discovery, Z' searches, DM observables). A brief discussion on the impact of the new results will be given after the presentation of the original study. This would actually need a new study, including more constraints.

8.1 Introduction

The MSSM contains two neutral weakly interacting particles that could be DM candidates, the neutralino and the LH sneutrino. While the neutralino has been extensively studied and remains one of the favourite DM candidates [380, 381, 382, 383, 384], the LH sneutrino faces severe problems. The sneutrino coupling to the Z boson induces a cross section for elastic scattering off nuclei that can exceed the experimental limit by several orders of magnitude [385]. In particular the bounds from CDMS [386] or XENON100 [387] cannot be satisfied even for a LH sneutrino mass above 1 TeV. Furthermore the sneutrino annihilation rate is usually too rapid to provide enough DM [385].

The observation of neutrino oscillations indicative of massive neutrinos gives a natural motivation for adding a RH neutrino to the SM fields as we saw in section 1.2.1. Extending the MSSM with RH neutrinos and their supersymmetric partners provides then an alternate DM candidate, the RH sneutrino (RHSN). The smallness of the neutrino masses is usually explained by introducing Majorana mass terms and making use of the see-saw mechanism. The natural scale for the RH neutrinos is generally around 10^{12} GeV so that RH neutrinos are too heavy to play a direct role in physics below the TeV scale and so are their supersymmetric partners. Note however that the inverse see-saw mechanism proposes scenarios with RH Majorana neutrinos at the TeV scale [388, 389]. We will not consider these scenarios. It is also possible to generate neutrino masses through Dirac mass terms at the expense of introducing some large hierarchy among the fermions. In this case the supersymmetric partners of the neutrinos are expected to be, as for other sfermions, at the SUSY breaking scale, *i.e.* around or below 1 TeV. In this framework the RH sneutrino can be the LSP. This is the scenario we will consider here.

To make a RHSN LSP a viable DM candidate requires special conditions. The RH sneutrino being sterile under SM gauge interactions cannot be brought into thermal equilibrium¹. Nevertheless several proposals for sneutrino DM have emerged including mixed sneutrinos [394, 395, 396, 397, 398, 399, 272], RHSN in models with Dirac mass terms that result from the decay of thermal equilibrium MSSM particles [390, 391], DM from a RH sneutrino condensate [400], sneutrinos in inverse see-saw models [401, 402, 403, 404] or RHSN in extensions of the MSSM [405, 406, 407, 408, 409, 410, 411, 412]. The RHSN Dark Matter was also considered in hybrid inflationnary models [413]. Extending the gauge group provides another alternative as the RHSN can reach thermal

¹Note however that non thermal mechanisms can make a mostly sterile sneutrino a good DM candidate [390, 391, 392, 393].

equilibrium because it couples to new vector and/or scalar fields [414, 354, 404]. For example an additional U(1)' gauge symmetry provides new couplings of the sneutrino with the Z' as well as to new scalar fields. In this framework annihilation of pairs of RH sneutrino can be efficient enough to obtain $\Omega h^2 \approx 0.1$. The annihilation is specially enhanced when the particle exchanged in the s-channel is near resonance. Furthermore the elastic scattering cross section of the RHSN is naturally suppressed by several orders of magnitude as compared to the MSSM sneutrino as on the one hand the couplings to the EW scale particles (the Z and the light Higgs boson) are strongly suppressed and on the other hand the Z' exchange is suppressed because its mass is above the TeV scale². This is the framework that we will study here, within the UMSSM model described in chapter 7.

In the UMSSM, the DM candidate can either be the neutralino or the sneutrino. The neutralino was investigated in [349, 365, 348]. We rather concentrate on the RHSN LSP which is a possible thermal DM candidate when it is charged under U(1)'; in this case the RH neutrinos are Dirac neutrinos [344].

In [414] sneutrinos annihilation through Z' exchange and $\widetilde{B'}$ t-channel exchange into neutrinos were considered while the interactions through the Higgs sector were included in [415, 410]. We extend those analyses by including all possible annihilation and coannihilation channels and by performing a complete exploration of the parameter space allowing for different choices of the U'(1) symmetry within the context of an E_6 inspired model. Furthermore we take into account early 2011 LHC results on the Z', on supersymmetric particles and on the Higgs sector. Insisting on having a sneutrino LSP, to complement previous studies that had concentrated on the neutralino case, will lead to some constraint on the parameter space. In particular the parameters μ and M_1, M_2 have to be larger than the sneutrino mass in order to avoid an higgsino or a gaugino LSP. We will generically consider only cases with coloured sparticles above the TeV scale to easily avoid LHC limits on squarks.

Within the UMSSM with a RHSN Dark Matter candidate, we found a variety of annihilation channels for the sneutrino, with a predominance of annihilations near a resonance. The main annihilation processes can be classified as

- Annihilation near a light Higgs boson resonance
- Annihilation near a heavy Higgs boson resonance
- Annihilation near a Z_2 resonance
- Annihilation into W/Z pairs through Higgs boson exchange
- Coannihilation with the NLSP, here the NLSP can be neutralino, chargino, charged slepton or any other sfermion.

Note that annihilation into neutrinos can occur either through Z_2 exchange or through $\widetilde{B'}, \widetilde{S}$ exchange when the latter are near the mass of the LSP. The neutrino channels are

²Note that their signatures in cosmic rays [415, 410] or neutrino telescopes [416] were also explored.

however never the dominant ones. Finally annihilation of sneutrinos into pairs of new gauge bosons could also contribute, we will not consider this channel here as it is relevant only for sneutrino heavier than the Z', that is above the TeV scale. For such a heavy sneutrino to be the LSP means that all soft parameters are also above the TeV scale. These configurations for supersymmetric particles have a restricted parameter space. For example, very large values of μ often lead to a light Higgs boson mass below 114 GeV. Furthermore when the sneutrino is heavier than the Z', the neutralino can become the LSP. We therefore choose rather to concentrate on the subTeV scale sneutrinos. For each scenario we also include an analysis of the DD rate as the SI cross section of sneutrinos on nucleons turns out to pose severe constraints on a whole class of U(1)' models.

We will first describe the main particle physics constraints used in this work. Then the contributions to the relic abundance and the DD rate will be presented. Finally we will see the results for two sample U(1)' models which have significant differences between their sneutrino DM candidate, the $U(1)_{\psi}$ and $U(1)_{\eta}$ models whose U(1)' charges are given in table 7.2, as well as results from a global analysis of the parameter space, and we will conclude.

8.2 Constraints imposed

The main constraints on the model arise from the gauge boson and Higgs sector. Since coloured supersymmetric particles do not play a direct role in sneutrino annihilation, we will generally assume that they are above the TeV scale thus evading the LHC constraints [417, 301].

We used the ATLAS exclusion limits published in [418] obtained with an integrated luminosity of $\mathcal{L} = 1.01(1.21)$ fb⁻¹ in the $e^+e^-(\mu^+\mu^-)$ channels. These limits are extracted using different U(1)' models. In the two models we will consider for the phenomenological analysis the bounds³ are similar, with $M_{Z_2} > 1.49$ TeV for $U(1)_{\psi}$ and $M_{Z_2} > 1.54$ TeV for $U(1)_{\eta}$. As explained in section 7.4.1 these bounds were derived assuming the Z_2 decays only into SM particles and we then re-derived the limits since we have new decays of the Z_2 in the UMSSM.

Because of EW precision measurements we will typically set for the study of some benchmark points the mixing angle α_Z to $|\alpha_Z| \leq 0.001$.

The Higgs sector was constrained in the early 2011 as follows. The SM-like Higgs boson was constrained by LEP to be above 114 GeV [419] and by LHC searches to be below 144 GeV [420]. These limits can be relaxed when the Higgs couplings to gauge bosons are reduced due to the mixing with the singlet. In the parameter space explored, the singlet component is small and the limit is not modified significantly. The upper limit can also be relaxed if the Higgs boson has a large branching fraction into invisible particles. The relic density constraint imposes that light sneutrinos have a mass very near $m_{h_1}/2$. Despite a phase space suppression factor, the contribution of the invisible

³Note the impressive improved limits now obtained at the LHC as shown in figure 7.2.

mode to the light Higgs boson decay can in some cases reach 90% for light sneutrinos, thus relaxing the constraint on the lightest Higgs boson. When imposing a limit on the light Higgs boson mass, we have folded in the effect of the invisible decay modes therefore allowing in a few cases a light Higgs boson heavier than 144 GeV. Note that we introduced radiative corrections to the Higgs boson masses to get relevant SM-like Higgs boson masses.

Observables in the *B* sector provide powerful constraints on the supersymmetric parameter space assuming MFV. The measured values in 2011 of the mass differences of *B* mesons, ΔM_s and ΔM_d , are respectively $17.63 \pm 0.11 \,\mathrm{ps^{-1}}$ [421] and $0.507 \pm 0.004 \,\mathrm{ps^{-1}}$ [422], somewhat below SM predictions given in [423] :

$$\Delta M_s^{\rm SM} = 20.5 \pm 3.1 \,\mathrm{ps}^{-1}, \Delta M_d^{\rm SM} = 0.59 \pm 0.19 \,\mathrm{ps}^{-1}.$$
(8.1)

Additional supersymmetric contributions of the same sign as the SM ones are therefore strongly constrained, even though there are large uncertainties in the SM prediction mainly due to the CKM matrix elements and hadronic parameters. Supersymmetric contributions include box diagrams with for instance charged Higgs/quark or squark/chargino loops [424] as well as double penguin diagrams with a neutral Higgs boson exchange. The latter give a significant contribution for large values of $\tan \beta$ and were not included in our analysis. The former are important at small values of $\tan \beta$ which are often found in the UMSSM. In particular the charged Higgs/quark box diagram contribution adds to the SM contribution inducing too large values for ΔM_s . One of the dominant contributions, for small values of $\tan \beta$, is proportional to $x \ln x(\cot^4 \beta)$, where $x = m_t^2/m_{H^{\pm}}^2$. This observable thus constrains severely scenarios with $\tan \beta < 1$. The computation of the mass difference is adapted from the routine provided in NMSSMTools [423]. We have also used the same estimate for the theoretical uncertainties. Note that we will more carefully look at this mass differences calculation in chapter 9.

Other observables such as $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$, $\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$ or $\mathscr{B}(B^\pm \to \tau^\pm \nu_\tau)$ are known to receive large supersymmetric contributions when $\tan \beta$ is large, the heavy Higgs doublet is light and/or the squarks are light. The scenario we will study have heavy squarks, Higgs doublets above several hundred GeV's and features small to moderate values of $\tan \beta$, we therefore have not included these constraints. However it could be interesting to check if this choice is safe. As for ΔM_s and ΔM_d , we will consider these observables in chapter 9.

8.3 Relic abundance of sneutrinos

The RH sneutrino couples very weakly to the MSSM particles, its annihilation is therefore primarily through the particles of the extended sector, the new vector boson Z_2 (figure 8.1c) and new scalars (panel (a) and (b) of figure 8.1). The coupling of the RHSN to Z_2 is directly proportional to its U(1)' charge, Q'_{ν} :

$$g_{Z_2\tilde{\nu}_R\tilde{\nu}_R^*} = g_1' \mathcal{Q}_\nu' \cos \alpha_Z, \tag{8.2}$$



Figure 8.1: Main annihilation processes for RH sneutrinos, with $i \in \{1, 2\}$ for panel (b).

with $\cos \alpha_Z \approx 1$. Annihilation of sneutrinos becomes efficient when $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx M_{Z_2}/2$ since the *s*-channel processes can benefit from resonance enhancement.

Sneutrino annihilation also become efficient when $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx m_{h_i}/2$ where h_i can be any neutral CP even Higgs field. The coupling of the sneutrino to neutral scalars reads

$$g_{h_i \tilde{\nu}_R \tilde{\nu}_R^*} = -g_1'^2 \mathcal{Q}_{\nu}' \left[v_d \mathcal{Q}_{H_d}' Z_{hi1} + v_u \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}' Z_{hi2} + v_s \mathcal{Q}_S' Z_{hi3} \right].$$
(8.3)

Since $v_s \gg v$, the largest coupling will be to the predominantly singlet Higgs, for which $Z_{hi3} \approx 1$. Typically the singlet Higgs boson is the one that has a mass close to Z_2 , resonant Higgs annihilation will therefore occur for roughly the same sneutrino mass as the resonant annihilation through Z_2 . The light Higgs boson is dominantly doublet, nevertheless its coupling to sneutrinos receives contributions from all three terms in eq. 8.3 since $v_s \gg v$. This coupling is generally sufficient to have a large cross section enhancement near $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx m_{h_1}/2$. In some cases efficient annihilation can occur away from the resonance, for example annihilation into W/Z pairs through light Higgs boson exchange or, for heavier RHSN's, into light Higgs boson pairs or $t\bar{t}$ pairs through singlet exchange. Note that the sneutrino coupling to the lightest Higgs boson. For some choice of parameters, the couplings of the mostly doublet h_1 to the RHSN can be strongly suppressed, not allowing a large enough enhancement on the annihilation cross section. Specific examples will be presented in section 8.5.

Sneutrinos can also annihilate in neutrino pairs through t-channel exchange of $\widetilde{B'}$ in addition to the usual Z_2 contributions. This process contributes mostly for light $\widetilde{B'}$ and is never the dominant channel. Finally it is also possible to reduce the abundance of sneutrinos through coannihilation processes, this occur when the masses of the NLSP and the LSP are within a few GeV's. Coannihilation can occur with neutralinos, charginos or

other sfermions. Typically, because there is only weak couplings of the RH sneutrino to the rest of the MSSM particles, coannihilation processes involve self-annihilation of the NLSP's and/or NLSP/Next-to-NLSP annihilation. The neutralino NLSP will decay via $\chi_1^0 \rightarrow \tilde{\nu}_R \nu_R$ with a typical lifetime of $10^{-19} - 10^{-17}$ s except when it is almost degenerate with the sneutrino LSP which can lead to an increase of lifetime. The NLSP decay will always occur much before BBN and will not spoil its predictions.

8.4 Direct Detection



Figure 8.2: Main scattering processes of the RH sneutrino.

The cross section for scattering of sneutrinos on nucleons will be purely Spin Independent as the sneutrino is a scalar particle. This process receives contributions from only two types of diagrams : exchange of gauge or Higgs bosons. The gauge boson contribution (figure 8.2a) depends on the vectorial coupling of the fermions f to $Z_{1,2}$, with $Q_V^f = I_3^f - 2\mathcal{Q}^f \sin^2 \theta_W$ for Z and $Q_V'^f = \mathcal{Q}'_f - \mathcal{Q}'_{\bar{f}}$ for Z' where $f \in \{Q, L\}$ and $\bar{f} \in \{u, d, \nu, e\}$. The total gauge boson contribution to the SI cross section on point-like nuclei reads

$$\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^{\mathrm{SI}, \mathbb{Z}_{1,2}} = \frac{\mu_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^2}{\pi} (g_1' \mathcal{Q}_{\nu}')^2 \left[\left(y(1 - 4\sin^2 \theta_W) + y' \right) Z + (-y + 2y')(A - Z) \right]^2, \quad (8.4)$$

where here A and Z are respectively the number of nucleons and protons inside the nucleus and

$$y = \frac{g_Y \sin \alpha_Z \cos \alpha_Z}{4 \sin \theta_W} \left(\frac{1}{M_{Z_2}^2} - \frac{1}{M_{Z_1}^2} \right),$$
$$y' = -\frac{g_1'}{2} Q_V'^d \left(\frac{\sin^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_1}^2} + \frac{\cos^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_2}^2} \right),$$

with $Q_V'^d = -4/\sqrt{40} \cos \theta_{E_6}$. The calculation is given in appendix A. The contribution in $1/M_{Z_2}^2$ in y and the one proportional to $\sin^2 \alpha_Z$ in y' are always suppressed. From

table 7.2 one sees that all fermions have purely axial-vector couplings to Z_{ψ} and that u-quarks also have purely axial vector couplings to Z_{χ} . Therefore the Z' contribution is solely dependent on its coupling to d-quarks, hence the term in $Q'_V{}^d$ in y'. This contribution is expected to be twice as large for neutrons than for protons, see eq. 8.4. In the model $U(1)_{\psi}$, y' = 0 and the cross section will depend on the Z_1 exchange contribution. In this case the amplitude for protons is suppressed by a factor $1-4\sin^2\theta_W$ as compared to that for neutrons. Furthermore the Z_1 contribution proceeds through the Z' component so that the cross section is proportional to $\sin^2 \alpha_Z$. When $\cos \theta_{E_6} \neq 0$ the term in y' usually dominates by about one order of magnitude for a TeV scale Z_2 and the mixing angle $\alpha_Z = 10^{-3}$. In these scenarios only a weak dependence on α_Z is expected, the largest cross sections are expected for $\theta_{E_6} \simeq 0$ corresponding to the maximal value of Q'_V as can be seen in figure 7.1 with Q'_Q in red and Q'_d in green.

The Higgs contribution leads to a cross section

$$\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^{\mathrm{SI},h_i} = \frac{\mu_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^2}{4\pi} \sum_i \frac{g_{h_i \tilde{\nu}_R \tilde{\nu}_R}^2}{m_{h_i}^4 m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}^2} \left((A-Z) \sum_q g_{h_i q \bar{q}} f_q^n m_n + Z \sum_q g_{h_i q \bar{q}} f_q^p m_p \right)^2, \quad (8.5)$$

where $g_{h_i q\bar{q}} = -eZ_{hi1}/(2M_W s_W c_\beta)$ is the Higgs coupling to quarks after the quark mass has been factored out and $g_{h_i \tilde{\nu}_R \tilde{\nu}_R^*}$ is defined in eq. 8.3.

Because of the dependence on the Higgs boson mass and the fact that the Higgs coupling to quarks goes only through the doublet component, the lightest Higgs doublet generally gives the dominant contribution (figure 8.2b). Note that the Higgs contribution is inversely proportional to the square of the sneutrino mass and is therefore expected to dominate at low masses since the $Z_{1,2}$ contribution depends only weakly on the sneutrino mass through the effective mass, $\mu_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}$. Furthermore the Higgs contribution is roughly the same for neutrons and protons. The quark coefficients of the nucleon were taken to be the default values in micrOMEGAs 2.4 (with $f_{u,d,s}^p = 0.033, 0.023, 0.26$ and $f_{u,d,s}^n = 0.042, 0018, 0.26$) [92]. There can be large uncertainties in these coefficients and recent lattice results lead to lower values for the f's, in particular with the parameters given in section 3.5.1.1. However the quark coefficients will have a significant impact only when the Higgs contribution is dominant, that is for sneutrinos below ≈ 100 GeV.

The total SI cross section on point-like nucleus is obtained after averaging over the sneutrino and anti-sneutrino. Note that the interference between the $Z_{1,2}$ and Higgs boson exchange diagrams have opposite signs for $\tilde{\nu}_R N$ and $\tilde{\nu}_R^* N$. Here we assume equal numbers of sneutrino and anti-sneutrinos so that the total cross section is the sum of the $Z_{1,2}$ and Higgs boson contributions. To take into account the fact that the proton and neutron contributions are not necessarily equal, we compute the normalized cross-section on a point-like nucleus,

$$\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^{\rm SI} = \frac{4\mu_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^2}{\pi} \frac{(Zf_p + (A - Z)f_n)^2}{A^2},\tag{8.6}$$

where the average over $\tilde{\nu}_R$ and $\tilde{\nu}_R^*$ is assumed implicitly. This cross-section can be directly compared with the limits on $\sigma_{\chi p}^{\rm SI}$ that is extracted from each experiment.

We first implemented the model in LanHEP [425, 426] in both unitary and Feynman gauges and checked gauge invariance for a large number of processes at tree-level. We then introduced radiative corrections to the Higgs boson masses in the unitary gauge. The dominant radiative corrections from top quarks and stops are listed in appendix B. This code then produces the model file for CalcHEP [427, 428] and micrOMEGAs which thus allows to study the DM properties in the UMSSM, namely the DD cross section as well as the relic abundance of RHSN. To check the gauge invariance involved two other sectors of the UMSSM : the gauge fixing sector and the ghost sector. They are detailed in appendix C.

8.5 Results

The free parameters of the model are $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$, μ , M_1 , M_2 , M'_1 , A_λ , M_{Z_2} , θ_{E_6} , α_Z , as well as all masses and trilinear couplings of sleptons and squarks. To reduce the number of free parameters we fix those that do not belong to the sneutrino or neutralino/Higgs sectors. We thus fix the soft masses of sleptons and squarks to 2 TeV and we take $A_f = 0$ and $A_t = 1$ TeV. We furthermore assume $M_1 = M_2/2 = M_3/6$ as dictated by universality at the GUT scale. Therefore the free parameter space considered is

$$\{m_{\tilde{\nu}_{B}}, \mu, M_{1}, M_{1}', A_{\lambda}, M_{Z_{2}}, \alpha_{Z}, \theta_{E_{6}}\}.$$

We first consider specific choices of θ_{E_6} before letting it be a free parameter.

8.5.1 The case of the $U(1)_{\psi}$ model

As we have discussed above, we expect the relic abundance of the sneutrino DM to be generally too high. The only processes to bring the abundance within the range preferred by the WMAP experiment, *i.e.* $\Omega h^2 = 0.1123 \pm 0.0035$ [209], will be to enhance the annihilation through a resonance effect or make use of coannihilation. We will first describe the typical behaviour of Ωh^2 as a function of the $\tilde{\nu}_R$ mass for fixed values of the free parameters. Once θ_{E_6} is fixed the parameters that have a strong influence on DM are M_{Z_2} the mass of the new gauge boson, A_{λ} that influence the Higgs spectrum, as well as μ and M_1 that determine the region where the sneutrino is LSP through their influence on the neutralino mass. The parameter μ also influences the Higgs mixing matrix and therefore the coupling of the Higgs bosons to sneutrinos. To limit the number of free parameters we will first fix $M_1 = M'_1 = 1$ TeV and rather modify the property of the neutralino NLSP by varying μ . Furthermore allowing to have $\mu < M_1$ will cover the case of the higgsino NLSP which has much higher annihilation cross section than the bino and is therefore more likely to play an important role in coannihilation channels.

8.5.1.1 A case study with $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV

We first consider the case where the new gauge boson is just above the LHC exclusion limit, that is $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV and we fix $\mu = 1$ TeV, $\alpha_Z = -0.001$ and $A_{\lambda} = 1.5$ TeV. For

this choice of parameters, the mass spectrum is such that h_2 is dominantly singlet and has roughly the same mass as the Z_2 while the other heavy Higgs bosons (h_3, A^0, H^{\pm}) are nearly degenerate with a mass around 1.97 TeV. The light Higgs boson has a mass of 136.6 GeV and is safely above the LEP limit despite the small value of $\tan \beta = 2.05$. The lightest neutralino has a mass of 957 GeV and is a mixture of bino and higgsino. The sneutrino is therefore the DM candidate when its mass ranges from a few GeV's up to the mass of the lightest neutralino. The value of Ωh^2 lies below the WMAP upper bound in two regions, the first when $60 \,\text{GeV} \le m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \le 69 \,\text{GeV}$ the second when $734\,\mathrm{GeV} \leq m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \leq 805\,\mathrm{GeV}$. In both regions the annihilation cross section is enhanced significantly by a resonance effect. In the first region the h_1 exchange is enhanced and the preferred annihilation channel is into bb pairs while in the second region the h_2 and Z_2 exchanges are enhanced with a dominant contribution from h_2 . The preferred annihilation channels are into W^+W^- , $t\bar{t}$, h_1h_1 , Z_1Z_1 pairs, the dominant decay modes of h_2 . Note that the decays into gauge bosons proceed through the small doublet component of h_2 . For larger masses of the sneutrino, coannihilation with the lightest neutralino can take place. Coannihilation processes involving pairs of neutralinos annihilating through the heavy pseudoscalar Higgs boson can decrease Ωh^2 such that the WMAP upper bound is satisfied. This occurs when the NLSP-LSP mass difference drops below 60 GeV.



Figure 8.3: Ωh^2 as a function of the LSP mass for $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV. Panel (a) has $\mu = 1$ TeV, $(A_{\lambda} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (1.5, -10^{-3}), (0.1, -10^{-3}), (2., 10^{-4})$ whereas panel (b) corresponds to $\mu = 1.5$ TeV, $(A_{\lambda} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (1.4, -10^{-3}), (1.4, -10^{-4})$ and $\mu = 0.7$ TeV, $(A_{\lambda} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (0.6, -10^{-3})$. Full (dash) lines correspond to the region where the LSP is the RHSN (neutralino).

This general behavior is somewhat influenced by our choice of A_{λ} , μ and α_Z since these parameters influence the masses and mixings of the Higgs doublets and the couplings of sneutrinos to Higgs bosons. For example for $A_{\lambda} = 100$ GeV, the mass of the heavy doublet (which is now h_2) decreases to 592 GeV. The h_2/A^0 exchange contributes to sneutrino annihilation into top pairs thus leading to a decrease of the value of Ωh^2 as one approaches the Higgs resonance, the drop is not significant enough to bring the relic density below the WMAP upper bound, see figure 8.3a. As another example consider the case $A_{\lambda} = 2$ TeV and $\alpha_Z = 10^{-4}$. Here the $h_1 \tilde{\nu}_R \tilde{\nu}_R^*$ coupling is suppressed, Ωh^2 becomes very large and despite a resonance effect when $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx m_{h_1}/2$ the WMAP upper bound can never be satisfied for a sneutrino lighter than 100 GeV, see the green line in figure 8.3a.

The parameter μ induces corrections to the light Higgs mass as well as shifts in the Higgs mixing matrix. In particular increasing μ (and therefore λ) to 1.5 TeV increases the singlet mixing in the light Higgs boson and thus the $h_1 \tilde{\nu}_R \tilde{\nu}_R^*$ coupling. This makes annihilation processes through Higgs exchange more efficient, and gives rise to a new region where Ωh^2 is below the WMAP upper bound when the sneutrino mass is just above the W pair threshold, see figure 8.3b with $A_{\lambda} = 1.4$ TeV. Note that in this case the lightest neutralino has a large bino component and coannihilation is not very efficient. Lowering μ to 700 GeV changes the nature of the lightest neutralino which becomes dominantly higgsino with its mass determined by μ . Thus the range of masses where the sneutrino is the LSP becomes narrower. In fact the singlet Higgs boson/ Z_2 pole annihilation region cannot be reached when the sneutrino is the LSP, the region compatible with WMAP is rather one where higgsino coannihilation dominates. For the green line in figure 8.3b, one can see a significant drop in Ωh^2 near the h_2 resonance, this is however not sufficient to have efficient annihilation of the RHSN.



Figure 8.4: $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI}$ as a function of the LSP mass for the same parameters as figure 8.3. The XENON100 exclusion curve is also displayed.

The Direct Detection Spin Independent cross section receives contributions from both the light Higgs boson and Z_1 exchange. In general for the $U(1)_{\psi}$ scenario, the
cross-section is below the limits from XENON100 [387]. As we have argued above, this is because the Z_1 contribution is directly proportional to $\sin^2 \alpha_Z$. This contribution nevertheless dominates for a mixing angle $|\alpha_Z| = 10^{-3}$ except for small masses. It gives $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R Xe}^{SI} = 1.4 \times 10^{-10}$ pb for $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \geq 200$ GeV and is mostly independent of other input parameters, see figure 8.4a,b. Furthermore the Z_1 contribution is much larger for neutrons than for protons. We take that into account by computing the cross section for scattering on point-like nucleons (here we use Xenon) normalized to one nucleon. For masses in the range 50 - 100 GeV, the SI cross section is enhanced due to the light Higgs exchange contribution which increases at low sneutrino masses, although for this scenario the values are always below the experimental limit. The predictions are in the range $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} = 2 \times 10^{-10} - 3 \times 10^{-10}$ pb for $\alpha_Z = -10^{-3}$. The SI cross section drops rapidly with the mixing angle, for example for $\alpha_Z = |10^{-4}|$, $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} \simeq 10^{-12}$ pb for $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \geq 200 \text{ GeV}$, see figure 8.4a. For small values of the mixing angle, the Z_1 contribution is suppressed and the Higgs boson contribution can become dominant even for masses of a few hundred GeV's, this however corresponds to a low overall cross section, see for example figure 8.4b. The SI cross section can be further suppressed in the limit $\alpha_Z = 0$ and for parameters for which the h_1 coupling to sneutrino is suppressed.

8.5.1.2 Exploration of $U(1)_{\psi}$ parameter space

After having described the general behavior of Ωh^2 and of the DD rates for some choice of parameters, we now search for the region in the parameter space that are compatible with $0.1018 < \Omega h^2 < 0.1228$ corresponding to the WMAP 3σ range [209] as well as with the DD limit of XENON100 [387]. We have further imposed the limits on the Higgs sector from LEP and the LHC and have taken into account the impact of the invisible decay mode of the Higgs boson. We have also used limits on sparticles from LEP as implemented in micrOMEGAs. Note that since we are only considering the case of heavy sfermions, these limits as well as the LHC limits on sparticle masses do not come into play [301, 417]. Finally we have also imposed the constraints from $\Delta M_{d,s}$. We have performed random scans with 5×10^6 points. The ranges for the parameters are listed in table 8.1. As before we here fix all sfermion masses to 2 TeV and neglect all trilinear couplings with the exception of $A_t = 1$ TeV. Note that we impose $\mu > 0$ and therefore consider only positive values for A_{λ} , see eq. 7.30.

The results of the scan as displayed in figure 8.5 show that the allowed values for $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ cover a wide range from 55 GeV to the largest value probed. The allowed points in the plane $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} - M_{Z_2}$ are clustered in three regions around $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx 60$ GeV, around $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx M_{Z_2} - \delta (+\delta')$ with $\delta \approx 70$ GeV ($\delta' \approx 10$ GeV, see figure 8.5a), and $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx 90 - 100$ GeV. The first two are characterized by the main annihilation mechanism near a resonance. The latter corresponds to annihilation through a Higgs boson exchange. As discussed above, this requires a large value for μ , see figure 8.5b. The remaining allowed scenarios correspond to $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx m_{\chi_1^0}$. In most cases the NLSP is an higgsino and $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx \mu$, see figure 8.5b, then important contributions from coannihilation processes involving neutral and charged higgsinos annihilating into fermion pairs are to be added to the sneutrino annihilation processes dominated by the channels into W^+W^- , ZZ through Higgs boson

Parameter	Range
$m_{ ilde{ u}_R}$	[0, 1.5] TeV
M_{Z_2}	$[1.3,3]~{\rm TeV}$
μ	$[0.1,2]~{\rm TeV}$
A_{λ}	[0, 2] TeV
α_Z	[-0.003, 0.003] rad
M_1, M_1'	[0.1, 2] TeV

Table 8.1: Range of the free parameters in the U(1)' models.

exchange. Because μ is constrained by the LEP limit on charginos, the RHSN mass is in this case heavier than ~ 90 GeV. A few cases where the NLSP has an important bino component are also found, those correspond to the points above the line $\mu \approx m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ in figure 8.5b. Note that figure 8.5a illustrates the possibility to relax the bounds on M_{Z_2} in the UMSSM. Indeed several scenarios in the range [1.40, 1.49] TeV are allowed when we re-derived the limits. The reason is that for the $U(1)_{\psi}$ model the Z_2 decays into supersymmetric particles can reach up to 20% especially in cases where the sneutrino is light (hence neutralinos can be light as well) while decays into Higgs and gauge bosons are typically below 10%.



Figure 8.5: The allowed scenarios in the M_{Z_2} vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane (panel (a)) and in the μ vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane (panel (b)). Points excluded by the $\Delta M_{d,s}$ constraint are displayed in red.

In this model, the cross section for LSP scattering on nuclei is dominated by either Higgs or Z_1 exchange and is mostly independent of M_{Z_2} . The Direct Detection cross section can reach at most $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} = 2 \times 10^{-9}$ pb when $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx 50 - 60$ GeV and the light Higgs exchange dominates while the maximal value is only $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} \approx 5 \times 10^{-10}$ pb for sneutrinos above 200 GeV when Z_1 exchange is dominant. These predictions are much below the exclusion limits of XENON100 [387]. Values below $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} = 10^{-13}$ pb can also be obtained, these occur when the Z_1 contribution is suppressed by the small mixing angle and the light Higgs coupling to the LSP is suppressed as well. Cases where coannihilation processes dominate can also lead to small cross sections.

Constraints from $\Delta M_{d,s}$ rule out some parts of the parameter space, in particular the case where $\alpha_Z > 0$ since it leads to values of $\tan \beta < 1$. The allowed points in the $\tan \beta - \alpha_Z$ plane are displayed in figure 8.6b. As mentioned in section 8.2, when $\tan \beta$ is small the charged Higgs box diagram adds to the SM contribution and leads to value for ΔM_s that is too large. This constraint does not influence directly the range of predictions for the DD cross section presented in figure 8.6a, nor does it affect the range of allowed masses for the RHSN.



Figure 8.6: (a) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI}$ as a function of the LSP mass for the allowed scenarios in the $U(1)_{\psi}$ model. (b) Allowed scenarios in the $\tan \beta - \alpha_Z$ plane. Points excluded by ΔM_s are displayed in red.

8.5.2 The case of the $U(1)_n$ model

The properties of the RHSN Dark Matter are dependent on the choice of the U(1)' charges. To illustrate some of the differences we present results for $\theta_{E_6} = -\arctan\sqrt{5/3}$ $(U(1)_{\eta})$ before discussing arbitrary values in the next section. We chose this model for its phenomenological properties. For this value of θ_{E_6} , the coupling of the sneutrino to Z_2

is enhanced as compared to the previous example with $Q'_{\nu} = -\sqrt{5}/2\sqrt{3}$. Furthermore the coupling of the RHSN to h_1 is typically enhanced as compared to the model $U(1)_{\psi}$. Finally the vectorial couplings of Z' to neutrinos and d-quarks are non-zero. Therefore both terms in eq. 8.4 can contribute to the SI cross section, this implies a DD cross section that is much larger than found previously. Nevertheless the vectorial couplings of Z_1 are far enough from their maximal value that it is possible to find scenarios that satisfy Direct Detection limits as will be demonstrated below.

8.5.2.1 A case study with $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV



Figure 8.7: Ωh^2 as a function of the LSP mass for (a) $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV, $\mu = 1.5$ TeV, $A_{\lambda} = 0.5$ TeV, $\alpha_Z = 10^{-3}$ and $M_{Z_2} = 1.6, 2.5$ TeV, $\mu = 1.8$ TeV, $A_{\lambda} = 1.8$ TeV, $\alpha_Z = 10^{-4}$. The dotted lines correspond to the neutralino LSP. (b) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI}$ as a function of the LSP mass for the same choice of parameters.

To illustrate the behaviour of the relic density and the DD rate we choose $M_{Z_2} = 1.6$ TeV, $\alpha_Z = 0.001$, $\mu = 1.5$ TeV and $A_{\lambda} = 0.5$ TeV. For this choice of parameters $m_{h_1} = 116.9$ GeV despite a small value of $\tan \beta = 1.2$. The other doublet-like Higgs boson is around 1.3 TeV while h_3 is nearly degenerate with Z_2 . As for the model $U(1)_{\psi}$, the relic density satisfies the WMAP upper bound in the regions where annihilation into light Higgs boson or singlet Higgs/ Z_2 is enhanced by a resonance effect as well as in a region where annihilation via h_1 exchange is efficient without the benefit of a resonance enhancement. The latter region extends over a wide range of values for the LSP mass because of the large couplings of the sneutrinos to h_1 . The preferred annihilation channels are typically into W^+W^- , $ZZ t\bar{t}$ or h_1h_1 pairs as well as into $b\bar{b}$ for light sneutrinos. Note also that exchange of h_2 can contribute significantly to sneutrino annihilation, see the small dip at $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} = 650$ GeV in figure 8.7a. In this scenario the

Direct Detection cross section is large $(\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} \approx 4.5 \times 10^{-8} \text{ pb for } m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \geq 100 \text{GeV})$ and exceeds the XENON100 bound for a sneutrino LSP below 550 GeV, see figure 8.7b. This is because both the Z_1 and Z_2 contribute significantly to the cross section. Extending the region of validity of sneutrino DM over a larger mass range after considering DD limits thus requires decreasing the mixing angle α_Z and/or increasing the mass of the Z_2 . For example taking $\alpha_Z = 10^{-4}$, $\mu = A_{\lambda} = 1.8$ TeV has the effect of decreasing the relic density - so that it is below the WMAP upper bound for sneutrino masses in the range 90-900 GeV - while also decreasing the SI cross section. Yet the LSP is still constrained to be $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \geq 370$ GeV. In fact the Direct Detection rate decreases by less than a factor of two, this is because the contribution of the Z_2 exchange, the term proportional to $Q_V^{\prime d}$ in eq. 8.4, is not suppressed by $\sin \alpha_Z$. This means that to have sneutrino DM with a mass of a few hundred GeV's also requires increasing the mass of the Z_2 . For example taking $M_{Z_2} = 2.5$ TeV decreases the Direct Detection rate below the XENON100 exclusion for all masses of the LSP. However for this choice of parameters, only light sneutrinos also satisfy the relic density constraint since the heavy sneutrino LSP cannot annihilate through the singlet Z_2 resonance.

Finally we comment on the coannihilation region. We have fixed $M_1 = 1$ TeV, so that the lightest neutralino has a mass ≈ 1 TeV and is dominantly bino. For values of $\mu \leq 1$ TeV, the lightest neutralino has a large higgsino component and coannihilation is efficient. For the benchmarks with $\mu = 1.5$ TeV the coannihilation processes involving binos are not efficient enough to reduce Ωh^2 to a value compatible with WMAP.

8.5.2.2 Exploration of $U(1)_{\eta}$ parameter space

We also explore the parameter space of the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model, varying the parameters in the range shown in table 8.1. As before, we impose in addition to limits on Ωh^2 and on the SI cross section, the lower limit on the Higgs boson and Z_2 mass, and the limit on $\Delta M_{d,s}$. The results are displayed in figure 8.8 in the $M_{Z_2} - m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane, as well as in the $\mu - m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane. As we have discussed above, because Higgs boson annihilation is efficient enough, the sneutrinos are not confined to the h_i, Z_2 resonance region. Sneutrinos from 100 GeV to $M_{Z_2}/2$ can satisfy the relic density constraint, either through pair annihilation or through coannihilation (the region where $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx \mu$). In the former case large values of μ are preferred to have large enough couplings of the sneutrino LSP to h_1 . The DD cross section is large with a maximum value near $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} \approx 10^{-7}$ pb for the whole range of LSP masses (see figure 8.9). Because the experimental limits on the DD rate are more stringent for masses around 80 GeV, light sneutrinos are severely constrained especially when the Z_2 mass is lighter than 2 TeV. The lower bound on the cross section for $M_{Z_2} \leq 3$ TeV is $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI} = 2 \times 10^{-9}$ pb. The typically large Direct Detection rate is the main signature of this scenario. Several points are also constrained by ΔM_s , in particular when $\alpha_Z < 0$ which implies $\tan \beta < 1$. This does not affect the range of values of sneutrino masses compatible with all constraints. As in the $U(1)_{\psi}$ case the limits on the Z_2 mass ($M_{Z_2} > 1.54$ TeV) are weakened. In the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model, the decays into SM particles is even more suppressed, it never exceeds 65%. This is mainly due to a large branching fraction into RH neutrinos (around 30%) as well as into sparticles.



Figure 8.8: The allowed $U(1)_{\eta}$ scenarios in the (a) M_{Z_2} vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane and (b) μ vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane. Points excluded by the $\Delta M_{d,s}$ constraints are plotted in red, those excluded by XENON100 are represented in green and those excluded by both constraints are shown in orange.



Figure 8.9: (a) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X_e}^{SI}$ as a function of the LSP mass for the allowed scenarios in the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model. (b) Allowed scenarios in the $\tan \beta - \alpha_Z$ plane, same colour code as figure 8.8.

8.5.3 A global scan of the parameter space

Having illustrated the properties of the sneutrino DM in specific models we will next explore the complete parameter space of the model by keeping all parameters for the neutralino and gauge boson sector free while imposing the constraints from WMAP, Direct Detection as well as on Higgs boson masses.

The values of θ_{E_6} where the sneutrino is a good DM candidate are restricted. First for $\theta_{E_6} \approx 0$ the value of v_s becomes very large especially when M_{Z_2} is large. This induces large negative corrections to sfermion masses and lead in particular to a charged LSP. For example, for soft terms at 2 TeV the values $-0.2 < \theta_{E_6} < 0.05$ are excluded when $M_{Z_2} = 1$ TeV. Second the DD cross section is often too large when $|\theta_{E_6}| < 0.5$. This is due mainly to the contribution of the Z_2 exchange to the Direct Detection cross section that is proportional to $\cos \theta_{E_6}$. To illustrate this we display the variation of the DD cross section as a function of θ_{E_6} for different values of M_{Z_2} in figure 8.10. We choose $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} = M_{Z_2}/2$ so as to guarantee that the WMAP upper bound is satisfied and fix $\mu = M_{Z_2}/2 + 0.5$ TeV in each case to ensure that the sneutrino is the LSP. We have also fixed for the other sfermions $m_{\tilde{t}} = 2$ TeV. The DD bounds are easily satisfied near $\theta_{E_6} = \pm \pi/2$ because of the suppressed contribution of the $Z_{1,2}$ vectorial coupling, see figure 8.10. The mixing angle α_Z has only a moderate impact on the Direct Detection rate, while increasing the mass of the Z_2 reduces the SI cross section, except when $\theta_{E_6} = \theta_{\psi}$ as we have seen in section 8.5.1. Note that for $\alpha_Z < 0$ there is a dip in the cross section near $\theta_{E_6} = \pm \pi/2$, this is because of a cancellation between the y and y' contributions in eq. 8.4 in the cross section on neutrons. As a side comment note that for $\theta_{E_6} \simeq 0.42\pi$ the RH sneutrino is decoupled, which corresponds to the $U(1)_N$ model that was mentioned in section 7.3.



Figure 8.10: $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X_e}^{SI}$ as a function of θ_{E_6} for $(M_{Z_2} (\text{TeV}), \alpha_Z) = (1.7, 10^{-3}), (1.7, -10^{-4}), (3, 10^{-4}), \mu = M_{Z_2}/2 + 0.5 \text{ TeV}, A_{\lambda} = 1 \text{ TeV}$ and $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} = M_{Z_2}/2.$

For the random scans we choose the same range as in table 8.1 with in addition $-\pi/2 \leq \theta_{E_6} \leq \pi/2$. As before, we have applied the constraints on M_{Z_2} from the LHC and on α_Z . We have imposed the constraint from XENON100 [387] and from ΔM_s a

posteriori to better illustrate the impact of these constraints. The successful scenarios are displayed in figure 8.11a in the $M_{Z_2} - \theta_{E_6}$ plane. The white region at small values of θ_{E_6} have a charged fermion LSP. Many scenarios with $-\pi/4 < \theta_{E_6} < 0$ have too large a Direct Detection rate as was the case for the model $U(1)_{\eta}$. The value of the DD cross section span several orders of magnitude from less than 10^{-13} pb to 2×10^{-7} pb (see figure 8.11b). In particular for sneutrino masses around 100 GeV there are many models which exceed the Direct Detection limit. These are scenarios with $\theta_{E_6} < 0$ where the sneutrino coupling to light Higgs boson allows efficient annihilation even away from resonance as discussed in the case of $U(1)_{\eta}$. The enhanced couplings to the Higgs boson as well as the coupling to the $Z_{1,2}$ lead to a large DD rate. Models with $\theta_{E_6} > 0$ have only light sneutrinos in that mass range when coannihilation plays a role and therefore tends to have much lower Direct Detection rate. In fact even for heavier masses models with $\theta_{E_6} > 0$ predict smaller Direct Detection rates as discussed above.



Figure 8.11: (a) Allowed scenarios in the M_{Z_2} vs. θ_{E_6} plane, the models above the XENON100 bound are in green. (b) $\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R X e}^{SI}$ as a function of $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$. In blue $\theta_{E_6} < 0$ and in red $\theta_{E_6} > 0$.

The processes that can contribute to Ωh^2 were discussed both in the context of $U(1)_{\psi}$ and $U(1)_{\eta}$ models. In the general case we find similar results. We find a predominance of annihilation near a h_1 or singlet Higgs/ Z_2 resonance as well as annihilation into gauge boson pairs through h_1 exchange. The latter being confined to sneutrino masses just above the W pair threshold when $\theta_{E_6} > 0$. These regions have a high density of points in the plane $M_{Z_2} - m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ in figure 8.12a. For $\theta_{E_6} > 0$ the only other allowed scenarios have $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} \approx \mu$ as displayed in figure 8.12b. These are dominated by higgsino coannihilation. For $\theta_{E_6} < 0$, sneutrinos of masses above 100 GeV can also annihilate efficiently through h_1 exchange provided their coupling to h_1 is large enough - this requires large values of μ . In both figures we have imposed the $\Delta M_{d,s}$ constraint although we do not display explicitly its impact. As discussed in the previous section this constraint plays a role for small values of tan β for any values of the LSP mass. Figure 8.13a displays the allowed scenarios in the tan β - α_Z plane. The dependence on the θ_{E_6} angle can be understood by looking at figure 7.1 and eq. 7.18. Actually we recall that the invariance of the UMSSM superpotential under U(1)' leads to $Q'_{H_d} + Q'_{H_u} = -Q'_S$. Then since figure 7.1 shows that $Q'_S(-\theta_{E_6}) = -Q'_S(\theta_{E_6})$ it results that for the same set of parameters a θ_{E_6} of the opposite sigh needs to change the sign of α_Z too. Note finally that as seen in the cases of $U(1)_{\psi}$ and $U(1)_{\eta}$ the branching ratio of Z_2 into SM particles tends to be decreased for negative values of θ_{E_6} mainly due to the enhancement of $Z_2 \rightarrow \nu_R \nu_R^*$ processes (see figure 8.13b,c).



Figure 8.12: The allowed scenarios in the (a) M_{Z_2} vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane and (b) μ vs. $m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}$ plane after applying all constraints. Same colour code as in figure 8.11.

8.6 Conclusions

The RH sneutrino is a viable thermal DM candidates in U(1) extensions of the MSSM. The allowed parameter space depends strongly on the value of the new Z_2 vector boson mass. Sneutrino annihilation is typically dominated by resonance annihilation, with in particular the dominant contribution from the Higgs sector rather than from the new gauge boson Z_2 . For the light Higgs boson this requires fine tuning of the masses while for the heavy singlet Higgs boson the mass difference has to be within 15% (of $m_{h_i}/2$). As in other supersymmetric models, coannihilation processes can also be important. For simplicity we have only discussed the case of one sneutrino Dark Matter candidate, in the case of complete degeneracy of three sneutrinos the relic density increases by a factor 3. Indeed the annihilation cross section is the same for all sneutrino flavours



Figure 8.13: (a) Allowed scenarios in the $\tan \beta$ - α_Z plane, (b) branching ratio of the Z_2 into SM particles and (c) branching ratio of the Z_2 into RH neutrinos as a function of M_{Z_2} . Same colour code as in figure 8.11.

since there is never a significant contribution from annihilation into neutrino pairs, thus the increase in the number of channels is compensated by the increase in the degrees of freedom leading to a smaller effective annihilation cross section. This will imply a narrower range of masses for the LSP near $m_{h_i}/2$.

The Direct Detection limit is very stringent for a whole class of models unless the mass of the Z_2 is above 2 TeV. The scenarios with $\theta_{E_6} < 0$ will be best tested with SI detectors with improved sensitivities. In particular with a factor of 2 better sensitivity the whole region with intermediate masses for the sneutrinos - when annihilation into W pairs is dominant - could be probed. The scenarios with $\theta_{E_6} > 0$ are more challenging

to probe via DD. Another signature of the RHSN model is that of a new gauge boson at the LHC. In fact the results from searches for Z_2 gauge bosons at the LHC have had a significant impact on the parameter space of the model and pushed one of the favoured region for the sneutrino LSP to be near 800 GeV. A Z_2 up to several TeV's will be probed when the energy of the LHC is increased to 14 TeV. A negative result from such a search will imply a much reduced rate for Direct Detection searches as well. Indirect searches could also provide a good probe of the RHSN model, these will be investigated separately.

New data on Z' searches and DM observables put even more stringent constraints on this study. In particular the 2012 limits obtained by the XENON100 collaboration probe almost all the parameter space explored in the scan of the $U(1)_{\eta}$ parameter space. Nevertheless as said above with the increased lower bound on the Z_2 boson the DD cross-section would be reduced in this region of the parameter space. Now with the Higgs boson discovery more constraints can be used on the Higgs sector of the UMSSM. This will be analysed in next chapter.

In this analysis we have assumed that Dirac neutrinos were very light (sub-eV range). As said in section 7.4.2 such RH Dirac neutrinos could lead to a faster expansion rate of the Universe and predict too much ⁴He. The resulting constraints on the mass of the new gauge bosons in the E_6 model were analysed in [377] and compatibility with BBN resulted into lower limits on the Z' mass in the multi-TeV range assuming the effective number of neutrinos was increased by 0.3. Nevertheless recent LHC bounds remain competitive when we consider a number of additional neutrinos $\Delta N_{\nu} \geq 0.5$ which is within the 2σ error bars of the last combination of Planck data with WMAP polarization data, high- ℓ CMB and BAO data which gives an effective number of neutrino-like relativistic degrees of freedom of $N_{\rm eff} = 3.30^{+0.54}_{-0.51}$ [31].

9

The Higgs sector and low energy observables in the UMSSM

Contents

9.1 The	Higgs sector in the UMSSM 164
9.1.1	Radiative corrections through an effective potential 164
9.1.2	Higgs bosons signal strengths in the UMSSM $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 166$
9.2 Flav	our constraints on the UMSSM
9.2.1	$\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau}) \dots \dots$
9.2.2	$\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$
9.2.3	ΔM_s and ΔM_d
9.2.4	$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $
9.2.5	$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \mu^+ \mu^-)$
9.3 The anomalous magnetic moment of the muon in the UMSSM179	
9.3.1	Standard prediction
9.3.2	New contributions
9.4 Scanning the $U(1)_{\eta}$ parameters $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	
9.5 Numerical results	
9.6 Discussion	

Motivated by the Higgs boson discovery which gives stringent constraints on BSM physics, we reconsider the analysis of Dark Matter properties in the UMSSM taking into account Higgs boson observables as well as new low energy observables and Direct Detection of Dark Matter. To this end we improve the computation of the Higgs boson mass and develop tools to compute low energy observables. We consider a much larger set of observables than in the previous chapter including those that are known to be relevant in SUSY. The computation of the theoretical predictions for *B*-physics observables in this model is based on several routines contained in the NMSSMTools code [423]. We have modified and adapted this code to compute observables within the UMSSM.

9.1 The Higgs sector in the UMSSM

We first describe how the calculation of the corrected Higgs boson masses are modified as compared to chapter 8 and we will see how the Higgs bosons signal strengths are computed in this model. Recall that as mentioned in chapter 7 because of new contributions from U(1) *D*-terms, in addition to those from the superpotential as in the NMSSM, a Higgs boson mass of 125 GeV is easily obtained in this model.

9.1.1 Radiative corrections through an effective potential

For the study described in chapter 8 we implemented the UMSSM model in LanHEP at tree-level in unitary and Feynman gauges and checked gauge invariance. Radiative corrections to the Higgs boson masses were just added in the unitary gauge through a Coleman-Weinberg potential [358] and only the dominant (due to their large Yukawa couplings) one-loop contributions from the top quark and the stops loops were considered following [357]. At the time there was no need for a greater precision. However, after the discovery of a new boson and a precise measurement of its mass, it is important to make a precise theoretical prediction of at least the SM-like Higgs boson. We thus introduced the radiative corrections through the effective Lagrangian approach following the method used in the MSSM [429] and in the NMSSM [359]. This ensures a gauge invariant treatment¹.

The following effective potential is used :

$$V_{\text{UMSSM}}^{\text{eff}} = \lambda_1 |H_d|^4 / 2 + \lambda_2 |H_u|^4 / 2 + \lambda_3 |H_d|^2 |H_u|^2 + \lambda_4 |H_u \cdot H_d|^2 + \lambda_5 ((H_u \cdot H_d)^2 + (H_u \cdot H_d)^{\dagger 2}) / 2 + (\lambda_6 |H_d|^2 + \lambda_7 |H_u|^2) ((H_u \cdot H_d) + (H_u \cdot H_d)^{\dagger}) + \lambda_s (SH_u \cdot H_d + S^* (H_u \cdot H_d)^{\dagger}).$$
(9.1)

Among the λ 's, λ_s is the only dimensionful parameter. The λ 's contain some of the corrections that are considered in a recent update of the NMSSM model files in the

¹Here a restricted number of operators was considered. See [430] for an analysis of a general effective scalar potential involving two doublets and a singlet Higgs field.

micrOMEGAs - NMSSMTools interface [94], namely 1- and 2-loop (s)top and (s)bottom corrections, removing all the pure NMSSM terms not present in the UMSSM. In the present work we decide, as in the work done in [357], to not consider pure UMSSM corrections as one-loop gauge contributions since the U(1)' gauge coupling is small compared to the Yukawa coupling of the top quark.

In this framework, we have to modify the minimization conditions given in eq. 7.26 in order to minimize the corrected Higgs potential :

$$\begin{pmatrix} m_{H_d}^c \end{pmatrix}^2 = (m_{H_d})^2 + \lambda_s \frac{v_s v_u}{\sqrt{2} v_d} - \lambda_1 \frac{v_d^2}{2} - (\lambda_3 + \lambda_4 + \lambda_5) \frac{v_u^2}{2} + 3\lambda_6 \frac{v_u v_d}{2} + \lambda_7 \frac{v_u^3}{2 v_d}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} m_{H_u}^c \end{pmatrix}^2 = (m_{H_u})^2 + \lambda_s \frac{v_s v_d}{\sqrt{2} v_u} - \lambda_2 \frac{v_u^2}{2} - (\lambda_3 + \lambda_4 + \lambda_5) \frac{v_d^2}{2} + \lambda_6 \frac{v_d^3}{2 v_u} + 3\lambda_7 \frac{v_u v_d}{2}, \\ (m_S^c)^2 = (m_S)^2 + \lambda_s \frac{v_u v_d}{\sqrt{2} v_s}.$$
 (9.2)

We are now able to rewrite the Higgs mass matrices. The corrected CP-even masssquared matrix elements $(\mathcal{M}^c_+)_{ij}$ are

$$(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{c})_{11} = (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0})_{11} + \lambda_{1}v_{d}^{2} + \left(\lambda_{s}\frac{v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}} - 3\lambda_{6}\frac{v_{d}^{2}}{2} + \lambda_{7}\frac{v_{u}^{2}}{2}\right)\frac{v_{u}}{v_{d}}, (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{c})_{12} = (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0})_{12} + (\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})v_{u}v_{d} - \frac{3}{2}(\lambda_{6}v_{d}^{2} + \lambda_{7}v_{u}^{2}) - \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}}, (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{c})_{13} = (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0})_{13} - \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{u}}{\sqrt{2}}, (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{c})_{22} = (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0})_{22} + \lambda_{2}v_{u}^{2} + \left(\lambda_{s}\frac{v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}} + \lambda_{6}\frac{v_{d}^{2}}{2} - 3\lambda_{7}\frac{v_{u}^{2}}{2}\right)\frac{v_{d}}{v_{u}}, (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{c})_{23} = (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0})_{23} - \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}}, (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{c})_{33} = (\mathcal{M}_{+}^{0})_{33} + \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{u}v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}v_{s}}.$$

The CP-odd elements read

$$(\mathcal{M}_{-}^{c})_{11} = (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{0})_{11} + \left(\lambda_{6}\frac{v_{d}^{2}}{2} + \lambda_{7}\frac{v_{u}^{2}}{2} - \lambda_{5}v_{u}v_{d} + \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\frac{v_{u}}{v_{d}}, (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{c})_{12} = (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{0})_{12} + \lambda_{6}\frac{v_{d}^{2}}{2} + \lambda_{7}\frac{v_{u}^{2}}{2} - \lambda_{5}v_{u}v_{d} + \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}}, (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{c})_{13} = (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{0})_{13} + \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{u}}{\sqrt{2}}, (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{c})_{22} = (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{0})_{22} + \left(\lambda_{6}\frac{v_{d}^{2}}{2} + \lambda_{7}\frac{v_{u}^{2}}{2} - \lambda_{5}v_{u}v_{d} + \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\frac{v_{d}}{v_{u}}, (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{c})_{23} = (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{0})_{23} + \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}}, (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{c})_{33} = (\mathcal{M}_{-}^{0})_{33} + \lambda_{s}\frac{v_{u}v_{d}}{\sqrt{2}v_{s}}.$$

which allow us to write the corrected pseudoscalar mass-squared

$$(m_{A^{0}}^{c})^{2} = (m_{A^{0}})^{2} + \frac{v^{2}}{v_{s}v_{u}v_{d}} \left\{ \sqrt{2\lambda_{s}} \left(v_{s}^{2} + \left(\frac{v_{u}v_{d}}{v}\right)^{2} \right) - 2\lambda_{5}v_{s}v_{u}v_{d} + \lambda_{6}v_{s}v_{d}^{2} + \lambda_{7}v_{s}v_{u}^{2} + \left(\frac{\sqrt{2}\lambda_{s}}{v_{s}} \left(v_{s}^{2} + \left(\frac{v_{u}v_{d}}{v}\right)^{2} \right) - 2\lambda_{5}v_{s}v_{u}v_{d} + \lambda_{6}v_{s}v_{d}^{2} + \lambda_{7}v_{s}v_{u}^{2} \right)^{2} + \left\{ \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{2}\lambda_{s}}{v_{s}} \left(\frac{v_{u}v_{d}}{v} \right)^{2} \left(-2\lambda_{5}v_{s}v_{u}v_{d} + \lambda_{6}v_{s}v_{d}^{2} + \lambda_{7}v_{s}v_{u}^{2} \right)^{2}} - 4\sqrt{2}\lambda_{s} \left(\frac{v_{u}v_{d}}{v} \right)^{2} \left(-2\lambda_{5}v_{s}v_{u}v_{d} + \lambda_{6}v_{s}v_{d}^{2} + \lambda_{7}v_{s}v_{u}^{2} \right)} \right\}}.$$

$$(9.5)$$

Finally, the charged Higgs mass is corrected as

$$(m_{H^{\pm}}^{c})^{2} = (m_{H^{\pm}})^{2} + \left(\lambda_{s}\frac{v_{s}}{\sqrt{2}} + \lambda_{6}\frac{v_{d}^{2}}{2} + \lambda_{7}\frac{v_{u}^{2}}{2}\right)\left(\frac{v_{u}}{v_{d}} + \frac{v_{d}}{v_{u}}\right) - (\lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})\frac{v^{2}}{2}.$$
 (9.6)

9.1.2 Higgs bosons signal strengths in the UMSSM

To compute the signal strength as defined in eq. 6.2 for the case of Higgs bosons decaying into photons when they are produced by gluon-gluon fusion, we adapted to the UMSSM the NMHDECAY code contained in NMSSMTools [431, 297]. Let us look at the determination of the Higgs bosons reduced couplings, relative to a SM Higgs boson with the same mass, which are obtained with tree-level interactions. The reduced Higgs couplings $C_f^{h_i,A^0}$ to a fermion f relative to the SM Higgs coupling read :

$$C_{q_{d},\ell^{\pm}}^{h_{i}} = \frac{Z_{hi1}}{\cos\beta}, \qquad C_{q_{u}}^{h_{i}} = \frac{Z_{hi2}}{\sin\beta}, \\ C_{q_{d},\ell^{\pm}}^{A^{0}} = \frac{Z_{A31}}{\cos\beta}, \qquad C_{q_{u}}^{A^{0}} = \frac{Z_{A32}}{\sin\beta},$$
(9.7)

where $q_d(q_u)$ are down- (up-) type quarks and ℓ^{\pm} corresponds to charged leptons. The reduced couplings of CP-even Higgs bosons to W bosons² read as in the NMSSM

$$C_{W^{\pm}}^{h_i} = \cos\beta Z_{hi1} + \sin\beta Z_{hi2}. \tag{9.8}$$

However, unlike the (N)MSSM, the reduced couplings of CP-even Higgs bosons to Z_1 bosons are not exactly the same than for W's here since there is a Z' component in Z_1 . The expression is

$$C_{Z_{1}}^{h_{i}} = \cos^{2} \alpha_{Z} (\cos \beta Z_{hi1} + \sin \beta Z_{hi2}) + 4 \cos \alpha_{Z} \sin \alpha_{Z} \sin \theta_{W} \frac{g_{1}'}{g_{Y}} (\cos \beta Z_{hi1} - \sin \beta Z_{hi2}) + 4 \sin^{2} \alpha_{Z} \frac{\sin^{2} \theta_{W}}{v} \frac{g_{1}'^{2}}{g_{Y}^{2}} \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime 2} v_{d} Z_{hi1} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime 2} v_{u} Z_{hi2} + \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime 2} v_{s} Z_{hi3} \right).$$
(9.9)

 $^{^2 {\}rm Since}$ the scalar-massive vector coupling is CP-even, there is no such tree-level coupling with a CP-odd Higgs boson.

Since gluons and photons are massless particles, they do not couple directly to the different Higgs bosons. To get the reduced couplings of Higgs bosons to gg, $\gamma\gamma$ and γZ_1 , respectively $C_g^{h_i,A^0}, C_{\gamma}^{h_i,A^0}$ and $C_{\gamma Z_1}^{h_i,A^0}$, we must consider charged particle loops³. To do that we again adapted the NMHDECAY code to the UMSSM. We then consider the loop contributions listed in figure 9.1. We also automatically consider QCD radiative corrections for the quark contributions that are included in the NMHDECAY code.



Figure 9.1: Triangle one-loop contributions to the $\gamma\gamma$ and γZ_1 reduced couplings (a, b, c) and to the gg reduced couplings (d, e), with $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and $j \in \{1, 2\}$. $f(\tilde{f})$ stands for (s)fermions and $q(\tilde{q})$ stands for (s)quarks.

As can be seen there are contributions which imply the coupling of Higgs bosons to sfermions. Considering up-type squarks, we have the following couplings :

$$\lambda_{\tilde{u}_{L}}^{h_{i}} = -\frac{3g_{2}^{2} - g_{Y}^{2}}{12} \left(v_{d} Z_{hi1} - v_{u} Z_{hi2} \right) - g_{1}^{\prime 2} \mathcal{Q}_{Q}^{\prime} (\mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime} v_{d} Z_{hi1} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime} v_{u} Z_{hi2} + \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime} v_{s} Z_{hi3}), \qquad (9.10)$$

$$\lambda_{\tilde{u}_R}^{h_i} = -\frac{g_Y^2}{3} \left(v_d Z_{hi1} - v_u Z_{hi2} \right) - g_1'^2 \mathcal{Q}_u' (\mathcal{Q}_{H_d}' v_d Z_{hi1} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}' v_u Z_{hi2} + \mathcal{Q}_S' v_s Z_{hi3}).$$
(9.11)

where we recall that the Q's are given in table 7.2. In the same way we have for down-

 $^{^{3}}$ For a review on the loop contributions to the Higgs boson decays into photons and gluons see [432] for the SM and [433] for the MSSM.

type squarks :

$$\lambda_{\tilde{d}_{L}}^{h_{i}} = \frac{3g_{2}^{2} + g_{Y}^{2}}{12} \left(v_{d}Z_{hi1} - v_{u}Z_{hi2} \right) - g_{1}^{\prime 2} \mathcal{Q}_{Q}^{\prime} \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime} v_{d}Z_{hi1} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime} v_{u}Z_{hi2} + \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime} v_{s}Z_{hi3} \right),$$
(9.12)

$$\lambda_{\tilde{d}_R}^{h_i} = \frac{g_{\tilde{Y}}}{6} \left(v_d Z_{hi1} - v_u Z_{hi2} \right) - g_1'^2 \mathcal{Q}_d' (\mathcal{Q}_{H_d}' v_d Z_{hi1} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}' v_u Z_{hi2} + \mathcal{Q}_S' v_s Z_{hi3}).$$
(9.13)

For the charged sleptons, the expressions read :

$$\lambda_{\tilde{e}_L}^{h_i} = \frac{g_2^2 - g_Y^2}{4} \left(v_d Z_{hi1} - v_u Z_{hi2} \right) - g_1'^2 \mathcal{Q}_Q' \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_d}' v_d Z_{hi1} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}' v_u Z_{hi2} + \mathcal{Q}_S' v_s Z_{hi3} \right),$$
(9.14)

$$\lambda_{\tilde{e}_R}^{h_i} = \frac{g_Y^2}{2} \left(v_d Z_{hi1} - v_u Z_{hi2} \right) - g_1'^2 \mathcal{Q}_e' \left(\mathcal{Q}_{H_d}' v_d Z_{hi1} + \mathcal{Q}_{H_u}' v_u Z_{hi2} + \mathcal{Q}_S' v_s Z_{hi3} \right).$$
(9.15)

Therefore we obtain for the third generations :

$$\lambda_{\tilde{t}_{j}}^{h_{i}} = \left[\lambda_{\tilde{u}_{L}}^{h_{i}} - h_{t}^{2}v_{u}Z_{hi2}\right] Z_{\tilde{t}j1}^{2} + \left[\lambda_{\tilde{u}_{R}}^{h_{i}} - h_{t}^{2}v_{u}Z_{hi2}\right] Z_{\tilde{t}j2}^{2} + h_{t} \left[\sqrt{2}(\mu Z_{hi1} - A_{t}Z_{hi2}) + \lambda v_{d}Z_{hi3}\right] Z_{\tilde{t}j1}Z_{\tilde{t}j2}, \qquad (9.16)$$

$$\lambda_{\tilde{b}_{j}}^{h_{i}} = \left[\lambda_{\tilde{d}_{L}}^{h_{i}} - h_{b}^{2}v_{d}Z_{hi1}\right] Z_{\tilde{b}_{j1}}^{2} + \left[\lambda_{\tilde{d}_{R}}^{h_{i}} - h_{b}^{2}v_{d}Z_{hi1}\right] Z_{\tilde{b}_{j2}}^{2} + h_{b} \left[\sqrt{2}(\mu Z_{hi2} - A_{b}Z_{hi1}) + \lambda v_{u}Z_{hi3}\right] Z_{\tilde{b}_{j1}}Z_{\tilde{b}_{j2}}, \qquad (9.17)$$

$$\lambda_{\tilde{\tau}_{j}}^{h_{i}} = \left[\lambda_{\tilde{e}_{L}}^{h_{i}} - h_{\tau}^{2} v_{d} Z_{hi1}\right] Z_{\tilde{\tau}_{j1}}^{2} + \left[\lambda_{\tilde{e}_{R}}^{h_{i}} - h_{\tau}^{2} v_{d} Z_{hi1}\right] Z_{\tilde{\tau}_{j2}}^{2} \\ + h_{\tau} \left[\sqrt{2}(\mu Z_{hi2} - A_{\tau} Z_{hi1}) + \lambda v_{u} Z_{hi3}\right] Z_{\tilde{\tau}_{j1}} Z_{\tilde{\tau}_{j2}},$$
(9.18)

where $h_f(A_f)$ with $f \in \{t, b, \tau\}$ are the Yukawa (trilinear) couplings and the $Z_{\tilde{f}jk}$ with $\tilde{f} \in \{\tilde{t}, \tilde{b}, \tilde{\tau}\}$ and $j, k \in \{1, 2\}$ are the elements of the diagonalisation matrices in the sfermion sector which stem from the mixing between the chirality eigenstates $\tilde{F} = (\tilde{f}_L, \tilde{f}_R)$ with the mass eigenstates defined as $\tilde{f}_j = Z_{\tilde{f}jk}\tilde{F}_k$. As in the NMSSMTools code we compute the running Yukawa couplings, λ as well as the Higgs VEVs at the SUSY scale.

For the contributions in figure 9.1b, we need the couplings of the neutral Higgs bosons to the charginos. In the UMSSM they read :

$$\lambda_{\chi_{k}^{\pm}}^{h_{i}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[g_{2} (Z_{uk2} Z_{vk1} Z_{hi1} + Z_{uk1} Z_{vk2} Z_{hi2}) + \lambda Z_{uk2} Z_{vk2} Z_{hi3} \right], \tag{9.19}$$

$$\lambda_{\chi_{k}^{\pm}}^{A^{0}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[g_{2} (Z_{uk2} Z_{vk1} Z_{A31} + Z_{uk1} Z_{vk2} Z_{A32}) - \lambda Z_{uk2} Z_{vk2} Z_{A33} \right], \qquad (9.20)$$

where we recall that the rotation matrices in the chargino sector $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{u}}$ and $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{v}}$ are defined as in the MSSM by $\chi_k^- = Z_{ukl}\psi_l^-$ and $\chi_k^+ = Z_{vkl}\psi_l^+$, with $k, l \in \{1, 2\}$ and the gauge eigenstates $\psi^- = (\widetilde{W}^-, \widetilde{H}_d^-)$ and $\psi^+ = (\widetilde{W}^+, \widetilde{H}_u^+)$.

Now that we saw the main contributions that enters in the calculation of the reduced couplings of Higgs bosons to gg, $\gamma\gamma$ and γZ_1 , we can compute an example of Higgs bosons signal strength. Here we look at the case of an Higgs boson decaying into photons when it is produced by gluon-gluon fusion. The signal strength reads

$$\mu_{H \to \gamma\gamma}^{\rm ggF} = C_g^{H^2} \frac{\mathscr{B}(H \to \gamma\gamma)_{\rm UMSSM}}{\mathscr{B}(H \to \gamma\gamma)_{\rm SM}},\tag{9.21}$$

where $H \in \{h_1, h_2, h_3, A^0\}$. To compute the *H* total width and then each decays we also use the NMHDECAY routine with the couplings defined above. For some Higgs decays, like in other Higgs bosons, we use the Feynman rules derived with LanHEP which are given to our modified NMHDECAY routine.

9.2 Flavour constraints on the UMSSM

Indirect constraints coming from the flavour sector, especially those involving *B*-mesons, have been shown to play an important role in defining the allowed parameter space of BSM and especially supersymmetric models, *e.g.* [434, 435, 436, 423]. Recent progress both on the experimental side (better determination of CKM matrix elements, improvement in the search for rare decays) and on the theoretical side (precise determination of several hadronic parameters using lattice QCD simulations, better estimation of SM contributions) force us to add more constraints coming from *B*-physics as compared to our previous study discussed in chapter 8. Many of these constraints are generalized straightforwardly from the NMSSM case adapting the NMSSMTools routines that calculate these observables to our model [423]. By looking at MFV (namely flavour violation occurs only through the CKM matrix), we will show in the following how the Higgs sector and the supersymmetric particles of the UMSSM can impact the observables $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau}), \, \mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-), \, \Delta M_s, \, \Delta M_d, \, \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ and $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \mu^+ \mu^-)$.

9.2.1 $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm}\nu_{\tau})$

The branching ratio $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm}\nu_{\tau})$ has the specificity to get a BSM contribution directly at tree level (figure 9.2). This contribution is the same as in the MSSM, coming from a charged Higgs, so no peculiar pure UMSSM contribution appears here. A destructive interference is obtained between the W^{\pm} and H^{\pm} contributions and implies a modification in the expression for the branching ratio :

$$\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau}) = \frac{G_F^2 M_{B^{\pm}} m_{\tau^{\pm}}^2}{8\pi} \left(1 - \frac{m_{\tau^{\pm}}^2}{M_{B^{\pm}}^2}\right)^2 f_B^2 \left|V_{ub}\right|^2 \tau_{B^{\pm}} r_H \,, \tag{9.22}$$

with the parameterization of the deviation from the SM calculation given by r_H whose expression, useful for large tan β values, was obtained in [437] :

$$r_H = \left[1 - \left(\frac{M_{B^{\pm}}}{m_{H^{\pm}}}\right)^2 \frac{\tan^2 \beta}{1 + \tilde{\varepsilon}_0 \tan \beta}\right]^2, \qquad (9.23)$$

where the $\tilde{\varepsilon}_0$ parameter is computed using sparticle loops as defined in the MSSM [438] and the contribution coming from the neutralino sector is a straightforward generalization to the UMSSM of the expressions in the NMSSM [423].

The values of the different SM parameters are given in table 9.1. In our preliminary scan these parameters will be fixed. However some of them could be considered as nuisance parameters as we did in the study described in chapter 5 because of their large uncertainty, especially in the case of the puzzle in the inclusive/exclusive measurements of the CKM matrix element $|V_{ub}|$ (see e.g. [439]).

Parameter	Value
G_F	$1.1663787 \ 10^{-5} \ \mathrm{GeV}^{-2}$
$\alpha_s(M_{Z_1})$	0.1184 ± 0.0007
$M_{B^{\pm}}$	$5279.25~{\rm MeV}$
f_B	$189 \pm 4 \text{ MeV} [440]$
$ V_{ub} $	$(4.15 \pm 0.49) \times 10^{-3}$
$ au_{B^{\pm}}$	$(1.641 \pm 0.008) \times 10^{-12} \text{ s}$

Table 9.1: SM parameters entering in the $\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm}\nu_{\tau})$ calculation and their uncertainty if non-negligible. From [29] unless noted otherwise.



Figure 9.2: W boson (plain) and charged Higgs (dashed) contribution to $\mathscr{B}(B^+ \to \tau^+ \nu_{\tau})$.

Past discrepancy between the SM and experimental values of this branching ratio is now less obvious with the new result from the Belle Collaboration [441]; a recent world average provided by the UTfit collaboration [442] reads

$$\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau})_{\text{exp}} = (0.99 \pm 0.25) \times 10^{-4}.$$
 (9.24)

Meanwhile the CKM fitter global fit result provided at the ICHEP 2012 conference [443] gives for the SM contribution

$$\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau})_{\rm SM} = (0.796^{+0.088}_{-0.087}) \times 10^{-4}.$$
(9.25)

Since we consider BSM effects on low energy observables, we will not use throughout this work the global SM fits of CKM matrix elements [444, 445]. Then some discrepancies are expected between our *SM-only* prediction of a low energy observable and the usual SM precise predictions. Here the discrepancy is mainly driven by $|V_{ub}|$; we get

$$\mathscr{B}(B^{\pm} \to \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau})_{\text{SM-only}} = (1.09 \pm 0.26) \times 10^{-4}.$$
 (9.26)

We will then carefully analyse the effects of supersymmetric contributions by looking at $\tan \beta$ and $m_{H^{\pm}}$.

9.2.2 $\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$

The branching ratio $\mathscr{B}(B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$ is known as one of the best observables to probe BSM effects on low energy physics, especially at the LHC. The LHCb collaboration released at the end of 2012 the first evidence for the decay $B^0_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ [245]. They get

$$\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{\exp} = (3.2^{+1.5}_{-1.2}) \times 10^{-9}.$$
 (9.27)

Comparing to recent SM predictions

$$\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{\rm SM,1} = (3.23 \pm 0.27) \times 10^{-9} \, [446],$$

$$\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{\rm SM,2} = (3.53 \pm 0.38) \times 10^{-9} \, [447],$$

$$\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{\rm SM,3} = (3.25 \pm 0.17) \times 10^{-9} \, [448],$$

(9.28)

whose discrepancies come from the decay constant $f_{B_s^0}$ and the mean life $\tau_{B_s^0}$ choices, it leaves little room for BSM contributions in SUSY.

The calculation of this branching ratio, following the same assumptions as in [423] reads

$$\mathscr{B}(B_{s}^{0} \to \mu^{+}\mu^{-}) = \frac{G_{F}^{2}\alpha_{em}^{2}M_{B_{s}^{0}}^{5}f_{B_{s}^{0}}^{2}\tau_{B_{s}^{0}}}{64\pi^{3}\sin^{4}\theta_{W}} |V_{ts}^{*}V_{tb}|^{2}\sqrt{1-4\frac{m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}}{m_{B_{s}^{0}}^{2}}} \left[\frac{1-4\frac{m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}}{M_{B_{s}^{0}}^{2}}}{\left(1+\frac{m_{s}}{m_{b}}\right)^{2}} |c_{S}|^{2} + \left|\frac{c_{P}}{1+\frac{m_{s}}{m_{b}}} + \frac{2m_{\mu^{\pm}}}{M_{B_{s}^{0}}^{2}}c_{A}\right|^{2}\right].$$
(9.29)

In the SM, the main contributions arise from box and penguin diagrams as shown in figure 9.3a,b and are defined in the c_A term while c_S and c_P include the neutral Higgs boson contributions. We assume the standard coupling of the Z_1 to W bosons and muons and we disregard the Z_2 contribution, which makes sense given the upper bound we get on α_Z ($\alpha_Z \leq 10^{-3}$) and stringent lower bound on M_{Z_2} . Contributions from the new U(1) symmetry are then safely neglected here.

The SM calculation is dependent on the uncertainty on the top quark mass since it includes the ratio $x_t = \left(\frac{m_t^{\overline{\text{MS}}}}{M_W}\right)^2$, where $m_t^{\overline{\text{MS}}}$ is the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ top quark mass.



Figure 9.3: Main SM (a, b) and UMSSM (c) contributions to $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$ where $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. The dot denote a flavour changing coupling.

Neutral Higgs boson contributions easily imply large deviation from the SM prediction through an effective flavour violating neutral Higgs vertex and a neutral Higgs propagator as shown in figure 9.3c. It happens if $\tan \beta$ is large ($\gg 1$) and the heavy doublet-like Higgs is not so heavy (a few hundreds of GeV). These terms can be approximate in the UMSSM, given that we never get very light (some GeV's) neutral Higgs bosons, by

$$c_{S} \simeq -\frac{\sqrt{2}g_{2}\pi^{2}m_{\mu^{\pm}}}{G_{F}^{2}M_{W}^{3}} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{(Z_{hi2} - Z_{hi1}\tan\beta)Z_{hi1}\varepsilon_{Y}^{bs}}{m_{h_{i}}^{2}v\sin2\beta(1 + \tilde{\varepsilon}_{0}\tan\beta)(1 + \tilde{\varepsilon}_{3}\tan\beta)},$$

$$c_{P} \simeq +\frac{\sqrt{2}g_{2}\pi^{2}m_{\mu^{\pm}}}{G_{F}^{2}M_{W}^{3}} \frac{(Z_{A32} - Z_{A31}\tan\beta)Z_{A31}\varepsilon_{Y}^{bs}}{m_{A^{0}}^{2}v\sin2\beta(1 + \tilde{\varepsilon}_{0}\tan\beta)(1 + \tilde{\varepsilon}_{3}\tan\beta)},$$
(9.30)

where the ε 's are defined in [438].

We consider throughout this work the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ value of the weak-mixing angle and the SM particle masses given in table 1.1. We will also keep in our study the most precise

Parameter	Value
$\alpha_{_{em}}$	1/137.035999074
$\sin^2\theta_W(\overline{\mathrm{MS}})$	0.23116
$M_{B_s^0}$	$5366.77~{\rm MeV}$
$f_{B_s^0}$	$225 \pm 4 \text{ MeV} [449]$
$ V_{cb} $	$(40.9 \pm 1.1) \times 10^{-3}$
$ V_{ts} $	$(42.9 \pm 2.6) \times 10^{-3}$
$ au_{B^0_s}$	$(1.497 \pm 0.015) \times 10^{-12} \text{ s}$

Table 9.2: A list of some of the parameters appearing in the determination of $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-)$ and their uncertainty if non-negligible. From [29] unless noted otherwise. See table 9.1 for other relevant parameters.

determination of the B_s^0 leptonic decay constant. We summarize some of the parameters entering in the $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)$ calculation in table 9.2. By assuming the unitarity of the CKM matrix we are able to determine $|V_{tb}|$:

$$\sum_{i \in \{u,c,t\}} |V_{ib}|^2 = 1.$$
(9.31)

Using the experimental values of $|V_{ub}|$ and $|V_{cb}|$ given in table 9.1 and 9.2 we get

$$|V_{tb}| = 0.99915 \pm 0.00027. \tag{9.32}$$

Note that this number is much more precise that those extracted from measurements of single top quark production cross section [29].

Taking into account the main uncertainties coming from $f_{B_s^0}$ and from the experimental determination of $|V_{ts}|$ and m_t^{pole} leads to a SM prediction with a larger error than in eq. 9.28 :

$$\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{\text{SM-only}} = (3.14 \pm 0.40) \times 10^{-9}.$$
 (9.33)

In our study we will also consider a theoretical uncertainty of 10%.

9.2.3 ΔM_s and ΔM_d

Still in the *B*-mesons sector, we now look at the oscillations between the mesons B_q^0 and \bar{B}_q^0 where $q \in \{s, d\}^4$. The frequency of these oscillations is given by the mass difference relation

$$\Delta M_q = \frac{G_F^2 M_W^2}{6\pi^2} M_{B_q^0} \eta_B f_{B_q^0}^2 \hat{B}_{B_q^0} \left| V_{tq}^* V_{tb} \right|^2 \left| F_{tt}^q \right|, \qquad (9.34)$$

⁴Note that in the standard notation we have $B_d^0 \equiv B^0 \ (\bar{B}_d^0 \equiv \bar{B}^0)$.

where $|F_{tt}^q|$ can be decomposed into four main parts, $F_{tt}^q = \Delta_{SM} + \Delta_{H^{\pm}} + \Delta_{\chi^{\pm}}^q + \Delta_{DP}^q$ with :

• The SM contribution with quark/ W^{\pm} box diagrams (see e.g figure 9.4a). Below we show the main contribution from top quarks :

$$\Delta_{\rm SM} \simeq \frac{1}{4} + \frac{9}{4(1-x_t)} - \frac{3}{2(1-x_t)^2} - \frac{3x_t^2 \ln(x_t)}{2(1-x_t)^3},\tag{9.35}$$

where $x_t = \left(\frac{m_t^{\overline{\text{MS}}}}{M_W}\right)^2$;

• The charged Higgs contribution, as in figure 9.4b, is a powerful tool to exclude some regions of the UMSSM parameter space as it can easily exceed the experimental measurements, especially for ΔM_s and for very low tan β values (≤ 1) as we saw in chapter 8 :

$$\Delta_{H^{\pm}} = f_1(m_{H^{\pm}}) \cot^2 \beta + f_2(m_{H^{\pm}}) \cot^4 \beta.$$
(9.36)

Note that f_1 and f_2 decrease if the charged Higgs mass increases [424];

- Another SUSY contribution with squark/chargino box diagrams (see figure 9.4c) was computed in [424]. The main $\Delta_{\chi^{\pm}}^{q}$ dependence on CKM matrix element is on the ratios $|V_{cs}^*V_{cb}| / |V_{ts}^*V_{tb}|$ and $|V_{ub}^*V_{ud}| / |V_{td}^*V_{tb}|$ respectively for ΔM_s and ΔM_d ;
- The last term concerns the Double Penguin diagrams contribution Δ_{DP}^q as in figure 9.4d. In the UMSSM, the Wilson coefficients are modified in the same way as in eq. 9.30. This contribution is only interesting for large tan β values. Full expression is given in [424];

A theoretical uncertainty of 10% is also added here. Some of the parameters entering in the ΔM_q calculation are listed in table 9.3.

The experimental measurements of the ΔM_q 's given in [450] are

$$\begin{aligned} (\Delta M_s)_{\rm exp} &= 17.719 \pm 0.043 \, {\rm ps}^{-1}, \\ (\Delta M_d)_{\rm exp} &= 0.507 \pm 0.004 \, {\rm ps}^{-1}. \end{aligned} \tag{9.37}$$

Assuming the unitarity of the CKM matrix ($|V_{cs}| = 0.973$) our (ΔM_q)_{SM-only} results read

$$(\Delta M_s)_{\text{SM-only}} = 19.1 \pm 2.5 \text{ ps}^{-1},$$

 $(\Delta M_d)_{\text{SM-only}} = 0.497 \pm 0.083 \text{ ps}^{-1}.$
(9.38)

Our choice of values for the CKM elements (respectively $|V_{td}|$ and $|V_{ts}|$) make a better (worse) agreement between $(\Delta M_d)_{\text{SM-only}}$ and $(\Delta M_d)_{\text{exp}}$ ($(\Delta M_s)_{\text{SM-only}}$ and $(\Delta M_s)_{\text{exp}}$) than for the fit from the CKMFitter group [443] :

$$(\Delta M_s)_{\rm SM} = 17.3^{+2.4}_{-1.7} \,\mathrm{ps}^{-1}, (\Delta M_d)_{\rm SM} = 0.558^{+0.045}_{-0.064} \,\mathrm{ps}^{-1}.$$
(9.39)



Figure 9.4: Main SM (a) and UMSSM (b, c, d) diagrams contributing to ΔM_s and ΔM_d . $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and $k, \ell \in \{1, 2\}$ for the diagrams c and d. $\tilde{u}_L^{i,j}$ stands for LH up squarks.

Parameter	Value
η_B	$0.551 \ [438]$
$M_{B^0_d}$	5279.58 MeV [29]
$ V_{ud} $	0.97425 [29]
$ V_{td} $	$(8.4 \pm 0.6) \times 10^{-3} [29]$
$f_{B^0_s}\sqrt{\hat{B}_{B^0_s}}$	$258.7 \pm 6.3 \text{ MeV} [449, 443]$
$f_{B^0_d} \sqrt{\hat{B}_{B^0_d}}$	$214.8 \pm 9.4 \text{ MeV} [440, 443]$

Table 9.3: Important input parameters in the ΔM_s and ΔM_d calculation and their uncertainty if non-negligible. See table 9.1 or table 9.2 for other relevant parameters.

9.2.4 $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$

Again following [423], we go now to the $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ calculation including BSM effects. The expression reads :

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\gamma)_{E_{\gamma} > E_{0}} = \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{c}\ell^{-}\bar{\nu}_{\ell}) \left| \frac{V_{ts}^{*}V_{tb}}{V_{cb}} \right|^{2} \frac{6\alpha_{em}}{\pi C} \left[\left| K_{c} + r(m_{t}^{\overline{\mathrm{MS}}})K_{t+\mathrm{BSM}} + \epsilon_{ew} \right|^{2} + B(E_{0}) + N(E_{0}) \right],$$

$$(9.40)$$

where $E_0 = 1.6$ GeV is a lower cutoff on the photon energy E_{γ} , ϵ_{ew} denotes the EW radiative corrections, $B(E_0)$ corresponds to bremsstrahlung contributions and $N(E_0)$ are nonperturbative corrections. K_c includes the charm quark contribution whereas $K_{t+\text{BSM}}$ includes the top quark and BSM ones, see figure 9.5. $r(m_t^{\overline{\text{MS}}})$ is the ratio $m_b^{\overline{\text{MS}}}(m_t^{\overline{\text{MS}}})/m_b^{1S}$. Again as some previous constraints, $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ can be a powerful way to exclude corners of the parameter space as large tan β values through Higgs bosons contributions.



Figure 9.5: Some contributions to the K_c and K_{t+BSM} terms for the $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ calculation. $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and $j \in \{1, 2\}$ for the diagram c and the specific UMSSM contribution in the diagram d. The dot and the cross in the lower right diagram denote respectively a flavour changing coupling and an helicity flip.

To calculate the K_t terms and some bremsstrahlung contributions, we must determine the ratio of CKM matrix elements $\epsilon_s = V_{us}^* V_{ub}/(V_{ts}^* V_{tb})$. To do this we expand the CKM matrix elements using the standard parameterization in term of the three Cabibbo angles and the phase δ :

$$V_{us} = \sin \theta_{12} \cos \theta_{13},$$

$$V_{ub} = \sin \theta_{13} e^{-i\delta},$$

$$V_{ts} = -\cos \theta_{12} \sin \theta_{23} - \sin \theta_{12} \sin \theta_{13} \cos \theta_{23} e^{i\delta},$$

$$V_{tb} = \cos \theta_{13} \cos \theta_{23},$$

$$(9.41)$$

where

$$\sin \theta_{13} = |V_{ub}|,$$

$$\cos \theta_{12} = \frac{|V_{ud}|}{\cos \theta_{13}},$$

$$\sin \theta_{23} = \frac{|V_{cb}|}{\cos \theta_{13}},$$

$$\delta = 2 \arctan\left(\frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - (a^2 - 1)\tan^2 \gamma}}{(a - 1)\tan \gamma}\right), \quad \cos \gamma \ge 0,$$

$$a = \frac{\cos \theta_{12} \sin \theta_{13} \sin \theta_{23}}{\sin \theta_{12} \cos \theta_{23}}.$$
(9.42)

Then, using the experimental measurement of the angle γ and some CKM elements we find

 $\epsilon_s = -0.0092^{+0.0038}_{-0.0042} + i \ 0.0214^{+0.0030}_{-0.0031}, \tag{9.43}$

where large uncertainties come from the experimental measurement of the angle γ and from $|V_{ub}|$.

Parameter	Value
$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_c \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell)$	0.1051 ± 0.0013 [450]
C	$0.546^{+0.023}_{-0.033}$ [451]
γ	$(68^{+10}_{-11})^{\rm o}$
m_b^{1S}	$4~650\pm30~{\rm MeV}$
$\alpha_{_{em,M_{Z_1}}}^{-1}$	127.944 ± 0.014

Table 9.4: Some values for the calculation of $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ and the associated uncertainties if they are non-negligible, from [29] unless noted otherwise. See table 9.1, table 9.2 or table 9.3 for other relevant parameters. $\alpha_{em,M_{Z_1}}$ corresponds to the running of α_{em} at M_{Z_1} .

The relation eq. 9.40 used to calculate $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)$ is not valid at NNLO where the contributions from charm quark and top/BSM cannot be separated. To reproduce the SM NNLO result obtained in [218, 452]

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)_{\text{NNLO}} = (3.15 \pm 0.23) \times 10^{-4},$$
(9.44)

we must choose a convenient value of the ratio m_c/m_b that enters in the calculation of K_c . We thus try to obtain this result using the input parameters listed in the Appendix A of [452] and we find

$$\frac{m_c}{m_b} = 0.327,$$
 (9.45)

which is larger than in [423].

Our $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)_{\text{SM-only}}$, using the uncertainties on $|V_{ts}^* V_{tb}|$, C, ϵ_s and $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_c \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell)$, is

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)_{\text{SM-only}} = (3.69^{+0.24}_{-0.25}) \times 10^{-4}.$$
(9.46)

The world average on the experimental measurements of the branching reads [450]

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \gamma)_{\text{exp}} = (3.55 \pm 0.24 \pm 0.09) \times 10^{-4}.$$
 (9.47)

Note that we will consider a theoretical uncertainty of 10% which includes the NNLO error presented in eq. 9.44.

9.2.5 $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \mu^+ \mu^-)$

The master formula for the $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \ell^+ \ell^-)$ branching ratio in the SM reads [453]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \ell^+ \ell^-)}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} = \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_c \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell) \left| \frac{V_{ts}^* V_{tb}}{V_{cb}} \right|^2 \frac{4}{C} \frac{\Phi_{\ell\ell}(\hat{s})}{\Phi_u}, \tag{9.48}$$

where $\hat{s} = m_{\ell\ell}^2/m_{b,\text{pole}}$, $m_{\ell\ell}$ being the dilepton invariant mass. $\Phi_{\ell\ell}(\hat{s})$ and Φ_u are defined by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\Gamma(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \ell^+ \ell^-)}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} = \frac{G_F^2 m_{b,\text{pole}}^5}{48\pi^3} \left| V_{ts}^* V_{tb} \right|^2 \Phi_{\ell\ell}(\hat{s}),$$

$$\Gamma(\bar{B}^0 \to X_u \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell) = \frac{G_F^2 m_{b,\text{pole}}^5}{192\pi^3} \left| V_{ub} \right|^2 \Phi_u.$$
(9.49)

The most precise experimental measurements of the integrated branching ratio $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \ell^+ \ell^-)$ have been obtained some years ago by BaBar [454] and Belle [455] collaborations both in the low-dilepton invariant mass region $m_{\ell\ell}^2 \in [1, 6]$ GeV² and the high $m_{\ell\ell}^2$ region [14.4, 25] GeV². An average given in [456] reads

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\ell^{+}\ell^{-})^{\text{low}}_{\text{exp}} = (1.60 \pm 0.50) \times 10^{-6},$$

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\ell^{+}\ell^{-})^{\text{high}}_{\text{exp}} = (0.44 \pm 0.12) \times 10^{-6}.$$
(9.50)

Through flavour changing neutral Higgs couplings, neutral Higgs boson contributions to $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \mu^+ \mu^-)$ are expected in the UMSSM as well as usual supersymmetric contribution shown in section 9.2.4. Then following the NMSSMTools implementation of the $\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to X_s \mu^+ \mu^-)$ we modified the Wilson coefficients, especially those linked to neutral Higgs bosons, to compute this observable within the UMSSM :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\mu^{+}\mu^{-})^{low} &= \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\mu^{+}\mu^{-})_{\rm SM}^{low} + \frac{4}{C}\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{c}\ell^{-}\bar{\nu}_{\ell}) \left(\frac{\alpha_{em}}{4\pi} \left|\frac{V_{ts}^{*}V_{tb}}{V_{cb}}\right|\right)^{2} \times \\ &\left\{ \left[8\ln6 - \frac{15}{(m_{b}^{1S})^{2}} + \frac{215}{3(m_{b}^{1S})^{6}} \right] (C_{7all}^{2} - C_{7t}^{2}) + \frac{3}{2}(C_{h} + C_{A}) \right\}, \\ \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\mu^{+}\mu^{-})^{\rm high} &= \mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\mu^{+}\mu^{-})_{\rm SM}^{\rm high} + \frac{4}{C}\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{c}\ell^{-}\bar{\nu}_{\ell}) \left(\frac{\alpha_{em}}{4\pi} \left|\frac{V_{ts}^{*}V_{tb}}{V_{cb}}\right|\right)^{2} \times \\ &\left\{ \left[8\ln\left(\frac{(m_{b}^{1S})^{2}}{14.4}\right) - 4\left(1 - \frac{14.4}{(m_{b}^{1S})^{2}}\right) \\ &+ \frac{4}{3}\left(1 - \left(\frac{14.4}{(m_{b}^{1S})^{2}}\right)^{3}\right) \right] (C_{7all}^{2} - C_{7t}^{2}) + \frac{3}{2}(C_{h} + C_{A}) \right\}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(9.51)$$

where $C_{7t}, C_{7all}, C_h, C_A$ correspond to contributions from top quark, BSM and Higgs particles. Here we directly use

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\ell^{+}\ell^{-})_{\rm SM}^{low} = 1.59 \times 10^{-6},$$

$$\mathscr{B}(\bar{B}^{0} \to X_{s}\ell^{+}\ell^{-})_{\rm SM}^{high} = 0.24 \times 10^{-6}.$$
(9.52)

9.3 The anomalous magnetic moment of the muon in the UMSSM

We saw in section 1.6 that the muon anomalous magnetic moment could reveal BSM physics. In this section we will describe carefully the new contributions in the context of the UMSSM.

9.3.1 Standard prediction

First let us look at the SM contributions. Three standard types of contribution are expected here : QED, hadronic and EW.

Multi-loop QED corrections are now well calculated (see e.g. [457]) and the complete tenth-order QED contribution was obtained last year [458] which leads to

$$a_{\mu}^{\text{QED}(1\to10\,\text{loop})} = (116\,584\,718\,951\pm80) \times 10^{-14}.$$
 (9.53)

Hadronic contributions, which give the main theoretical uncertainty on the calculation of a_{μ} , are devided into three parts :

• The leading hadronic input corresponds to vacuum polarization (v.p.) type corrections as in figure 9.6c. Its evaluation and accuracy mostly depends on experimental



Figure 9.6: Examples of SM contributions to a_{μ} : the one-loop (a) and a third order (b) QED contributions, hadronic part with the LO (c), an NLO (d) and light-by-light scattering (e) and finally the main leading (f, g) and a two-loop (h) EW corrections (where f stands for fermions).

information coming from e^+e^- colliders. Several groups are working on this calculation [459, 460] and we will use the highest contribution obtained [461], to reduce the gap between the SM and the experimental values of a_{μ} :

$$a_{\mu}^{\text{LO had. v.p.}} = (6949.1 \pm 37.2 \pm 21.0) \times 10^{-11}.$$
 (9.54)

• Higher order hadronic vacuum-polarization contributions as in figure 9.6d were also calculated in [461] :

$$a_{\mu}^{\text{HO had. v.p.}} = (-98.4 \pm 0.6 \pm 0.4) \times 10^{-11}.$$
 (9.55)

• Contributions from hadronic light-by-light scattering (see *e.g.* figure 9.6e) increase a lot the theoretical uncertainty on the a_{μ} calculation. We will consider the quantity obtained in [462] :

$$a_{\mu}^{\text{ll had. v.p.}} = (116 \pm 40) \times 10^{-11}.$$
 (9.56)

EW contributions to a_{μ} have been calculated up to two-loop order with *e.g.* triangle fermionic-loops as in figure 9.6h. We keep the result of [463] :

$$a_{\mu}^{\rm EW} = (154 \pm 2) \times 10^{-11}.$$
 (9.57)

Here we can safely neglect the contribution coming from the SM Higgs boson because $m_{h^0} \gg m_{\mu^{\pm}}$; with $m_{h^0} \sim 125$ GeV we have $a_{\mu}^{\text{EW},h^0} < 5 \times 10^{-14}$ [457], which is far below current experimental sensitivity. As it was the case for the $\mathscr{B}(B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-)$ calculation in section 9.2.2, we consider as a good approximation to keep SM couplings for the Z_1 boson.

Adding all these contributions, the result of the a_{μ} calculation in the SM reads, [458]

$$a_{\mu}^{\text{SM}} = a_{\mu}^{\text{QED}(1 \to 10 \text{ loop})} + a_{\mu}^{\text{LO had. v.p.}} + a_{\mu}^{\text{HO had. v.p.}} + a_{\mu}^{\text{ll had. v.p.}} + a_{\mu}^{\mu}$$

$$= (116 \ 591 \ 840 \pm 59) \times 10^{-11}.$$
(9.58)

On the experimental side the most precise determination of a_{μ} was obtained by the Brookhaven (g-2) experiment E821. The current average given in [58] is :

$$a_{\mu}^{\exp} = (116\ 592\ 089 \pm 63) \times 10^{-11}.$$
 (9.59)

This leads us to a discrepancy between the experimental and the SM value of

$$\delta a_{\mu} = a_{\mu}^{\exp} - a_{\mu}^{SM} = (249 \pm 86) \times 10^{-11}.$$
(9.60)

9.3.2 New contributions

Now let us look at possible BSM contributions. Typically a new particle with mass M_{new} is expected to contribute to a_{μ} like

$$a_{\mu}^{\text{new}} \propto \frac{m_{\mu^{\pm}}^2}{M_{\text{new}}^2}.$$
(9.61)

Before looking at supersymmetric particles, the contribution to a_{μ} of the new gauge boson Z_2 in the UMSSM should in principle be taken into account. This term has the opposite sign of a_{μ}^{SM} [464] so will increase the discrepancy with the measured value :

$$a_{\mu}^{Z_2} \simeq -\frac{M_{Z_1}^2}{M_{Z_2}^2} \times O(10^{-11}).$$
 (9.62)

Nevertheless given the collider constraints on the mass of this new gauge boson (≥ 2 TeV) it can be safely neglected, [465].

Several supersymmetric particles contribute to a_{μ} [466]. First we have one-loop contributions with chargino/sneutrino (figure 9.7a) and neutralino/smuon loops (figure 9.7b) approximated by

$$a_{\mu}^{\chi^{\pm,0},\tilde{\mu},\tilde{\nu}_{\mu_{L}}} \propto \frac{m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}}{M_{\rm SUSY}^{2}} \tan\beta \, \text{sign}(\mu), \qquad (9.63)$$

where M_{SUSY} is a typical mass scale of the supersymmetric particles. Here we just generalize the equations given in the NMSSM [467] considering six neutralinos in the UMSSM.

We also add one-loop contributions from CP-even, CP-odd and charged Higgs bosons as in figure 9.7c. To obtain the relations for the neutral Higgs bosons in the UMSSM we must consider the reduced Higgs couplings $C_f^{h_i,A^0}$ defined in eq. 9.7. Then, following [467], we adapt the one-loop contributions from Higgs bosons to the UMSSM and we get

$$a_{\mu}^{1\,\text{loop }h_{i}} = \frac{G_{F}m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{3} (C_{\mu^{\pm}}^{h_{i}})^{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{x^{2}(2-x)\,dx}{x^{2} + \left(\frac{m_{h_{i}}}{m_{\mu^{\pm}}}\right)^{2}(1-x)},$$

$$a_{\mu}^{1\,\text{loop }A^{0}} = -\frac{G_{F}m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi^{2}} (C_{\mu^{\pm}}^{A^{0}})^{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{x^{3}\,dx}{x^{2} + \left(\frac{m_{A^{0}}}{m_{\mu^{\pm}}}\right)^{2}(1-x)},$$

$$a_{\mu}^{1\,\text{loop }H^{\pm}} = \frac{G_{F}m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi^{2}} \tan^{2}\beta \int_{0}^{1} \frac{x(x-1)\,dx}{x-1 + \left(\frac{m_{H^{\pm}}}{m_{\mu^{\pm}}}\right)^{2}}.$$
(9.64)

At two-loop we first add the leading contribution enhanced by large QED logarithms [468]. The bosonic EW two-loop contribution $a_{\mu}^{2 \text{ loop Bos}}$ is defined in [469] where the leading logarithmic contribution proportional to $c_{L}^{2 \text{ loop Bos}}$ is shown to be an excellent approximation of the full bosonic term. We then confine ourselves to the $c_{L}^{2 \text{ loop Bos}}$ term as in [467]; the final expression reads

$$a_{\mu}^{2\,\text{loop Bos}} = \frac{5\,G_F\,m_{\mu^{\pm}}^2\,\alpha_{em,M_{Z_1}}}{24\sqrt{2}\,\pi^3}\ln\frac{m_{\mu^{\pm}}^2}{M_W^2}c_L^{2\,\text{loop Bos}},\tag{9.65}$$

where $c_L^{2 \text{ loop Bos}}$ includes two-loop EW SM contributions :

$$c_L^{2 \text{loop Bos}} = \frac{1}{30} \left[98 + 9c_L^h + 23 \left(1 - 4\cos^2 \theta_W \right)^2 \right].$$
(9.66)

We then took care as in [467] to compute this SM contribution only once. In the UMSSM, the expression of c_L^h is defined as

$$c_L^h = \cos 2\beta M_{Z_1}^2 \sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{Z_{hi1} \left(Z_{hi1} - \tan \beta Z_{hi2} \right)}{m_{h_i}^2}.$$
(9.67)



Figure 9.7: Examples of one-loop supersymmetric contributions to a_{μ} : chargino/sneutrino (a), neutralino/smuon (b) and a diagram involving Higgs bosons (c). Here $i, j \in \{1, 2\}, k \in \{1, ..., 6\}$ and $\ell \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. We consider the smuon mass eigenstates $\tilde{\mu}_{i,j}$ as the result of the (weak) mixing between $\tilde{\mu}_L$ and $\tilde{\mu}_R$.

We also checked the rule $c_L^h = 1$ [469].

Starting from [467, 470], the contributions from two-loop Higgs boson diagrams involving a closed SM fermion loop (confined to the lepton τ and the quarks t and b) in the UMSSM reads

$$a_{\mu}^{2\,\text{loop }h_{i}} = -\frac{G_{F}m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}\alpha_{em}}{2\sqrt{2}\pi^{3}} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{f=t,b,\tau} N_{c}^{f}C_{\mu^{\pm}}^{h_{i}}\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{2}C_{f}^{h_{i}}f_{h}\left(\frac{m_{f}^{2}}{m_{h_{i}}^{2}}\right)$$

$$a_{\mu}^{2\,\text{loop }A^{0}} = \frac{G_{F}m_{\mu^{\pm}}^{2}\alpha_{em}}{2\sqrt{2}\pi^{3}} \sum_{f=t,b,\tau} N_{c}^{f}C_{\mu^{\pm}}^{A^{0}}\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{2}C_{f}^{A^{0}}f_{A}\left(\frac{m_{f}^{2}}{m_{A^{0}}^{2}}\right)$$
(9.68)

where N_c^f represents the number of color degrees of freedom in f, Q_f its electric charge and the loop integral functions are given in [471, 467] :

$$f_h(z) = \frac{1}{2}z \int_0^1 \frac{1 - 2x(1 - x)}{x(1 - x) - z} \ln \frac{x(1 - x)}{z} dx$$

$$f_A(z) = \frac{1}{2}z \int_0^1 \frac{1}{x(1 - x) - z} \ln \frac{x(1 - x)}{z} dx.$$
(9.69)

Contributions coming from photonic Barr-Zee type diagrams involving closed sfermion and chargino loops were considered in the context of the MSSM [472] and the NMSSM [467]. The sfermionic contribution reads

$$a_{\mu}^{2\,\text{loop}\ \tilde{f}} = \frac{G_F m_{\mu^{\pm}}^2 M_W \alpha_{em,M_{Z_1}}}{2\sqrt{2}\pi^3 g_2} \sum_{j=1}^2 \sum_{\tilde{f}=\tilde{t}_j,\tilde{b}_j,\tilde{\tau}_j} \left[\sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{N_c^f C_{\mu^{\pm}}^{h_i} Q_f^2 \lambda_{\tilde{f}}^{h_i}}{m_{\tilde{f}}^2} f_{\tilde{f}}\left(\frac{m_{\tilde{f}}^2}{m_{h_i}^2}\right) \right], \quad (9.70)$$

where the $\lambda_{\tilde{f}}^{h_i}$ which are here the couplings of the CP-even Higgs bosons to stops, sbottoms and staus are given in eqs. 9.16, 9.17 and 9.18 and the loop integral function

is

$$f_{\tilde{f}}(z) = \frac{1}{2}z \int_0^1 \frac{x(1-x)}{x(1-x)-z} \ln \frac{x(1-x)}{z} \, dx. \tag{9.71}$$

Finally we add the chargino contribution at two loops

$$a_{\mu}^{2\,\text{loop }\chi^{\pm}} = \frac{G_F m_{\mu^{\pm}}^2 M_W \alpha_{em,M_{Z_1}}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi^3 g_2} \sum_{k=1}^2 \left[\sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{C_{\mu^{\pm}}^{h_i} \lambda_{\chi_k^{\pm}}^{h_i}}{m_{\chi_k^{\pm}}} f_h\left(\frac{m_{\chi_k^{\pm}}^2}{m_{h_i}^2}\right) - \frac{C_{\mu^{\pm}}^{A^0} \lambda_{\chi_k^{\pm}}^{A^0}}{m_{\chi_k^{\pm}}} f_A\left(\frac{m_{\chi_k^{\pm}}^2}{m_{A^0}^2}\right) \right], \tag{9.72}$$

where the $f_{h,A}$ are given in eq. 9.69 and the couplings of the neutral Higgs bosons to the charginos are given in eqs. 9.19 and 9.20.

As in [467], we follow [471] for the calculation of the theoretical errors : 2% (one-loop contributions) + 30% (two-loop contributions) + 2.8×10^{-10} (additional corrections, no difference expected with respect to the same study in the MSSM).

9.4 Scanning the $U(1)_{\eta}$ parameters

We are now able to examine how the Higgs sector and the low energy observables constrain the UMSSM parameter space. For simplicity we restrict ourselves to the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model. We consider scenarios where either one generation of RH sneutrino or the lightest neutralino is a DM candidate but we relax the lower bound on the $\tilde{\nu}_R$ or χ_1^0 relic density, thus keeping all scenarios with $\Omega_{\chi}h^2 \in [10\%\Omega_{\text{Pl}}^{-3\sigma}h^2, \Omega_{\text{Pl}}^{+3\sigma}h^2]$ with $\chi \in \{\tilde{\nu}_R, \chi_1^0\}$ and $\Omega_{\text{Pl}}h^2$ is given in table 2.1, namely $\Omega_{\text{Pl}}^{\pm 1\sigma}h^2 = 0.1187 \pm 0.0017$. Moreover we assume $M_1 = M_2/2 = M_3/6$ as in the previous chapter. We use the most recent ATLAS constraint on the Z'_{η} gauge boson [368], *i.e.* $M_{Z_2} > 2.43$ TeV and we decide for simplicity to consider only Z_2 bosons above this limit. We also consider only points in the UMSSM parameter space that give a CP-even Higgs boson around the value derived in table 1.1, namely 125.63 GeV, allowing a large theoretical uncertainty of ± 5 GeV. Points which do not satisfy the LEP bounds on the mass of charged sparticles as the chargino are automatically rejected.

As in chapter 8 we fix the soft masses of sleptons and squarks to 2 TeV and then avoid LHC constraints on these particles. Nonetheless we keep the third generation of soft squark masses as free parameter, using a lower limit of 400 GeV to avoid most constraints from recent LHC searches as shown in figure 3.4. First we comment on constraints coming from the $\Delta \rho$ parameter. This observable, which measures the deviation of the ρ parameter of the SM from unity, is computed using a micrOMEGAs routine which contains third generation of MSSM sfermions and two-loop QCD contributions. This constraint is sensitive to the mass difference between sfermions. This could be an interesting constraint for several U(1)' scenario since the new *D*-terms implied by the new symmetry and shown in eq. 7.32 can give large mass splitting between the LH and RH sfermions. Because Z_1 is no longer purely the *Z* boson in the UMSSM, the ρ parameter also receives a specific UMSSM tree-level correction. In the limit where $M_{Z'}^2 \gg M_Z^2, \Delta_Z^2$ in the Abelian gauge boson mass matrix given in eq. 7.13, which is safe for our TeV scale Z', the correction which will be added to $\Delta \rho$ reads [372]

$$\Delta \rho_Z = \frac{\Delta_Z^4 M_{Z_2}^2}{M_{Z'}^4 M_{Z_1}^2}.$$
(9.73)

Measurements of EW observables give the upper bound of $\Delta \rho < 2 \times 10^{-3}$.

The free parameters considered here are

 $\{m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}, \mu, M_1, M_1', A_{\lambda}, A_t, A_b, M_{Z_2}, \alpha_Z, m_{\tilde{Q}_3}, m_{\tilde{u}_3}, m_{\tilde{d}_3}\}$

and the range associated to these parameters is given in table 9.5.

Parameter	Range
$m_{ ilde{ u}_R}$	[0.05, 2] TeV
M_{Z_2}	[2.6, 4] TeV
α_Z	[-0.003, 0.003] rad
A_{λ}	[0, 4] TeV
A_t, A_b	[-4, 4] TeV
$m_{\tilde{Q}_3}, m_{\tilde{u}_3}, m_{\tilde{d}_3}$	$[0.4,2]~{\rm TeV}$
μ, M_1, M_1'	[0.1, 2] TeV

Table 9.5: Range of the free parameters in the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model.

9.5 Numerical results

Figure 9.8 illustrates the effect of low energy observables on the scenarios considered. Among these, only the mass differences of *B*-mesons are relevant in this scan. In red we plot the points excluded by ΔM_s and black points are excluded by both ΔM_s and ΔM_d observables. Note that none of these scenarios are able to explain the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon δa_{μ} as observed in chapter 4 for the case of the MSSM. We also checked that the points are allowed by the latest version of HiggsBounds, HiggsBounds-4.0.0 [473]. Note that we represent in blue the points excluded by HiggsBounds⁵. As discussed in chapter 8, low tan β values are the most constrained regions as shown in figure 9.8a. We also see that only scenarios with $|\alpha_Z| < 10^{-3}$ are obtained. Figure 9.8b presents the reason of this observation : higher is the Z_2 mass lower is the mixing angle $|\alpha_Z|$.

⁵Recall that we allow the lightest Higgs boson mass to be within [120.63, 130.63] GeV.



Figure 9.8: UMSSM scenarios in the plane $(\tan \beta, \alpha_Z)$. In panel (a) the allowed scenarios are represented in green, scenarios excluded by ΔM_s (and ΔM_d) in red (black) and the points excluded by HiggsBounds-4.0.0 in blue. Panel (b) shows the mass of the new gauge boson as indicated by the colour code.

Figure 9.9a shows that the signal strength $\mu_{h_1 \to \gamma \gamma}^{\text{ggF}}$ is not expected to be drastically modified as compared to the SM, only a few points are more than 10% below 1. Panel (b) of figure 9.9 shows the predictions for the $\Delta \rho$ parameter as a function of the Z' mass and the mixing angle α_Z : increasing the mass of the new gauge boson above 3 TeV and then decreasing α_Z allows to stay below the limit obtained with EW observables.

Figure 9.10 presents the characteristics of the DM sector in this scan. Panel (a) and (b) shows that most of the allowed points correspond to an higgsino LSP when we relax the relic density lower bound although we still find some bino LSP as well as sneutrino LSP. Furthermore since the range for the lightest Higgs boson mass is more restricted than in chapter 8, the annihilation of a RH sneutrino near a light Higgs boson resonance requires even more fine-tuning. These scenarios are then difficult to obtain. As we saw in chapter 4 in the MSSM, many of the higgsino LSP scenarios can be probed by Xenon-based experiments.



Figure 9.9: (a) Signal strength $\mu_{h_1 \to \gamma\gamma}^{\text{ggF}}$ as a function of m_{h_1} , with the same colour code as in figure 9.8a. (b) $\Delta \rho vs. M_{Z_2}$ with the absolute value of the mixing angle α_Z indicated by the colour code.

9.6 Discussion

These results indicate that even the more stringent Direct Detection and collider results of 2012 still allow scenarios with a viable Dark Matter candidate. We also found that the parameter space of the $U(1)_{\eta}$ model would be probe to a large extent by both future DD Dark Matter searches (Xenon) and by Z' searches in the next run at the LHC. The impact of current experimental results on the properties of Dark Matter candidates in the generic UMSSM will be performed in the very near future.


Figure 9.10: DM observables as functions of the DM mass. Panel (a) shows the relic density either for an $\tilde{\nu}_R$ (blue) or an χ_1^0 (green) LSP. Panel (b) represents the relic density either for an \tilde{B} (violet) or an \tilde{H} (yellow) LSP. Panel (c) compares the rescaled DD rate for an $\tilde{\nu}_R$ (blue) or an χ_1^0 (green) LSP compared to results or forecasts from Xenon-based experiments.

Conclusion

English version

In this thesis we have seen how the theoretical and experimental developments in particle physics and cosmology, especially during the 20th century, have led to two main theories that describe our Universe in a very efficient way and with a lot of success. Nevertheless some issues, especially those concerning the Higgs sector and the Dark Matter problem, still need to be addressed. This thesis investigate these problems within the context of Supersymmetry.

We depicted how the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model can give meaningful solutions with the neutralino as a very interesting Dark Matter candidate. This model has also the nice feature to provide candidates to the cosmic inflation. Then a large range of collider, astroparticle and cosmological measurements can be used to point to the viable region of the parameter space of this supersymmetric model. To probe efficiently these viable regions we developed a code using the Markov Chain Monte Carlo approach and we found that, within the NUHM2 scenario which features non degenerate scalar masses at the Grand Unified Theories scale, most of our interesting points in the parameter space are characterized by a Lightest Supersymmetric Particle neutralino which is mostly higgsino and a Standard Model-like Higgs boson whose mass is in the preferred range set by the experiments. We also saw that the Direct Detection of Dark Matter is starting to probe this type of scenarios and that the expected sensitivity of forthcoming Direct Detection experiments could almost entirely span the favourite Dark Matter scenarios.

We also analysed how the Indirect Detection of Dark Matter can despite several drawbacks constrain the Dark Matter sector. Assuming that the neutralino Dark Matter candidate mostly annihilate into W bosons and that there is a regeneration mechanism to raise the relic density of Dark Matter to the mesured value, we showed how lower bounds on the mass degeneracy between the neutralino and the NLSP chargino can be defined in a simplified version of the phenomenological Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model, especially for a wino Lightest Supersymmetric Particle.

Despite the nice features of the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model, there are reasons to analyse some of its extensions. The NMSSM is the minimal extension which provides a very light Dark Matter candidate, the singlino, a Higgs with the appropriate mass and the possibility to fit possible non-standard signal strength in some Higgs decay channels determined at colliders. We saw by analysing some specific scenarios with light Dark Matter in this model that usual limits on coloured sparticles obtained at the LHC have to be taken with care in the context of such non-minimal scenarios.

We finally look at a gauge symmetry extension of the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model, the UMSSM. This model contains a new gauge boson which is now strongly constrained by current collider experiments. An interesting point of the UMSSM is that it provides a scalar Dark Matter candidate, the Right-Handed sneutrino. We found a variety of annihilation channels for this particle which allow to fit the Dark Matter constraints. Depending on the U(1) scenario considered, the phenomenological predictions can be completely different. We finally made a first analysis of the Higgs sector of this model while considering a large number of low energy observables that can be affected by UMSSM contributions. In the near future we will pursue the analysis of this model to evaluate the impact of the recent collider results on Dark Matter properties. Our aim is also to include the UMSSM model in the public version of the micrOMEGAs code.

Version française

Cette thèse nous a permis de voir comment les développements théoriques et expérimentaux en physique des particules et en cosmologie, principalement pendant le 20e siècle, nous ont conduit à se concentrer principalement sur deux théories qui décrivent efficacement et avec succès notre Univers. Cependant certaines questions, notamment celles qui concernent le secteur de Higgs et le problème de la Matière Noire, doivent encore être abordées. Cette thèse traite de ces problèmes dans le contexte de la Supersymétrie.

Nous avons montré à quel point le Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal peut donner d'intéressantes solutions avec un très attrayant candidat à la Matière Noire qui est le neutralino. Ce modèle a également l'avantageuse caractéristique de fournir des candidats à l'inflation cosmique. Il s'ensuit qu'un large éventail de mesures en collisionneur, d'astroparticule et en cosmologie peut être utilisé pour pointer vers les régions viables de l'espace des paramètres de ce modèle supersymétrique. Pour sonder de manière efficace ces intéressantes régions un code utilisant l'approche Monte-Carlo à Chaînes de Markov a été développé et cela nous a permis de trouver que, dans le contexte du scénario NUHM2 dont la caractéristique principale est de lever la dégénérescence entre les scalaires à l'échelle de Grande Unification, la majeure partie de nos intéressantes configurations dans l'espace des paramètres est caractérisé par une particule supersymétrique la plus légère principalement higgsino et un boson de Higgs comparable à celui du Modèle Standard dont la masse est dans l'intervalle fixé par les expériences. Nous avons en outre remarqué que la Détection Directe de Matière Noire commence à sonder ce genre de scénarios et la sensibilité attendue des expériences à venir de Détection Directe peut presque entièrement couvrir l'ensemble des scénarios pertinents de Matière Noire.

Nous avons aussi analysé comment la Détection Indirecte de Matière Noire peut malgré plusieurs inconvénients contraindre le secteur de Matière Noire. En supposant que le candidat neutralino à la Matière Noire s'annihile principalement en bosons W et qu'un mécanisme de régénération permet d'élever la densité relique de Matière Noire à la valeur mesurée, nous avons montré comment des bornes inférieures sur la dégénérescence de masse entre le neutralino et la NLSP chargino peuvent être définies dans une version simplifiée du Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal phénoménologique, particulièrement pour une particule supersymétrique la plus légère wino.

Nonobstant les intéressantes caractéristiques du Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal, certaines raisons nous poussent à analyser quelques-unes de ses extensions. Le NMSSM est l'extension minimale qui fournit un candidat à la Matière Noire légère, le singlino, un boson de Higgs avec la masse appropriée et la possibilité d'être compatible avec de possibles signaux non standards dans certaines chaînes de désintégration du boson de Higgs obtenues en collisionneur. Nous avons vu en étudiant quelques scénarios avec une Matière Noire légère dans ce modèle que les limites sur les sparticules colorées obtenues au LHC doivent être prises avec précaution dans le contexte de ces scénarios non minimaux.

Nous avons finalement considéré une extension de la symétrie de jauge du Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal, le UMSSM. Ce modèle contient un nouveau boson de jauge qui est fortement contraint par les expériences actuelles en collisionneur. Un point intéressant de l'UMSSM est qu'il fournit un candidat scalaire à la Matière Noire, le sneutrino droit. Nous avons trouvé divers canaux d'annihilation pour cette particule qui permettent à des scénarios UMSSM de satisfaire les contraintes de Matière Noire. Selon le scénario U(1) choisi, les prédictions phénoménologiques peuvent être complètement différentes. Pour finir nous avons analysé le secteur de Higgs de ce modèle tout en incluant un grand nombre d'observables de basses énergies qui peuvent être impactées par les contributions UMSSM. Dans un futur proche nous poursuivrons l'analyse de ce modèle afin d'évaluer les conséquences des résultats récents en collisionneur sur les propriétés de la Matière Noire. Notre objectif est aussi d'inclure le modèle UMSSM dans la version publique du code micrOMEGAs. Appendices

A Cross section sneutrinos - nucleons : gauge bosons contribution

Here the aim is to compute the cross section for the process below :



Since we consider DD and then low energy processes, we restrict ourselves to the vectorial part :

$$(f_{\bar{q}qZ_1})_{\mu} = -(\frac{1}{2s_W} \cos \alpha_Z g_Y Q_V^q + \frac{1}{2} \sin \alpha_Z g_1' Q_V^{'q}) \gamma_{\mu} = \xi_q^{Z_1} \gamma_{\mu}, \tag{A.1}$$

$$(f_{\bar{q}qZ_2})_{\mu} = (\frac{1}{2s_W} \sin \alpha_Z g_Y Q_V^q - \frac{1}{2} \cos \alpha_Z g_1' Q_V'^q) \gamma_{\mu} = \xi_q^{Z_2} \gamma_{\mu}, \tag{A.2}$$

$$(f_{Z_1\tilde{\nu}_R^*\tilde{\nu}_R})_{\mu} = g_1' \mathcal{Q}_{\nu}' \sin \alpha_Z (p_1 + p_2)_{\mu}, \tag{A.3}$$

$$(f_{Z_2\tilde{\nu}_R^*\tilde{\nu}_R})_{\mu} = g_1' \mathcal{Q}_{\nu}' \cos \alpha_Z (p_1 + p_2)_{\mu}.$$
 (A.4)

Then the matrix element for the interaction between the LSP and a nucleus N with Z protons and A - Z neutrons is :

$$\mathcal{M}_{Z_{1},Z_{2}}^{\tilde{\nu}_{R}N} = Z \left\{ 2 \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ u \ \bar{u} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ u \ \bar{u} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ d \ \bar{d} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ Z_{1} \\ \end{array} \right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\nu}_{R} \ \tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*} \\ \end{array} \right) \right) \right\} \right) \right\} \right\} \right\}$$

It follows that

$$\mathcal{M}_{Z_{1},Z_{2}}^{\tilde{\nu}_{R}N} = -ig_{1}^{\prime}\mathcal{Q}_{\nu}^{\prime}(p_{1}+p_{2})_{\mu}\tilde{\nu}_{R}^{*}\tilde{\nu}_{R}N(\bar{k}_{2})\gamma^{\mu}N(\bar{k}_{1}) \\ \left\{ Z\left[\frac{\sin\alpha_{Z}}{M_{Z_{1}}^{2}}(2\xi_{u}^{Z_{1}}+\xi_{d}^{Z_{1}})+\frac{\cos\alpha_{Z}}{M_{Z_{2}}^{2}}(2\xi_{u}^{Z_{2}}+\xi_{d}^{Z_{2}})\right] + (A-Z)\left[\frac{\sin\alpha_{Z}}{M_{Z_{1}}^{2}}(2\xi_{d}^{Z_{1}}+\xi_{u}^{Z_{1}})+\frac{\cos\alpha_{Z}}{M_{Z_{2}}^{2}}(2\xi_{d}^{Z_{2}}+\xi_{u}^{Z_{2}})\right] \right\}.$$
 (A.5)

Given that the expressions

$$Q_V^q = I_3^q - 2\mathcal{Q}^q s_W^2, \tag{A.6}$$

$$Q_V^{\prime q} = \mathcal{Q}_Q^{\prime} - \mathcal{Q}_{\bar{Q}}^{\prime}, \tag{A.7}$$

leads to

$$Q_V^u = \frac{1}{6}(3 - 8s_W^2), \qquad Q_V^d = \frac{1}{6}(-3 + 4s_W^2), \tag{A.8}$$

$$Q_V^{'u} = 0, (A.9)$$

we have for the Z term :

$$\frac{\sin \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_1}^2} (2\xi_u^{Z_1} + \xi_d^{Z_1}) + \frac{\cos \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_2}^2} (2\xi_u^{Z_2} + \xi_d^{Z_2})
= \frac{g_Y \sin \alpha_Z \cos \alpha_Z}{4s_W} (1 - 4s_W^2) \left(\frac{1}{M_{Z_2}^2} - \frac{1}{M_{Z_1}^2}\right) - \frac{g_1'}{2} Q_V'^d \left(\frac{\sin^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_1}^2} + \frac{\cos^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_2}^2}\right), \quad (A.10)$$

while the A - Z term reads :

$$\frac{\sin \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_1}^2} \left(2\xi_d^{Z_1} + \xi_u^{Z_1}\right) + \frac{\cos \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_2}^2} \left(2\xi_d^{Z_2} + \xi_u^{Z_2}\right) \\
= -\frac{g_Y \sin \alpha_Z \cos \alpha_Z}{4s_W} \left(\frac{1}{M_{Z_2}^2} - \frac{1}{M_{Z_1}^2}\right) - g_1' Q_V'^d \left(\frac{\sin^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_1}^2} + \frac{\cos^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_2}^2}\right). \quad (A.11)$$

Then in the non-relativistic approximation we have

$$|\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{Z_1,Z_2}|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{spins} |\mathcal{M}_{Z_1,Z_2}|^2 = 16C(g_1'\mathcal{Q}_{\nu}')^2 m_{\tilde{\nu}_R}^2 m_N^2.$$
(A.12)

with

$$C = [(y(1 - 4\sin^2\theta_W) + y')Z + (-y + 2y')(A - Z)]^2,$$
(A.13)

$$y = \frac{g_Y \sin \alpha_Z \cos \alpha_Z}{4 \sin \theta_W} \left(\frac{1}{M_{Z_2}^2} - \frac{1}{M_{Z_1}^2} \right),$$
 (A.14)

$$y' = -\frac{g_1'}{2} Q_V'^d \left(\frac{\sin^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_1}^2} + \frac{\cos^2 \alpha_Z}{M_{Z_2}^2} \right).$$
(A.15)

Finally the contribution of the gauge bosons to the cross section $\tilde{\nu}_R$ - nucleus reads

$$\sigma_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^{Z_1, Z_2} = \frac{\mu_{\tilde{\nu}_R N}^2}{\pi} (g_1' \mathcal{Q}_{\nu}')^2 [(y(1 - 4\sin^2 \theta_W) + y')Z + (-y + 2y')(A - Z)]^2, \qquad (A.16)$$

with $\mu_{\tilde{\nu}_R N} = \frac{m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} m_N}{m_{\tilde{\nu}_R} + m_N}.$

B Radiative corrections in the Higgs sector à la Coleman-Weinberg

The dominant radiative corrections due to top and stops that are considered in chapter 8 come from [357]. The CP-even and CP-odd mass matrices are given in terms of the tree-level elements $(\mathcal{M}^0_{\pm})_{ij}$ given in eqs. 7.28 and 7.29 where $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ plus the corrections $(\mathcal{M}^1_{\pm})_{ij}$ that are obtained through the Coleman-Weinberg correction to the scalar potential with 1-loop (s)top [358]. They read :

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{1}\right)_{11} &= k \left[\left(\frac{(\widetilde{m}_{1}^{2})^{2}}{(m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} - m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2})^{2}} \mathcal{G} \right) v_{d}^{2} + \left(\frac{\lambda y_{t}^{2} A_{t}}{2\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{F} \right) \frac{v_{s} v_{u}}{v_{d}} \right], \\ \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{1}\right)_{12} &= k \left[\left(\frac{\widetilde{m}_{1}^{2} \widetilde{m}_{2}^{2}}{(m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} - m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2})^{2}} \mathcal{G} + \frac{y_{t}^{2} \widetilde{m}_{1}^{2}}{m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} + m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2}} (2 - \mathcal{G}) \right) v_{u} v_{d} - \left(\frac{\lambda y_{t}^{2} A_{t}}{2\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{F} \right) v_{s} \right], \\ \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{1}\right)_{13} &= k \left[\left(\frac{\widetilde{m}_{1}^{2} \widetilde{m}_{s}^{2}}{(m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} - m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2})^{2}} \mathcal{G} + \frac{\lambda^{2} y_{t}^{2}}{2} \mathcal{F} \right) v_{d} v_{s} - \left(\frac{\lambda y_{t}^{2} A_{t}}{2\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{F} \right) v_{u} \right], \\ \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{1}\right)_{22} &= k \left(\frac{(\widetilde{m}_{2}^{2})^{2}}{(m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} - m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2})^{2}} \mathcal{G} + \frac{2y_{t}^{2} \widetilde{m}_{2}^{2}}{m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} + m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2}} (2 - \mathcal{G}) + y_{t}^{4} \ln \frac{m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2}}{m_{t}^{4}} \right) v_{u}^{2} \\ &+ k \left(\frac{\lambda y_{t}^{2} A_{t}}{2\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{F} \right) \frac{v_{s} v_{d}}{v_{u}}, \\ \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{1}\right)_{23} &= k \left[\left(\frac{\widetilde{m}_{2}^{2} \widetilde{m}_{s}^{2}}{(m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} - m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2})^{2}} \mathcal{G} + \frac{y_{t}^{2} \widetilde{m}_{s}^{2}}{m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} + m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2}} (2 - \mathcal{G}) \right) v_{u} v_{s} - \left(\frac{\lambda y_{t}^{2} A_{t}}{2\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{F} \right) v_{d} \right], \\ \left(\mathcal{M}_{+}^{1}\right)_{33} &= k \left[\left(\frac{(\widetilde{m}_{s}^{2})^{2}}{(m_{\widetilde{t}_{1}}^{2} - m_{\widetilde{t}_{2}}^{2})^{2}} \mathcal{G} \right) v_{s}^{2} + \left(\frac{\lambda y_{t}^{2} \widetilde{M}_{s}^{2}}{2\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{F} \right) \frac{v_{u} v_{d}}{v_{s}} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(B.1)

where $k = 3/(4\pi)^2$, y_t is the top Yukawa coupling and

$$\mathcal{G} = 2 \left[1 - \frac{m_{\tilde{t}_1}^2 + m_{\tilde{t}_2}^2}{m_{\tilde{t}_1}^2 - m_{\tilde{t}_2}^2} \log\left(\frac{m_{\tilde{t}_1}}{m_{\tilde{t}_2}}\right) \right],$$

$$\mathcal{F} = \log\left(\frac{m_{\tilde{t}_1}^2 m_{\tilde{t}_2}^2}{\Lambda^4}\right) - \mathcal{G}(m_{\tilde{t}_1}^2, m_{\tilde{t}_2}^2)$$
(B.2)

and

$$\widetilde{m}_{1}^{2} = y_{t}^{2} \mu \left(\mu - \frac{A_{t} v_{u}}{v_{d}} \right),$$

$$\widetilde{m}_{2}^{2} = y_{t}^{2} A_{t} \left(A_{t} - \frac{\mu v_{d}}{v_{u}} \right),$$

$$\widetilde{m}_{s}^{2} = \left(\frac{v_{d} y_{t}}{v_{s}} \right)^{2} \mu (\mu - A_{t} t_{\beta}),$$
(B.3)
(B.4)

 Λ is defined as $\Lambda=\sqrt{m_{\tilde{t}_1}m_{\tilde{t}_2}}.$ For the CP-odd sector we have

$$(\mathcal{M}^{1}_{-})_{ij} = \frac{\lambda v_u v_d v_s}{\sqrt{2} v_i v_j} \frac{k y_t^2 A_t}{2} \mathcal{F}, \quad i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\},$$
(B.5)

where $v_1 = v_d, v_2 = v_u, v_3 = v_s$.

For the charged Higgs mass we consider eq. 7.31 plus the following corrections :

$$\Delta_{H^{\pm}}^{2} = \frac{\lambda A_{t} v_{s} k y_{t}^{2} \mathcal{F}}{\sqrt{2} \sin 2\beta} + \frac{3g_{2}^{2}}{32\pi^{2} M_{W}^{2}} \left(\frac{2m_{t}^{2} m_{b}^{2}}{s_{\beta}^{2} c_{\beta}^{2}} - M_{W}^{2} \left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{s_{\beta}^{2}} + \frac{m_{b}^{2}}{c_{\beta}^{2}} \right) + \frac{2}{3} M_{W}^{4} \right) \log \frac{\Lambda^{2}}{m_{t}^{2}}.$$
(B.6)

C Gauge invariance : Goldstones and ghosts

As it was said in section 8.4 the implementation of the UMSSM model in a gauge invariant way needs a stringent definition of unphysical fields that are mandatory for the consistency of the gauge theory considered. These fields are the Goldstone bosons and the ghosts.

C.1 Gauge fixing : Goldstone of Z and Z'

To be able to only consider the physical degrees of freedom of the model, we must add a Lagrangian term that will allow to get rid of the Goldstone fields. Actually LanHEP automatically defines the Goldstones associated to the physical gauge bosons. Nevertheless we need to define the Goldstones associated to Z and Z' to be able to compute correctly the unitary matrix $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{A}}$ shown in section 7.3.2. To do that we must introduce a mixing angle β_Z that parameterizes the transition between (G_{Z_1}, G_{Z_2}) and $(G_Z, G_{Z'})$. The expression of this link reads

$$\begin{pmatrix} G_Z \\ G_{Z'} \end{pmatrix} = - \begin{pmatrix} \cos \beta_Z & -\sin \beta_Z \\ \sin \beta_Z & \cos \beta_Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} G_{Z_1} \\ G_{Z_2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(C.1)

with

$$\tan \beta_Z = \frac{\cos \alpha_Z \sqrt{g_Y^2 + g_2^2} (v_d Z_{A21} - v_u Z_{A22}) + \sin \alpha_Z g_1' \sum_{i=1}^3 \mathcal{Q}_i' v_i Z_{A2i}}{\cos \alpha_Z \sqrt{g_Y^2 + g_2^2} (v_d Z_{A11} - v_u Z_{A12}) + \sin \alpha_Z g_1' \sum_{i=1}^3 \mathcal{Q}_i' v_i Z_{A1i}},$$
(C.2)

and with $(v_1, \mathcal{Q}'_1) \equiv (v_d, \mathcal{Q}'_{H_d})$, $(v_2, \mathcal{Q}'_2) \equiv (v_u, \mathcal{Q}'_{H_u})$ and $(v_3, \mathcal{Q}'_3) \equiv (v_s, \mathcal{Q}'_s)$. Then in the Feynman gauge the gauge fixing Lagrangian of the model can be expressed as

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{UMSSM}}^{\text{GF}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(|F^{\gamma}|^2 + |F^G|^2 + 2F^{W^+}F^{W^-} + |F^{Z_1}|^2 + |F^{Z_2}|^2 \right), \quad (C.3)$$

where we define

$$F^{\gamma} = \partial_{\mu}A^{\mu},$$

$$F^{G} = \partial_{\mu}G^{\mu},$$

$$F^{W^{\pm}} = \partial_{\mu}W^{\pm} \pm iM_{W}G_{W^{\pm}},$$

$$F^{Z_{1}} = \partial_{\mu}Z_{1}^{\mu} + M_{Z_{1}}G_{Z_{1}},$$

$$F^{Z_{2}} = \partial_{\mu}Z_{2}^{\mu} + M_{Z_{2}}G_{Z_{2}}.$$

(C.4)

C.2 Fadeev-Popov ghosts

The Fadeev-Popov ghosts c [474], anticommuting scalar fields which are needed to maintain the consistency of the gauge theory, have the following general Lagrangian term :

$$\mathscr{L}^{\rm FP} = -\bar{c}_{\alpha}(D(c)[\Phi^{\alpha}]),\tag{C.5}$$

where Φ is a gauge boson and D(c) is a gauge transformation. To do that we start from the Becchi-Rouet-Stora-Tyutin (BRST) transformations [475, 476, 477, 478] given in [479] and the relations given in [480]. For the contribution of the gauge bosons that we want to highlight for our model we have

$$D(c)[W^{\alpha}_{\mu}] = g_{2}\epsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma}W^{\beta}_{\mu}c^{\gamma} + \partial_{\mu}c^{\alpha}$$

$$D(c)[B_{\mu}] = \partial_{\mu}c_{B}$$

$$D(c)[B'_{\mu}] = \partial_{\mu}c_{B'}.$$
(C.6)

C.2.1 Ghosts in the MSSM

In the MSSM, we have the following terms :

$$- \bar{c}_{W^{+}} D(c) [\partial^{\mu} W^{+}_{\mu} + M_{W} G_{W^{+}}], - \bar{c}_{W^{-}} D(c) [\partial^{\mu} W^{-}_{\mu} + M_{W} G_{W^{-}}], - \bar{c}_{Z} D(c) [\partial^{\mu} Z_{\mu} + M_{Z} G_{Z}], - \bar{c}_{\gamma} D(c) [\partial^{\mu} A_{\mu}],$$
(C.7)

with

$$c_{W^{\pm}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (c_{W^{1}} \mp c_{W^{2}}),$$

$$c_{\gamma} = s_{W} c_{W^{3}} + c_{W} c_{B},$$

$$c_{Z} = c_{W} c_{W^{3}} - s_{W} c_{B}.$$

(C.8)

We can now write

$$D(c)[\partial^{\mu}W^{1}_{\mu}] = g_{2}W^{2}_{\mu}c_{W^{3}} - g_{2}W^{3}_{\mu}c_{W^{2}} + \partial_{\mu}c_{W^{1}},$$

$$D(c)[\partial^{\mu}W^{2}_{\mu}] = g_{2}W^{3}_{\mu}c_{W^{1}} - g_{2}W^{1}_{\mu}c_{W^{3}} + \partial_{\mu}c_{W^{2}}$$
(C.9)

which gives

$$-\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}D(c)[\partial^{\mu}W^{\pm}_{\mu}] = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}\partial^{\mu}(D(c)[W^{1}_{\mu}] \mp D(c)[W^{2}_{\mu}])$$

$$= -\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{W^{\pm}} - ig_{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}\partial^{\mu}(W^{\pm}_{\mu}c_{W^{3}} - c_{W^{\pm}}W^{3}_{\mu}).$$
 (C.10)

Using the same method we have

$$-\bar{c}_{Z}D(c)[\partial^{\mu}Z_{\mu}] = -\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{c}_{Z}c_{Z} + ig_{2}c_{W}\bar{c}_{Z}\partial^{\mu}(W_{\mu}^{+}c_{W^{-}} - c_{W^{+}}W_{\mu}^{-}), -\bar{c}_{\gamma}D(c)[\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu}] = -\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{c}_{\gamma}c_{\gamma} + ig_{2}s_{W}\bar{c}_{\gamma}\partial^{\mu}(W_{\mu}^{+}c_{W^{-}} - c_{W^{+}}W_{\mu}^{-}).$$
(C.11)

For the gauge transformations acting on Goldstones, we have to use the definition of the Higgs fields⁶:

$$H_d = \begin{pmatrix} (v_d + \phi_d - i\varphi_d)/\sqrt{2} \\ -\phi_d^- \end{pmatrix}, Y = -1 \qquad H_u = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_u^+ \\ (v_u + \phi_u + i\varphi_u)/\sqrt{2} \end{pmatrix}, Y = 1.$$
(C.12)

⁶The following definitions apply only for this appendix on ghosts in the (U)MSSM.

With Y the hypercharge. It follows that

$$D(c)H_{d,u} = i\frac{g_2}{2}c_{W^{\alpha}}\sigma_{\alpha}H_{d,u} + i\frac{g'}{2}Yc_BH_{d,u}$$

$$= i\frac{g_2}{2}(c_{W^{\alpha}}\sigma_{\alpha} + t_WYc_B)H_{d,u}$$

$$= i\frac{g_2}{2}\left[\sqrt{2}\begin{pmatrix}0 & c_{W^+}\\c_{W^-} & 0\end{pmatrix} + c_{W^3}\begin{pmatrix}1 & 0\\0 & -1\end{pmatrix} + c_B\begin{pmatrix}t_WY & 0\\0 & t_WY\end{pmatrix}\right]H_{d,u}$$

$$= i\frac{g_2}{2}\left[\sqrt{2}\begin{pmatrix}0 & c_{W^+}\\c_{W^-} & 0\end{pmatrix} + s_Wc_{\gamma}\begin{pmatrix}1+Y & 0\\0 & Y-1\end{pmatrix}\right]$$

$$+ c_Wc_Z\begin{pmatrix}1 - Yt_W^2 & 0\\0 & -(1+Yt_W^2)\end{pmatrix}\right]H_{d,u}.$$
(C.13)

This leads to

$$D(c)H_{d} = i\frac{g_{2}}{2} \left[\begin{pmatrix} \frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}} & c_{W} + \sqrt{2} \\ \sqrt{2}c_{W^{-}} & -2s_{W}c_{\gamma} - c_{W}c_{Z}(1 - t_{W}^{2}) \end{pmatrix} \right] \begin{pmatrix} (v_{d} + \phi_{d} - i\varphi_{d})/\sqrt{2} \\ -\phi_{d}^{-} \end{pmatrix} \\ = i\frac{g_{2}}{2} \left[\begin{pmatrix} \frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}\sqrt{2}}(v_{d} + \phi_{d} - i\varphi_{d}) - \phi_{d}^{-}c_{W} + \sqrt{2} \\ c_{W^{-}}(v_{d} + \phi_{d} - i\varphi_{d}) + \phi_{d}^{-}(2s_{W}c_{\gamma} + c_{W}c_{Z}(1 - t_{W}^{2})) \\ c_{W^{-}}(v_{d} + \phi_{u} + i\varphi_{u}) + \phi_{d}^{+}(2s_{W}c_{\gamma} + c_{W}c_{Z}(1 - t_{W}^{2})) \\ -\frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}\sqrt{2}}(v_{u} + \phi_{u} + i\varphi_{u}) + \phi_{u}^{+}c_{W^{-}}\sqrt{2} \\ \end{bmatrix} \right].$$
(C.14)

Defining the transformations

$$\frac{D(c)H_d^0 + iD(c)\varphi_d}{\sqrt{2}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D(c)H_d, \tag{C.16}$$

$$\frac{D(c)H_u^0 - iD(c)\varphi_u}{\sqrt{2}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} D(c)H_u, \tag{C.17}$$

$$iD(c)\phi_d^- = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} D(c)H_d, \tag{C.18}$$

$$-iD(c)\phi_u^- = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D(c)H_u \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger}, \qquad (C.19)$$

$$-iD(c)\phi_d^+ = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} D(c)H_d \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger}, \qquad (C.20)$$

$$iD(c)\phi_u^+ = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D(c)H_u, \tag{C.21}$$

we have

$$D(c)H_{d,u}^{0} = -i\frac{g_{2}}{2}(c_{W^{+}}\phi_{d,u}^{-} - c_{W^{-}}\phi_{d,u}^{+} + \frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}}i\varphi_{d,u}), \qquad (C.22)$$

$$D(c)\varphi_{d,u} = -\frac{g_2}{2}(c_{W^+}\phi_{d,u}^- + c_{W^-}\phi_{d,u}^+ - \frac{c_Z}{c_W}(v_{d,u} + \phi_{d,u})),$$
(C.23)

$$D(c)\phi_{d,u}^{\pm} = \frac{g_2}{2} \left(c_{W^{\pm}}(v_{d,u} + \phi_{d,u} \pm i\varphi_{d,u}) + \phi_{d,u}^{\pm}(2s_W c_{\gamma} + c_W c_Z(1 - t_W^2)) \right).$$
(C.24)

With

$$G_{W^{\pm}} = c_{\beta}\phi_d^{\pm} + s_{\beta}\phi_u^{\pm},\tag{C.25}$$

$$G_Z = c_\beta \varphi_d + s_\beta \varphi_u, \tag{C.26}$$

the last Fadeev-Popov terms read

$$\begin{aligned} -\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}D(c)[M_{W}G_{W^{\pm}}] &= -M_{W}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}D(c)[c_{\beta}\phi_{d}^{\pm} + s_{\beta}\phi_{u}^{\pm}] \\ &= -M_{W}c_{\beta}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}\left(c_{W^{\pm}}(v_{d} + \phi_{d} \pm i\varphi_{d}) + \phi_{d}^{\pm}(2s_{W}c_{\gamma} + c_{W}c_{Z}(1 - t_{W}^{2}))\right) \\ &- M_{W}s_{\beta}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}\left(c_{W^{\pm}}(v_{u} + \phi_{u} \pm i\varphi_{u}) + \phi_{u}^{\pm}(2s_{W}c_{\gamma} + c_{W}c_{Z}(1 - t_{W}^{2}))\right) \\ &= -M_{W}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}(2s_{W}c_{\gamma} + c_{W}c_{Z}(1 - t_{W}^{2}))G_{W^{\pm}} \\ &- M_{W}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{W^{\pm}}(c_{\beta}\phi_{d} + s_{\beta}\phi_{u} \pm iG_{Z}) + \text{quadratic terms} \\ &= \mp iM_{W}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{W^{\pm}}G_{Z} - M_{W}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{W^{\pm}}\left(c_{\beta} - s_{\beta}\right)\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{d} \\ \phi_{u}\end{pmatrix} \\ &- eM_{W}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{\gamma}G_{W^{\pm}} - M_{W}\frac{g_{2}}{2c_{W}}(c_{W}^{2} - s_{W}^{2})\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{Z}G_{W^{\pm}} \\ &+ \text{quadratic terms}, \end{aligned}$$

$$-\bar{c}_{Z}D(c)[M_{Z}G_{Z}] = -M_{Z}\bar{c}_{Z}D(c)[c_{\beta}\varphi_{d} + s_{\beta}\varphi_{u}]$$

$$= M_{Z}c_{\beta}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{Z}(c_{W}+\phi_{d}^{-} + c_{W}-\phi_{d}^{+} - \frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}}(v_{d} + \phi_{d}))$$

$$+ M_{Z}s_{\beta}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{Z}(c_{W}+\phi_{u}^{-} + c_{W}-\phi_{u}^{+} - \frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}}(v_{u} + \phi_{u}))$$

$$= M_{Z}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{Z}(c_{W}+G_{W^{-}} + c_{W}-G_{W^{+}}) + M_{Z}\frac{g_{2}}{2c_{W}}\bar{c}_{Z}c_{Z}\left(c_{\beta} - s_{\beta}\right)\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{d}\\\phi_{u}\end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \text{quadratic terms.}$$
(C.28)

It follows that the Fadeev-Popov Lagrangian in the MSSM is :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{FP}} &= g_3 f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} \bar{c}^{\alpha} c^{\beta} \partial^{\mu} G_{\mu}^{\gamma} \\ &- i g_2 \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} \partial^{\mu} (W_{\mu}^{\pm} c_{W^3} - c_{W^{\pm}} W_{\mu}^3) + i g_2 c_W \bar{c}_Z \partial^{\mu} (W_{\mu}^{+} c_{W^{-}} - c_{W^{+}} W_{\mu}^{-}) \\ &+ i g_2 s_W \bar{c}_{\gamma} \partial^{\mu} (W_{\mu}^{+} c_{W^{-}} - c_{W^{+}} W_{\mu}^{-}) \mp i M_W \frac{g_2}{2} \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_W^{\pm} G_Z - e M_W \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_{\gamma} G_{W^{\pm}} \\ &- M_W \frac{g_2}{2} \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_W^{\pm} \left(c_{\beta} \quad s_{\beta} \right) \begin{pmatrix} \phi_d \\ \phi_u \end{pmatrix} - M_W \frac{g_2}{2 c_W} (c_W^2 - s_W^2) \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_Z G_{W^{\pm}} \\ &+ M_Z \frac{g_2}{2 c_W} \bar{c}_Z c_Z \left(c_\beta \quad s_\beta \right) \begin{pmatrix} \phi_d \\ \phi_u \end{pmatrix} + M_Z \frac{g_2}{2} \bar{c}_Z (c_W^+ G_{W^-} + c_W^- G_{W^+}) \\ &+ \text{quadratic terms.} \end{aligned}$$

(C.29)

C.2.2 Ghosts in the UMSSM

Here we also have to consider $S = (v_s + \sigma + i\xi)/\sqrt{2}$, with Y = 0. Comparing to the MSSM we modify or add the following terms :

$$- \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} D(c) [M_W G_{W^{\pm}}], - \bar{c}_{Z_1} D(c) [\partial^{\mu} Z_{1\mu} + M_{Z_1} G_{Z_1}], - \bar{c}_{Z_2} D(c) [\partial^{\mu} Z_{2\mu} + M_{Z_2} G_{Z_2}].$$

The transformations read now :

$$\begin{split} D(c)H_{d,u} &= i\frac{g_2}{2} \left[\sqrt{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{W^+} \\ c_{W^-} & 0 \end{pmatrix} + s_W c_\gamma \begin{pmatrix} 1+Y & 0 \\ 0 & Y-1 \end{pmatrix} + c_W c_Z \begin{pmatrix} 1-Yt_W^2 & 0 \\ 0 & -(1+Yt_W^2) \end{pmatrix} \right. \\ &\left. + 2\frac{g_1'}{g_2} \mathcal{Q}'_{H_d,H_u} c_{Z'} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right] H_{d,u} \\ D(c)H_d &= i\frac{g_2}{2} \left[\begin{pmatrix} \frac{c_Z}{c_W} + \frac{2g_1'}{g_2} \mathcal{Q}'_{H_d} c_{Z'} \end{pmatrix} (v_d + \phi_d - i\varphi_d) / \sqrt{2} - \phi_d^- c_{W^+} \sqrt{2} \\ c_{W^-} (v_d + \phi_d - i\varphi_d) + \phi_d^- \left(2s_W c_\gamma + c_W c_Z (1-t_W^2) - \frac{2g_1'}{g_2} \mathcal{Q}'_{H_d} c_{Z'} \right) \right] \\ D(c)H_u &= i\frac{g_2}{2} \left[\begin{array}{c} c_{W^+} (v_u + \phi_u + i\varphi_u) + \phi_d^+ \left(2s_W c_\gamma + c_W c_Z (1-t_W^2) + \frac{2g_1'}{g_2} \mathcal{Q}'_{H_u} c_{Z'} \right) \\ \left. -\frac{c_Z}{c_W} + \frac{2g_1'}{g_2} \mathcal{Q}'_{H_u} c_{Z'} \right) (v_u + \phi_u + i\varphi_u) / \sqrt{2} + \phi_u^+ c_{W^-} \sqrt{2} \\ \end{array} \right] \\ D(c)S &= ig_1' \mathcal{Q}'_S c_{Z'} (v_s + \sigma + i\xi) / \sqrt{2}. \end{split}$$

Which gives

$$D(c)H_{d,u}^{0} = -i\frac{g_{2}}{2}(c_{W^{+}}\phi_{d,u}^{-} - c_{W^{-}}\phi_{d,u}^{+} + \frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}}i\varphi_{d,u}) \pm g_{1}^{\prime}\mathcal{Q}_{H_{d},H_{u}}^{\prime}c_{Z^{\prime}}\varphi_{d,u}$$
(C.30)
$$D(c)\varphi_{d,u} = -\frac{g_{2}}{2}(c_{W^{+}}\phi_{d,u}^{-} + c_{W^{-}}\phi_{d,u}^{+} - \frac{c_{Z}}{c_{W}}(v_{d,u} + \phi_{d,u})) \pm g_{1}^{\prime}\mathcal{Q}_{H_{d},H_{u}}^{\prime}c_{Z^{\prime}}(v_{d,u} + \phi_{d,u})$$
(C.31)

$$D(c)\phi_{d,u}^{\pm} = \frac{g_2}{2} \left(c_{W^{\pm}} (v_{d,u} + \phi_{d,u} \pm i\varphi_{d,u}) + \phi_{d,u}^{\pm} (2s_W c_{\gamma} + c_W c_Z (1 - t_W^2)) \right) \mp g_1' \mathcal{Q}_{H_d,H_u}' c_{Z'} \phi_{d,u}^{\pm}$$
(C.32)

$$D(c)S^{0} = -g_{1}'\mathcal{Q}_{S}'c_{Z'}\xi$$
(C.33)

$$D(c)\xi = -g_1'\mathcal{Q}_S'c_{Z'}(v_s + \sigma).$$
(C.34)

 $G_{W^{\pm}}$ has the same expression as in the MSSM. However in the UMSSM we have

$$G_Z = -Z_{A11}\varphi_d + Z_{A12}\varphi_u + Z_{A13}\xi \tag{C.35}$$

$$G_{Z'} = -Z_{A21}\varphi_d + Z_{A22}\varphi_u + Z_{A23}\xi.$$
 (C.36)

It implies :

$$-\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}D(c)[M_{W}G_{W^{\pm}}] = -M_{W}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{W^{\pm}}\left(c_{\beta} \quad s_{\beta}\right)\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{d} \pm i\varphi_{d}\\\phi_{u} \pm i\varphi_{u}\end{pmatrix} - eM_{W}\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{\gamma}G_{W^{\pm}}\\ -M_{W}\frac{g_{2}}{2c_{W}}(c_{W}^{2} - s_{W}^{2})\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{Z}G_{W^{\pm}}\\ +M_{W}g_{1}'\bar{c}_{W^{\pm}}c_{Z'}\left((c_{\beta}^{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}' - s_{\beta}^{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}')G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta}s_{\beta}\mathcal{Q}_{S}'H^{\pm}\right)\\ + quadratic terms, \qquad (C.37)$$

$$\begin{aligned} -\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}D(c)[M_{Z_{1}}G_{Z_{1}}] = &M_{Z_{1}}\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}D(c)[\cos\beta_{Z}G_{Z} + \sin\beta_{Z}G_{Z'}] \\ = &-\cos\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{1}}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}\left(-Z_{A11}c_{W^{\pm}}(c_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta}H^{\pm}) + Z_{A12}c_{W^{\pm}}(s_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta}H^{\pm})\right) \\ &-\sin\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{1}}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}\left(-Z_{A21}c_{W^{\pm}}(c_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta}H^{\pm}) + Z_{A22}c_{W^{\pm}}(s_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta}H^{\pm})\right) \\ &+\cos\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{1}}\frac{g_{2}}{2c_{W}}\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}c_{Z}(-Z_{A11}\phi_{d} + Z_{A12}\phi_{u}) \\ &+\sin\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{1}}\frac{g_{2}}{2c_{W}}\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}c_{Z}(-Z_{A21}\phi_{d} + Z_{A22}\phi_{u}) \\ &-\cos\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{1}}g_{1}'\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}c_{Z'}(Z_{A11}Q_{H_{d}}'\phi_{d} + Z_{A12}Q_{H_{u}}'\phi_{u} + Z_{A13}Q_{S}'\sigma) \\ &-\sin\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{1}}g_{1}'\bar{c}_{Z_{1}}c_{Z'}(Z_{A21}Q_{H_{d}}'\phi_{d} + Z_{A22}Q_{H_{u}}'\phi_{u} + Z_{A23}Q_{S}'\sigma) \\ &+ quadratic terms, \end{aligned}$$

$$(C.38)$$

$$-\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}D(c)[M_{Z_{2}}G_{Z_{2}}] = M_{Z_{2}}\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}D(c)[-\sin\beta_{Z}G_{Z} + \cos\beta_{Z}G_{Z'}]$$

$$= \sin\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{2}}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}\left(-Z_{A11}c_{W^{\pm}}(c_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta}H^{\pm}) + Z_{A12}c_{W^{\pm}}(s_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta}H^{\pm})\right)$$

$$-\cos\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{2}}\frac{g_{2}}{2}\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}\left(-Z_{A21}c_{W^{\pm}}(c_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta}H^{\pm}) + Z_{A22}c_{W^{\pm}}(s_{\beta}G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta}H^{\pm})\right)$$

$$-\sin\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{2}}\frac{g_{2}}{2c_{W}}\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}c_{Z}(-Z_{A11}\phi_{d} + Z_{A12}\phi_{u})$$

$$+\cos\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{2}}\frac{g_{2}}{2c_{W}}\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}c_{Z}(-Z_{A21}\phi_{d} + Z_{A22}\phi_{u})$$

$$+\sin\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{2}}g'_{1}\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}c_{Z'}(Z_{A11}Q'_{H_{d}}\phi_{d} + Z_{A12}Q'_{H_{u}}\phi_{u} + Z_{A13}Q'_{S}\sigma)$$

$$-\cos\beta_{Z}M_{Z_{2}}g'_{1}\bar{c}_{Z_{2}}c_{Z'}(Z_{A21}Q'_{H_{d}}\phi_{d} + Z_{A22}Q'_{H_{u}}\phi_{u} + Z_{A23}Q'_{S}\sigma)$$

$$+ quadratic terms.$$
(C.39)

Finally, the complete Fadeev-Popov Lagrangian in the UMSSM reads

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}_{\text{UMSSM}}^{\text{PP}} &= g_{3} f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} \bar{c}^{\alpha} c^{\beta} \partial^{\mu} G_{\mu}^{\gamma} - ig_{2} \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} \partial^{\mu} (W_{\mu}^{\pm} c_{W^{3}} - c_{W^{\pm}} W_{\mu}^{3}) + ig_{2} c_{W} \bar{c}_{Z} \partial^{\mu} (W_{\mu}^{\pm} c_{W^{-}} - c_{W^{+}} W_{\mu}^{-}) \\ &+ ig_{2} s_{W} \bar{c}_{\gamma} \partial^{\mu} (W_{\mu}^{\pm} c_{W^{-}} - c_{W^{+}} W_{\mu}^{-}) - M_{W} \frac{g_{2}}{2} \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_{W^{\pm}} \left(c_{\beta} - s_{\beta} \right) \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{d} \pm i\varphi_{d} \\ \phi_{u} \pm i\varphi_{u} \end{pmatrix} \\ &- e M_{W} \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_{\gamma} G_{W^{\pm}} - M_{W} \frac{g_{2}}{2 c_{W}} (c_{W}^{2} - s_{W}^{2}) \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_{Z} G_{W^{\pm}} \\ &+ M_{W} g_{1}^{\dagger} \bar{c}_{W^{\pm}} c_{Z'} \left((c_{\beta}^{2} \mathcal{Q}_{H_{d}}^{\prime} - s_{\beta}^{2} \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime}) G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta} s_{\beta} \mathcal{Q}_{S}^{\prime} H^{\pm} \right) \\ &- cos \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{1}} \frac{g_{2}}{2} \bar{c}_{Z_{1}} \left(-Z_{A11} c_{W^{\pm}} (c_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta} H^{\pm}) + Z_{A12} c_{W^{\pm}} (s_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta} H^{\pm}) \right) \\ &+ sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{1}} \frac{g_{2}}{2 c_{W}} \bar{c}_{Z_{1}} c_{Z} \left(-Z_{A11} c_{W^{\pm}} (c_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta} H^{\pm}) + Z_{A22} c_{W^{\pm}} (s_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta} H^{\pm}) \right) \\ &+ sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{1}} \frac{g_{2}}{2 c_{W}} \bar{c}_{Z_{1}} c_{Z} \left(-Z_{A11} \phi_{d} + Z_{A12} \phi_{u} \right) \\ &+ sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{1}} \frac{g_{2}}{2 c_{W}} \bar{c}_{Z_{1}} c_{Z} \left(-Z_{A11} \phi_{d} + Z_{A12} \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}} \phi_{u} + Z_{A13} \mathcal{Q}_{S}' \sigma \right) \\ &- sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{1}} g_{1}^{\dagger} \bar{c}_{Z_{1}} c_{Z'} \left(Z_{A11} Q_{H_{d}}^{\prime} \phi_{d} + Z_{A12} \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime} \phi_{u} + Z_{A13} \mathcal{Q}_{S}' \sigma \right) \\ &- sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{1}} g_{1}^{\dagger} \bar{c}_{Z_{1}} c_{Z'} \left(Z_{A11} Q_{H_{d}}^{\prime} \phi_{d} + Z_{A22} \mathcal{Q}_{H_{u}}^{\prime} \phi_{u} + Z_{A13} \mathcal{Q}_{S}' \sigma \right) \\ &- sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{2}} \frac{g_{2}}{2} \bar{c}_{Z_{2}} \left(-Z_{A11} c_{W^{\pm}} (c_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta} H^{\pm}) \right) + Z_{A22} c_{W^{\pm}} \left(s_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta} H^{\pm} \right) \right) \\ &- sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{2}} \frac{g_{2}}{2} \bar{c}_{Z_{2}} \left(-Z_{A11} c_{W^{\pm}} (c_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta} H^{\pm}) \right) + Z_{A22} c_{W^{\pm}} \left(s_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta} H^{\pm} \right) \right) \\ &- sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{2}} \frac{g_{2}}{2} \bar{c}_{Z_{2}} \left(-Z_{A11} c_{W^{\pm}} (c_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} - s_{\beta} H^{\pm}) + Z_{A22} c_{W^{\pm}} \left(s_{\beta} G_{W^{\pm}} + c_{\beta} H^{\pm} \right) \right) \\ &- sin \beta_{Z} M_{Z_{2}} \frac{g_{2}}$$

Bibliography

- [1] E. Rutherford. The scattering of alpha and beta particles by matter and the structure of the atom. Phil. Mag., **21**:669–688, 1911.
- [2] Serguei Chatrchyan et al., CMS Collaboration. Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC. Phys. Lett., B716:30–61, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1207.7235].
- [3] Georges Aad et al., ATLAS Collaboration. Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC. Phys. Lett., B716:1–29, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1207.7214].
- [4] Chen-Ning Yang and Robert L. Mills. Conservation of Isotopic Spin and Isotopic Gauge Invariance. Phys. Rev., 96:191–195, 1954. [doi]
- [5] R. Brandelik et al., TASSO Collaboration. Evidence for Planar Events in e⁺ e⁻ Annihilation at High-Energies. Phys. Lett., B86:243, 1979. [doi]
- [6] S.L. Glashow. Partial Symmetries of Weak Interactions. Nucl. Phys., 22:579–588, 1961. [doi]
- [7] G. Arnison et al., UA1 Collaboration. Experimental Observation of Isolated Large Transverse Energy Electrons with Associated Missing Energy at √s = 540 GeV. Phys. Lett., B122:103–116, 1983a. [doi]
- [8] G. Arnison et al., UA1 Collaboration. Experimental Observation of Lepton Pairs of Invariant Mass Around 95 GeV/c² at the CERN SPS Collider. Phys. Lett., B126:398-410, 1983b. [doi]
- F. Englert and R. Brout. Broken Symmetry and the Mass of Gauge Vector Mesons. Phys. Rev. Lett., 13:321–323, 1964. [doi]
- [10] Peter W. Higgs. Broken symmetries, massless particles and gauge fields. Phys. Lett., 12:132–133, 1964a. [doi]
- [11] Peter W. Higgs. Broken Symmetries and the Masses of Gauge Bosons. Phys. Rev. Lett., 13:508–509, 1964b. [doi]

- [12] G.S. Guralnik, C.R. Hagen and T.W.B. Kibble. Global Conservation Laws and Massless Particles. Phys. Rev. Lett., 13:585–587, 1964. [doi]
- [13] Peter W. Higgs. Spontaneous Symmetry Breakdown without Massless Bosons. Phys. Rev., 145:1156–1163, 1966. [doi]
- T.W.B. Kibble. Symmetry breaking in nonAbelian gauge theories. Phys. Rev., 155: 1554–1561, 1967. [doi]
- [15] Steven Weinberg. A Model of Leptons. Phys. Rev. Lett., 19:1264–1266, 1967. [doi]
- [16] Abdus Salam. Weak and Electromagnetic Interactions. Conf. Proc., C680519: 367–377, 1968.
- [17] Gerard 't Hooft. Renormalizable Lagrangians for Massive Yang-Mills Fields. Nucl. Phys., B35:167–188, 1971. [doi]
- [18] Michael E. Peskin and Daniel V. Schroeder. An Introduction to quantum field theory. 1995.
- [19] Francis Halzen and Alan D. Martin. Quarks and leptons : An Introductory Course in Modern Particle Physics. 1985.
- [20] Steven Weinberg. The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications. 1996.
- [21] Carl D. Anderson and Seth H. Neddermeyer. Cloud Chamber Observations of Cosmic Rays at 4300 Meters Elevation and Near Sea-Level. Phys. Rev., 50:263– 271, 1936. [doi]
- [22] Martin L. Perl, G.S. Abrams, A. Boyarski, Martin Breidenbach, D. Briggs et al. Evidence for Anomalous Lepton Production in e⁺ - e⁻ Annihilation. Phys. Rev. Lett., 35:1489–1492, 1975. [doi]
- [23] C.L. Cowan, F. Reines, F.B. Harrison, H.W. Kruse and A.D. McGuire. Detection of the free neutrino: A Confirmation. Science, 124:103–104, 1956. [doi]
- [24] G. Danby, J.M. Gaillard, Konstantin A. Goulianos, L.M. Lederman, Nari B. Mistry et al. Observation of High-Energy Neutrino Reactions and the Existence of Two Kinds of Neutrinos. Phys. Rev. Lett., 9:36–44, 1962. [doi]
- [25] K. Kodama et al., DONUT Collaboration. Observation of tau neutrino interactions. Phys. Lett., B504:218–224, 2001. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ex/0012035].
- [26] B. Pontecorvo. Inverse beta processes and nonconservation of lepton charge. Sov. Phys. JETP, 7:172–173, 1958.
- [27] B. Pontecorvo. Neutrino Experiments and the Problem of Conservation of Leptonic Charge. Sov. Phys. JETP, 26:984–988, 1968.

- [28] Ziro Maki, Masami Nakagawa and Shoichi Sakata. Remarks on the unified model of elementary particles. Prog. Theor. Phys., 28:870–880, 1962. [doi]
- [29] J. Beringer et al., Particle Data Group. Review of Particle Physics (RPP). Phys. Rev., D86:010001, 2012. [doi]
- [30] F.P. An et al., DAYA-BAY Collaboration. Observation of electron-antineutrino disappearance at Daya Bay. Phys. Rev. Lett., 108:171803, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1203.1669].
- [31] P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck Collaboration. Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters. 2013a. [arXiv:1303.5076].
- [32] Murray Gell-Mann. A Schematic Model of Baryons and Mesons. Phys. Lett., 8: 214–215, 1964. [doi]
- [33] G. Zweig. An SU(3) Model for Strong Interaction Symmetry and its Breaking. CERN Report No.8181/Th 8419, 1964a.
- [34] G. Zweig. An SU(3) Model for Strong Interaction Symmetry and its Breaking : II. CERN Report No.8419/Th 8412, 1964b.
- [35] Elliott D. Bloom, D.H. Coward, H.C. DeStaebler, J. Drees, Guthrie Miller et al. High-Energy Inelastic e p Scattering at 6-Degrees and 10-Degrees. Phys. Rev. Lett., 23:930-934, 1969. [doi]
- [36] Martin Breidenbach, Jerome I. Friedman, Henry W. Kendall, Elliott D. Bloom, D.H. Coward et al. Observed Behavior of Highly Inelastic electron-Proton Scattering. Phys. Rev. Lett., 23:935–939, 1969. [doi]
- [37] S.L. Glashow, J. Iliopoulos and L. Maiani. Weak Interactions with Lepton-Hadron Symmetry. Phys. Rev., D2:1285–1292, 1970. [doi]
- [38] J.E. Augustin et al., SLAC-SP-017 Collaboration. Discovery of a Narrow Resonance in e⁺ e⁻ Annihilation. Phys. Rev. Lett., **33**:1406–1408, 1974. [doi]
- [39] J.J. Aubert et al., E598 Collaboration. Experimental Observation of a Heavy Particle J. Phys. Rev. Lett., 33:1404–1406, 1974. [doi]
- [40] Nicola Cabibbo. Unitary Symmetry and Leptonic Decays. Phys. Rev. Lett., 10: 531–533, 1963. [doi]
- [41] J.H. Christenson, J.W. Cronin, V.L. Fitch and R. Turlay. Evidence for the 2π Decay of the K_2^0 Meson. Phys. Rev. Lett., **13**:138–140, 1964. [doi]
- [42] Makoto Kobayashi and Toshihide Maskawa. CP Violation in the Renormalizable Theory of Weak Interaction. Prog. Theor. Phys., 49:652–657, 1973. [doi]

- [43] S.W. Herb, D.C. Hom, L.M. Lederman, J.C. Sens, H.D. Snyder et al. Observation of a Dimuon Resonance at 9.5-GeV in 400-GeV Proton-Nucleus Collisions. Phys. Rev. Lett., 39:252–255, 1977. [doi]
- [44] F. Abe et al., CDF Collaboration. Observation of top quark production in pp collisions. Phys. Rev. Lett., 74:2626–2631, 1995. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ex/9503002].
- [45] S. Abachi et al., DØ Collaboration. Search for high mass top quark production in pp̄ collisions at √s = 1.8 TeV. Phys. Rev. Lett., 74:2422–2426, 1995. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ex/9411001].
- [46] ATLAS Collaboration. Combined measurements of the mass and signal strength of the Higgs-like boson with the ATLAS detector using up to 25 fb⁻¹ of protonproton collision data. 2013a. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1523727
- [47] CMS Collaboration. Combination of standard model Higgs boson searches and measurements of the properties of the new boson with a mass near 125 GeV. 2013a. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1542387
- [48] ATLAS Collaboration. Study of the spin of the new boson with up to 25 fb⁻¹ of ATLAS data. 2013b. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1542341
- [49] ATLAS Collaboration. Combined coupling measurements of the Higgs-like boson with the ATLAS detector using up to 25 fb⁻¹ of proton-proton collision data. 2013c. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1528170
- [50] the SLD Electroweak, LEP Collaboration, ALEPH Collaboration, DEL-PHI Collaboration, L3 Collaboration, OPAL Collaboration, LEP Electroweak Working Group, SLD Electroweak Group, SLD Heavy Flavor Group. A Combination of preliminary electroweak measurements and constraints on the standard model. 2003. [arXiv:hep-ex/0312023].
- [51] Jihn E. Kim and Gianpaolo Carosi. Axions and the Strong CP Problem. Rev. Mod. Phys., 82:557–602, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0807.3125].
- [52] Beranger Dumont, Sylvain Fichet and Gero von Gersdorff. A Bayesian view of the Higgs sector with higher dimensional operators. JHEP, 1307:065, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1304.3369].
- [53] ATLAS Collaboration. Measurements of the properties of the Higgs-like boson in the two photon decay channel with the ATLAS detector using 25 fb⁻¹ of protonproton collision data. 2013d. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1523698
- [54] CMS Collaboration. Updated measurements of the Higgs boson at 125 GeV in the two photon decay channel. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1530524
- [55] Paul A. M. Dirac. The Quantum theory of electron. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A117: 610–624, 1928a.

- [56] Paul A. M. Dirac. The Quantum theory of electron. 2. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A118:351, 1928b.
- [57] Julian S. Schwinger. On Quantum electrodynamics and the magnetic moment of the electron. Phys. Rev., 73:416–417, 1948. [doi]
- [58] B. Lee Roberts. Status of the Fermilab Muon (g 2) Experiment. Chin. Phys., C34:741–744, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1001.2898].
- [59] J.P. Lees et al., **BaBar Collaboration**. Evidence for an excess of $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\tau^-\bar{\nu}_{\tau}$ decays. Phys. Rev. Lett., **109**:101802, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1205.5442].
- [60] Albert Einstein. The Foundation of the General Theory of Relativity. Annalen Phys., 49:769–822, 1916. [doi]
- [61] Steven Weinberg. Gravitation and Cosmology: Principles and Applications of the General Theory of Relativity. 1972.
- [62] Edward Kolb and Michael Turner. The Early Universe. 1994.
- [63] Steven Weinberg. Cosmology. 2008.
- [64] Jorge L. Cervantes-Cota and George Smoot. Cosmology today-A brief review. AIP Conf. Proc., 1396:28–52, 2011. [arXiv:1107.1789].
- [65] Mark Trodden and Sean M. Carroll. *TASI lectures: Introduction to cosmology*. pages 703–793, 2004. [arXiv:astro-ph/0401547].
- [66] Edwin Hubble. A relation between distance and radial velocity among extra-galactic nebulae. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 15:168–173, 1929.
- [67] Adam G. Riess et al., Supernova Search Team. Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant. Astron. J., 116:1009–1038, 1998. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/9805201].
- [68] S. Perlmutter et al., Supernova Cosmology Project. Measurements of Ω and Λ from 42 high redshift supernovae. Astrophys. J., 517:565–586, 1999. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/9812133].
- [69] Daniel J. Eisenstein et al., SDSS Collaboration. Detection of the baryon acoustic peak in the large-scale correlation function of SDSS luminous red galaxies. Astrophys. J., 633:560–574, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0501171].
- [70] G. Gamow. Expanding universe and the origin of elements. Phys. Rev., 70:572– 573, 1946. [doi]
- [71] R.A. Alpher, H. Bethe and G. Gamow. The origin of chemical elements. Phys. Rev., 73:803–804, 1948. [doi]

- [72] Ralph A. Alpher and Robert C. Herman. Theory of the Origin and Relative Abundance Distribution of the Elements. Rev. Mod. Phys., 22:153–212, 1950. [doi]
- [73] Arno A. Penzias and Robert Woodrow Wilson. A Measurement of excess antenna temperature at 4080 Mc/s. Astrophys. J., 142:419–421, 1965. [doi]
- [74] R.H. Dicke, P.J.E. Peebles, P.G. Roll and D.T. Wilkinson. Cosmic Black-Body Radiation. Astrophys. J., 142:414–419, 1965. [doi]
- [75] D.J. Fixsen. The Temperature of the Cosmic Microwave Background. Astrophys. J., 707:916–920, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0911.1955].
- [76] P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck Collaboration. Planck 2013 results. I. Overview of products and scientific results. 2013b. [arXiv:1303.5062].
- [77] F. Zwicky. Spectral displacement of extra galactic nebulae. Helv. Phys. Acta, 6: 110–127, 1933.
- [78] Vera C. Rubin and Jr. Ford, W. Kent. Rotation of the Andromeda Nebula from a Spectroscopic Survey of Emission Regions. Astrophys. J., 159:379–403, 1970. [doi]
- [79] V.C. Rubin, N. Thonnard and Jr. Ford, W.K. Rotational properties of 21 SC galaxies with a large range of luminosities and radii, from NGC 4605 /R = 4kpc/ to UGC 2885 /R = 122 kpc/. Astrophys. J., 238:471, 1980. [doi]
- [80] V.C. Rubin, D. Burstein, Jr. Ford, W.K. and N. Thonnard. Rotation velocities of 16 SA galaxies and a comparison of Sa, Sb, and SC rotation properties. Astrophys. J., 289:81, 1985. [doi]
- [81] K.G. Begeman, A.H. Broeils and R.H. Sanders. Extended rotation curves of spiral galaxies: Dark haloes and modified dynamics. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 249: 523, 1991.
- [82] Douglas Clowe, Marusa Bradac, Anthony H. Gonzalez, Maxim Markevitch, Scott W. Randall et al. A direct empirical proof of the existence of dark matter. Astrophys. J., 648:L109–L113, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0608407].
- [83] Paolo Gondolo and Graciela Gelmini. Cosmic abundances of stable particles: Improved analysis. Nucl. Phys., B360:145–179, 1991. [doi]
- [84] Kim Griest and David Seckel. Three exceptions in the calculation of relic abundances. Phys. Rev., D43:3191–3203, 1991. [doi]
- [85] Joakim Edsjö and Paolo Gondolo. Neutralino relic density including coannihilations. Phys. Rev., D56:1879–1894, 1997. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9704361].
- [86] P. Gondolo, J. Edsjö, P. Ullio, L. Bergstrom, Mia Schelke et al. DarkSUSY: Computing supersymmetric dark matter properties numerically. JCAP, 0407:008, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0406204]. www.physto.se/~edsjo/darksusy

- [87] A. Arbey and F. Mahmoudi. SuperIso Relic: A Program for calculating relic density and flavor physics observables in Supersymmetry. Comput. Phys. Commun., 181:1277-1292, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0906.0369]. http://superiso.in2p3.fr/relic
- [88] A. Arbey and F. Mahmoudi. SuperIso Relic v3.0: A program for calculating relic density and flavour physics observables: Extension to NMSSM. Comput. Phys. Commun., 182:1582–1583, 2011. [doi]
- [89] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov. MicrOMEGAs: A Program for calculating the relic density in the MSSM. Comput. Phys. Commun., 149:103-120, 2002. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0112278]. http://lapth.cnrs.fr/micromegas
- [90] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov. micrOMEGAs: Version 1.3. Comput. Phys. Commun., 174:577–604, 2006a. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0405253].
- [91] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov. MicrOMEGAs 2.0: A Program to calculate the relic density of dark matter in a generic model. Comput. Phys. Commun., 176:367–382, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0607059].
- [92] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov. Dark matter direct detection rate in a generic model with micrOMEGAs 2.2. Comput. Phys. Commun., 180:747–767, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0803.2360].
- [93] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, P. Brun, A. Pukhov, S. Rosier-Lees et al. Indirect search for dark matter with micrOMEGAs2.4. Comput. Phys. Commun., 182: 842–856, 2011a. [doi] [arXiv:1004.1092].
- [94] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov. *micrOMEGAs3.1 : a program for calculating dark matter observables.* 2013. [arXiv:1305.0237].
- [95] P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck Collaboration. Planck 2013 results. XXII. Constraints on inflation. 2013c. [arXiv:1303.5082].
- [96] Daniel Baumann. TASI Lectures on Inflation. 2009. [arXiv:0907.5424].
- [97] Jerome Martin, Christophe Ringeval and Vincent Vennin. *Encyclopaedia Inflationaris.* 2013. [arXiv:1303.3787].
- [98] A.D. Sakharov. Violation of CP Invariance, c Asymmetry, and Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe. Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz., 5:32–35, 1967. [doi]
- [99] Mark Hindmarsh and Owe Philipsen. WIMP dark matter and the QCD equation of state. Phys. Rev., D71:087302, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0501232].

- [100] Fabio Iocco, Gianpiero Mangano, Gennaro Miele, Ofelia Pisanti and Pasquale D. Serpico. Primordial Nucleosynthesis: from precision cosmology to fundamental physics. Phys. Rept., 472:1–76, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0809.0631].
- [101] Sean M. Carroll. The Cosmological constant. Living Rev. Rel., 4:1, 2001. [arXiv:astro-ph/0004075].
- [102] Jerome Martin. Everything You Always Wanted To Know About The Cosmological Constant Problem (But Were Afraid To Ask). Comptes Rendus Physique, 13:566– 665, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1205.3365].
- [103] Anatoly A. Klypin, Andrey V. Kravtsov, Octavio Valenzuela and Francisco Prada. Where are the missing Galactic satellites? Astrophys. J., 522:82–92, 1999. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/9901240].
- [104] H.J. de Vega, O. Moreno, E. Moya de Guerra, M. Ramon Medrano and N.G. Sanchez. Role of sterile neutrino warm dark matter in rhenium and tritium beta decays. Nucl. Phys., B866:177–195, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1109.3452].
- [105] H.J. de Vega and N.G. Sanchez. Dark matter in galaxies: the dark matter particle mass is about 2 keV. 2013. [arXiv:1304.0759].
- [106] Benoit Famaey and Stacy McGaugh. Modified Newtonian Dynamics (MOND): Observational Phenomenology and Relativistic Extensions. Living Rev. Rel., 15: 10, 2012. [arXiv:1112.3960].
- [107] M. Milgrom. A Modification of the Newtonian dynamics as a possible alternative to the hidden mass hypothesis. Astrophys. J., 270:365–370, 1983. [doi]
- [108] Constantinos Skordis. The Tensor-Vector-Scalar theory and its cosmology. Class. Quant. Grav., 26:143001, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0903.3602].
- [109] Nima Arkani-Hamed, Savas Dimopoulos and G.R. Dvali. The Hierarchy problem and new dimensions at a millimeter. Phys. Lett., B429:263–272, 1998. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9803315].
- [110] Lisa Randall and Raman Sundrum. A Large mass hierarchy from a small extra dimension. Phys. Rev. Lett., 83:3370–3373, 1999a. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9905221].
- [111] Thomas Appelquist, Hsin-Chia Cheng and Bogdan A. Dobrescu. Bounds on universal extra dimensions. Phys. Rev., D64:035002, 2001. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0012100].
- [112] Geraldine Servant and Timothy M.P. Tait. Is the lightest Kaluza-Klein particle a viable dark matter candidate? Nucl. Phys., B650:391–419, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0206071].

- [113] G. Bélanger, M. Kakizaki and A. Pukhov. Dark matter in UED: The Role of the second KK level. JCAP, 1102:009, 2011b. [doi] [arXiv:1012.2577].
- [114] Bogdan A. Dobrescu and Erich Poppitz. Number of fermion generations derived from anomaly cancellation. Phys. Rev. Lett., 87:031801, 2001. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0102010].
- [115] R.D. Peccei and Helen R. Quinn. CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons. Phys. Rev. Lett., 38:1440–1443, 1977a. [doi]
- [116] R.D. Peccei and Helen R. Quinn. Constraints Imposed by CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons. Phys. Rev., D16:1791–1797, 1977b. [doi]
- [117] Steven Weinberg. A New Light Boson? Phys. Rev. Lett., 40:223–226, 1978. [doi]
- [118] Frank Wilczek. Problem of Strong p and t Invariance in the Presence of Instantons. Phys. Rev. Lett., 40:279–282, 1978. [doi]
- [119] Georg G. Raffelt. Astrophysical axion bounds. Lect. Notes Phys., 741:51–71, 2008.
 [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0611350].
- [120] Peter Minkowski. $\mu \to e\gamma$ at a Rate of One Out of 1-Billion Muon Decays? Phys. Lett., **B67**:421, 1977. [doi]
- [121] M. Fukugita and T. Yanagida. Baryogenesis Without Grand Unification. Phys. Lett., B174:45, 1986. [doi]
- [122] Scott Dodelson and Lawrence M. Widrow. Sterile-neutrinos as dark matter. Phys. Rev. Lett., 72:17–20, 1994. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9303287].
- [123] Gianfranco Bertone, Dan Hooper and Joseph Silk. Particle dark matter: Evidence, candidates and constraints. Phys. Rept., 405:279–390, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0404175].
- [124] Stephen P. Martin. A Supersymmetry primer. 1997. [arXiv:hep-ph/9709356].
- [125] Gerard Jungman, Marc Kamionkowski and Kim Griest. Supersymmetric dark matter. Phys. Rept., 267:195–373, 1996. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9506380].
- [126] P. Van Nieuwenhuizen. Supergravity. Phys. Rept., 68:189–398, 1981. [doi]
- [127] Sidney R. Coleman and J. Mandula. All Possible Symmetries of the S Matrix. Phys. Rev., 159:1251–1256, 1967. [doi]
- [128] Rudolf Haag, Jan T. Lopuszanski and Martin Sohnius. All Possible Generators of Supersymmetries of the s Matrix. Nucl. Phys., B88:257, 1975. [doi]
- [129] Ann E. Nelson and Nathan Seiberg. R symmetry breaking versus supersymmetry breaking. Nucl. Phys., B416:46–62, 1994. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9309299].

- [130] Pierre Fayet. Supergauge Invariant Extension of the Higgs Mechanism and a Model for the electron and Its Neutrino. Nucl. Phys., B90:104–124, 1975. [doi]
- [131] Pierre Fayet. Supersymmetry and Weak, Electromagnetic and Strong Interactions. Phys. Lett., B64:159, 1976. [doi]
- [132] Pierre Fayet. Spontaneously Broken Supersymmetric Theories of Weak, Electromagnetic and Strong Interactions. Phys. Lett., B69:489, 1977. [doi]
- [133] Steven Weinberg. The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 3: Supersymmetry. 2000.
- [134] H. Baer and X. Tata. Weak scale supersymmetry: From superfields to scattering events. 2006.
- [135] L.H. Ryder. Quantum Field Theory. 1985.
- [136] S.J. Gates, Marcus T. Grisaru, M. Rocek and W. Siegel. Superspace Or One Thousand and One Lessons in Supersymmetry. Front. Phys., 58:1–548, 1983. [arXiv:hep-th/0108200].
- [137] Adel Bilal. Introduction to supersymmetry. 2001. [arXiv:hep-th/0101055].
- [138] M.F. Sohnius. Introducing Supersymmetry. Phys. Rept., 128:39–204, 1985. [doi]
- [139] Fernando Quevedo, Sven Krippendorf and Oliver Schlotterer. Cambridge Lectures on Supersymmetry and Extra Dimensions. 2010. [arXiv:1011.1491].
- [140] J. Wess and B. Zumino. Supergauge Transformations in Four-Dimensions. Nucl. Phys., B70:39–50, 1974. [doi]
- [141] Pierre Fayet and J. Iliopoulos. Spontaneously Broken Supergauge Symmetries and Goldstone Spinors. Phys. Lett., B51:461–464, 1974. [doi]
- [142] L. O'Raifeartaigh. Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking for Chiral Scalar Superfields. Nucl. Phys., B96:331, 1975. [doi]
- [143] Ali H. Chamseddine, Richard L. Arnowitt and Pran Nath. Locally Supersymmetric Grand Unification. Phys. Rev. Lett., 49:970, 1982. [doi]
- [144] Riccardo Barbieri, S. Ferrara and Carlos A. Savoy. Gauge Models with Spontaneously Broken Local Supersymmetry. Phys. Lett., B119:343, 1982. [doi]
- [145] Lawrence J. Hall, Joseph D. Lykken and Steven Weinberg. Supergravity as the Messenger of Supersymmetry Breaking. Phys. Rev., D27:2359–2378, 1983. [doi]
- [146] Hans Peter Nilles. Supersymmetry, Supergravity and Particle Physics. Phys. Rept., 110:1–162, 1984. [doi]

- [147] Michael Dine and Willy Fischler. A Phenomenological Model of Particle Physics Based on Supersymmetry. Phys. Lett., B110:227, 1982. [doi]
- [148] Chiara R. Nappi and Burt A. Ovrut. Supersymmetric Extension of the SU(3) x SU(2) x U(1) Model. Phys. Lett., **B113**:175, 1982. [doi]
- [149] Luis Alvarez-Gaume, Mark Claudson and Mark B. Wise. Low-Energy Supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys., B207:96, 1982. [doi]
- [150] Michael Dine and Ann E. Nelson. Dynamical supersymmetry breaking at lowenergies. Phys. Rev., D48:1277–1287, 1993. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9303230].
- [151] Michael Dine, Ann E. Nelson and Yuri Shirman. Low-energy dynamical supersymmetry breaking simplified. Phys. Rev., D51:1362–1370, 1995. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/9408384].
- [152] Michael Dine, Ann E. Nelson, Yosef Nir and Yuri Shirman. New tools for lowenergy dynamical supersymmetry breaking. Phys. Rev., D53:2658–2669, 1996a.
 [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9507378].
- [153] Lisa Randall and Raman Sundrum. Out of this world supersymmetry breaking. Nucl. Phys., B557:79–118, 1999b. [doi] [arXiv:hep-th/9810155].
- [154] Gian F. Giudice, Markus A. Luty, Hitoshi Murayama and Riccardo Rattazzi. Gaugino mass without singlets. JHEP, 9812:027, 1998. [arXiv:hep-ph/9810442].
- [155] David Elazzar Kaplan and Graham D. Kribs. *Gaugino-assisted anomaly mediation*. *JHEP*, **0009**:048, 2000. [arXiv:hep-ph/0009195].
- [156] Raman Sundrum. 'Gaugomaly' mediated SUSY breaking and conformal sequestering. Phys. Rev., D71:085003, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-th/0406012].
- [157] Abdelhak Djouadi, Jean-Loic Kneur and Gilbert Moultaka. SuSpect: A Fortran code for the supersymmetric and Higgs particle spectrum in the MSSM. Comput. Phys. Commun., 176:426-455, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0211331]. http: //www.lpta.univ-montp2.fr/users/kneur/Suspect
- [158] Frank E. Paige, Serban D. Protopopescu, Howard Baer and Xerxes Tata. ISAJET 7.69: A Monte Carlo event generator for pp, pp, and e⁺e⁻ reactions. 2003.
 [arXiv:hep-ph/0312045]. http://www.nhn.ou.edu/~isajet
- [159] Werner Porod. SPheno, a program for calculating supersymmetric spectra, SUSY particle decays and SUSY particle production at e⁺e⁻ colliders. Comput. Phys. Commun., 153:275-315, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0301101]. https://spheno.hepforge.org
- [160] B.C. Allanach. SOFTSUSY: a program for calculating supersymmetric spectra. Comput. Phys. Commun., 143:305-331, 2002. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0104145]. https://softsusy.hepforge.org

- [161] M. Drees, R. Godbole and P. Roy. Theory and phenomenology of sparticles: An account of four-dimensional N=1 supersymmetry in high energy physics. 2004.
- [162] Glennys R. Farrar and Pierre Fayet. Phenomenology of the Production, Decay, and Detection of New Hadronic States Associated with Supersymmetry. Phys. Lett., B76:575–579, 1978. [doi]
- [163] Lawrence J. Hall, Karsten Jedamzik, John March-Russell and Stephen M. West. Freeze-In Production of FIMP Dark Matter. JHEP, 1003:080, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0911.1120].
- [164] Xiaoyong Chu, Thomas Hambye and Michel H.G. Tytgat. The Four Basic Ways of Creating Dark Matter Through a Portal. JCAP, 1205:034, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1112.0493].
- [165] Andrew J. Williams, Céline Bœhm, Stephen M. West and Daniel Albornoz Vasquez. Regenerating WIMPs in the Light of Direct and Indirect Detection. Phys. Rev., D86:055018, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1204.3727].
- [166] Alister W. Graham, David Merritt, Ben Moore, Juerg Diemand and Balsa Terzic. Empirical models for Dark Matter Halos. I. Nonparametric Construction of Density Profiles and Comparison with Parametric Models. Astron. J., 132:2685–2700, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0509417].
- [167] Julio F. Navarro, Carlos S. Frenk and Simon D.M. White. A Universal density profile from hierarchical clustering. Astrophys. J., 490:493–508, 1997. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/9611107].
- [168] Riccardo Catena and Piero Ullio. A novel determination of the local dark matter density. JCAP, 1008:004, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0907.0018].
- [169] Mark W. Goodman and Edward Witten. Detectability of Certain Dark Matter Candidates. Phys. Rev., D31:3059, 1985. [doi]
- [170] E. Aprile et al., XENON100 Collaboration. Dark Matter Results from 225 Live Days of XENON100 Data. Phys. Rev. Lett., 109:181301, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1207.5988].
- [171] R. Bernabei et al., DAMA Collaboration. First results from DAMA/LIBRA and the combined results with DAMA/NaI. Eur. Phys. J., C56:333-355, 2008.
 [doi] [arXiv:0804.2741].
- [172] C.E. Aalseth et al., CoGeNT collaboration. Results from a Search for Light-Mass Dark Matter with a P-type Point Contact Germanium Detector. Phys. Rev. Lett., 106:131301, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1002.4703].

- [173] G. Angloher, M. Bauer, I. Bavykina, A. Bento, C. Bucci et al. Results from 730 kg days of the CRESST-II Dark Matter Search. Eur. Phys. J., C72:1971, 2012.
 [doi] [arXiv:1109.0702].
- [174] R. Agnese et al., CDMS Collaboration. Dark Matter Search Results Using the Silicon Detectors of CDMS II. Phys. Rev. Lett., 2013. [arXiv:1304.4279].
- [175] J. Angle et al., XENON10 Collaboration. A search for light dark matter in XENON10 data. Phys. Rev. Lett., 107:051301, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1104.3088].
- [176] H. Leutwyler. The Ratios of the light quark masses. Phys. Lett., B378:313–318, 1996. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9602366].
- [177] A.W. Thomas, P.E. Shanahan and R.D. Young. Strangeness in the nucleon: what have we learned? Nuovo Cim., C035N04:3–10, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1202.6407].
- [178] J.E. Gunn, B.W. Lee, I. Lerche, D.N. Schramm and G. Steigman. Some Astrophysical Consequences of the Existence of a Heavy Stable Neutral Lepton. Astrophys. J., 223:1015–1031, 1978. [doi]
- [179] F.W. Stecker. The Cosmic Gamma-Ray Background from the Annihilation of Primordial Stable Neutral Heavy Leptons. Astrophys. J., 223:1032–1036, 1978.
 [doi]
- [180] Ya.B. Zeldovich, A.A. Klypin, M. Yu. Khlopov and V.M. Chechetkin. Astrophysical constraints on the mass of heavy stable neutral leptons. Sov. J. Nucl. Phys., 31:664–669, 1980.
- [181] John R. Ellis, R.A. Flores, K. Freese, S. Ritz, D. Seckel et al. Cosmic Ray Constraints On The Annihilations Of Relic Particles In The Galactic Halo. Phys. Lett., B214:403, 1988. [doi]
- [182] Joseph Silk and Mark Srednicki. Cosmic Ray anti-Protons as a Probe of a Photino Dominated Universe. Phys. Rev. Lett., 53:624, 1984. [doi]
- [183] F.W. Stecker, S. Rudaz and T.F. Walsh. Galactic Anti-protons From Photinos. Phys.Rev.Lett., 55:2622–2625, 1985. [doi]
- [184] S. Rudaz and F.W. Stecker. Cosmic Ray Anti-protons, Positrons And Gamma-rays From Halo Dark Matter Annihilation. Astrophys. J., 325:16, 1988. [doi]
- [185] F.W. Stecker and A.J. Tylka. The Cosmic Ray Anti-proton Spectrum From Dark Matter Annihilation And Its Astrophysical Implications: A New Look. Astrophys. J., 336:L51–L54, 1989.
- [186] Michael S. Turner and Frank Wilczek. Positron Line Radiation from Halo WIMP Annihilations as a Dark Matter Signature. Phys. Rev., D42:1001–1007, 1990. [doi]

- [187] Oscar Adriani et al., PAMELA Collaboration. An anomalous positron abundance in cosmic rays with energies 1.5-100 GeV. Nature, 458:607-609, 2009a.
 [doi] [arXiv:0810.4995].
- [188] O. Adriani, G.C. Barbarino, G.A. Bazilevskaya, R. Bellotti, M. Boezio et al. A statistical procedure for the identification of positrons in the PAMELA experiment. Astropart. Phys., 34:1–11, 2010a. [doi] [arXiv:1001.3522].
- [189] M. Ackermann et al., Fermi LAT Collaboration. Measurement of separate cosmic-ray electron and positron spectra with the Fermi Large Area Telescope. Phys. Rev. Lett., 108:011103, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1109.0521].
- [190] M. Aguilar et al., AMS Collaboration. First Result from the Alpha Magnetic Spectrometer on the International Space Station: Precision Measurement of the Positron Fraction in Primary Cosmic Rays of 0.5-350 GeV. Phys. Rev. Lett., 110:141102, 2013. [doi]
- [191] Torsten Bringmann, Xiaoyuan Huang, Alejandro Ibarra, Stefan Vogl and Christoph Weniger. Fermi LAT Search for Internal Bremsstrahlung Signatures from Dark Matter Annihilation. JCAP, 1207:054, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1203.1312].
- [192] Christoph Weniger. A Tentative Gamma-Ray Line from Dark Matter Annihilation at the Fermi Large Area Telescope. JCAP, **1208**:007, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1204.2797].
- [193] Elmo Tempel, Andi Hektor and Martti Raidal. Fermi 130 GeV gamma-ray excess and dark matter annihilation in sub-haloes and in the Galactic centre. JCAP, 1209:032, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1205.1045].
- [194] Arvind Rajaraman, Tim M.P. Tait and Daniel Whiteson. Two Lines or Not Two Lines? That is the Question of Gamma Ray Spectra. JCAP, 1209:003, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1205.4723].
- [195] Meng Su and Douglas P. Finkbeiner. Strong Evidence for Gamma-ray Line Emission from the Inner Galaxy. 2012a. [arXiv:1206.1616].
- [196] Andi Hektor, Martti Raidal and Elmo Tempel. An evidence for indirect detection of dark matter from galaxy clusters in Fermi-LAT data. Astrophys. J., 762:L22, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1207.4466].
- [197] Meng Su and Douglas P. Finkbeiner. Double Gamma-ray Lines from Unassociated Fermi-LAT Sources. 2012b. [arXiv:1207.7060].
- [198] David N. Spergel. The Motion Of The Earth And The Detection Of WIMPs. Phys. Rev., D37:1353, 1988. [doi]
- [199] Serguei Chatrchyan et al., CMS Collaboration. Interpretation of searches for supersymmetry with simplified models. 2013. [arXiv:1301.2175].

- [200] Georges Aad et al., ATLAS Collaboration. ATLAS SUSY searches, summary plots (status : Moriond 2013). 2013. https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/ AtlasPublic/SupersymmetryPublicResults
- [201] Céline Bœhm, Jonathan Da Silva, Anupam Mazumdar and Ernestas Pukartas. Probing the Supersymmetric Inflaton and Dark Matter link via the CMB, LHC and XENON1T experiments. Phys. Rev., D87:023529, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1205.2815].
- [202] Sujeet Akula, Baris Altunkaynak, Daniel Feldman, Pran Nath and Gregory Peim. Higgs Boson Mass Predictions in SUGRA Unification, Recent LHC-7 Results, and Dark Matter. Phys. Rev., D85:075001, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1112.3645].
- [203] Jonathan L. Feng and David Sanford. A Natural 125 GeV Higgs Boson in the MSSM from Focus Point Supersymmetry with A-Terms. Phys. Rev., D86:055015, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1205.2372].
- [204] Howard Baer, Vernon Barger and Azar Mustafayev. Implications of a 125 GeV Higgs scalar for LHC SUSY and neutralino dark matter searches. Phys. Rev., D85:075010, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1112.3017].
- [205] A. Arbey, M. Battaglia, A. Djouadi, F. Mahmoudi and J. Quevillon. Implications of a 125 GeV Higgs for supersymmetric models. Phys. Lett., B708:162–169, 2012a.
 [doi] [arXiv:1112.3028].
- [206] John Ellis and Keith A. Olive. Revisiting the Higgs Mass and Dark Matter in the CMSSM. Eur. Phys. J., C72:2005, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1202.3262].
- [207] John R. Ellis, Toby Falk, Keith A. Olive and Yudi Santoso. Exploration of the MSSM with nonuniversal Higgs masses. Nucl. Phys., B652:259–347, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0210205].
- [208] Howard Baer, Azar Mustafayev, Stefano Profumo, Alexander Belyaev and Xerxes Tata. Direct, indirect and collider detection of neutralino dark matter in SUSY models with non-universal Higgs masses. JHEP, 0507:065, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0504001].
- [209] E. Komatsu et al., WMAP Collaboration. Seven-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Interpretation. Astrophys. J. Suppl., 192:18, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1001.4538].
- [210] K. Nakamura et al., Particle Data Group. Review of particle physics. J. Phys., G37:075021, 2010. [doi]
- [211] Tevatron Electroweak Working Group, CDF Collaboration, DØ Collaboration. Combination of CDF and DØ results on the mass of the top quark using up to 5.8 fb⁻¹ of data. 2011. [arXiv:1107.5255].

- [212] R. Aaij et al., LHCb Collaboration. Strong constraints on the rare decays $B_s \rightarrow \mu^+\mu^-$ and $B^0 \rightarrow \mu^+\mu^-$. Phys. Rev. Lett., 108:231801, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1203.4493].
- [213] D. Asner et al., Heavy Flavor Averaging Group. Averages of b-hadron, c-hadron, and τ -lepton Properties. 2010. [arXiv:1010.1589].
- [214] N. Metropolis, A.W. Rosenbluth, M.N. Rosenbluth, A.H. Teller and E. Teller. Equation of state calculations by fast computing machines. J. Chem. Phys., 21: 1087–1092, 1953. [doi]
- [215] Georges Aad et al., ATLAS Collaboration. Combined search for the Standard Model Higgs boson using up to 4.9 fb⁻¹ of pp collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV with the ATLAS detector at the LHC. Phys. Lett., B710:49–66, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1202.1408].
- [216] Serguei Chatrchyan et al., CMS Collaboration. Combined results of searches for the standard model Higgs boson in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV. Phys. Lett., B710:26–48, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1202.1488].
- [217] Daniel Albornoz Vasquez, Geneviève Bélanger, Céline Bœhm, Alexander Pukhov and Joseph Silk. Can neutralinos in the MSSM and NMSSM scenarios still be light? Phys. Rev., D82:115027, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1009.4380].
- [218] M. Misiak, H.M. Asatrian, K. Bieri, M. Czakon, A. Czarnecki et al. *Estimate of* $\mathcal{B}(\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma)$ at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2)$. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **98**:022002, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0609232].
- [219] Michel Davier, Andreas Hoecker, Bogdan Malaescu and Zhiqing Zhang. Reevaluation of the Hadronic Contributions to the Muon g-2 and to $\alpha(M_Z^2)$. Eur. Phys. J., C71:1515, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1010.4180].
- [220] J. Charles, O. Deschamps, S. Descotes-Genon, R. Itoh, H. Lacker et al. Predictions of selected flavour observables within the Standard Model. Phys. Rev., D84:033005, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1106.4041].
- [221] G. Abbiendi et al., **OPAL Collaboration**. Search for chargino and neutralino production at $\sqrt{s} = 192 209$ GeV at LEP. Eur. Phys. J., **C35**:1–20, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ex/0401026].
- [222] John R. Ellis, S.F. King and J.P. Roberts. The Fine-Tuning Price of Neutralino Dark Matter in Models with Non-Universal Higgs Masses. JHEP, 0804:099, 2008.
 [doi] [arXiv:0711.2741].
- [223] Anupam Mazumdar and Jonathan Rocher. Particle physics models of inflation and curvaton scenarios. Phys. Rept., **497**:85–215, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1001.0993].

- [224] Anupam Mazumdar. The origin of dark matter, matter-anti-matter asymmetry, and inflation. 2011. [arXiv:1106.5408].
- [225] Maxim Pospelov and Josef Pradler. Big Bang Nucleosynthesis as a Probe of New Physics. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci., 60:539–568, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1011.1054].
- [226] Kari Enqvist and Anupam Mazumdar. Cosmological consequences of MSSM flat directions. Phys. Rept., 380:99–234, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0209244].
- [227] Tony Gherghetta, Christopher F. Kolda and Stephen P. Martin. Flat directions in the scalar potential of the supersymmetric standard model. Nucl. Phys., B468: 37–58, 1996. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9510370].
- [228] Michael Dine, Lisa Randall and Scott D. Thomas. Baryogenesis from flat directions of the supersymmetric standard model. Nucl. Phys., B458:291–326, 1996b. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9507453].
- [229] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Kari Enqvist, Juan Garcia-Bellido and Anupam Mazumdar. Gauge invariant MSSM inflaton. Phys. Rev. Lett., 97:191304, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0605035].
- [230] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Kari Enqvist, Juan Garcia-Bellido, Asko Jokinen and Anupam Mazumdar. MSSM flat direction inflation: Slow roll, stability, fine tunning and reheating. JCAP, 0706:019, 2007a. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0610134].
- [231] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Alexander Kusenko and Anupam Mazumdar. A-term inflation and the smallness of neutrino masses. JCAP, 0707:018, 2007b. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0608138].
- [232] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Andrea Ferrantelli, Juan Garcia-Bellido and Anupam Mazumdar. Non-perturbative production of matter and rapid thermalization after MSSM inflation. Phys. Rev., D83:123507, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1103.2123].
- [233] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Bhaskar Dutta and Anupam Mazumdar. Probing the parameter space for an MSSM inflation and the neutralino dark matter. Phys. Rev., D75:075018, 2007c. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0702112].
- [234] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Bhaskar Dutta and Yudi Santoso. MSSM inflation, dark matter, and the LHC. Phys. Rev., D82:035012, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1004.2741].
- [235] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Andrew R. Frey and Anupam Mazumdar. Graceful exit from a stringy landscape via MSSM inflation. Phys. Rev., D76:026001, 2007d. [doi] [arXiv:hep-th/0701233].
- [236] Kari Enqvist, Daniel G. Figueroa and Gerasimos Rigopoulos. Fluctuations along supersymmetric flat directions during Inflation. JCAP, 1201:053, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1109.3024].
- [237] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Bhaskar Dutta and Anupam Mazumdar. Attraction towards an inflection point inflation. Phys. Rev., D78:063507, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0806.4557].
- [238] K.S. Babu, Ts. Enkhbat and Biswarup Mukhopadhyaya. Split supersymmetry from anomalous U(1). Nucl. Phys., B720:47–63, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0501079].
- [239] Lingfei Wang, Ernestas Pukartas and Anupam Mazumdar. Visible sector inflation and the right thermal history in light of Planck data. JCAP, 1307:019, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1303.5351].
- [240] J.C. Bueno Sanchez, Konstantinos Dimopoulos and David H. Lyth. A-term inflation and the MSSM. JCAP, 0701:015, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0608299].
- [241] Kari Enqvist, Anupam Mazumdar and Philip Stephens. *Inflection point inflation within supersymmetry. JCAP*, **1006**:020, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1004.3724].
- [242] Juan Martin Maldacena. Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models. JHEP, **0305**:013, 2003. [arXiv:astro-ph/0210603].
- [243] Anupam Mazumdar, Seshadri Nadathur and Philip Stephens. Inflation with large supergravity corrections. Phys. Rev., D85:045001, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1105.0430].
- [244] Shaun Hotchkiss, Anupam Mazumdar and Seshadri Nadathur. Observable gravitational waves from inflation with small field excursions. JCAP, 1202:008, 2012.
 [doi] [arXiv:1110.5389].
- [245] R Aaij et al., LHCb Collaboration. First evidence for the decay $B_s^0 \to \mu^+ \mu^-$. Phys. Rev. Lett., 110:021801, 2013. [arXiv:1211.2674].
- [246] E. Aprile et al., XENON100 Collaboration. Dark Matter Results from 100 Live Days of XENON100 Data. Phys. Rev. Lett., 107:131302, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1104.2549].
- [247] Christopher McCabe. DAMA and CoGeNT without astrophysical uncertainties. Phys. Rev., D84:043525, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1107.0741].
- [248] Mads T. Frandsen, Felix Kahlhoefer, Christopher McCabe, Subir Sarkar and Kai Schmidt-Hoberg. Resolving astrophysical uncertainties in dark matter direct detection. JCAP, 1201:024, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1111.0292].
- [249] Jonathan H. Davis, Céline Bœhm, Niels Oppermann, Torsten Ensslin and Thomas Lacroix. The XENON100 exclusion limit without considering \mathcal{L}_{eff} as a nuisance parameter. Phys. Rev., **D86**:015027, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1203.6823].

- [250] Geneviève Bélanger, Céline Bœhm, Marco Cirelli, Jonathan Da Silva and Alexander Pukhov. PAMELA and FERMI-LAT limits on the neutralino-chargino mass degeneracy. JCAP, 1211:028, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1208.5009].
- [251] M. Ackermann et al., Fermi-LAT collaboration. Constraining Dark Matter Models from a Combined Analysis of Milky Way Satellites with the Fermi Large Area Telescope. Phys. Rev. Lett., 107:241302, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1108.3546].
- [252] The Fermi-: M. Ackermann et al., LAT collaboration. Constraints on the Galactic Halo Dark Matter from Fermi-LAT Diffuse Measurements. Astrophys. J., 761: 91, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1205.6474].
- [253] M. Ackermann et al., LAT Collaboration. Fermi LAT Search for Dark Matter in Gamma-ray Lines and the Inclusive Photon Spectrum. Phys. Rev., D86:022002, 2012c. [doi] [arXiv:1205.2739].
- [254] O. Adriani, G.C. Barbarino, G.A. Bazilevskaya, R. Bellotti, M. Boezio et al. A new measurement of the antiproton-to-proton flux ratio up to 100 GeV in the cosmic radiation. Phys. Rev. Lett., 102:051101, 2009b. [doi] [arXiv:0810.4994].
- [255] O. Adriani et al., PAMELA Collaboration. PAMELA results on the cosmic-ray antiproton flux from 60 MeV to 180 GeV in kinetic energy. Phys. Rev. Lett., 105: 121101, 2010b. [doi] [arXiv:1007.0821].
- [256] Marco Cirelli, Mario Kadastik, Martti Raidal and Alessandro Strumia. Modelindependent implications of the e[±], p̄ cosmic ray spectra on properties of Dark Matter. Nucl. Phys., B813:1–21, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0809.2409].
- [257] F. Donato, D. Maurin, P. Brun, T. Delahaye and P. Salati. Constraints on WIMP Dark Matter from the High Energy PAMELA p̄/p data. Phys. Rev. Lett., 102: 071301, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0810.5292].
- [258] Céline Bœhm, Timur Delahaye, Pierre Salati, Florian Staub and Ritesh K. Singh. Implication of the PAMELA antiproton data for dark matter indirect detection at LHC. JCAP, 1006:013, 2010a. [doi] [arXiv:0907.4511].
- [259] Carmelo Evoli, Ilias Cholis, Dario Grasso, Luca Maccione and Piero Ullio. Antiprotons from dark matter annihilation in the Galaxy: astrophysical uncertainties. Phys. Rev., D85:123511, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1108.0664].
- [260] Mathias Garny, Alejandro Ibarra and Stefan Vogl. Dark matter annihilations into two light fermions and one gauge boson: General analysis and antiproton constraints. JCAP, 1204:033, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1112.5155].
- [261] Masaki Asano, Torsten Bringmann and Christoph Weniger. Indirect dark matter searches as a probe of degenerate particle spectra. Phys. Lett., B709:128–132, 2012.
 [doi] [arXiv:1112.5158].

- [262] Mathias Garny, Alejandro Ibarra, Miguel Pato and Stefan Vogl. Closing in on mass-degenerate dark matter scenarios with antiprotons and direct detection. JCAP, 1211:017, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1207.1431].
- [263] A. Djouadi et al., MSSM Working Group. The Minimal supersymmetric standard model: Group summary report. 1998. [arXiv:hep-ph/9901246].
- [264] Nima Arkani-Hamed and Savas Dimopoulos. Supersymmetric unification without low energy supersymmetry and signatures for fine-tuning at the LHC. JHEP, 0506: 073, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-th/0405159].
- [265] Marco Cirelli, Gennaro Corcella, Andi Hektor, Gert Hutsi, Mario Kadastik et al. PPPC 4 DM ID: A Poor Particle Physicist Cookbook for Dark Matter Indirect Detection. JCAP, 1103:051, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1012.4515].
- [266] T. Delahaye, R. Lineros, F. Donato, N. Fornengo and P. Salati. Positrons from dark matter annihilation in the galactic halo: Theoretical uncertainties. Phys. Rev., D77:063527, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0712.2312].
- [267] F. Donato, Nicolao Fornengo, D. Maurin and P. Salati. Antiprotons in cosmic rays from neutralino annihilation. Phys. Rev., D69:063501, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:astroph/0306207].
- [268] Torsten Bringmann and Pierre Salati. The galactic antiproton spectrum at high energies: Background expectation vs. exotic contributions. Phys. Rev., D75:083006, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0612514].
- [269] Lars Bergstrom and Piero Ullio. Full one loop calculation of neutralino annihilation into two photons. Nucl. Phys., B504:27–44, 1997. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9706232].
- [270] F. Boudjema, A. Semenov and D. Temes. Self-annihilation of the neutralino dark matter into two photons or a Z and a photon in the MSSM. Phys. Rev., D72: 055024, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0507127].
- [271] Piero Ullio and Lars Bergstrom. Neutralino annihilation into a photon and a Z boson. Phys. Rev., D57:1962–1971, 1998. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9707333].
- [272] Beranger Dumont, Geneviève Bélanger, Sylvain Fichet, Sabine Kraml and Thomas Schwetz. Mixed sneutrino dark matter in light of the 2011 XENON and LHC results. JCAP, 1209:013, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1206.1521].
- [273] B.C. Allanach, A. Djouadi, J.L. Kneur, W. Porod and P. Slavich. Precise determination of the neutral Higgs boson masses in the MSSM. JHEP, 0409:044, 2004.
 [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0406166].
- [274] Philip Bechtle, Oliver Brein, Sven Heinemeyer, Georg Weiglein and Karina E. Williams. *HiggsBounds: Confronting Arbitrary Higgs Sectors with Exclusion*

Bounds from LEP and the Tevatron. Comput. Phys. Commun., 181:138-167, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0811.4169]. http://higgsbounds.hepforge.org

- [275] Philip Bechtle, Oliver Brein, Sven Heinemeyer, Georg Weiglein and Karina E. Williams. HiggsBounds 2.0.0: Confronting Neutral and Charged Higgs Sector Predictions with Exclusion Bounds from LEP and the Tevatron. Comput. Phys. Commun., 182:2605–2631, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1102.1898].
- [276] Jonathan H. Davis, Torsten Ensslin and Céline Beehm. Surpassing the 2012 XENON100 exclusion limit with 2011 data and information theory. 2012b. [arXiv:1208.1850].
- [277] Dan Hooper, Francesc Ferrer, Céline Bœhm, Joseph Silk, Jacques Paul et al. Possible evidence for MeV dark matter in dwarf spheroidals. Phys. Rev. Lett., 93: 161302, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0311150].
- [278] A. Charbonnier, C. Combet, M. Daniel, S. Funk, J.A. Hinton et al. Dark matter profiles and annihilation in dwarf spheroidal galaxies: prospectives for present and future gamma-ray observatories - I. The classical dSphs. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 418:1526-1556, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1104.0412].
- [279] Torsten Bringmann, Lars Bergstrom and Joakim Edsjö. New Gamma-Ray Contributions to Supersymmetric Dark Matter Annihilation. JHEP, 0801:049, 2008.
 [doi] [arXiv:0710.3169].
- [280] Timothy Cohen, Mariangela Lisanti, Tracy R. Slatyer and Jay G. Wacker. Illuminating the 130 GeV Gamma Line with Continuum Photons. JHEP, 1210:134, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1207.0800].
- [281] Wilfried Buchmuller and Mathias Garny. Decaying vs Annihilating Dark Matter in Light of a Tentative Gamma-Ray Line. JCAP, 1208:035, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1206.7056].
- [282] Jihn E. Kim and Hans Peter Nilles. The μ Problem and the Strong CP Problem. Phys. Lett., B138:150, 1984. [doi]
- [283] Lawrence J. Hall, David Pinner and Joshua T. Ruderman. A Natural SUSY Higgs Near 126 GeV. JHEP, 1204:131, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1112.2703].
- [284] Georges Aad et al., **ATLAS Collaboration**. Search for the Standard Model Higgs boson in the diphoton decay channel with 4.9 fb⁻¹ of pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV with ATLAS. Phys. Rev. Lett., **108**:111803, 2012c. [doi] [arXiv:1202.1414].
- [285] Serguei Chatrchyan et al., **CMS Collaboration**. Search for the standard model Higgs boson decaying into two photons in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV. Phys. Lett., **B710**:403–425, 2012c. [doi] [arXiv:1202.1487].

- [286] A. Arbey, M. Battaglia and F. Mahmoudi. Constraints on the MSSM from the Higgs Sector: A pMSSM Study of Higgs Searches, $B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-$ and Dark Matter Direct Detection. Eur. Phys. J., C72:1906, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1112.3032].
- [287] G. Brooijmans, B. Gripaios, F. Moortgat, Jose Santiago, P. Skands et al. Les Houches 2011: Physics at TeV Colliders New Physics Working Group Report. 2012. [arXiv:1203.1488].
- [288] D. Albornoz Vasquez, G. Bélanger, R.M. Godbole and A. Pukhov. The Higgs boson in the MSSM in light of the LHC. Phys. Rev., D85:115013, 2012a. [doi] [arXiv:1112.2200].
- [289] Marcela Carena, Stefania Gori, Nausheen R. Shah and Carlos E.M. Wagner. A 125 GeV SM-like Higgs in the MSSM and the γγ rate. JHEP, 1203:014, 2012.
 [doi] [arXiv:1112.3336].
- [290] Ulrich Ellwanger, Cyril Hugonie and Ana M. Teixeira. The Next-to-Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model. Phys. Rept., 496:1–77, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0910.1785].
- [291] M. Maniatis. The Next-to-Minimal Supersymmetric extension of the Standard Model reviewed. Int. J. Mod. Phys., A25:3505–3602, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0906.0777].
- [292] Daniel Albornoz Vasquez, Geneviève Bélanger and Céline Bœhm. Astrophysical limits on light NMSSM neutralinos. Phys. Rev., D84:095008, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1107.1614].
- [293] D. Albornoz Vasquez, G. Bélanger, J. Billard and F. Mayet. Probing neutralino dark matter in the MSSM & the NMSSM with directional detection. Phys. Rev., D85:055023, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1201.6150].
- [294] Daniel Albornoz Vasquez, Geneviève Bélanger, Céline Bœhm, Jonathan Da Silva, Peter Richardson et al. The 125 GeV Higgs in the NMSSM in light of LHC results and astrophysics constraints. Phys. Rev., D86:035023, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1203.3446].
- [295] R. Bernabei et al., DAMA Collaboration, LIBRA Collaboration. New results from DAMA/LIBRA. Eur. Phys. J., C67:39–49, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1002.1028].
- [296] E. Komatsu et al., WMAP Collaboration. Five-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Interpretation. Astrophys. J. Suppl., 180:330–376, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0803.0547].
- [297] Ulrich Ellwanger and Cyril Hugonie. NMHDECAY 2.0: An Updated program for sparticle masses, Higgs masses, couplings and decay widths in the NMSSM. Comput. Phys. Commun., 175:290–303, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0508022].

- [298] Louis E. Strigari, Savvas M. Koushiappas, James S. Bullock and Manoj Kaplinghat. Precise constraints on the dark matter content of Milky Way dwarf galaxies for gamma-ray experiments. Phys. Rev., D75:083526, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:astroph/0611925].
- [299] C. Bœhm, T.A. Ensslin and J. Silk. Can Annihilating dark matter be lighter than a few GeVs? J. Phys., G30:279–286, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0208458].
- [300] Céline Bœhm, Joseph Silk and Torsten Ensslin. Radio observations of the Galactic Centre and the Coma cluster as a probe of light dark matter self-annihilations and decay. 2010b. [arXiv:1008.5175].
- [301] Georges Aad et al., ATLAS Collaboration. Search for squarks and gluinos using final states with jets and missing transverse momentum with the ATLAS detector in √s = 7 TeV proton-proton collisions. Phys. Lett., B710:67–85, 2012d. [doi] [arXiv:1109.6572].
- [302] W. Beenakker, R. Hopker and M. Spira. PROSPINO: A Program for the production of supersymmetric particles in next-to-leading order QCD. 1996. [arXiv:hepph/9611232]. http://www.thphys.uni-heidelberg.de/~plehn/index.php? show=prospino&visible=tools
- [303] M. Bahr, S. Gieseke, M.A. Gigg, D. Grellscheid, K. Hamilton et al. Herwig++ Physics and Manual. Eur. Phys. J., C58:639-707, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0803.0883]. https://herwig.hepforge.org
- [304] S. Gieseke, D. Grellscheid, K. Hamilton, A. Papaefstathiou, S. Platzer et al. *Herwig++ 2.5 Release Note.* 2011. [arXiv:1102.1672].
- [305] Andy Buckley, Jonathan Butterworth, Leif Lonnblad, Hendrik Hoeth, James Monk et al. *Rivet user manual.* 2010. [arXiv:1003.0694]. http://rivet.hepforge.org
- [306] David Grellscheid, Joerg Jaeckel, Valentin V. Khoze, Peter Richardson and Chris Wymant. Direct SUSY Searches at the LHC in the light of LEP Higgs Bounds. JHEP, 1203:078, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1111.3365].
- [307] ATLAS Collaboration. Search for squarks and gluinos with the ATLAS detector using final states with jets and missing transverse momentum and 5.8 fb⁻¹ of $\sqrt{s}=8$ TeV proton-proton collision data. 2012. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1472710
- [308] Debottam Das, Ulrich Ellwanger and Ana M. Teixeira. Modified Signals for Supersymmetry in the NMSSM with a Singlino-like LSP. JHEP, **1204**:067, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1202.5244].
- [309] Jun-Jie Cao, Ken-ichi Hikasa, Wenyu Wang, Jin Min Yang, Ken-ichi Hikasa et al. Light dark matter in NMSSM and implication on Higgs phenomenology. Phys. Lett., B703:292–297, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1104.1754].

- [310] Christoph Englert, Tuhin S. Roy and Michael Spannowsky. *Ditau jets in Higgs* searches. Phys. Rev., **D84**:075026, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1106.4545].
- [311] Mariangela Lisanti and Jay G. Wacker. Discovering the Higgs with Low Mass Muon Pairs. Phys. Rev., D79:115006, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0903.1377].
- [312] Adam Falkowski, David Krohn, Lian-Tao Wang, Jessie Shelton and Arun Thalapillil. Unburied Higgs boson: Jet substructure techniques for searching for Higgs' decay into gluons. Phys. Rev., D84:074022, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1006.1650].
- [313] Chuan-Ren Chen, Mihoko M. Nojiri and Warintorn Sreethawong. Search for the Elusive Higgs Boson Using Jet Structure at LHC. JHEP, 1011:012, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1006.1151].
- [314] Ulrich Ellwanger. A Higgs boson near 125 GeV with enhanced di-photon signal in the NMSSM. JHEP, 1203:044, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1112.3548].
- [315] Alexander Vilenkin. Cosmic Strings and Domain Walls. Phys. Rept., 121:263, 1985. [doi]
- [316] S. A. Abel, Subir Sarkar and P. L. White. On the cosmological domain wall problem for the minimally extended supersymmetric standard model. Nucl. Phys., B454: 663–684, 1995. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9506359].
- [317] Alexander Friedland, Hitoshi Murayama and Maxim Perelstein. Domain walls as dark energy. Phys. Rev., D67:043519, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/0205520].
- [318] Martin Bucher and David N. Spergel. Is the dark matter a solid? Phys. Rev., D60:043505, 1999. [doi] [arXiv:astro-ph/9812022].
- [319] S.A. Abel. Destabilizing divergences in the NMSSM. Nucl. Phys., B480:55–72, 1996. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9609323].
- [320] C. Panagiotakopoulos and K. Tamvakis. Stabilized NMSSM without domain walls. Phys. Lett., B446:224–227, 1999. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9809475].
- [321] Mirjam Cvetič, Durmus A. Demir, J.R. Espinosa, L.L. Everett and P. Langacker. Electroweak breaking and the mu problem in supergravity models with an additional U(1). Phys. Rev., D56:2861, 1997. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9703317].
- [322] Paul Langacker. Grand Unified Theories and Proton Decay. Phys. Rept., 72:185, 1981. [doi]
- [323] David London and Jonathan L. Rosner. Extra Gauge Bosons in E(6). Phys. Rev., D34:1530, 1986. [doi]
- [324] Manuel Masip and Alex Pomarol. Effects of SM Kaluza-Klein excitations on electroweak observables. Phys. Rev., D60:096005, 1999. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9902467].

- [325] Mirjam Cvetič and Paul Langacker. Implications of Abelian extended gauge structures from string models. Phys. Rev., D54:3570–3579, 1996a. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/9511378].
- [326] Mirjam Cvetič and Paul Langacker. New gauge bosons from string models. Mod. Phys. Lett., A11:1247–1262, 1996b. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9602424].
- [327] Gerald Cleaver, Mirjam Cvetič, Jose R. Espinosa, Lisa L. Everett and Paul Langacker. Classification of flat directions in perturbative heterotic superstring vacua with anomalous U(1). Nucl. Phys., B525:3–26, 1998. [doi] [arXiv:hepth/9711178].
- [328] G. Cleaver, M. Cvetič, J.R. Espinosa, L.L. Everett, P. Langacker et al. Physics implications of flat directions in free fermionic superstring models 1. Mass spectrum and couplings. Phys. Rev., D59:055005, 1999a. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9807479].
- [329] G. Cleaver, M. Cvetič, J.R. Espinosa, L.L. Everett, P. Langacker et al. Physics implications of flat directions in free fermionic superstring models. 2. Renormalization group analysis. Phys. Rev., D59:115003, 1999b. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9811355].
- [330] Christopher T. Hill and Elizabeth H. Simmons. Strong dynamics and electroweak symmetry breaking. Phys. Rept., **381**:235–402, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0203079].
- [331] Nima Arkani-Hamed, Andrew G. Cohen and Howard Georgi. Electroweak symmetry breaking from dimensional deconstruction. Phys. Lett., B513:232-240, 2001a.
 [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0105239].
- [332] N. Arkani-Hamed, A.G. Cohen, E. Katz and A.E. Nelson. *The Littlest Higgs. JHEP*, 0207:034, 2002. [arXiv:hep-ph/0206021].
- [333] Tao Han, Heather E. Logan, Bob McElrath and Lian-Tao Wang. *Phenomenology of the little Higgs model. Phys. Rev.*, D67:095004, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0301040].
- [334] E.C.G. Stueckelberg. Interaction energy in electrodynamics and in the field theory of nuclear forces. Helv. Phys. Acta, 11:225–244, 1938.
- [335] Boris Kors and Pran Nath. A Supersymmetric Stueckelberg U(1) extension of the MSSM. JHEP, 0412:005, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0406167].
- [336] Boris Kors and Pran Nath. Aspects of the Stueckelberg extension. JHEP, **0507**: 069, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0503208].
- [337] Daniel Feldman, Zuowei Liu and Pran Nath. The Stueckelberg Z Prime at the LHC: Discovery Potential, Signature Spaces and Model Discrimination. JHEP, 0611:007, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0606294].

- [338] Michal Malinsky, J.C. Romao and J.W.F. Valle. Novel supersymmetric SO(10) seesaw mechanism. Phys. Rev. Lett., 95:161801, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0506296].
- [339] Valentina De Romeri, Martin Hirsch and Michal Malinsky. Soft masses in SUSY SO(10) GUTs with low intermediate scales. Phys. Rev., D84:053012, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1107.3412].
- [340] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Bhaskar Dutta and Anupam Mazumdar. Unifying inflation and dark matter with neutrino masses. Phys. Rev. Lett., 99:261301, 2007e. [doi] [arXiv:0708.3983].
- [341] Amine Ahriche and Salah Nasri. *Electroweak Phase Transition in the* U(1)'-MSSM. *Phys. Rev.*, **D83**:045032, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1008.3106].
- [342] JoAnne L. Hewett and Thomas G. Rizzo. Low-Energy Phenomenology of Superstring Inspired E(6) Models. Phys. Rept., 183:193, 1989. [doi]
- [343] Paul Langacker and Jing Wang. U(1)' symmetry breaking in supersymmetric E(6) models. Phys. Rev., **D58**:115010, 1998. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9804428].
- [344] S.F. King, S. Moretti and R. Nevzorov. Theory and phenomenology of an exceptional supersymmetric standard model. Phys.Rev., D73:035009, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0510419].
- [345] R. Howl and S.F. King. Minimal E(6) Supersymmetric Standard Model. JHEP, 0801:030, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0708.1451].
- [346] Jonathan Peter Hall. Phenomenological Aspects of the E_6SSM . 2011. [arXiv:1201.5488].
- [347] Yutaka Hosotani. Dynamical Gauge Symmetry Breaking as the Casimir Effect. Phys. Lett., B129:193, 1983. [doi]
- [348] Vernon Barger, Paul Langacker, Ian Lewis, Mat McCaskey, Gabe Shaughnessy et al. Recoil Detection of the Lightest Neutralino in MSSM Singlet Extensions. Phys. Rev., D75:115002, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0702036].
- [349] J. Kalinowski, S.F. King and J.P. Roberts. Neutralino Dark Matter in the USSM. JHEP, 0901:066, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0811.2204].
- [350] Jonathan P. Hall and Stephen F. King. NMSSM+. JHEP, 1301:076, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1209.4657].
- [351] P. Athron, S.F. King, D.J. Miller, S. Moretti and R. Nevzorov. Constrained Exceptional Supersymmetric Standard Model with a Higgs Near 125 GeV. Phys. Rev., D86:095003, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1206.5028].

- [352] Peter Athron, Maien Binjonaid and Stephen F. King. Fine Tuning in the Constrained Exceptional Supersymmetric Standard Model. Phys. Rev., D87:115023, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1302.5291].
- [353] Mirjam Cvetič and P. Langacker. Z' physics and supersymmetry. 1997. [arXiv:hepph/9707451].
- [354] Paul Langacker. The Physics of Heavy Z' Gauge Bosons. Rev. Mod. Phys., 81: 1199–1228, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0801.1345].
- [355] A. Leike, S. Riemann and T. Riemann. Z Z' mixing in presence of standard weak loop corrections. 1991. [arXiv:hep-ph/9808374].
- [356] Jens Erler, Paul Langacker, Shoaib Munir and Eduardo Rojas. Improved Constraints on Z' Bosons from Electroweak Precision Data. JHEP, 0908:017, 2009.
 [doi] [arXiv:0906.2435].
- [357] Vernon Barger, Paul Langacker, Hye-Sung Lee and Gabe Shaughnessy. *Higgs Sector in Extensions of the MSSM. Phys. Rev.*, D73:115010, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0603247].
- [358] Sidney R. Coleman and Erick J. Weinberg. Radiative Corrections as the Origin of Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking. Phys. Rev., D7:1888–1910, 1973. [doi]
- [359] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, C. Hugonie, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov. *Relic density of dark matter in the NMSSM. JCAP*, 0509:001, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0505142].
- [360] S. Hesselbach, F. Franke and H. Fraas. Neutralinos in E(6) inspired supersymmetric U(1)' models. Eur. Phys. J., C23:149–162, 2002. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0107080].
- [361] S.Y. Choi, H.E. Haber, J. Kalinowski and P.M. Zerwas. The Neutralino sector in the U(1)-extended supersymmetric standard model. Nucl. Phys., B778:85–128, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0612218].
- [362] F. Franke and S. Hesselbach. Production of singlino dominated neutralinos in extended supersymmetric models. Phys. Lett., B526:370–378, 2002. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0111285].
- [363] Daijiro Suematsu. Singlino dominated LSP as CDM candidate in supersymmetric models with an extra U(1). Phys. Rev., D73:035010, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0511299].
- [364] Satoshi Nakamura and Daijiro Suematsu. Supersymmetric extra U(1) models with a singlino dominated LSP. Phys. Rev., D75:055004, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0609061].

- [365] B. de Carlos and J.R. Espinosa. Cold dark matter candidate in a class of supersymmetric models with an extra U(1). Phys. Lett., B407:12–21, 1997. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9705315].
- [366] Vernon Barger, Chung Kao, Paul Langacker and Hye-Sung Lee. Neutralino relic density in a supersymmetric U(1)' model. Phys. Lett., B600:104–115, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0408120].
- [367] CMS Collaboration. Search for Resonances in the Dilepton Mass Distribution in pp Collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV. 2013b. http://cds.cern.ch/record/1519132
- [368] ATLAS Collaboration. Search for high-mass dilepton resonances in 20 fb^{-1} of pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the ATLAS experiment. 2013e. http: //cds.cern.ch/record/1525524
- [369] J.F. Gunion, L. Roszkowski and H.E. Haber. Z' mass limits, masses and coupling of higgs bosons, and Z' decays in an E₆ superstring based model. Phys. Lett., B189:409, 1987. [doi]
- [370] Tony Gherghetta, Thomas A. Kaeding and Gordon L. Kane. Supersymmetric contributions to the decay of an extra Z boson. Phys. Rev., D57:3178–3181, 1998.
 [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9701343].
- [371] Chun-Fu Chang, Kingman Cheung and Tzu-Chiang Yuan. Supersymmetric Decays of the Z' Boson. JHEP, **1109**:058, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1107.1133].
- [372] K.S. Babu, Christopher F. Kolda and John March-Russell. Leptophobic U(1)'s and the R(b) R(c) crisis. Phys. Rev., **D54**:4635–4647, 1996. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9603212].
- [373] Haipeng An, Xiangdong Ji and Lian-Tao Wang. Light Dark Matter and Z' Dark Force at Colliders. JHEP, 1207:182, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1202.2894].
- [374] Kingman Cheung, Chih-Ting Lu and Tzu-Chiang Yuan. Diphoton Rate of the Standard-Model-Like Higgs Boson in the Extra U(1) Extended MSSM. Phys. Rev., D87:075001, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1212.1288].
- [375] Jonathan L. Rosner. Role of present and future atomic parity violation experiments in precision electroweak tests. Phys. Rev., D65:073026, 2002. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0109239].
- [376] Ross Diener, Stephen Godfrey and Ismail Turan. Constraining Extra Neutral Gauge Bosons with Atomic Parity Violation Measurements. Phys.Rev., D86: 115017, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1111.4566].
- [377] Vernon Barger, Paul Langacker and Hye-Sung Lee. Primordial nucleosynthesis constraints on Z' properties. Phys. Rev., D67:075009, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0302066].

- [378] Hye-Sung Lee. The Z' Hunter's Guide. https://sites.google.com/site/ zprimeguide
- [379] G. Bélanger, J. Da Silva and A. Pukhov. The Right-handed sneutrino as thermal dark matter in U(1) extensions of the MSSM. JCAP, 1112:014, 2011c. [doi] [arXiv:1110.2414].
- [380] H. Goldberg. Constraint on the Photino Mass from Cosmology. Phys. Rev. Lett., 50:1419, 1983. [doi]
- [381] John R. Ellis, J.S. Hagelin, Dimitri V. Nanopoulos, Keith A. Olive and M. Srednicki. Supersymmetric Relics from the Big Bang. Nucl. Phys., B238:453–476, 1984. [doi]
- [382] Leszek Roszkowski. Particle dark matter: A Theorist's perspective. Pramana, **62**: 389–401, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0404052].
- [383] Howard Baer, Eun-Kyung Park and Xerxes Tata. Collider, direct and indirect detection of supersymmetric dark matter. New J. Phys., 11:105024, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0903.0555].
- [384] John Ellis and Keith A. Olive. Supersymmetric Dark Matter Candidates. 2010. [arXiv:1001.3651].
- [385] Toby Falk, Keith A. Olive and Mark Srednicki. Heavy sneutrinos as dark matter. Phys. Lett., B339:248–251, 1994. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9409270].
- [386] Z. Ahmed et al., The CDMS-II Collaboration. Dark Matter Search Results from the CDMS II Experiment. Science, 327:1619–1621, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0912.3592].
- [387] E. Aprile et al., XENON100 Collaboration. First Dark Matter Results from the XENON100 Experiment. Phys. Rev. Lett., 105:131302, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1005.0380].
- [388] R.N. Mohapatra. Mechanism for understanding small neutrino mass in superstring theories. Phys. Rev. Lett., 56:561–563, 1986. [doi]
- [389] R.N. Mohapatra and J.W.F. Valle. Neutrino Mass and Baryon Number Nonconservation in Superstring Models. Phys. Rev., D34:1642, 1986. [doi]
- [390] Takehiko Asaka, Koji Ishiwata and Takeo Moroi. Right-handed sneutrino as cold dark matter. Phys. Rev., D73:051301, 2006. [doi] [hep-ph/0512118].
- [391] Takehiko Asaka, Koji Ishiwata and Takeo Moroi. Right-handed sneutrino as cold dark matter of the universe. Phys. Rev., D75:065001, 2007. [doi] [hepph/0612211].

- [392] Shrihari Gopalakrishna, Andre de Gouvea and Werner Porod. Right-handed sneutrinos as nonthermal dark matter. JCAP, 0605:005, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0602027].
- [393] Carlos E. Yaguna. Inverse decays and the relic density of the sterile sneutrino. Phys. Lett., B669:139–144, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0811.0485].
- [394] N. Arkani-Hamed, L. J. Hall, H. Murayama, D. Tucker-Smith and N. Weiner. Small neutrino masses from supersymmetry breaking. Phys. Rev., D64:115011, 2001b. [doi] [hep-ph/0006312].
- [395] Francesca Borzumati and Yasunori Nomura. Low scale seesaw mechanisms for light neutrinos. Phys. Rev., D64:053005, 2001. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0007018].
- [396] Dan Hooper, John March-Russell and Stephen M. West. Asymmetric sneutrino dark matter and the $\Omega_b/\Omega_{\rm DM}$ puzzle. Phys. Lett., **B605**:228–236, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0410114].
- [397] John March-Russell, Christopher McCabe and Matthew McCullough. *Neutrino-Flavoured Sneutrino Dark Matter. JHEP*, **03**:108, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0911.4489].
- [398] Abhishek Kumar, David Tucker-Smith and Neal Weiner. Neutrino Mass, Sneutrino Dark Matter and Signals of Lepton Flavor Violation in the MRSSM. JHEP, 1009:111, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0910.2475].
- [399] G. Bélanger, M. Kakizaki, E.K. Park, S. Kraml and A. Pukhov. Light mixed sneutrinos as thermal dark matter. JCAP, 1011:017, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:1008.0580].
- [400] John McDonald. *RH sneutrino condensate CDM and the baryon-to-dark matter ratio.* 2007. [arXiv:0710.2360].
- [401] Lawrence J. Hall, Takeo Moroi and Hitoshi Murayama. Sneutrino cold dark matter with lepton-number violation. Phys. Lett., B424:305–312, 1998. [doi] [hepph/9712515].
- [402] C. Arina, F. Bazzocchi, N. Fornengo, J.C. Romao and J.W.F. Valle. Minimal supergravity sneutrino dark matter and inverse seesaw neutrino masses. Phys. Rev. Lett., 101:161802, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0806.3225].
- [403] Haipeng An, P.S. Bhupal Dev, Yi Cai and R.N. Mohapatra. Sneutrino Dark Matter in Gauged Inverse Seesaw Models for Neutrinos. Phys. Rev. Lett., 108: 081806, 2012c. [doi] [arXiv:1110.1366].
- [404] Priyotosh Bandyopadhyay, Eung Jin Chun and Jong-Chul Park. Right-handed sneutrino dark matter in U(1)' seesaw models and its signatures at the LHC. JHEP, 1106:129, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1105.1652].

- [405] Chiara Arina and Nicolao Fornengo. Sneutrino cold dark matter, a new analysis: Relic abundance and detection rates. JHEP, 0711:029, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:0709.4477].
- [406] Hoang Ngoc Long. Right-handed sneutrinos as self-interacting dark matter in supersymmetric economical 3-3-1 model. Adv. Stud. Theor. Phys., 4:173–196, 2010. [arXiv:0710.5833].
- [407] Chiara Arina. Sneutrino cold dark matter in extended MSSM models. 2008. [arXiv:0805.1991].
- [408] David G. Cerdeno, C. Munoz and O. Seto. Right-handed sneutrino as thermal dark matter. Phys. Rev., D79:023510, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0807.3029].
- [409] David G. Cerdeno and Osamu Seto. Right-handed sneutrino dark matter in the NMSSM. JCAP, 0908:032, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0903.4677].
- [410] Durmus A. Demir, Lisa L. Everett, Mariana Frank, Levent Selbuz and Ismail Turan. Sneutrino Dark Matter: Symmetry Protection and Cosmic Ray Anomalies. Phys. Rev., D81:035019, 2010. [doi] [arXiv:0906.3540].
- [411] David G. Cerdeno, Ji-Haeng Huh, Miguel Peiro and Osamu Seto. Very light righthanded sneutrino dark matter in the NMSSM. JCAP, 1111:027, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1108.0978].
- [412] Zhaofeng Kang, Jinmian Li, Tianjun Li, Tao Liu and Jinmin Yang. Asymmetric Sneutrino Dark Matter in the NMSSM with Minimal Inverse Seesaw. 2011. [arXiv:1102.5644].
- [413] Frank Deppisch and Apostolos Pilaftsis. Thermal Right-Handed Sneutrino Dark Matter in the F_D-Term Model of Hybrid Inflation. JHEP, 0810:080, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0808.0490].
- [414] Hye-Sung Lee, Konstantin T. Matchev and Salah Nasri. Revival of the thermal sneutrino dark matter. Phys. Rev., D76:041302, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0702223].
- [415] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Bhaskar Dutta, Katherine Richardson-McDaniel and Yudi Santoso. Sneutrino Dark Matter and the Observed Anomalies in Cosmic Rays. Phys. Lett., B677:172–178, 2009a. [doi] [arXiv:0902.3463].
- [416] Rouzbeh Allahverdi, Sascha Bornhauser, Bhaskar Dutta and Katherine Richardson-McDaniel. Prospects for Indirect Detection of Sneutrino Dark Matter with IceCube. Phys. Rev., D80:055026, 2009b. [doi] [arXiv:0907.1486].
- [417] Serguei Chatrchyan et al., CMS Collaboration. Search for Supersymmetry at the LHC in Events with Jets and Missing Transverse Energy. Phys. Rev. Lett., 107:221804, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1109.2352].

- [418] Georges Aad et al., ATLAS Collaboration. Search for dilepton resonances in pp collisions at √s = 7 TeV with the ATLAS detector. Phys. Rev. Lett., 107:272002, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1108.1582].
- [419] R. Barate et al., LEP Working Group for Higgs boson searches, ALEPH Collaboration, DELPHI Collaboration, L3 Collaboration, OPAL Collaboration. Search for the standard model Higgs boson at LEP. Phys. Lett., B565:61-75, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ex/0306033].
- [420] CMS Collaboration. Combination of Higgs Searches. 2011. http://cds.cern. ch/record/1376643
- [421] R. Aaij et al., LHCb Collaboration. Measurement of the $B_s^0 \bar{B}_s^0$ oscillation frequency Δm_s in $B_s^0 \rightarrow D_s^-(3)\pi$ decays. Phys.Lett., B709:177–184, 2012b. [doi] [arXiv:1112.4311].
- [422] E. Barberio et al., Heavy Flavor Averaging Group (HFAG). Averages of b-hadron properties at the end of 2005. 2006. [arXiv:hep-ex/0603003].
- [423] Florian Domingo and Ulrich Ellwanger. Updated Constraints from B Physics on the MSSM and the NMSSM. JHEP, 0712:090, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:0710.3714]. http://www.th.u-psud.fr/NMHDECAY/nmssmtools.html
- [424] S. Bertolini, Francesca Borzumati, A. Masiero and G. Ridolfi. Effects of supergravity induced electroweak breaking on rare B decays and mixings. Nucl. Phys., B353:591-649, 1991. [doi]
- [425] A. Semenov. LanHEP: A Package for the automatic generation of Feynman rules in field theory. Version 3.0. Comput. Phys. Commun., 180:431-454, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0805.0555]. http://theory.sinp.msu.ru/~semenov/lanhep.html
- [426] A. Semenov. LanHEP a package for automatic generation of Feynman rules from the Lagrangian. Updated version 3.1. 2010. [arXiv:1005.1909].
- [427] A. Pukhov. CalcHEP 2.3: MSSM, structure functions, event generation, batchs, and generation of matrix elements for other packages. 2004. [arXiv:hepph/0412191]. http://theory.sinp.msu.ru/~pukhov/calchep.html
- [428] Alexander Belyaev, Neil D. Christensen and Alexander Pukhov. CalcHEP 3.4 for collider physics within and beyond the Standard Model. Comput. Phys. Commun., 184:1729–1769, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1207.6082].
- [429] F. Boudjema and A. Semenov. Measurements of the SUSY Higgs selfcouplings and the reconstruction of the Higgs potential. Phys. Rev., D66:095007, 2002. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0201219].
- [430] G. Chalons and F. Domingo. Analysis of the Higgs potentials for two doublets and a singlet. Phys. Rev., D86:115024, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1209.6235].

- [431] Ulrich Ellwanger, John F. Gunion and Cyril Hugonie. NMHDECAY: A Fortran code for the Higgs masses, couplings and decay widths in the NMSSM. JHEP, 0502:066, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0406215].
- [432] Abdelhak Djouadi. The Anatomy of electro-weak symmetry breaking. I: The Higgs boson in the standard model. Phys. Rept., 457:1–216, 2008a. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0503172].
- [433] Abdelhak Djouadi. The Anatomy of electro-weak symmetry breaking. II. The Higgs bosons in the minimal supersymmetric model. Phys. Rept., 459:1–241, 2008b. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0503173].
- [434] R Aaij et al., LHCb Collaboration. Implications of LHCb measurements and future prospects. 2012c. [arXiv:1208.3355].
- [435] N. Bernal, M. Losada and F. Mahmoudi. Flavour physics constraints in the BMSSM. JHEP, 1107:074, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1104.5395].
- [436] A. Arbey, M. Battaglia, F. Mahmoudi and D. Martinez Santos. Supersymmetry confronts $B_s \to \mu^+\mu^-$: Present and future status. Phys. Rev., **D87**:035026, 2013. [arXiv:1212.4887].
- [437] A.G. Akeroyd and S. Recksiegel. The Effect of H^{\pm} on $B^{\pm} \rightarrow \tau^{\pm} \nu_{\tau}$ and $B^{\pm} \rightarrow \mu^{\pm} \nu_{\mu}$. J. Phys., **G29**:2311–2317, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0306037].
- [438] Andrzej J. Buras, Piotr H. Chankowski, Janusz Rosiek and Lucja Slawianowska. $\Delta M_{d,s}, B^0_{d,s} \to \mu^+ \mu^- \text{ and } B \to X_s \gamma \text{ in supersymmetry at large } \tan \beta. \text{ Nucl. Phys.},$ **B659**:3, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0210145].
- [439] Aoife Bharucha. Obtaining $|V_{ub}|$ exclusively: a theoretical perspective. 2013. [arXiv:1301.5457].
- [440] Heechang Na, Chris J. Monahan, Christine T.H. Davies, Ron Horgan, G. Peter Lepage et al. The B and B_s Meson Decay Constants from Lattice QCD. Phys. Rev., D86:034506, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1202.4914].
- [441] I. Adachi et al., **Belle Collaboration**. Measurement of $B^- \rightarrow \tau^- \bar{\nu}_{\tau}$ with a Hadronic Tagging Method Using the Full Data Sample of Belle. 2012. [arXiv:1208.4678].
- [442] Cecilia Tarantino. Flavor Lattice QCD in the Precision Era. 2012. [arXiv:1210.0474].
- [443] J. Charles et al., CKMfitter Group. Preliminary results as of Summer 2012 (ICHEP 2012 conference). 2012. http://ckmfitter.in2p3.fr/www/results/ plots_ichep12/ckm_res_ichep12.html

- [444] Statistical method described in J. Charles et al., CKMfitter Group. CP violation and the CKM matrix: Assessing the impact of the asymmetric B factories. Eur. Phys. J., C41:1-131, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0406184]. http://ckmfitter. in2p3.fr
- [445] Statistical method described in M. Ciuchini et al., UTfit Collaboration. 2000 CKM triangle analysis: A Critical review with updated experimental inputs and theoretical parameters. JHEP, 0107:013, 2001. [arXiv:hep-ph/0012308]. http: //www.utfit.org
- [446] Andrzej J. Buras, Jennifer Girrbach, Diego Guadagnoli and Gino Isidori. On the Standard Model prediction for $\mathcal{B}(B_{s,d} \to \mu^+\mu^-)$. Eur. Phys. J., C72:2172, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1208.0934].
- [447] F. Mahmoudi, S. Neshatpour and J. Orloff. Supersymmetric constraints from $B_s \to \mu^+\mu^-$ and $B \to K^*\mu^+\mu^-$ observables. JHEP, **1208**:092, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1205.1845].
- [448] Andrzej J. Buras, Robert Fleischer, Jennifer Girrbach and Robert Knegjens. Probing New Physics with the B_stoμ⁺μ⁻ Time-Dependent Rate. JHEP, **1307**:77, 2013.
 [doi] [arXiv:1303.3820].
- [449] C. McNeile, C.T.H. Davies, E. Follana, K. Hornbostel and G.P. Lepage. High-Precision f_{Bs} and HQET from Relativistic Lattice QCD. Phys. Rev., D85:031503, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1110.4510].
- [450] Y. Amhis et al., **Heavy Flavor Averaging Group**. Averages of B-Hadron, C-Hadron, and tau-lepton properties as of early 2012. 2012. [arXiv:1207.1158].
- [451] Paolo Gambino and Paolo Giordano. Normalizing inclusive rare B decays. Phys. Lett., B669:69–73, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0805.0271].
- [452] Mikolaj Misiak and Matthias Steinhauser. NNLO QCD corrections to the $\bar{B} \rightarrow X_s \gamma$ matrix elements using interpolation in m_c . Nucl. Phys., **B764**:62–82, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0609241].
- [453] Tobias Huber, Enrico Lunghi, Mikolaj Misiak and Daniel Wyler. *Electromagnetic logarithms in* $\bar{B} \to X_s \ell^+ \ell^-$. *Nucl. Phys.*, **B740**:105–137, 2006. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0512066].
- [454] Bernard Aubert et al., **BABAR Collaboration**. Measurement of the $B \rightarrow X_s \ell^+ \ell^-$ branching fraction with a sum over exclusive modes. Phys. Rev. Lett., **93**:081802, 2004. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ex/0404006].
- [455] M. Iwasaki et al., Belle Collaboration. Improved measurement of the electroweak penguin process $B \to X_s \ell^+ \ell^-$. Phys. Rev., D72:092005, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hepex/0503044].

- [456] Tobias Huber, Tobias Hurth and Enrico Lunghi. Logarithmically Enhanced Corrections to the Decay Rate and Forward Backward Asymmetry in $\bar{B} \to X_s \ell^+ \ell^-$. Nucl. Phys., **B802**:40–62, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0712.3009].
- [457] F. Jegerlehner. Essentials of the Muon g-2. Acta Phys. Polon., B38:3021, 2007. [arXiv:hep-ph/0703125].
- [458] Tatsumi Aoyama, Masashi Hayakawa, Toichiro Kinoshita and Makiko Nio. Complete Tenth-Order QED Contribution to the Muon g-2. Phys. Rev. Lett., 109: 111808, 2012. [doi] [arXiv:1205.5370].
- [459] Fred Jegerlehner and Robert Szafron. $\rho^0 \gamma$ mixing in the neutral channel pion form factor F_{π}^e and its role in comparing e^+e^- with τ spectral functions. Eur. Phys. J., C71:1632, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1101.2872].
- [460] S. Bodenstein, C.A. Dominguez, K. Schilcher and H. Spiesberger. Hadronic Contribution to the muon g - 2 factor. Phys.Rev., D88:014005, 2013. [doi] [arXiv:1302.1735].
- [461] Kaoru Hagiwara, Ruofan Liao, Alan D. Martin, Daisuke Nomura and Thomas Teubner. $(g-2)_{\mu}$ and $\alpha(M_Z^2)$ re-evaluated using new precise data. J. Phys., **G38**: 085003, 2011. [doi] [arXiv:1105.3149].
- [462] Andreas Nyffeler. Hadronic light-by-light scattering in the muon g 2: A New short-distance constraint on pion-exchange. Phys. Rev., **D79**:073012, 2009. [doi] [arXiv:0901.1172].
- [463] Andrzej Czarnecki, William J. Marciano and Arkady Vainshtein. Refinements in electroweak contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment. Phys. Rev., D67:073006, 2003. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0212229].
- [464] Andrzej Czarnecki and William J. Marciano. The Muon anomalous magnetic moment: A Harbinger for "new physics". Phys. Rev., D64:013014, 2001. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0102122].
- [465] Vernon Barger, Chung Kao, Paul Langacker and Hye-Sung Lee. Muon anomalous magnetic moment in a supersymmetric U(1)' model. Phys. Lett., B614:67–77, 2005. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0412136].
- [466] Stephen P. Martin and James D. Wells. Muon anomalous magnetic dipole moment in supersymmetric theories. Phys. Rev., D64:035003, 2001. [doi] [arXiv:hepph/0103067].
- [467] Florian Domingo and Ulrich Ellwanger. Constraints from the Muon g-2 on the Parameter Space of the NMSSM. JHEP, **0807**:079, 2008. [doi] [arXiv:0806.0733].

- [468] G. Degrassi and G.F. Giudice. QED logarithms in the electroweak corrections to the muon anomalous magnetic moment. Phys. Rev., D58:053007, 1998. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/9803384].
- [469] Sven Heinemeyer, Dominik Stockinger and Georg Weiglein. Electroweak and supersymmetric two-loop corrections to (g 2)_μ. Nucl. Phys., B699:103–123, 2004.
 [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0405255].
- [470] King-man Cheung, Chung-Hsien Chou and Otto C.W. Kong. Muon anomalous magnetic moment, two Higgs doublet model, and supersymmetry. Phys. Rev., D64: 111301, 2001. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0103183].
- [471] Dominik Stockinger. The Muon Magnetic Moment and Supersymmetry. J. Phys., G34:R45–R92, 2007. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0609168].
- [472] Abdesslam Arhrib and Seungwon Baek. Two loop Barr-Zee type contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ in the MSSM. Phys. Rev., **D65**:075002, 2002. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0104225].
- [473] Philip Bechtle, Oliver Brein, Sven Heinemeyer, Oscar Stål, Tim Stefaniak et al. Recent Developments in HiggsBounds and a Preview of HiggsSignals. 2013. [arXiv:1301.2345].
- [474] L.D. Faddeev and V.N. Popov. Feynman Diagrams for the Yang-Mills Field. Phys. Lett., B25:29–30, 1967. [doi]
- [475] C. Becchi, A. Rouet and R. Stora. The Abelian Higgs-Kibble Model. Unitarity of the S Operator. Phys. Lett., B52:344, 1974. [doi]
- [476] C. Becchi, A. Rouet and R. Stora. Renormalization of the Abelian Higgs-Kibble Model. Commun. Math. Phys., 42:127–162, 1975. [doi]
- [477] C. Becchi, A. Rouet and R. Stora. Renormalization of Gauge Theories. Annals Phys., 98:287–321, 1976. [doi]
- [478] I.V. Tyutin. Gauge Invariance in Field Theory and Statistical Physics in Operator Formalism. 1975. [arXiv:0812.0580].
- [479] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, J. Fujimoto, T. Ishikawa, T. Kaneko et al. Automatic calculations in high energy physics and Grace at one-loop. Phys. Rept., 430:117– 209, 2006b. [doi] [arXiv:hep-ph/0308080].
- [480] Masaaki Kuroda. Complete Lagrangian of MSSM. 1999. [arXiv:hep-ph/9902340].

Supersymmetric Dark Matter candidates in light of constraints from collider and astroparticle observables

Abstract : The Standard Model of particle physics has been strengthened by the recent discovery of the long-awaited Higgs boson. The standard cosmological model has met the challenge of the high precision observations in cosmology and astroparticle physics. However these two standard models face both several theoretical issues, such as the naturalness problem in the Higgs sector of the Standard Model, as well as observational issues, in particular the fact that an unknown kind of matter called Dark Matter accounts for the majority of the matter content in our Universe. Attempts to solve such problems have led to the development of New Physics models during the last decades. Supersymmetry is one such model which addresses the fine-tuning problem in the Higgs sector and provides viable Dark Matter candidates. Current high energy and high precision experiments give many new opportunities to probe the supersymmetric models. It is in this context that this thesis is written. Considering the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model (MSSM), the simplest supersymmetric extension of the Standard Model of particle physics, and its conventional Dark Matter candidate, the neutralino, it is shown that collider constraints could provide informations on the very early Universe at the inflation area. It is also demonstrated that the Indirect Detection of Dark Matter, despite several drawbacks, can be a powerful technique to probe supersymmetric Dark Matter models. Beyond the MSSM it is shown that unique characteristics of the Dark Matter candidate in the NMSSM could be probed at colliders. The study of a supersymmetric model with an extended gauge symmetry, the UMSSM, is also developed. The features of another Dark Matter candidate of this model, the Right-Handed sneutrino, are analysed. More general constraints such as those coming from low energy observables are finally considered in this model.

 ${\bf Keywords}$: Dark matter - Supersymmetry - Collider and astroparticles constraints - Neutralino - Right-Handed sneutrino - UMSSM

Les candidats supersymétriques à la matière noire à la lumière des contraintes provenant des observables en collisionneur et d'astroparticule

Résumé : Le Modèle Standard de la physique des particules a été renforcé par la récente découverte du très attendu boson de Higgs. Le modèle standard cosmologique a lui relevé le défi de la haute précision des observations cosmologiques et des expériences d'astroparticules. Toutefois, ces deux modèles standards sont encore confrontés à plusieurs problèmes théoriques, comme le problème de naturalité dans le secteur de Higgs du Modèle Standard, ainsi que des problèmes observationnels à l'image des nombreuses preuves de l'existence d'un genre inconnu de matière, appelé Matière Noire, qui représenterait la majeure partie du contenu en matière de l'Univers. Les tentatives visant à résoudre ces problèmes ont conduit au développement de nouveaux modèles physiques au cours des dernières décennies. La Supersymétrie est un de ces modèles qui traite du problème du réglage fin dans le secteur de Higgs et fournit de bons candidats à la Matière Noire. Les expériences actuelles de physique des hautes énergies et de haute précision offrent de nombreuses possibilités pour contraindre les modèles supersymétriques. C'est dans ce contexte que cette thèse s'inscrit. En considérant le Modèle Standard Supersymétrique Minimal (MSSM), l'extension supersymétrique la plus simple du Modèle Standard, et son candidat à la Matière Noire, le neutralino, il est montré que les contraintes obtenues en collisionneur pourraient fournir des informations sur une période de l'Univers jeune, l'ère inflationnaire. Il est également démontré que la Détection Indirecte de Matière Noire, en dépit de plusieurs inconvénients, peut se révéler être une technique efficace pour explorer les modèles de Matière Noire supersymétrique. Au-delà du MSSM il est montré que des caractéristiques uniques du candidat à la Matière Noire dans le NMSSM peuvent être explorées aux collisionneurs. L'étude d'un modèle supersymétrique avec une symétrie de jauge étendue, le UMSSM, est également développée. Les caractéristiques d'un autre candidat de la matière noire de ce modèle, le sneutrino droit, sont analysées. Des contraintes plus générales telles que celles provenant d'observables de basse énergie sont finalement prise en compte.

Mots-clés : Matière Noire - Supersymétrie - Contraintes en collisionneur et d'astroparticule - Neutralino - Sneutrino droit - UMSSM



Laboratoire d'Annecy-le-Vieux de Physique Theorique (LAPTh) UMR 5108, CNRS-INP/Université de Savoie 9, Chemin de Bellevue, BP 110 74 941, Annecy-le-Vieux Cedex France

